

















Environmental Management Framework

Youth Justice Redevelopment Project – Cherry Creek Assets, Infrastructure and Major Projects



Justice and Community Safety

Table of Contents

1.	Introduction3					
1.1	Purpose	3				
1.2	Statutory context	3				
	1.2.1 Planning Scheme Amendment Wyndham C222	3				
	1.2.2 Environment Effects Act 1978 EES referral number R11-2017	3				
1.3	Scope and application	3				
	1.3.1 Inclusions	3				
•	1.3.2 Exclusions	4				
2.	Project overview and description	4				
2.1	Project overview	4				
2.2	Site location and description	4				
	2.2.1 Services easement and access road works	0 7				
	223 Decommissioning activities	7				
23	Works to date	7				
3.	Roles and responsibilities					
3.1	The department					
3.2	Contract structure	8				
4.	Governance and Risk Management – Environmental Compliance	8				
4.1	Governance structure	8				
4.2	Stakeholder Management	9				
4.3	Risk assessment and management	9				
	4.3.1 Construction Area	11				
	4.3.2 Key Construction Methods	13				
4.4	Compliance structure	15				
4.5	Training and awareness	16				
4.6	Emergency and contingency management	16				
5.	Environmental management plans	17				
5.1	Key documents, schedule and timing	17				
5.2	Document revisions	17				
5.3	Consultation	18				
6.	Evaluating environmental performance18					
6.1	Monitoring18					
6.2	Reporting19					
6.3	3 Auditing					
7.	Environmental performance	20				
7.1	Environmental compliance requirements	20				
Арр	pendix 1 – Overview of documentation	31				
Арр	pendix 2 - EMF Consultation Process	34				
Арр	pendix 3 – Map of the environmental impact areas	35				



1. Introduction

1.1 Purpose

This document describes the environmental management framework (EMF) for the Youth Justice Redevelopment Project (YJRP) being undertaken by the Victorian Department of Justice and Community Safety (DJCS, the proponent).

This document is a strategic document that provides an overview of the potential environmental risks associated with the construction and operation of the new youth justice facility (the facility). It also details the governance structure for addressing and minimising environmental risks and is intended to provide confidence to stakeholders that all environmental risks have been accounted for and addressed.

1.2 Statutory context

This EMF has been prepared to satisfy the conditions arising from the planning process for the facility.

1.2.1 Planning Scheme Amendment Wyndham C222

In accordance with the *Environment and Planning Act 1987*, the planning approvals for the YJRP are addressed in Planning Scheme Amendment C222 of the Wyndham Planning Scheme. Clause 4.2.5 of the incorporated document for Amendment C222 requires the preparation of an EMF.

1.2.2 Environment Effects Act 1978 EES referral number R11-2017

In accordance with the *Environment Effects Act 1978*, the Victorian Minister for Planning decided that an environment effects statement (EES) is not required based on EES referral number R11-2017 but the facility's development was subject to the following conditions.

- 1) An environmental report based on the final design for the facility and ancillary infrastructure is to be completed by the proponent to the satisfaction of the Minister for Planning prior to the commencement of works. The report must document the potential impacts from the final design of the facility and ancillary infrastructure based on the results of the targeted surveys, due diligence investigations, the amount of vegetation clearing, and risks related to the construction and operation of the facility.
- 2) An EMF, based on the environmental report, is to be completed by the proponent to the satisfaction of the Minister for Planning prior to the commencement of works. The EMF must provide the measures to reduce environmental and amenity effects, including the environmental performance requirements for the project.

This EMF was prepared according to the conditions of Amendment C222 and the decision on the EES referral in consultation with DELWP.

1.3 Scope and application

1.3.1 Inclusions

This EMF applies to all works undertaken by DJCS, the managing contractor and sub-contractors in relation to the YJRP. This includes preparatory works, construction works, operation and decommissioning (as applicable).

The YJRP involves the following major construction components:

- site establishment works, clearing of native vegetation, removal of habitat for matters of national environmental significance listed under the *Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act* 1999 (EPBC Act)
- construction of linear supply infrastructure (water, sewer, electricity and telecommunications) in an underground services easement and associated infrastructure, including a substation

construction of an access road as an interim treatment and final treatment
 TRIM ID: CD/19/39302

Justice and Community Safety

- construction of buildings, outdoor facilities, landscaping and security infrastructure
- construction site decommissioning.

The YJRP involves the following operational components:

- waste management and sustainability requirements of Youth Justice Centre buildings
- maintenance of security infrastructure
- landscaping maintenance
- management of offset sites.

This document describes these works and the roles and responsibilities for environmental risk management associated with each component.

1.3.2 Exclusions

This EMF does not cover potential future works associated with future expansion of the facility or future utilisation of the site. The need for a new or amended EMF will be considered at the time of any future works.

2. Project overview and description

2.1 Project overview

The government allocated \$288.7 million (excluding GST) to build a fit-for-purpose youth justice facility, consisting of 224 beds for remand and sentenced clients, a 12-bed mental health unit and an intensive supervision unit of at least eight beds, with scope for further expansion within the allocated government-owned site.

2.2 Site location and description

The facility will be built near Cherry Creek, approximately 10 km south west of Werribee and approximately 40 km south west of Melbourne, Victoria. The development will cover approximately 23 ha of the area reserved for the facility. The facility will be located on a freehold land parcel to be acquired by DJCS. The parcel is located within surrounding Melbourne Water land.





Figure 1: Site Location

TRIM ID: CD/19/39302 Page 5 of 35



The facility will include a number of low-rise custodial grade accommodation units, administration, programs, health, education and training and recreation buildings surrounded by a solid security wall (Table 1).

Table 1 Buildings and facilities of the YJC facility

Building	Description
	The Facility Gatehouse Entry will serve as the point of access to the all staff and visitors.
Entry Gatehouse Building & Campus Administration	The Gatehouse Entry will be accessible 24 hours a day for staff, during normal business hours for professional visits, and as scheduled for residents' visitation. Ingress and egress is monitored by Security Staff stationed with a direct line of sight to the entry General Lobby. All residents released from the facility will exit through the Public Lobby.
	to-day operations and management of facility personnel and residents.
Facility Support	The Facility Support component functions include the service and maintenance of all facilities and infrastructure, and Stores.
Visits Centre	The Visits Centre includes a variety of spaces that are intended to facilitate the regular communication between youth and their families (or other key people in their lives), community members and professional visitors.
Staff Centre &	The Staff Centre comprises the recreational and training facilities for use by all staff on campus.
Operational Management Centre	The Operational Management Centre is the primary hub accommodating those functions needed to maintain a secure and controlled environment throughout the facility at all times. As such, it should be centrally located with views to major movement zones if possible.
Cultural Centre	The Cultural Centre offers a variety of spaces for the provision of spiritually and culturally specific services, programmes and activities to young people from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds and a range of faiths, designed to ensure cultural safety and the promotion of awareness and respect.
Food Services &	The Food Services facility includes meal preparation and distribution for residents as well as a centralised dining area and café for staff.
Laundry Services	The Laundry Services component is responsible for the storage, cleaning and distribution of linen and bedding to the residents.
Admissions & Orientation	The mission of the Admissions and Orientation area is to receive, discharge and temporarily release youth remanded and committed to the care of Youth Justice Custodial Services.
Health Centre	The Health Centre offers on-site preventive, routine, and emergency health care to youths. Qualified doctors, nurses and other contracted allied health professionals will provide on- site health care along with mental health nurses, therapists, a part-time psychiatrist, and a part-time psychologist.
Accommodations	The Accommodation facilities serve as the living quarters for up to 300 youths.
Recreation & Education Centre	This functional component will provide children and young people with spaces to participate in a structured day of rehabilitation, including offending behaviour programs, life skills programs and recreational time. This will maximise constructive engagement of young people in meaningful activities that support their skill development and growth.
(Youth Programs)	The Education Centre will accommodate academic and vocational mandated services. Education services will be provided by Parkville College, a registered specialist school, catering for students with disabilities, as well as social, emotional, learning and behavioural difficulties. The educational curriculum will follow a model designed to lead to either a college-bound or employment outcome.
Services infrastructure	As a greenfield site, the facility will need an electricity substation, sewer pump, potable water connection, stormwater capture, car parking, access road, and security infrastructure, to enable the operations of the facility.

2.2.1 Services easement and access road works

An access road will be built to connect the facility to the existing roads network. The access road will intersect with Little River Road via a new driveway, adjacent to the existing driveway. It will be built as an interim treatment to service the construction works, with a final sealed and landscaped treatment completed



Justice and Community

Safety

prior to commissioning of the facility. Works will be undertaken in consultation with VicRoads and Wyndham City Council.

A water, sewer, electricity and telecommunications services easement will be located on Melbourne Water land with works undertaken under licence from Melbourne Water. The services easement will be 20 m wide and approximately 6 km long and located east of the facility, crossing under the Princes Freeway to continue northwards to Old Boundary Road within the Western Treatment Plant. The services easement will be constructed as an underground trench using open cut trenching.

It is proposed that directionally drilling under Princes Freeway and Cherry Creek will be the first option, minimising disturbance to traffic movements to enable construction. VicRoads have confirmed this approach is possible for drilling under the Freeway. In regards to the creek, should drilling encounter problems (i.e. the underlying basalt geology does not allow drilling to proceed), the pipeline will be installed via a "pipe bridge", a metal structure hoisted into place to support the pipe across the creek. It is anticipated that this will have no more footprint within the conservation buffer than the existing bridge.

2.2.2 Operational activities

Operational requirements of the facility will be those associated with maintenance of perimeter fencing, buildings and facilities, landscaping, and the access road. Maintenance of the facility will be the responsibility of the operator, with DJCS retaining ultimate responsibility for compliance.

Any native vegetation on DJCS land not used for the facility will be managed by the operations contractor in a manner consistent with the current Melbourne Water land use strategy.

Services infrastructure will be maintained by the responsible authority (sewer, water, electricity and telecommunications). The land through which the services easement traverses is largely Melbourne Water land and will be managed according to the current Melbourne Water land use strategy or by Melbourne Water's lessees.

2.2.3 Decommissioning activities

Decommissioning of the construction site will require the removal of all construction equipment and materials in compliance with the environmental management plan (EMP).

Decommissioning of the facility itself is not a circumstance that is currently foreseen and does not form part of the current project structure described here.

2.3 Works to date

The project and funding were announced and a departmental project team (YJRP) established in 2017.

The YJRP have completed the following works to date:

- an architect and other specialist consultants (security, cultural heritage, ecological, geotechnical, and town planning) were appointed in 2017. Various specialist assessments were completed during 2017 and 2018, and the design of the facility commenced with master planning in 2017
- the EPBC approval was granted and the planning scheme amendment approved in 2018
- a managing contractor (builder) was appointed in 2018
- a site was identified and purchased (settlement 2018)
- early works (i.e. construction of a new access road for the site) commenced in January 2019
- design of the facility is scheduled for completion in March 2019.



3. Roles and responsibilities

3.1 The department

The Assets, Infrastructure and Major Projects business unit within DJCS is a specialist centre for the development and maintenance of all assets within the DJCS portfolio. It is responsible for planning, maintaining and delivering infrastructure programs and projects on behalf of the department's business units and statutory entities. The YJRP was established in 2017 on behalf of Youth Justice to manage the design and build of the new youth justice facility.

The YJRP appointed a managing contractor in mid-2018 to deliver the construction of the facility.

3.2 Contract structure

DJCS is responsible for all planning approvals and statutory compliance and will retain ultimate responsibility for the implementation of this EMF.

The contract structure for delivery of the facility is a central part of the governance structure for the project. Once the construction phase begins, the managing contractor will be responsible for compliance with all approvals and relevant environmental legislation, including sub-contractor compliance. The managing contractor will also be responsible for any additional permit requirements associated with the construction process. The environmental management system of the managing contractor will ensure that the environmental compliance requirements outlined in this document are achieved. The managing contractor will remain responsible for the construction site until hand-over of the facility to DJCS has occurred.

A separate contract will be put into place for the operational phase of the YJRP. DJCS will appoint an operations contractor prior to commissioning of the facility. The operations contractor will be responsible for compliance with any statutory obligations and implementation of any environmental compliance requirements relating to operations.

DJCS will also enter into agreements for the management of their offset sites to ensure compliant offsets are provided. These will be in the form of standard Trust for Nature covenants under the *Victorian Conservation Trust Act 1972* and will require the landholder to enter into an agreement for the protection of the land in perpetuity. The landholder will be required to manage the land in accordance with the approved offset management plan.

DJCS will remain responsible for the provision of a compliant offset throughout the 10 year Offset Management Plan (OMP) period.

4. Governance and Risk Management – Environmental Compliance

This section describes the governance structure and how it ensures the delivery of the environmental compliance requirements arising from the approvals, legislative and policy contexts of the project.

4.1 Governance structure

Multiple documents are incorporated into the governance structure. These documents are divided into either strategic documents that provide over-arching guidance or control documents that stipulate how particular activities are to be undertaken. The governance structure also encompasses the systems in place to ensure delivery of environmental compliance requirements. The governance structure covers the construction and operational phases of the project as well as offsite management requirements.

Figure 2 shows the governance structure with responsibility for delivery divided between DJCS, the managing contractor and the operations contractor, with DJCS maintaining overall responsibility at all stages. The planning outcomes and control documents are linked via the EMF and the control documents



Justice and Community Safety are governed by the compliance processes (direct relationships between documents or processes are indicated by black lines).



Figure 2: Compliance and mitigation governance structure.

4.2 Stakeholder Management

Throughout the construction phase of the project, the department will conduct a variety of engagement activities to inform the local community of works occurring, as well as providing opportunities for the local community to raise any concerns or issues (should they arise).

The department has a dedicated community engagement team to manage any enquiries or complaints to ensure they are dealt with in a timely manner, who will liaise directly with the project team and the Managing Contractor to address any concerns where appropriate.

The department will keep the Wyndham City Council up-to-date of key works occurring, and any issues raised by the community where appropriate (outside of engagement directly with CAG) to ensure their customer service team can be briefed appropriately of any responses to key community issues.

The Community Advisory Group (CAG), who will meet regularly during the construction phase and include four representatives of the Wyndham City Council, will act as a conduit from the local community to the department. The CAG will also act as a mechanism for local community members to raise any concerns throughout the construction process directly with the department (at meetings or out of sessions).

The CAG will be also provided with regular project updates during the construction phase, both in the meetings and out of sessions, via email and in consultation with the Managing Contractor (John Holland Group).

4.3 Risk assessment and management

Environmental risks for the YJRP were identified through land assessment investigations. The impacts are provided according to each of the project components.



YJC facility (including allowance for future expansion)

 The YJC facility supports native vegetation of one type (Plains Grassland EVC 132) and varying quality. All areas of grassland correspond to the definition of the threatened Western (Basalt) Plains Grasslands Community under the FFG Act. Most but not all areas of Plains Grassland meet the definitions of the critically endangered NTGVVP ecological community suitable for listing under the EPBC Act. The YJC facility area also supports habitat for the critically endangered Golden Sun Moth.

Access road (including enabling works intersection)

 The access road supports small, scattered patches of native vegetation of two types (Plains Grassland EVC 132 and Plains Grassy Wetland EVC125). All areas of grassland correspond to the definition of the threatened Western (Basalt) Plains Grasslands community under the FFG Act and the critically endangered NTGVVP ecological community suitable for listing under EPBC Act. The length of the access road also supports habitat for the critically endangered Golden Sun Moth.

Services easement

- Pipeline for sewer and potable water: The pipeline location is predominately introduced vegetation in the form of weeds, crops or planted non-native Sugar gums Eucalyptus cladocalyx. The only impacts on native vegetation outside of the YJC facility and access road is potential root zone damage to one tree. The pipeline will be directionally drilled under the creek so to allow for potential impacts to the structural root zone caused by direction drilling, this tree is considered lost for the purposes of calculating offsets. There are no impacts to GSM habitat along the pipeline except for a small patch of low quality habitat in the area covered by the Biodiversity Conservation Strategy for the Melbourne Strategic Assessment.
- Electricity supply: Installed along pipeline between the YJC facility and the Princes Freeway. No additional impact is required for the electricity supply.
- Telecommunications (Telstra cable): Installed along pipeline between the YJC facility and the Princes Freeway. No additional impact is required for the Telstra cable.

The extent of the likely effects of the biodiversity values listed above have been determined to the greatest extent possible at this stage of the development. This includes forecasting the effects of possible future expansion of the facility should more beds be needed in the future. Thus both construction and operational effects have been calculated as far as possible at the start of the project. The only area of uncertainty is the upgrading of the enabling works intersection on Little River Road, which VicRoads may choose to undertake.

The design phase undertook to minimise these risks through development of a design response corresponding to the identified risks. The results of the background investigations, design response and community feedback were summarised in the facility plan and displayed for public comment. Ecological features and proposed impacts have been studied extensively through the EES and EPBC Act referral processes.

The ecological features are therefore well understood and there is a low level of uncertainty regarding environmental impacts. Approvals were sought for the impacts listed in Table 2. The land surrounding the YJC facility will retain natural values after completion of the project. These values will need to be protected during construction and managed during the operations phase.



Table 2	Proposed	impacts	on ecological	features
---------	----------	---------	---------------	----------

Ecological feature	Relevant legislation	Proposed impact
Native vegetation (Plains Grassland, Plains Grassy Wetland and one scattered tree)	Clause 52.17 Wyndham Planning Scheme	28.457 ha
Natural Temperate Grassland of the Victorian Volcanic Plain (NTGVVP) (synonymous with most Plains Grassland)	EPBC Act	28.23 ha
Western (Basalt) Plains Grassland Community (synonymous with Plains Grassland and NTGVVP)	FFG Act	28.32 ha
Golden Sun Moth habitat (largely synonymous with native vegetation listed above)	EPBC Act	35.66 ha
<i>Port Phillip Bay (Western Shoreline) and Bellarine Peninsula</i> Ramsar site	EPBC Act	Construction within drainage lines

Residual risks will be managed during the construction and operational phases of the YJRP via the relevant control documents and procedures therein. These procedures will be undertaken in compliance with the Environmental Management System (EMS) and Operational Environmental Management System (OEMS).

4.3.1 Construction Area

One of the key aspects of minimising environmental risk during construction will be to clearly define the areas of construction in the context of identified environment constraints for the YJRP. The area of construction is 49.06 ha and comprises the YJC facility, access road and services easement. There are a number of constraints on the construction area that makes it essential that areas area clearly designated on the ground with No-Go Zone fencing or other appropriate markers in order to avoid the adverse events described above.

Constraints to the construction area include:

- Native vegetation and Golden Sun Moth habitat surrounding the construction area, including within the road verges on Little River Road.
- Works for YJC facility and access road to be restricted to the DJCS land holding.
- Works for the services easement to be restricted to Melbourne Water land as agreed under the licence agreement for the services easement.
- Works under Princes Freeway to proceed as agreed upon by VicRoads.
- Works to be excluded from drainage line and 30 metre buffer area at north west corner of Construction area.

The Construction area has been approved at state and federal levels of environmental assessment (Figure 3). An additional map of the environmental impact areas are included in Appendix 3.



Youth Justice Redevelopment Project



Figure 3: Compliance with EPBC referral 2008/4221 TRIM ID: CD/19/39302 Page 12 of 35 FINAL



Justice and Community Safety

4.3.2 Key Construction Methods

Key construction method include proposed construction avoidance measures and construction mitigation measures for the development.

Construction avoidance measures

Construction avoidance measures are those measures that have resulted in impacts being avoided altogether. These have been achieved through a combination of the siting of the development, design development and changes to construction methods. These are described below.

Plains Grassland and Natural Temperate Grassland of the Victorian Volcanic Plain (NTGVVP):

- All Plains Grassland and NTGVVP in the northern section of the DJR land holding has been avoided by restricting construction to one rectangular area in the south of the land holding. This has allowed the retention of 32.5 hectares of Plains Grassland and NTGVVP.
- The services easement was chosen to avoid all Plains Grassland and NTGVVP south of the Princes Freeway – the services easement does not add any impacts to Plains Grassland and NTGVVP
- All materials, plant and equipment, and vehicles will be restricted to the designated construction area, avoiding all impacts to Plains Grassland and NTGVVP adjoining the site, which will be designated as nogo zones in the CSEMP.

Golden Sun Moth (GSM)

- All GSM habitat in the northern section of the DJR land holding has been avoided by restricting construction to one rectangular area in the south of the land holding. This has allowed the retention of approx. 32.5 hectares of GSM habitat.
- The services easement was chosen to avoid all GSM habitat south of the Princes Freeway the services easement does not add any impacts to GSM habitat
- All materials, plant and equipment, and vehicles will be restricted to the designated construction area, avoiding all impacts to GSM habitat adjoining the site.

Ramsar site

• All wetland areas within the Ramsar site are avoided by the proposed development.

30 metre conservation buffers

- The conservation buffer to the north west of the YJC facility has been excluded from the facility and will not be impacted by the development (Location 1 on Figure 3). It will be fenced and designated a no-go zone.
- The YJC facility and access road have no impact on conservation buffers.

Construction minimisation measures

Minimise measures are those that enable impacts to MNES to be restricted to the smallest extent possible. The have been achieved through a combination of building design and alterations to construction methods, as described below.

Plains Grassland and NTGVVP

- Two storey construction methods for facilities throughout the site to reduce footprint on the site.
- Prefabricated systems employed to minimise construction waste and construction program.
- Future expansion needs for the facility have been forecast at this time so that no further expansion or impacts should be necessary to maintain and operate the facility.
- Weed introduction and spread will be minimised using CSEMP to implement requirements to

minimise soil removal and ensure vehicle hygiene protocols. Landscaping plantings will use locally indigenous species.

GSM

- Two storey construction methods for facilities throughout the site to reduce footprint on the site.
- Prefabricated systems employed to minimise construction waste and construction program.
- Future expansion needs for the facility have been forecast at this time so that no further expansion or impacts should be necessary to maintain and operate the facility.

Ramsar site

- Stormwater management plan designed using WSUD principles and will result in stormwater detention and release commensurate with background levels.
- Two storey construction methods for facilities throughout the site to reduce footprint on the site.
- Prefabricated systems employed to minimise construction waste and construction program.
- Future expansion needs for the facility have been forecast at this time so that no further expansion or impacts should be necessary to maintain and operate the facility.

30 metre conservation buffers

- All proposed works maintain the integrity the linear riparian conservation buffers with only minor
 perpendicular incursions into the conservation buffers (Location 2, 3 and 4 on Figure 3). That is, the
 width, length and connectivity of the conservation buffers are not impacted in any way. Very short
 term trenching works will be undertaken within the conservation buffers but the infrastructure
 installed will be underground pipelines without any short, medium or long term impacts to the
 functioning of the conservation buffers.
- Services easement restricted to minimum width possible while still allowing sufficient space for construction so that no-go zones can be maintained.
- Horizontal directional drilling will be used as a first option to avoid all impacts to beds and banks of Lollypop Creek where the services easement traverses the creek at Old Boundary Road.
- Construction Site Environmental Management Plan will manage short term soil disturbance arising from cut and fill trenching where conservation buffers are traversed by services easement. Works will only be undertaken in dry conditions.

Construction Mitigation Measures

General mitigation measures additional to avoid and minimisation measures described above, reduce the impacts of the development on the environment in general, as described below.

Stormwater management

- The site is also within the Port Phillip Bay (Western Shoreline) and Bellarine Peninsula Ramsar site. The
 initial feature and level survey was undertaken early in the design process to map the site's topography
 and tree cover. The feature and level survey informed the design of the stormwater management plan.
 The stormwater management plan was developed to comply with Water Sensitive Urban Design
 (WSUD) principles. The low flows and volumes are expected to show that the existing flow regime into
 surrounding areas is not compromised including environmental flow requirements as per Department of
 Environment, Land, Water and Planning (DELWP).
- There is no connection of the YJC facility to the reticulated stormwater system, with all stormwater from buildings and within the perimeter wall retained and treated on site. The stormwater from the perimeter road will discharge to the open grasslands to the north and south of the site. A number of discharge points will be provided to mirror natural flow patterns.



- Stormwater from the access road will be retarded back to pre-development rural levels before discharging to existing surface and to the swamp to the south (Paul & Belfrages Swamp) or drained to the south, to Princes Freeway. As the access road is built above the existing surface, small remnant catchments will be discharged by culvert to Paul's swamp.
- Discharge from the culverts will be to grassed swales with some sections acting as level spreaders to minimize concentration of stormwater.
- The balance of the Access Road catchment discharges towards Little River Road and the Princes Freeway.
- Wyndham City Council and VicRoads are the responsible authorities for this area and their approvals will be sought.

Design treatment measures

- Implementation of the requirements for sustainable building design for DJR facilities as described in the internal DJR document Sustainability Guidelines for Capital Works.
- The re-use of excavated basalt and indigenous grassland flora has been used within the master plan design to effectively communicate the vernacular and former usage of site as well as minimise resource use and potential for weed introductions.
- The design utilises permeable pavement technologies in the car parks in order to improve stormwater treatment outcomes on the site. Porous asphalt and permeable pavers are to be used to achieve this.
- Pedestrian paths outside of the youth movement zones are to be constructed of re-used crushed rock excavated from the site.
- All playing court bases will be constructed on top of re-used excavated compacted crushed rock from the site.

Construction and post construction measures

- Construction and post-construction mitigation measures will include compliance with best practices for the control of construction works adjacent to waterways and to minimise the movement of sediment and other pollutants away from the construction zone (EPA 1996, amended, EPA 1991, EPA 2004). This mitigation measures will protect all land surrounding the proposed construction area associated with the YJC facility.
- These measures include the maintenance of vehicle quarantine procedures to ensure vehicles entering the site are free of contamination from soil and plant material foreign to the works area.
- The works zone will be clearly defined and all areas outside this zone will be defined as a no go zone. No activities, including materials storage, vehicle parking, site offices etc., will be placed in areas beyond the defined work zone. Compliance with the retention of activities within the defined work zone will be monitored on a weekly basis. The contractor will report on that compliance to DJR on a weekly basis during the construction period.

4.4 Compliance structure

Other than the 'land assessment investigations' and 'design and development' project phases, much of the YJRP's environmental risk is managed by ensuring compliance with relevant approvals, legislation or policy. As part of the governance structure, therefore, it is important to define who is responsible for environmental compliance requirements and the related documents. The responsible entity depends on the location and/or phase of the project and the role the entity plays in that phase (Figure 2).



4.5 Training and awareness

During the construction phase, the managing contractor will be responsible for informing all staff and subcontractors of the environmental compliance requirements relevant to their role and tasks. The EMP sets out in detail the training requirements for all staff and subcontractors. All site personnel are required to provide a YJRP Induction Certificate and Global Mandatory Requirement Training Certificate to demonstrate that they have undertaken and successfully completed inter alia the environmental and cultural heritage requirements. Inductions will be regularly reviewed and updated as required (e.g. when significant changes occur on-site or within the environmental management framework of the project). The managing contractor will be responsible for all training on the construction site.

During the operational phase (once the facility has opened), DJCS will be responsible for informing the market of environmental risks and environmental compliance requirements associated with operation of the facility. The appointed contractor will need to manage these risks and will be responsible for training staff and for management of environmental risks to achieve the environmental compliance requirements.

4.6 Emergency and contingency management

Emergency and contingency management procedures are to be detailed in each relevant control document (Table 3). Non-conformance and incidents will be managed, and the relevant authority notified, in accordance with the managing contractor's EMS. The EMF is not required to address life-threatening emergency incidents.

Incident	Reporting or notification agency	Responsible entity	Relevant Document
Construction phase			
Encounter with or injury to native fauna	Wildlife Victoria, DELWP	Managing Contractor	EMP
Construction phase			
Environmental hazard or pollution event	EPA or appropriate emergency response agency	Managing Contractor	EMP
Introduction of state prohibited weeds	DELWP/DEDTJR	Managing Contractor	EMP
Queries and complaints during construction	DJCS	Managing Contractor	EMP Communications and Community Relations Plan
Unauthorised damage or clearance of native vegetation	DELWP, DoEE	Managing Contractor	EMP
Unexpected discovery of human remains	Victoria Police, as per CHMP	Managing Contractor	EMP CHMP
Unexpected discovery or disturbance to aboriginal cultural heritage	As per CHMP	Managing Contractor	СНМР
Unexpected discovery or disturbance to European cultural heritage	Heritage Victoria, DELWP	Managing Contractor	EMP
Operational phase			
Environmental hazard or pollution event	EPA or appropriate emergency response agency	Operations Contractor	OEMP
Unauthorised damage or clearance of native vegetation	DELWP, DoEE	Operations Contractor	OEMP
Unexpected natural events (e.g. wildfire, pest outbreak etc.)	Trust for Nature DoEE	Landholder	OMP

Table 3 Emergency and contingency management



5. Environmental management plans

5.1 Key documents, schedule and timing

The key environmental management documents and the process for developing plans are summarised in Table 4.

The table indicates the entity responsible for preparing the document and making sure it is up-to-date. The responsible entity is also responsible for implementing any controls outlined in the document, DJCS is ultimately responsible for ensuring its contractors are compliant. Further information on each document is provided in *Appendix 1*.

All plans and documentation would be prepared and approved prior to the relevant works commencing.

5.2 Document revisions

Revisions to documentation may be required because of changes in activities and work practices, results of monitoring, changes to legislation, risks, or as a result of findings from internal or external audits, incidents or complaints. All documents are controlled documents and would be developed, approved, implemented and revised in accordance with *Table 4*.

Document/System	Entity	Approval	Timing	Review
Environment policy - DJCS	Manager, Environment, DJCS	Secretary DJCS	Endorsed September 2012	Reviewed and updated as required by the Assets, Infrastructure and Major Projects unit
Environment policy – Managing Contractor	Managing Contractor	Managing Contractor Chief Executive Officer	Endorsed May 2018	Reviewed and updated as required by Environment Manager
Facility Plan	DJCS – YJRP Project Manager	Minister for Planning	Before commencing any use or development	None stipulated once approved
Environmental Management Framework (EMF)	DJCS – YJRP Project Manager	Minister for Planning or delegate	Before the development commences	None stipulated once approved
Environmental Management System (EMS)	Managing Contractor	DLCS International ISO 14001 certification	Period of registration 15/02/2016 to 15/02/2019	Every 3 years
Operational Environmental Management System (OEMS)	DJCS – YJRP Project Manager	Commissioner for Environmental Sustainability	In accordance with Financial Reporting Directive 24C	Audited annually by an environmental auditor appointed under the EP Act 1970
Environmental Management Plan (EMP)	Managing Contractor	DJCS – Environment and Planning Unit	Prior to commencement of works	Audited on a 6-monthly basis or upon discovery of any issue that requires a significant level of adaptive management
Stormwater Management Plan (SMP)	Managing Contractor	DJCS – YJRP Project Manager	Prior to commencement of works	Reviewed as part of EMP

Table 4 Key environmental management documentation



Document/System	Entity	Approval	Timing	Review
Communication and Communities Relation Plan (CRP)	Managing Contractor	DJCS– YJRP Project Manager	Prior to commencement of works	Reviewed as part of EMP
Traffic Management Plan (TMP)	Managing Contractor	DJCS– YJRP Project Manager	Prior to commencement of works	Reviewed as part of EMP
Cultural Heritage Management Plan (CHMP)	DJCS – YJRP Project Manager	Wathaurung Aboriginal Corporation	Prior to planning approval	In accordance with unexpected discovery procedure stipulated in CHMP
Operational Environmental Management Plan (OEMP)	DJCS – YJRP Project Manager	DJCS – Environment and Planning Unit	Prior to operation	In accordance with the schedule stipulated in the OEMP
Offset Management Plan (OMP)	DJCS – YJRP Project Manager	Commonwealth Minister for the Environment	Prior to executing the Credit Trading Agreement	In accordance with the schedule stipulated in the OMP

5.3 Consultation

A communications and community relations plan will be prepared in conjunction with the EMP. This will provide detailed measures to manage communications between the managing contractor, DJCS and the general public during construction of the project.

6. Evaluating environmental performance

This section outlines the focus for monitoring, reporting and auditing to ensure environmental and amenity effects are being reduced and managed, in line with the EMF, the performance requirements and incorporated document.

6.1 Monitoring

Compliance with all approvals will be governed by the EMP, OEMP and OMP as detailed in Table 5.

Table 5 Summary of monitoring

Phase	Entity	Summary of monitoring	Plan
Pre- construction	Managing contractor	Prior to the start of construction, all measures to ensure compliance with environmental compliance requirements should be inspected, including but not limited to protection of no-go zones, sediment control, signage and vehicle access.	EMP
Construction	Managing contractor	 During construction, monitoring is required throughout the construction process to ensure environmental compliance requirements are being achieved. The EMP details the construction compliance and monitoring procedures. These procedures are ISO 14001 compliant. The key monitoring and compliance documents are the site diary and records of weekly inspections to be undertaken by representatives from the safety and environment division of the managing contractor accompanied by the site manager and project engineer. The managing contractor also undertakes 6-monthly internal audits according to defined procedures. Environmental staff will perform regular environmental inspections during the site establishment, construction and site demobilisation phases as follows: Weekly inspections: Check integrity of fencing between the construction site and adjoining lands Fencing and signage condition Sediment and run-off controls Dust management controls Refuelling, lay-down and wash-down areas Rubbish and other forms of waste contamination controls 	EMP

Justice and Community

Safety

Phase	Entity	Summary of monitoring	Plan
		 Monthly inspections (managing contractor and site ecologist) Weeds and pest animal controls Sediment and run-off controls Fencing and signage condition Rubbish and other forms of waste contamination controls 6-monthly inspections To check pest animal numbers 	
Operation	Operations contractor	During operation, monitoring is required to ensure DJCS meet the aims of their Environment Policy and to ensure compliance with approvals. The OEMP will also detail the monitoring requirements to enable DJCS to report in accordance with Financial Reporting Directive 24C.	OEMP
Offset site	DJCS	The OMP will ensure that a suitable offset is provided to compensate for loss of habitat for MNES. Monitoring and compliance will be overseen by the Trust for Nature, with works undertaken by the relevant land manager according to the OMP, on behalf of DJCS. Native vegetation offsets, where separate from EPBC Act offsets will be managed through the BushBroker process at DELWP, which includes monitoring and compliance requirements.	OMP

6.2 Reporting

Compliance with reporting requirements will be governed by the EMP, OEMP and OMP as detailed in *Table 6*.

Phase	Reporting/ notification agency	Entity	Summary of reporting	Plan
Construction	DJCS	Managing Contractor	Monthly reporting will be undertaken by the managing contractor according to the EMP and utilising their internal information management system (IMS). Reports will be delivered to the YJC project team at DJCS for review by the project manager or environmental team.	EMP
Operations Regulator DJCS DJCS will report in accordance with Finar Directive 24C and the Waste Management		DJCS will report in accordance with Financial Reporting Directive 24C and the Waste Management Strategy.	OEMP	
Offset site	DoEE	DJCS	Reporting will be overseen by the Trust for Nature, with reports prepared by an ecologist according to the OMP. Reports will be delivered to the YJC project team at DJCS for review by the project manager or environmental team according to the schedule in the OMP.	OMP

Table 6 Summary of reporting

6.3 Auditing

The EMS of the managing contractor is certified to ISO 14001 compliant standard and includes auditing within the project by project personnel (subcontractors, suppliers, to verify compliance with project requirements and this EMP) and by regional support staff external to the project.

John Holland will conduct internal audits of the Project at planned intervals to provide information on whether the EMS conforms to the organisation's own requirements for its EMS, the requirements of the International Standard and ensure it is effectively implemented and maintained.

John Holland will establish, implement and maintain an internal audit program for the Project, including the frequency, methods, responsibilities, planning requirements and reporting of its internal audits. When establishing the internal audit programme, John Holland will take into consideration the environmental



importance of the processes concerned, changes affecting the Project and the results of previous audits. John Holland will:

- define the audit criteria and scope for each audit;
- select auditors and conduct audits to ensure objectivity and the impartiality of the audit process;
- · ensure that the results of the audits are reported to relevant management

John Holland will retain documented information as evidence of the implementation of the audit programme and the audit results. Audit outcome reports will be forwarded to the relevant General Manager, Operations Manager and Project Director (or delegate).

During the operational phase, auditing of reporting against with Financial Reporting Directive 24C will be undertaken on an annual basis by the Victorian Government.

Offset sites can be audited on the ground at any time by the Commonwealth Department of Environment according to their compliance policy.

7. Environmental performance

7.1 Environmental compliance requirements

Environmental compliance requirements are derived from all approval conditions and other statutory requirements from the YJRP (Table 6). Where environmental compliance requirements are the same for multiple statutory documents or guidelines, these are listed under the same reference number. Where further guidelines or information are relevant, these are listed in the last column.

An obligations register is also provided to clarify who or what document is responsible for implementing the environmental compliance requirement and what control documents or process is required. Where the managing contractor is listed on the obligations register, it is required that the managing contractor be responsible for ensuring sub-contractors are also implementing environmental compliance requirements.

All control documents must be implemented in a manner consistent with applicable legislation, policy, approval conditions or Australian Standards to the satisfaction of the relevant decision maker and to achieve the environmental compliance requirements.

If it is necessary to deviate from the environmental compliance requirements, approval will be sought from the relevant regulator in accordance with the adaptive management framework or emergency and contingency management framework of the relevant control document.



Table 7 Environmental Compliance

Item #	Legislation or Policy	Environmental compliance requirement	Target outcome	Obligations	Relevant documents
1. Envir	onmental management				
1.1.	Planning and Environment Act 1987 Wyndham C222 Incorporated Document	Before the development commences, an environmental management framework (EMF) for the project must be prepared to the satisfaction of the Minister for Planning and a copy provided to council.	The framework must include: a summary of key construction methodologies; outcomes-focused environmental performance requirements to avoid, minimise, mitigate and manage potential adverse environmental and amenity impacts during construction and operation of the project; a summary of the consultation that informed the preparation of the EMF and a summary of the proposed ongoing engagement activities including enquiries and complaints management; and a summary of performance monitoring and reporting processes, including auditing, to ensure environmental and amenity effects are reduced and managed during construction of the project.	DJCS to prepare EMF for approval by DELWP.	Wyndham C222 EMF (this document)
1.2.	Environmental Effects Act 1978	In accordance with the <i>Environment Effects Act 1978</i> , the Minister for Planning decided that an environment effects statement (EES) is not required based on EES referral number R11-2017 and subject to two conditions.	Condition 1 states: An environment report based on the final design of the facility and ancillary infrastructure is completed by the state to the satisfaction of the Minister for Planning prior to commencement of works. Condition 2 states: An environmental management framework (EMF), based on the environmental report, is to be completed by the proponent to the satisfaction of the Minister for Planning prior to the commencement of works. The EMF must provide the measures to reduce environmental and amenity effects, including the environmental performance requirements for the project.	DJCS to prepare Environmental Report to satisfaction of Minister for Planning prior to commencement of construction. EMF will be prepared for approval by DELWP (this is the same document as for Item 1.1).	EES decision R11-2017 DPCD (2012) Draft Environmental Effects Advisory Note. Document number 2282921. EMF (this document)
1.3.	Sustainability Guidelines for Capital Works – Construction	Sustainability Guidelines for Capital Works provides minimum design standards (MDSs) for construction. Minimum Design Standard Man-5 states that the managing contractor is to incorporate a site specific environmental management plan (EMP) for the works in accordance with Section 3 of the NSW Environmental Management System guidelines 1998 or with Section 4 of the NSW Environmental Management	Minimum design standards relating to construction are met. Implementation of environmental compliance requirements set out in this EMF for all works associated with site establishment, construction, and construction site decommissioning phases. Implementation will be via control documents, at a minimum: Environmental Management Plan and associated control plans. All documents to be in accordance with the Managing Contractor's Environmental Management System.	Managing contractor to prepare and implement control documentation including EMP to ensure that construction meets all environmental compliance requirements. Documentation will be prepared and managed in accordance with an ISO 14001 certified environmental	EMP and associated documents

TRIM ID: CD/19/39302



		System Guidelines 2007. For projects with a total contract value of greater than \$5 million, the managing contractor is to have an environmental management system audited and certified in accordance with ISO14001.		management system.	
1.4.	Sustainability Guidelines for Capital Works – Design, Commissioning and Operation	Victorian Government departments are required to maintain an environmental management system (EMS), and report in accordance with Financial Reporting Directive 24C. <i>Sustainability Guidelines for Capital Works</i> provides MDSs for design, commissioning and operation.	 Minimum design standards set out in <i>Sustainability Guidelines for Capital Works</i> are met for all stages of building development and should be referred to for full details. In particular, the MDSs state that an equivalent sustainable outcome to a current 5 Star Green Star rated building is achieved. The YJC facility will be assessed under "Process C" for new buildings, refurbishments and fit outs in a secure environment with a Total Contract Value of the build greater than \$50 million: ESD consultant appointed. ESD consultant verifies minimum standards and benchmarking requirements have been met. Full benchmarking including energy and water modelling. Post occupancy tuning scope. EMS is to be provided with the capability to record and report on energy, water, waste, transport, paper and purchases; recording environmental performance in these areas; and taking actions for continuous improvement. 	DJCS to engage a specialist ESD consultant to demonstrate how the project meets the minimum sustainable design standards in a report or other appropriate means. DJCS or their contractor to prepare and implement documentation including OEMP to ensure that operation can avoid, minimise, mitigate and manage potential adverse environmental and amenity impacts. DJCS or their contractor to prepare OEMP in accordance with DJCS EMS and Financial Reporting Directive 24C.	Sustainability Guidelines for Capital Works Financial Reporting Directive 24C OEMP WMS
1.5.	Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999	Implementation of approval conditions for operation of the facility	Conditions to proposal approval have been finalised and provided to proponent. All approval conditions relating to offsets are executed within the stipulated timeframes.	DJCS is must ensure construction does not impact more than that allowed in the approval conditions and provide environmental offsets according to the stipulated timeframes and approved OMP.	OEMP
1.6.	Auditing of compliance with EMF	Auditing of environmental compliance requirements during site establishment, construction, and construction site decommissioning phases.	An independent environmental auditor to verify compliance of control documents and the construction program.	DJCS to engage independent environmental auditor at key stages of development	EMF



2. Air quality and greenhouse gas emissions						
2.1.	State Environmental Protection Policy (SEPP) (Ambient Air Quality) State Environmental Protection Policy (SEPP) (Air Quality Management)	Air quality during construction to be managed in accordance with targets in SEPPs.	All construction activities are to maintain air quality in accordance with the SEPP by minimising dust and other airborne emissions so that no environmental hazard arises from construction.	Managing contractor to prepare EMP and air quality environmental control plan that complies with SEPP and EPA guidelines.	EMP EPA Publication 824 – Protocol for Environmental Management: Greenhouse gas emissions and energy efficiency in industry	
2.2.	Climate Change Act 2017	The Victorian <i>Climate Change Act</i> 2017 embeds a long-term state- wide emissions reduction target of net zero greenhouse gas emissions by 2050. This applies to all emissions both from public and private sector activities. DJCS committed to eight climate change pledges in the 2016-2020 pledge period. One of these pledges focused on incorporating sustainable design into all new Capital Projects.	YJRP to comply with DJCS climate change commitments.	DJCS or their contractor to prepare and implement documentation including EMP and OEMP in accordance with current climate change commitments.	EMP OEMP	
3. Bush	fire management					
3.1.	Planning and Environment Act 1987 Wyndham C222 Incorporated Document	Before commencing any use or development, a Youth Justice Centre Facility Plan must be prepared to include a bushfire hazard site assessment by a suitably qualified professional that considers Planning Advisory Note 68- Bushfire State Planning Policy (DELWP March 2018).	Bushfire hazard site assessment to be undertaken to inform design development and construction management.	DJCS to prepare bushfire hazard site assessment for approval by the Minister for Planning.	Facility Plan EMP OEMP	
3.2.	Country Fire Authority Act 1958	Fire risk during construction to be managed and minimised.	Prevention of fire ignition within construction site or surrounding grassland. Emergency and contingency planning to include accidental ignition with construction site and surrounding grassland. CFA to be consulted and approval gained prior to working on Total Fire Ban days.	Managing contractor to prepare EMP and related fire hazard documents and permits including fire engineering brief, hot day work permits and consultation with CFA.	EMP	
4. Communications and consultation						
4.1.	Planning and Environment Act 1987	Before commencing any use or development, a Youth Justice	The Facility Plan is completed to the satisfaction of the Minister for Planning and should be referred to as the key public source of	DJCS to prepare facility plan for approval by the	Wyndham C222 Facility Plan	



	Wyndham C222 Incorporated Document	Centre Facility Plan must be prepared to the satisfaction of the Minister for Planning in consultation with Wyndham City Council (council).	information on the development.	Minister for Planning.		
4.2.	Planning and Environment Act 1987 Wyndham C222 Incorporated Document	Before the development commences, an Environmental Management Framework (EMF) for the project must be prepared to include a summary of the consultation that informed the preparation of the EMF and a summary of the proposed ongoing engagement activities with council, the community and other stakeholders during construction of the project, including enquiries and complaints management.	As a part of the development of the Youth Justice Centre Facility Plan, the department consulted and engaged with key stakeholders on the development of the Environmental Management Framework (EMF) Full details of consultation are included in Appendix 2. Ongoing engagement with council, the community and other stakeholders during construction of the project including enquiries and complaints management.	DJCS to prepare Facility Plan for approval by the Minister for Planning, including summary of public consultation undertaken. Managing Contractor to prepare and implement Communications and Community Relations Plan.	Wyndham C222 EMF (this document) Communications and Community Relations Plan	
5. Cultu	ral heritage					
5.1.	Aboriginal Heritage Act 2006 Wyndham C222 Incorporated Document	Salvage and relocation of aboriginal cultural heritage material and other management actions required to be undertaken in compliance with a cultural heritage management plan or otherwise in compliance with that Act.	All works to be carried out in accordance with the conditions in the CHMPs, including procedures for unexpected discovery. Note that there are two CHMPs for the YJRP, one covering the YJC facility and access road (CHMP 15022) and one covering the services easement (CHMP 15591).	Managing contractor to prepare and implement heritage control plan in accordance with all CHMP conditions.	CHMP 15022 CHMP 15591 EMP	
5.2.	Heritage Act 2017	Before the development commences, ensure procedures are in place to manage unexpected discovery or disturbance to European cultural heritage.	Background investigations did not identify any protected European cultural heritage on the YJRP land. Unexpected discoveries are also unlikely due to the agricultural history of the land but should still be considered prior to the commencement of works.	Managing contractor to prepare and implement heritage control plan to ensure unexpected discovery or disturbance to European cultural heritage can be managed.	EMP	
6. Contaminated soil						
6.1.	Planning and Environment Act 1987 Wyndham C222 Incorporated Document	Before the development commences a preliminary site assessment of the land [for potential contamination] must be conducted by a suitably qualified professional; and a report setting out the findings of the preliminary	A preliminary soil contamination assessment was undertaken in 2017. The assessment did not identify any chemical contaminants of concern at concentrations above the adopted ecological and human health investigation levels for residential/open space use. No further consideration of chemical contamination is required for the construction of the project.	DJCS to prepare preliminary site assessment for approval by the Minister for Planning.	Facility Plan Tonkin & Taylor (2017)	



		site assessment, to the satisfaction of the Minister for Planning.						
7. Terre	7. Terrestrial ecological values							
7.1.	Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999	Approval for direct loss of 35.66 ha of GSM habitat, 28.23 ha of NTGVVP and 49.06 ha of approved works within a Ramsar site under EPBC referral number 2017/8049. No other impacts on matters of national environmental significance have been approved.	Compliance with EPBC approval requires that there is no accidental direct loss or disturbance of NTGVVP, GSM habitat or the Ramsar site beyond the approved limits of works, including but not limited to disturbance resulting from excavation, dumping, stockpiling, vehicle movements or vehicle parking.	Managing contractor to ensure EMP includes: clear delineation of works area, pre-works induction and training, compliance with works area perimeter surveillance plan, and contingency plans in the event of unplanned environmental hazard.	EMP			
7.2.	Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999	An offset strategy in accordance with the EPBC Act Environmental Offsets Policy has been approved under EPBC referral number 2017/8049.	Offset arrangements will be secured prior to the commencement of works. Offsets are located on private land and are required to be managed by the landholder according to the approved OMP to ensure habitat quality improve. Offsets will be managed and monitored to ensure habitat condition does not degrade over the 10 year lifespan of the OMP.	DJCS will remain responsible for the provision of a suitable offset including ensuring monitoring is undertaken and reporting provided to DoEE. Trust for Nature (TfN) will ensure that the offset site remains compliant with the TfN covenant agreement.	OMP			
7.3.	Flora and Fauna Guarantee Act 1988	The FFG Act listed Western (Basalt) Plains Grasslands Community is present throughout the site (28.32 ha). The permit relates to taking protected flora from public land (along the Cherry Creek Road and Little River Road). A permit to remove protected flora, in accordance with the planning amendments scheme, is required prior to the commencement of works	Compliance with FFG Act permit requires that there is no accidental direct loss or disturbance of native grassland beyond the approved limits of works, including but not limited to disturbance resulting from excavation, dumping, stockpiling, vehicle movements or vehicle parking.	Managing contractor to ensure EMP includes: clear delineation of works area, pre-works induction and training, compliance with works area perimeter surveillance plan, and contingency plans in the event of unplanned environmental hazard.	EMP			
7.4.	Planning and Environment Act 1987	Approval for direct loss of 28.457 ha native vegetation as defined under the <i>Biodiversity</i> Assessment <i>Guidelines</i> under Clause 4.2.6 of Wyndham C222 to the satisfaction of DELWP. No other impacts on	Compliance with native vegetation regulations requires that there is no accidental direct loss or disturbance of native vegetation beyond the approved limits of works, including but not limited to disturbance resulting from excavation, dumping, stockpiling, vehicle movements or vehicle parking.	Managing contractor to ensure EMP includes: clear delineation of works area, pre-works induction and training, compliance with works area perimeter	ЕМР			



		native vegetation have been approved. Under Wyndham C222, the EMF must include outcomes to reduce impacts on remnant native vegetation, terrestrial fauna habitats and adjacent areas of ecological, environmental or landscape significance, shown as Matters of National Environmental Significance (MNES) zones on the plans forming part of this document, including by the use of fencing or screening of those zones.		surveillance plan, and contingency plans in the event of unplanned environmental hazard.	
7.5.	Planning and Environment Act 1987	Offsets for direct loss of 28.46 ha native vegetation as defined under the <i>Biodiversity Assessment</i> <i>Guidelines</i> under Clause 4.2.7 of Wyndham C222 to the satisfaction of DELWP.	Offsets will be secured prior to the commencement of works either through purchase from the Native Vegetation Credit Register or registering new sites with BushBroker. Offsets are located on private land and are required to be managed by the landholder according to the approved OMP to ensure habitat quality improve. Offsets will be monitored to ensure improvement in habitat over the 10 year lifespan of the OMP.	DJCS will remain responsible for the provision of a suitable offset including ensuring monitoring is undertaken and reporting provided to DELWP, except where Credits have been purchased through the NVCR, in which case this remains the responsibility of the landholder.	OMP BushBroker agreement
7.6.	Wildlife Act 1975	The purposes of this Act include to establish procedures in order to promote the protection and conservation of wildlife; and regulate the conduct of persons engaged in activities concerning or related to wildlife. The <i>Wildlife Act 1975</i> requires that handling or translocation of wildlife be done by a person holding a permit issued under the <i>Wildlife Act 1975</i> .	There should be no harm to wildlife during the site establishment, construction or operation of the YJRP. Site establishment should secure the work site from wildlife prior to construction. Emergency and contingency management procedures should include management of encounters with wildlife and that any handling of wildlife is undertaken under a permit issued under the <i>Wildlife Act</i> 1975.	Managing contractor to prepare and implement flora and fauna environmental control plan to ensure that construction can avoid, minimise, mitigate and manage potential adverse events for wildlife.	EMP
7.7.	Sustainability Guidelines for Capital Works	Minimum Design Standard Eco-2 states development is [not] to occur on sites with a high ecological value. In certain circumstances works can occur on high value	All ecological risks are managed in accordance with environmental approvals and using the hierarchy of avoid, minimise and offset.	DJCS to ensure compliance with all environmental approval conditions.	EMF EMP OMP



		sites provided that the ecological risks are managed appropriately.					
7.8.	Catchment and Land Protection Act 1994	The CaLP Act states that it is an offence to remove or sell soil, sand, stone, gravel, fodder or grain likely to contain any part of a noxious weed (including seeds) without a permit.	Eighteen declared noxious weeds and two declared pest animals were identified from the YJRP land. All weeds to be treated with herbicide prior to soil disturbance. Where possible, all soil to be retained on site.	Managing contractor to assess the need for a permit under the CaLP Act if transporting any untreated top soil off site.	EMF Environment Report EMP		
8. Noxic	ous weeds, environmen	tal weeds and pest animals					
8.1.	Catchment and Land Protection Act 1994 Planning and Environment Act 1987	The CaLP Act requires all reasonable steps to be taken prevent the growth and spread of regionally controlled noxious weeds and prevent the spread of, and as far as possible, eradicate established pest animals. Under Wyndham C222, the EMF must include outcomes to control of environmental weeds, which can include any invasive plant species that displaces native species.	Eighteen declared noxious weeds and two declared pest animals were identified from the YJRP land. These pose a risk to the surrounding native vegetation and as a potential source of weed spread if weeds are moved off site. There is also potential for new weeds to be introduced during construction on any machinery, tools, boots or equipment that carries mud. Landscaping to use locally indigenous plant species to avoid introducing a source of weeds to the surrounding grassland. Site re- establishment works to monitor for and control any emerging noxious weeds.	Managing contractor to prepare EMP and weed and pest animal environmental control plan and implement plant hazard assessment to ensure a strict weed hygiene protocol to minimise potential for weed spread onto or off the site. DJCS to prepare landscape plan which preferences the use of locally indigenous plant species.	EMP Landscape plan		
9. Aqua	tic ecological values						
9.1.	Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999	All drainage lines within the YJRP drain into the Ramsar site and as such are protected under the EPBC Act. Approval under EPBC referral 2017/8049 has been granted for works within drainage lines conditional on the use of specific construction methods.	Compliance with EPBC referral 207/8049 requires works on drainage lines to be undertaken in dry conditions using best practice sediment control. Works on Cherry Creek and the tributary to Lollypop Creek will be undertaken using open cut trenching. Works on Lollypop Creek will preference directionally drill under the creek. If this cannot occur due to geology of the site, installation will be via a pipe bridge across the creek.	Managing contractor to prepare and implement documentation to ensure that construction uses the approved construction methods as stated above and best practice sediment control that complies with SEPP and EPA Guidelines.	EMP EPA Publication 275 – Construction Techniques for Sediment Pollution Control EPA Publication 480 – Environmental Guidelines for Major Construction Sites		
10. Hazardous materials, chemical and fuels							
10.1.	Environment Protection Act 1970	Legislation and regulations governing dangerous goods requires that hazardous and liquid	Fuel will be stored on the construction site for general construction works.	Managing Contractor to prepare EMP and Hazardous Substance	EMP OEMP		


	State Environmental Protection Policy (SEPP) Waters of Victoria Dangerous Goods Act 1985 Dangerous Goods (Storage and Handling) Regulations 2012	substances stored or used either during construction or operation are managed so that they do not enter the environment or pose a risk to health (unless permitted to do so by a licence, or by approval or agreement from the relevant authority).	Any liquid leaving the YJC facility either during construction or operation is properly transported and will be delivered to an appropriate receiving site, which also contains suitable risk mitigation mechanisms. Fuel will be stored within or adjacent to the facility support building during operations to provide power for back-up generators and will be stored in approved and bunded containers.	Environmental Control Plan that complies with SEPP and EPA Guidelines and Dangerous Good Regulations. JCS to prepare and implement OEMP to ensure that operation complies with EPA Publication 1698 and Dangerous Goods (Storage and Handling) Regulations 2012.	EPA Publication 1698 – Liquid storage and handling guidelines June 2018 EPA Publication 480 – Environmental Guidelines for Major Construction Sites Dangerous Goods Act 1985 – Code of practice for the storage and handling of dangerous goods – 2013
11. Lands	scape values				
11.1.	Planning and Environment Act 1987 Wyndham C222 Incorporated Document	Purpose (iv) of Wyndham C222 is to ensure that the use and development of land for a corrective institution employs best- practice design and landscaping to mitigate visual impacts on and responds to the inter-urban break between Melbourne and Geelong, views towards the You Yangs, and views from key transport corridors such as the Princes Highway and proposed Outer Metropolitan Ring Road/E6 Transport Corridor.	Mitigation of visual impacts on and responds to the inter-urban break between Melbourne and Geelong during construction and operation.	DJCS to prepare Facility Plan to provide details of the approach to landscape design, consistent with the purpose of this control, and accompanied by a landscape plan. The Facility Plan will also include the results of a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment. Managing contractor to prepare EMP in accordance with any relevant findings from the Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment.	Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment report
11.2.	Sustainability Guidelines for Capital Works	Minimum Design Standard Eco-1 states when selecting plants for landscaping, preference is to be given to plants that are indigenous (first preference), or native (second preference), subject to security requirements. Plant selection is to be drought tolerant.	Landscaping within the secure facility and for associated access road and car parking areas to use locally indigenous species.	DJCS to prepare Landscape Plan which preferences the use of locally indigenous plant species.	Facility Plan Landscape Plan



Youth Justice Redevelopment Project

11.3.	Sustainability Guidelines for Capital Works	Minimum Design Standard Eco-5 states soft landscaping such as grassed and garden areas is to be incorporated wherever possible, subject to security requirements.	Landscaping Plan to meet minimum design standards.	DJCS to prepare Landscape Plan which preferences the use of locally indigenous plant species and soft landscaping.	Facility Plan Landscape Plan
12. Noise	and vibration				
12.1.	Planning and Environment Act 1987 State Environmental Protection Policy (SEPP) (Control of Noise from Commerce, Industry and Trade)	Under Wyndham C222, the EMF must include outcomes to reduce noise impacts to the facility and to nearby sensitive uses. The SEPP (Control of Noise from Commerce, Industry and Trade) aims to protect people from the effects of noise in noise-sensitive areas and in accordance with EPA Publication 480 and the SEPP.	Nuisance from noise and vibration does not occur during construction or operation.	Managing contractor to prepare EMP and noise, vibration and light emission environmental control plan that complies with SEPP and EPA Guidelines or as approved by DJCS.	EMP EPA Publication 1254 - Noise control guidelines EPA Publication 480 – Environmental Guidelines for Major Construction Sites EPA Publication 1264 – Noise from Large Residential Subdivision or Urban Development Sites
13. Surfa	ce water - construction				
13.1.	Water Act 1989 State Environmental Protection Policy (SEPP) Waters of Victoria Water quality objectives for rivers and streams – Ecosystem protection <i>Planning and</i> <i>Environment Act 1987</i>	Protection of downstream water quality is required under state legislation and policies, in addition to the requirement in Item 7.1. In particular, erosion of soil disturbed by excavation causing sedimentation and chemical contaminants from construction needs to be avoided. Under Wyndham C222, the EMF must include outcomes to reduce impacts on aquatic fauna habitats and reduce impacts to water flow rates and water quality in nearby waterways.	Water from construction to be stored on site in a retention pond and reused around site or pumped and removed from site so that there is no discharge of water from construction site into waterways. No movement of sediment or discharge of chemical contaminants from the construction site into surrounding drainage lines or environment. Works on waterways to be undertaken with agreement from Melbourne Water. Impacts to surface water quality must not result in changes that exceed background levels and/or the range of environmental objectives (biological, nutrient, water quality) specified for Category 4 'Cleared hills and coastal plains – Lowland reaches' in the Werribee catchment segment to protect surface water uses and values (EPA Victoria, 2003b).	Managing contractor to prepare EMP and stormwater management plan ensuring no discharging into waterways during construction and in accordance with the SEPP and EPA Guidelines. If discharging into waterway does occur, managing contractor to ensure that water is tested and does not exceed background levels.	EMP EPA Publication 275 – Construction Techniques for Sediment Pollution Control EPA Publication 480 – Environmental Guidelines for Major Construction Sites EPA Publication 960 – Doing it right on subdivisions – Temporary environmental protection measures for subdivision construction sites
14. Surfa	ce water – operations				
14.1.	Sustainability Guidelines for Capital Works Water Act 1989 State Environmental Protection Policy	Minimum Design Standard Wat-7 states all projects are to include stormwater treatment to achieve the following pollution reduction targets: Total Suspended Solids - 80% Gross Pollutants - 90% Total	Project to achieve a score of 100% on the Melbourne Water STORM calculator or expected performance to be calculated using MUSIC model.	DJCS to commission stormwater management strategy to be evaluated using the MUSIC model.	Aurecon (2018) Stormwater Management Strategy EPA Urban stormwater best practice environmental management guidelines



FINAL



			-		
	(SEPP) Waters of Victoria Water quality objectives for rivers and streams – Ecosystem protection	Nitrogen - 45% Total Phosphorus - 60% Total Petroleum Hydrocarbons - 90% Free Oils - 90%			
15. Trans	sport				
15.1.	Planning and Environment Act 1987	Under Wyndham C222, the EMF must include outcomes to reduce transport and traffic disruption as specified in the traffic management plans to be prepared in accordance with the <i>Road Management Act</i> 2004.	A traffic impact assessment will be completed to address traffic impacts from construction vehicles and workers during the construction phase of the project, and traffic and parking demand when the youth justice centre is operational. Traffic management during construction will minimise disruption to existing traffic flows on Little River Road and ensure all vehicle movements and parking occur within the designated areas.	DJCS to prepare Traffic Impact Assessment and implement any results into the design phase. Managing contractor to prepare traffic management plan and subordinate documents in accordance with the <i>Road Management Act</i> 2004.	EMP Preliminary Traffic Impact Assessment Report
16. Wast	e management		•	·	·
16.1.	Environment Protection (Industrial Waste Resource) Regulations 2009 <i>Litter Act 1987</i>	Minimum Design Standard Man-6 requires the contractor is to divert at minimum 80% of demolition and construction waste by mass from landfill. This can be achieved by reusing or recycling waste and may occur on or off site.	Construction to implement best practice waste management in accordance with EPA regulations and the waste hierarchy (avoid, reduce, reuse, recycle, recover energy, treat, contain, dispose) to achieve a maximum 20% of construction waste to landfill.	Managing contractor to prepare and implement EMP and waste management environmental control plan in accordance with Environment Protection (Industrial Waste Resource) Regulations 2009 and Minimum Design Standards.	https://www.epa.vic.gov.au/ your-environment/waste https://www.epa.vic.gov.au/ business-and- industry/guidelines/waste- guidance/prescribed- industrial-waste- classifications
16.2.	Planning and Environment Act 1987 Wyndham C222 Incorporated Document	Wyndham C222 states that before the development commences, a Waste Management Strategy (WMS) for the project must be prepared, with a copy provided to the Council.	The WMS must include details of how the project will support the Victorian Government's Towards Zero Waste Strategy and the approach proposed for managing garbage and other waste material.	DJCS to prepare waste management strategy. The WMS can be stand alone or sub-ordinate to the OEMP.	OEMP



Appendix 1 – Overview of documentation

Plan	Description
	The Youth Justice Centre Facility Plan addresses key local issues in the building of the new state-of- the-art facility, including how any environmental and visual impacts, security on the site will be managed. The facility plan executes Clause 4.2.1 of the Incorporated Document for Wyndham Planning Scheme Amendment C222.
Youth Justice Centre Facility Plan	The plan was developed in consultation with the Community Advisory Group. The group provided input on issues of community interest, including key community concerns discussed at Community Advisory Group meetings and raised at community information sessions.
	The facility plan is a communication tool and summarises the public consultation undertaken, background investigations and assessments, and the final design solution. It was displayed for public comment in July to August 2018. The facility plan is not a control document for the purposes of governing the construction or operation of the YJRP but is the key reference to all background and design work completed on the project. The facility plan should be referred to as the key public source of information on the development.
Environmental management framework (EMF)	Before the development commences, an environmental management framework (EMF) for the project must be prepared to the satisfaction of the Minister for Planning and a copy provided to council. As stated in Section 1, the EMF (this document) is a strategic document that provides an overview of the potential environmental risks associated with the construction and operation of the YJRP. It also details the governance structure for addressing and minimising environmental risks. As such, it is not a control document itself but outlines the control documents in place below.
For incomental	Construction DJCS minimum design standards state that for projects with a total contract value of greater than \$5 million the managing contractor is to have an environmental management system audited and certified in accordance with ISO14001. The managing contractor for the YJRP is ISO14001 certified and is responsible for managing the environmental management system for the construction of the project.
Environmental management system (EMS and OEMS)	Operation Currently, all Victorian Government departments are required by the Commissioner for Environmental Sustainability to maintain an environmental management system, and report in accordance with Financial Reporting Directive 24C, referred to throughout as OEMS. Since 2007–08 the department has included both office-based and operational activities within this process. This includes identifying environmental impacts from energy, water, waste, transport, paper and purchases, recording environmental performance in these areas and taking actions as part of a continuous improvement process.
Cultural heritage management plan (CHMP)	CHMP 15022 and CHMP 15591 were prepared during the design and development stages of the project. These detail conditions for managing aboriginal cultural heritage during design and construction of the YJRP. These conditions will be incorporated into the EMP to ensure compliance.
Environmental management plan (EMP)	The EMP enables the YJRP to manage its environmental responsibilities in a systematic manner and contribute to the environmental pillar of sustainability. The scope of the EMP on the YJRP includes all activities, products and services that the Managing Contractor has authority and ability to exercise control over, as defined in the nominated "scope of works" document. The EMP specifies the requirements coming from the managing contractor's EMS (which is certified to ISO AS/NZS14001) that the YJRP will use to enhance its environmental performance. Consistent with the managing contractor's environment policy, the intended outcomes of the EMP include: • enhancement of environmental performance on the project; • fulfilment of the project's compliance obligations; and • achievement of the project's environmental objectives. All environmental obligations and compliance are tracked using the Licence and Approvals Register, which is a list of environmental obligations and the system documents that addresses each obligation. managing contractor's obligations are summarised here for convenience. This EMP has been developed within the framework of managing contractor's third party AS/NZS ISO 14001 certified EMS. The risk management procedure used, 'Managing Safety, Quality and Environment (SQE) Risks' JH-MPR-SQE-006, is AS/NZS ISO 31000 compliant.
	The document reference for the EMP is JH-PLN-ENV-002.



Justice and Community Safety

Plan	Description		
EMP subordinate documents	 The EMP provides detailed information on the implementation of management of environmental compliance requirements during the construction of the YJRP, including site establishment, construction and site decommissioning. Implementation of the EMP is achieved via subordinate environmental control plans that detail the required works. Control plans will be prepared for: Air Quality Environmental Control Plan YJR-ENV-ECP-001 Contamination Environmental Control Plan YJR-ENV-ECP-002 Flora and Fauna Environmental Control Plan YJR-ENV-ECP-005 Noise, Vibration & Light Emission Environmental Control Plan YJR-ENV-ECP-007 Hazardous Substance Environmental Control Plan YJR-ENV-ECP-007 Weed and Pest Animal Environmental Control Plan YJR-ENV-ECP-010 Waste Management Environmental Control Plan YJR-ENV-ECP-003 		
Stormwater management plan (SMP)	A stormwater management plan will be prepared as a subordinate document to the EMP. This will provide detailed measures to control and manage stormwater runoff from the construction site. The document reference for the stormwater management plan is JHG-PLN-SMP-001.		
Communications and community relations plan (CCRP)	A communications and community relations plan will be prepared in conjunction with the EMP. This will provide detailed measures to manage communications between the managing contractor, DJCS and the general public during construction of the project. The document reference for the communications and community relations plan is YJRP- PLN-CCRP-00		
Traffic management plan (TMP)	 A traffic management plan will be prepared in conjunction with the EMP. This will provide detailed measures to manage traffic entering and leaving the construction site and will consist of subordinate documents including: 'Traffic Plant and People' Global Mandatory Requirement (document reference JHG-STD-WHS-001). Managing Safety, Quality and Environmental Risks (document reference JH-MPR-SQE-006). 		
Operational environmental management plan (OEMP)	The OEMP will provide detailed information on the implementation of management of environmental responsibilities during the operation of the YJRP. The term OEMP is used here to indicate all documents that are associated with managing and monitoring environmental risk during the operational phase of the YJRP. As such its eventual format will likely take the form of strategic document to summarise the collection of related documents developed prior to operations commencing. For instance, the OEMP will include the implementation of the waste management strategy prepared in accordance with the conditions of the incorporated document and any recommendations and requirements from the bushfire hazard site assessment. The OEMP will also include details for the management of native vegetation that is retained on DJCS land, including the area proposed for future expansion and in accordance with the approval conditions of EPBC referral 2017/8049. The OEMP will also specify any reporting requirements in accordance with the DJCS environment policy, OEMS or minimum design standards. The operations contractor appointed to run the YJC facility will be responsible for the implementation of the OEMP.		



Description
EPBC Act offsets OMPs will be prepared for each offset site being used for compensating for loss of habitat for matters of national environmental significance (MNES) and according to the offset strategy provided in EPBC Act referral 2017/8049. Each OMP will be approved by the Commonwealth Minister for the Environment and be implemented by the relevant landholder or land manager. DJCS as the proponent remains responsible for ensuring a compliant offset has been provided and will be responsible for ensuring all required monitoring and reporting is undertaken. The approval holder must within 12 months of the date of the EPBC Act approval execute a credit trading agreement for provision of the offset area, which will include an approved OMP.OMPs will be prepared for each offset site being used for compensating for loss of habitat for matters of national environmental significance (MNES) and according to the offset strategy provided in EPBC Act referral 2017/8049. Each OMP will be approved by the Commonwealth Minister for the Environment and be implemented by the relevant landholder or land manager. DJCS as the proponent remains responsible for ensuring a compliant offset has been provided and will be responsible for ensuring all required monitoring and reporting is undertaken. The approval holder must within 12 months of the date of the EPBC Act approval execute a credit trading agreement for provision of the offset area, which will include an approved OMP.
Native vegetation offsets under the Biodiversity Assessment Guidelines Where native vegetation offsets and offsets for modelled habitat are not secured concurrently with EPBC Act offsets, the offsets will be secured through the BushBroker process at DELWP or purchased through the Native Vegetation Credit Register. DJCS has 12 months from the date of the latter of approval from the Secretary of DELWP to secure the required offsets.



Appendix 2 - EMF Consultation Process

As a part of the development of the Youth Justice Centre Facility Plan, the department consulted and engaged with key stakeholders on the development of the Environmental Management Framework (EMF).

Consultation on the EMF occurred through formal engagement with the Youth Justice Redevelopment Project Community Advisory Group (CAG), of which there are four Wyndham City Council representatives.

The CAG were consulted on the development of the EMF as follows;

- CAG members were provided with an electronic copy of the EMF on March 2, 2018 to provide their feedback and input.
- The EMF was tabled at the April 2018 CAG meeting, where a hard copy was provided to members for their review (along with all Facility Plan appendices) for feedback and input.

The CAG were satisfied with the content and detail of the EMF and nil input was provided.

The Wyndham City Council were provided with electronic and hard copy of the EMF for their review and input from March and April, along with all appendices to the Youth Justice Centre Facility Plan.

Feedback was received on a number of appendices to the plan, however the EMF did not receive any comments from the Wyndham City Council.

Consultation and feedback on the EMF was open to the community through the publication of the Youth Justice Centre Facility Plan which occurred on July 18 2018 for one month.

The EMF was made publicly available at the Wyndham City Council customer service centre in hard copy and made available electronically upon request for one month (via <u>engage.vic.gov.au/youthjusticecentre</u>.

Throughout the life of the project, Community members will be able to visit the project page on the Engage Vic website (<u>engage.vic.gov.au/youthjusticecentre</u>) for regularly updates on the construction phase. Community members will be also subscribe to receive project updates via a regular e-newsletter, and can submit feedback or complaints via a link from this publication

Community members will be able to submit enquiries or complaints (should they arise) directly to the department via the dedicated email address (<u>youthjustice@justice.vic.gov.au</u>) which will be monitored daily. The address is available on the <u>engage.vic.gov.au/youthjusticecentre</u> website, along with a phone number which will be operated daily (during business hours).



Appendix 3 – Map of the environmental impact areas



TRIM ID: CD/18/39302 Page 35 of 35

FINAL





Justice and Community Safety



EPBC Act referral 2017/8049 Youth Justice Redevelopment Project, Cherry Creek: **Offset Management Plan**: *Warrambeen* 815 Gumley Road, Mount Mercer

Prepared for Department of Justice and Community Safety 24 January 2020

📣 biosis.

Biosis offices

NEW SOUTH WALES

Albury Phone: (02) 6069 9200 Email: <u>albury@biosis.com.au</u>

Newcastle Phone: (02) 4911 4040 Email: <u>newcastle@biosis.com.au</u>

Sydney Phone: (02) 9101 8700 Email: sydney@biosis.com.au

Western Sydney Phone: (02) 9101 8700

Email: westernsydneyoffice@biosis.com.au

Wollongong Phone: (02) 4201 1090 Email: <u>wollongong@biosis.com.au</u>

VICTORIA

Ballarat Phone: (03) 5304 4250 Email: <u>ballarat@biosis.com.au</u>

Melbourne (Head Office) Phone: (03) 8686 4800 Email: <u>melbourne@biosis.com.au</u>

Wangaratta

Phone: (03) 5718 6900 Email: <u>wangaratta@biosis.com.au</u>

Document information

Report to:	Department of Justice and Community Safety
Prepared by:	Shana Nerenberg and Steve Mueck
Biosis project no.:	25271
File name:	25271.Warrambeen.OMP.FIN.24012020
Citation:	Biosis 2020. EPBC Act referral 2017/8049 Youth Justice Redevelopment Project, Cherry Creek: Offset Management Plan : Warrambeen, 815 Gumley Road, Mount Mercer. Report for Department of Justice and Community Safety. Authors: Mueck S & Nerenberg S Biosis Pty Ltd, Melbourne. Project no. 25271.

Document control

Version	Internal reviewer	Date issued
Draft version 01	SCC	24/04/2018
Draft version 02 (minor updates)	SGM	04/02/2019
Draft version 04 (major revision)	MSG	17/10/2019
Draft version 06 (minor updates following landholder review)	SN	01/11/2019
Final version (minor updates following DoEEreview)	SN	24/01/2020

Acknowledgements

Biosis acknowledges the contribution of the following people and organisations in undertaking this study:

- Department of Justice and Community Safety: Kym Hilliard, Dijana Dragovic, Garry Jackson and Samantha Morgan
- Landholder: James Taylor and family
- Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning for access to the Victorian Biodiversity Atlas

Biosis staff involved in this project were:

Sonika Kumar (mapping)

© Biosis Pty Ltd

This document is and shall remain the property of Biosis Pty Ltd. The document may only be used for the purposes for which it was commissioned and in accordance with the Terms of the Engagement for the commission. Unauthorised use of this document in any form whatsoever is prohibited. Disclaimer:

Biosis Pty Ltd has completed this assessment in accordance with the relevant federal, state and local legislation and current industry best practice. The company accepts no liability for any damages or loss incurred as a result of reliance placed upon the report content or for any purpose other than that for which it was intended.



Contents

Decla	aratio	on of accuracy	1
Sum	mary	·	2
Strue	cture	of this document	4
Defir	nition	of terms	5
1.	Introduction		
	1.1	Background information / description of the action	7
	1.2	Purpose	9
	1.3	Objectives	9
	1.4	Approval conditions	10
	1.5	Roles and responsibilities	11
	1.6	Other offset requirements	13
	1.7	OMP commencement	13
	1.8	Financial disclaimer	13
2.	Offs	set area description	14
	2.1	Environmental offsets requirements	14
	2.2	Description of the Offset area	14
		2.2.1 Location and surrounding land uses	14
		2.2.2 Size	14
		2.2.3 General description of environmental values present	16
	2.3	Current condition	19
		2.3.1 NTGVVP current condition	19
		2.3.2 GSM habitat current condition	21
		2.3.3 Follow up inspection September 2019	21
	2.4	Suitability of Offset area to provide a conservation gain	21
		2.4.1 Current permitted land uses	22
		2.4.2 Exemptions for minor native vegetation removal	22
		2.4.3 Existing offset arrangements	23
	2.5	Specific objectives and her norfernance indicators	23
	2.6	Specific objectives and key performance indicators	23
	2.7	Measuring Improvement in Quality	24 25
		2.7.1 NTGVVP	⊂∠ 77
	28	Limitations and uncertainty	27 28
2	2.0 M	contractions and antername and actions	
ర .	wan	lagement commitments and actions	29
	3.1	Management commitments	29
	3.2	Offset area management strategy	31
	3.3	Offset area protection (security)	

📣 biosis.

	3.4	Offset area protection (threat abatement)	.32
		3.4.1 Boundary fencing	.32
		3.4.2 Permanent fencing to aid conservation management	.33
		3.4.3 Stock watering points	.34
		3.4.4 Temporary fencing to aid conservation management	.34
		3.4.5 Signage and access control	.34
	3.5	Offset area improvement (Year 1 to Year 10)	.35
		3.5.1 Annual works plan	.35
		3.5.2 Grazing for biomass / organic litter control	.35
		3.5.3 Conversion to rotational grazing	.36
		3.5.4 Adaptive management of grazing	.37
		3.5.5 Grazing protocol for exclusion period strategic grazing	.38
		3.5.6 Weed control	. 39
		3.5.7 Pest animals	.44
	3.6	Use of fire for ecological management	.45
		3.6.1 Ecological burning trial	.45
		3.6.2 General ecological burning requirements	.45
	3.7	Understorey diversity and recruitment	.46
	3.8	Offset area maintenance (Year 11-onwards)	.47
	3.9	Contractor requirements	.48
		3.9.1 Required qualifications	.48
		3.9.2 Required independence	.48
		3.9.3 Site inductions	.49
		3.9.4 Contracts	.49
4.	Mon	itoring actions	50
	4.1	Routine inspections undertaken by landholder	.50
		4.1.1 Records of management works	.50
		4.1.2 Records of routine inspections	.50
	4.2	Routine visits and oversight provided by Trust for Nature	.51
	4.3	Ecological monitoring undertaken by qualified ecologists	.52
		4.3.1 Control plots	.52
		4.3.2 NTGWP condition	.52
		4.3.3 Golden Sun Moth monitoring	.53
		4.3.4 Monitoring report	.53
		4.3.5 Independent audits	.54
	4.4	Reporting	.54
5.	Risk	assessment and emergency management	. 56
	5.1	Risk assessment	.56
	5.2	Emergency management	.56
	5.3	Emergency Contacts and procedures	.56
	5.4	Emergency contact details	.57



5.5	Review of OMP
References	5
Appendice	s
Appendix 1	I Schedule of management actions 65
Appendix 2	2 DoEE Risk matrix
Appendix 3	B Flora species recorded in 2018 72
Appendix 4	Quality scoring methods75
Appendix 5	Glossary of terms

Tables

Table 1	Development Site Details	7
Table 2	Offset area responsibilities	12
Table 3	Offset area and property details	16
Table 4	Habitat Hectares results, Warrambeen	19
Table 5	The conservation value of NTGVVP (TSSC 2008) at development site and Offset area	20
Table 6	Warrambeen GSM habitat Quality score	21
Table 7	Offset area management specific objectives and Key performance indicators	24
Table 8	Vegetation condition baseline and required improvement	
Table 9	GSM habitat Quality scoring system as advised by DoEE (pers. comm. 2019)	27
Table 10	On-title conservation covenant arrangements	
Table 11	Requirements and limit of grazing activities within the Offset area	
Table 12	Management targets for weed control	
Table 13	Summary of on-going management actions (Year 11 onwards)	
Table 14	Routine inspection requirements each quarter	51
Table 15	Risk assessment of potential hazards as defined by Key Performance Indicators	58

Figures

Figure 1	Location of the Youth Justice Redevelopment Project, Cherry Creek, Victoria	8
Figure 2	Location of the Warrambeen Offset area, Mount Mercer, Victoria	15
Figure 3	Ecological features and proposed Offset area at Warrambeen, Mount Mercer, Victoria	18
Figure 4	Specific objectives and their relationship to the management commitments	23



Declaration of accuracy

Youth Justice Redevelopment Project, Cherry Creek,

Victoria

EPBC 2017/8049

In making this declaration, I am aware that section 491 of the *Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999* (Cth) (EPBC Act) makes it an offence in certain circumstances to knowingly provide false or misleading information or documents to specified persons who are known to be performing a duty or carrying out a function under the EPBC Act or the Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Regulations 2000 (Cth). The offence is punishable on conviction by imprisonment or a fine, or both. I am authorised to bind the approval holder to this declaration and that I have no knowledge of that authorisation being revoked at the time of making this declaration.

Signed

2-1->

Shana Nerenberg Consultant Botanist Biosis Pty Ltd 24/01/2020



Summary

Biosis Pty Ltd was commissioned by the Department of Justice and Community Safety (DJCS) to prepare an **Offset Management Plan (OMP)** for the Youth Justice Redevelopment Project (YJRP), Cherry Creek, Victoria. The YJRP was declared a controlled action under the EPBC Act and assessed via preliminary documentation. The controlled action was approved by the Minister for the Environment on 20 November 2018.

The purpose of this **OMP** is to describe how the DJCS will meet approval Condition 6 and Condition 7 for the provision of Environmental Offsets under the approval conditions for *Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999* (EPBC Act) referral number 2017/8049. This **OMP** will demonstrate how the Environmental Offsets will compensate for the loss of 28.23 hectares of **Natural Temperate Grassland of the Victorian Volcanic Plain (NTGVVP)** and 35.66 hectares of **Golden Sun Moth (GSM)** habitat consistent with the **EPBC Act Environmental Offsets Policy**. In summary, these conditions will be met in part by securing for conservation and improving the condition of 144.35 hectares of **NTGVVP** and **GSM habitat** within a new third party **Offset area** located at the property called *'Warrambeen'*, 815 Gumley Road, Mount Mercer, Victoria, 60 kilometres west of the development site.

The **specific objectives** for the **Offset area** result from the inputs into and the outputs from the Offsets Assessment Guide. The **specific objectives** form the basis of the **management commitments** that the Landholder has agreed to when reviewing earlier versions of this **OMP**. The **management commitments** will be implemented on the ground using defined **management actions** that are practical and feasible within an agricultural context. Each of the individual **management actions** will have a management target based on maintenance or improvement of the current condition of the **Offset area**.

The **specific objectives** of the **Offset area** will be assessed using the following **key performance indicators**:

- Permanent legal protection of 144.35 ha of **NTGVVP** and **GSM habitat** via **Trust for Nature** covenant.
- Permanent exclusion of all agricultural practices except as described in this **OMP**.
- Completion of the 10-year program of intensive management, including monitoring and reporting.
- Improving the Quality of NTGVVP and GSM habitat from 6 (out of 10) to 7 (out of 10).
- Annual works plan in place for on-going management actions from Year 11 onwards.

The broad approach of the **management actions** is to produce a decrease in the abundance of perennial weeds and maintain open grassland conditions that are suitable for the recruitment (seed production, germination and growth) of native plant species. While decreasing weed cover is an improvement in itself, it is anticipated that this will be accompanied by a commensurate increase in the abundance of native grasses and herbs. The increased abundance of native grasses will also improve food availability for **GSM**.

A risk assessment has been undertaken to address potential threats to the success of the **Offset area**. Surveillance of the **Offset area** is an integral component of risk management for the **Offset area** and includes both routine inspections by the Landholder and ecological monitoring by a qualified ecologist. These activities allow for early identification of changes, appropriate and timely management responses, and adaptive management to changing conditions. Regular reporting to regulatory bodies will track the improvement of the **Offset area** over time.

Schedules for **management actions**, monitoring and reporting are provided at the end of this document. The table on the following page summarises the **OMP specific objectives**, **key performance indicators** (KPIs) and **management actions** to be implemented according to the details in this **OMP**.



Specific objective	Offsets Assessment Guide	KPI / Measureable target	м	anagement actions	
			Upon commencement	Year 1 to Year 10	Year 11 onwards
Offset area protection (security)	Provide 144.35 ha Offset area	On-title protection via Trust for Nature covenant	Register Trust for Nature covenant on- title		
Offset area protection (threat abatement)	Risk of loss reduced from 10% to 1%	 No loss of NTGVVP or GSM habitat or prevental weed introductions over 20 year time horizon of OMP No unauthorised access or unapproved works within offset area Understory score maintained at a minimum of 15 (out of 25) 	Exclude all agricultural practices except those in accordance with OMP	Routine inspections and maintenance of: • Fencing • Signage and access	Routine inspections and maintenance of: • Fencing • Information and access
Offset area improvement	Quality score of NTGVVP and GSM habitat improved from 6/10 to 7/10.	 Average Habitat Hectares score improves from 63.10 to a minimum of 67.04, with a preferred score of 69.76. GSM stocking rate to increase from less than 5 males per hectare to more than 5 males per hectare. 	Conversion from agricultural management to conservation management: • New internal fencing & watering points • Signage & markers • Convert to rotational cell grazing with exclusion periods • Install monitoring plots	Intensive program of management actions for: • Weeds • Pest animals • Biomass & organic litter • Routine inspections by Landholder and Trust for Nature. • Ecological monitoring of NTGVVP & GSM	
Offset area maintenance	Quality score achieved at the end of Year 10 maintained from Year 11 onwards	Habitat Hectares score and GSM stocking rate achieved at the end of Year 10 maintained			Maintenance of Year-10 condition with annual works plan for: • Weeds • Pest animals • Biomass & organic litter • Routine inspections by Landholder and Trust for Nature

Summary Table Specific objectives, KPIs and management actions



Structure of this document

The structure and content of the **Offset Management Plan** (**OMP**) is organised as follows: Sections 1 and 2 are aimed at technical professionals at DoEE, DJCS, and ecologists undertaking monitoring of the **Offset area**; meanwhile, Sections 3, 4 and 5 are also aimed at the Landholder who will implement the **OMP** as well as technical professionals. Appendix 1 is contains the detailed schedule of **management actions**, including monitoring and reporting, to enable implementation of the **OMP**.

- **1. Introduction:** summarises the background information leading up to the requirement for this **OMP**, including the purpose and scope of the **OMP** and who is responsible for its implementation.
- **2. Offset area description:** provides information about the property on which the offset is located and describes the **Offset area** itself. This section also defines the **specific objectives** as they arise from the Offset Assessment Guide, rather than detailed management targets.
- **3. Specific management actions:** details the **management actions** to achieve the **specific objectives** of the **OMP** including weed, pest and biomass control targets.
- **4. Monitoring actions:** describes how the progress of the **Offset area** will be tracked over the 10 year timeframe to achieve the **specific objectives**.
- **5. Risk assessment and adaptive management:** details how management of the **Offset area** will adapt to changes conditions, the results of monitoring and any unforeseen events or **Incidents**.
- Appendices: provides schedule for management actions and background information.

For terms in **bold**, a list of terms and their definitions is provided on the following page. A glossary of technical terms used throughout this **OMP** is provided in Appendix 5.



Definition of terms

The following terms are defined in the EPBC Act approval:

Credit Trading Agreement means a legal agreement between the approval holder, **Trust for Nature** and the owner of the **Offset area** to outline the arrangements for the **Offset area** in accordance with the **Offset Management Plan.**

Conservation covenant means a binding agreement registered on the title of the property that provides enduring protection of the environmental values of the property.

Environmental services means services including: (i) entering into and registering a **conservation covenant** over the **Offset area**; and, (ii) managing the **Offset area** in accordance with the **Offset Management Plan.**

EPBC Act Environmental Offsets Policy means the *Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999 Environmental Offsets Policy*, October 2013 or any document published by the Australian Government which supersedes this document.

Golden Sun Moth or GSM means the EPBC Act listed threatened species Synemon plana.

Golden Sun Moth habitat or **GSM habitat** means the habitat for the **Golden Sun Moth** as defined in the species *approved conservation advice*.

Incident means any event which has the potential to, or does, impact on protected matter(s).

Independent audit(s): means an audit conducted by an independent and **suitably qualified person** as detailed in the *Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999 Independent Audit and Audit Report Guidelines* (2015).

Monitoring data means the data required to be recorded under the conditions of this approval.

Natural Temperate Grassland of the Victorian Volcanic Plain or **NTGVVP** means the **EPBC Act** listed ecological community: the **Natural Temperate Grassland of the Victorian Volcanic Plain** ecological community.

Offset area means the area of land to be secured and managed for **NTGVVP** and/or **Golden Sun Moth** habitat.

Offset Management Plan or **OMP** means the document outlining the management and protection of the **Offset area**, or any subsequent version approved by the **Minister** under section 143A of the **EPBC Act**.

Preliminary Documentation means the document titled *Youth Justice Redevelopment Project, Cheery Creek, Victoria: Preliminary Documentation EPBC Referral number: 2017/8048* and dated 9 August 2018, inclusive of *Appendices 1-15*, provided to the **Department** on 13 August 2018.

Protected matter(s) means a matter protected under a controlling provision in Part 3 of the **EPBC Act** for which this approval has effect.

Suitably qualified person means a person who has professional qualifications, training, skills and/or experience related to the nominated subject matter and can give authoritative independent assessment, advice and analysis on performance relative to the subject matter using the relevant protocols, standards, methods and/or literature.

Trust for Nature means the Victorian based not-for-profit organisation working to protect native plants and wildlife in cooperation with private landowners (ABN: 60 292 993 543).



The following terms are defined below for use in this OMP:

Key performance indicator or **KPI** means a measureable change that provides evidence that the **Offset area** has achieved/is progressing towards achieving the **specific objectives**.

Management commitment(s) means the overall changes to land management practices that will be undertaken by the Landholder within the **Offset area**.

Management action(s) means the works that will be undertaken within the **Offset area** to improve and maintain **NTGVVP** and **GSM habitat** within the **Offset area**.

Management target means a measureable change that provides evidence that the **management action** has achieved/is progressing towards achieving the improvement in **NTGVVP** and **GSM habitat.**

Quality means the score out of 10 used in the Offset Assessment Guide to define the conservation values present within an area of Listed threatened species habitat or ecological community.

Specific objectives means the requirements for the performance of the **Offset area** as defined by the Offsets Assessment Guide.

The following list of the entities are referred to in this document:

Department of Justice and Community Safety (DJCS) means the Victorian government department responsible for correctional facilities (regardless of the name of the department). At the time the EPBC Act approval 2017/8049 was granted, this department was called Department of Justice and Regulation (DJR). The name of the department may undergo further changes throughout the life of this document but the department responsible for correctional facilities will remain the approval holder.

Department of Environment and Energy (DoEE) means the Commonwealth Government department responsible for the Environment *Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999* (EPBC Act). The name of the department may undergo changes throughout the life of this document but it is assumed the department responsible for the EPBC Act will remain the regulator of the approval.

Trust for Nature (TfN) means the statutory body enacted under the *Victorian Conservation Trusts Act 1972* and is responsible to covenants enacted as a result of that Act. Regardless of any future name changes, this document assumes that a successor organisation would take responsibility for and be bound by the covenants should TfN be dissolved.

Landholder means the current or future owner of the **Offset area** or their legal representative or their delegate, where the delegate is the person responsible for land management within the **Offset area** (e.g. farm manager).

Warrambeen means the name of the property at 815 Gumley Road, Mount Mercer, on which the **Offset area** is located. Note that the alternative spelling Warrambine applies to some geographic features but does not apply to the property name.

The Trustee for the Taylor Gumley Land Holding Trust (T/G Land Holding Trust) is the legal entity that owns Warrambeen.



1. Introduction

1.1 Background information / description of the action

The Department of Justice and Community Safety (DJCS) is undertaking the Youth Justice Redevelopment Project (YJRP) at Cherry Creek, Victoria (Figure 1). The YJRP was declared a controlled action under the *Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999* (EPBC Act) and assessed via **Preliminary Documentation** (EPBC Act referral number 2017/8049). An ecological assessment of the development site and an environmental impact assessment of the YJRP was provided in the **Preliminary Documentation** by which EPBC Act referral 2017/8049 was assessed. The controlling provisions on the action are summarised as significant impacts on *Listed Threatened Species and Communities* protected under Section 18 and Section 18A of the EPBC Act. A second controlling provision, *Wetlands of international importance*, does not have any relevance to this document or environmental offsets associated with the YJRP and is not mentioned further.

The impacts on *Listed Threatened Species and Communities* were described in detail in the **Preliminary Documentation** and are summarised here. The **Preliminary Documentation** identified that there would be a significant impact on two Matters of National Environmental Significance (MNES):

- 28.225 ha Temperate Grassland of the Victorian Volcanic Plain (NTGVVP)
- 36.67 ha Habitat for Golden Sun Moth Synemon plana (GSM).

The total area of NTGVPP was considered to be **GSM habitat** (Figure 1) with an additional 7.366 hectares of predominantly introduced vegetation and poor condition native vegetation also identified as **GSM habitat**.

The **Quality** (measured out of 10) of the **NTGVVP** varied within the development site. The majority of the **NTGVVP** was assessed as **Quality** 6 (out of 10), with small areas along the access road assessed as **Quality** 3 (out of 10). The **Quality** of **GSM habitat** varied according to the condition of the vegetation. Of the total of 36.6 hectares of **GSM habitat**, approximately 20% of the development site was **GSM habitat** of **Quality** 3 (out of 10), a small section supported **Quality** 4 (out of 10), and approximately 80% of the development site supported **GSM habitat** of **Quality** 5 (out of 10) (Figure 1).

The proposed controlled action was approved by the Minister for the Environment on 20 November 2018. The approval has effect until 1 November 2035. The details of the development site are provided Table 1.

Site details:		
Applicant	Department of Justice and Community Safety	
Location/address of Development Site	215 Farm Road Cocoroc 3030	
Local Government Area	City of Wyndham	
Catchment Management Authority	Port Phillip and Western Port	
Responsible Authority	Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning	
Planning Scheme Amendment (ID)	Wyndham C222	
Date Planning Scheme Amendment approved	18 October 2018	
EPBC Act referral	2017/8049	
Date Controlled Action approved	20 November 2018	

Table 1 Development Site Details





1.2 Purpose

The purpose of this **OMP** is to describe how Condition 6 and Condition 7 for the provision of Environmental Offsets under EPBC Act referral 2017/8049 (reproduced below) will be met in part by an **Offset area** established at the property called Warrambeen. The **specific objectives** of this **OMP** are as follows:

- Offset area protection (security): In-perpetuity, legal protection of the conservation values of the Offset area.
- **Offset area protection (threat abatement):** in-perpetuity **management commitments** for removing the threats posed by agricultural production and current land use rights.
- Offset area improvement: An intensive 10-year program of management actions to be implemented from the commencement of the OMP to improve NTGVVP and GSM habitat Quality.
- **Offset area maintenance:** In-perpetuity **management actions** that will ensure that the improvement achieved in the first 10 years of the **OMP** is maintained over time.

The **management actions** are described in the sections that follow and are supported by schedules at the end of this document (Appendix 1).

1.3 Objectives

This **OMP** has the following objectives based on Condition 7 of the EPBC Act approval for referral 2017/8049:

- Provide supporting documentation for the establishment of a conservation covenant for the **Offset area** (Condition 6);
- Describe the **Offset area** including location, size, condition, environmental values present and surrounding land uses and provide maps of the **Offset area**.
- Document the presence and baseline **Quality** of the **NTGVVP** and **Golden Sun Moth habitat** within the **Offset area**.
- Define **specific objectives** to demonstrate **NTGVVP** and **Golden Sun Moth habitat Quality** improvement.
- Describe specific **management actions**, and timeframes for implementation, to be carried out to meet **specific objectives**.
- Define **key performance indicators** to demonstrate the improvement to the **Quality** of **NTGVVP** and **Golden Sun Moth habitat**.
- Detail the nature, timing and frequency of monitoring to determine the success of **management** actions against key performance indicators.
- Provide information on indicative corrective actions that will be implemented in the event monitoring activities indicate **key performance indicators** are not or are unlikely to be achieved.
- Explain the roles and responsibilities for implementing the **management actions**.

All **management actions** are consistent with conservation advice for **NTGVVP** and **GSM**, and threat abatement plans relevant to both **protected matters**. These documents are referenced throughout where necessary.

There is one other EPBC Act listed threatened species known to be present in the **Offset area**: two individuals of Spiny Rice-flower *Pimelea spinescens* subsp. *spinescens* were recorded during site inspection. As a flora species characteristic of **NTGVVP**, Spiny Rice-flower will also be accommodated within the **management actions**.



1.4 Approval conditions

The following approval conditions for EPBC Act referral 2017/8049 relate to this **Offset Management Plan** (**OMP**). A list of terms is provided in the next section.

- 6. To provide for the conservation and enhancement of **NTGVVP** and **Golden Sun Moth habitat** the approval holder must:
 - a. Within 12 months of the date of this approval, execute a Credit Trading Agreement for the provision of Environmental Services at the Offset area.
 - b. The Department must be provided with a copy of the signed Credit Trading Agreement within 4 weeks following its execution.
 - c. Within 12 months of the date of signing the Credit Trading Agreement, provide written evidence to the Department of the signed conservation covenant for the Offset area has been registered on the title of the Offset area.
 - *d.* The Department must be provided with a copy of the signed conservation covenant within 4 weeks following execution.
- 7. Prior to executing the **Credit Trading Agreement** under condition 6, the approval holder must submit to the Department an **Offset Management Plan** for the **Offset area**.
 - a. The approval holder must obtain the Minister's approval for the Offset Management Plan before executing a Credit Trading Agreement.
 - b. The Offset Management Plan must be prepared by a suitably qualified person and be consistent with the Department's Environmental Management Plan Guidelines, and the EPBC Act Environmental Offset Policy.
 - c. The Offset Management Plan must demonstrate how the Offset area and Environmental Services will compensate for the loss of 28.23 hectares of NTGVVP and 35.66 hectares of Golden Sun Moth habitat consistent with the EPBC Act Environmental Offsets Policy.
 - d. The **Offset Management Plan** must include, but not be limited to:
 - *i. a description of the Offset area including location, size, condition, environmental values present and surrounding land uses.*
 - *ii. baseline data and other supporting evidence that documents the presence and baseline* **Quality** *of the* **NTGVVP** *and* **Golden Sun Moth habitat** *within the* **Offset area**.
 - *iii. maps and shapefiles of the Offset area.*
 - *iv.* **specific objectives** to demonstrate **NTGVVP** and **Golden Sun Moth habitat Quality** *improvement over the period of the* **Offset Management Plan**'s *implementation.*
 - v. specific management actions, and timeframes for implementation, to be carried out to meet specific objectives to improve the Quality of the NTGVVP and Golden Sun Moth habitat within the Offset area.
 - vi. key performance indicators to demonstrate the improvement to the Quality of NTGVVP and Golden Sun Moth habitat.
 - vii. the nature, timing and frequency of monitoring to determine the success of management actions against key performance indicators.
 - viii. indicative corrective actions that will be implemented in the event monitoring activities indicate *key performance indicators* are not or are unlikely to be achieved.
 - ix. the roles and responsibilities for implementing the **management actions**.
 - *x. Evidence of consistency with relevant conservation advices, recovery plans and/or threat abatement plans.*
 - xi. maintain or improve the extent and **Quality** of habitat and populations of other EPBC Act listed threatened species and ecological communities in the **Offset area**.



1.5 Roles and responsibilities

This section is important because it provides the details of which entities (see Definition of terms section above for the full list of entities listed in this document) are responsible for the various components of this **OMP**. Under Condition 7.d.ix., this **OMP** must include the roles and responsibilities for implementing the **management actions**, however, this section expands on this requirement to include the execution of the conditions themselves. Note that the **Credit Trading Agreement** and **Trust for Nature** covenant have further contractual obligations defined as part of their terms and conditions and should be referred to as necessary.

Table 2 provides a list of the responsibilities allocated to each entity and further description is provided below. The legal liabilities associated with these responsibilities are not directly controlled by this document but are conferred through the approval under the EPBC Act for EPBC Act referral 2017/8049, the **Credit Trading Agreement** and the **Trust for Nature** covenant.

DJCS: The approval for EPBC Act referral 2017/8049 is granted to the approval holder, who is the Victorian Department of Justice and Community Safety (DJCS). As the approval holder, DJCS is ultimately responsible for execution of the approval conditions for their project, the YJRP. Unless otherwise agreed in a legally binding document, DJCS retains ultimately responsible for ensuring the approval conditions are met to the satisfaction of DoEE including providing compensation for loss of **NTGVVP** and **GSM habitat** via implementation of the **OMP**, ecological monitoring, reporting to DoEE, and ensuring adequate oversight (e.g. auditing). DJCS has engaged the Landholder of Warrambeen to deliver **Environmental Services** on their behalf, including implementation of the **management actions** in this **OMP**.

Trust for Nature: The responsible authority for the conservation covenant under the *Victorian Conservation Trust Act 1972* (VCT Act) is **Trust for Nature** (TfN). TfN has authority under the VCT Act to enforce restrictions contained in the covenant but also provides advice on land management to the Landholder (both during the 10 year management period and from Year 11 onwards). TfN bears no responsibility for the execution of approval conditions for EPBC Act referral 2017/8049.

Landholder: The TfN covenant binds the current (and future) Landholder to the standard restrictions in the TfN covenant and to the requirements described in this **OMP**. As agreed with DJCS and TfN, the Landholder will be responsible for carrying out the works and associated reporting to manage the **Offset area**. The Landholder will also facilitate access to the **Offset area** for ecological monitoring and auditing, as required. The Landholder can engage suitably qualified contractors to carry out the works on the Landholder's behalf. The Landholder can deputise responsibility for carrying out the works to a designated site manager and/or managing ecologist, however, the Landholder remains responsible for ensuring the works are undertaken (Table 2).

Funding arrangements: Financial liabilities have been agreed between DJCS, TfN and the Landholder, who are parties to the **Trust for Nature** agreement. In general terms, **Trust for Nature** will retain sufficient funding to ensure that the **Offset area** can be managed according to the 10-year management period described in this **OMP**. A portion of the funds held in trust are released each year to the Landholder, with the exact arrangements stipulated in the TfN agreement. The **Credit Trading Agreement** has further arrangements pertaining to financing the management and monitoring of the **Offset area**, however, the details of the financial arrangements associated with the **Offset area** are beyond the scope of this **OMP**.



Table 2Offset area responsibilities

Notes to table: DJCS: Department of Justice and Community Safety. Landholder: refers to the Landholder or their delegate (e.g. farm manager). TfN: **Trust for Nature**

Responsibility	Responsible entity	Obligation arising from	Person who will undertake the work
Executing approval Condition 6 and 7 under EPBC Act approval 2017/8049 (i.e. providing the required environmental offsets)	DJCS	Statutory approval conditions for YJRP	DJSC or their representative Ecological consultant (preparation of OMP)
Implementation of OMP such as undertaking conservation and maintenance works in Offset area	T/G Land Holding Trust	TfN covenant on Offset area	Landholder or their contractor
Routine inspections of Offset area	T/G Land Holding Trust	TfN covenant on Offset area	Landholder or their contractor
Keeping records of conservation and maintenance works, and results of routine inspections in Offset area	T/G Land Holding Trust	TfN covenant on Offset area	Landholder or their contractor
Ecological monitoring of Offset area	DJCS	Statutory approval conditions for YJRP	Experienced grassland ecologist to be engaged by the Landholder/DJCS with the costs invoiced to DJCS
Auditing of compliance with the approval conditions for EPBC Act approval 2017/8049 (see Condition 17 and Condition 18 of that approval)	DJCS	Statutory approval conditions for YJRP	An independent and suitably qualified person as detailed in the <i>Environment Protection and Biodiversity</i> <i>Conservation Act 1999</i> Independent Audit and Audit Report Guidelines (2015).
Records and reports of works and routine inspections for Trust for Nature	T/G Land Holding Trust	TfN covenant on Offset area	Landholder or their contractor
Ecological monitoring reports	T/G Land Holding Trust	TfN covenant on Offset area	Experienced grassland ecologist to provide report to Landholder
Annual compliance reporting to DoEE (Condition 14 of EPBC Act approval 2017/8049)	DJCS	Statutory approval condition for YJRP	Landholder or their contractor to provide annual report to DJCS as per management action. DJCS to provide annual compliance report to DoEE (N.B. will include details of both the development site and Offset area).
Reporting non-compliance to DoEE (Condition 15 of EPBC Act approval 2017/8049)	DJCS	Statutory approval condition for YJRP	Landholder to inform Trust for Nature , DJCS and DoEE in the event of an Incident . Incident means any event which has the potential to, or does, impact on protected matter(s) . E.g. wildfire (bushfire) occurring in the Offset area ; plant pest or disease outbreak affecting native grassland flora. Minor seasonal



Responsibility	Responsible entity	Obligation arising from	Person who will undertake the work
			issues like fluctuations in weed cover can be discussed with TfN in the course of routine works planning but does not meet the description of an Incident .
Review of OMP (in accordance with the adaptive management provisions of OMP)	T/G Land Holding Trust	TfN covenant on Offset area	Landholder in consultation with TfN
Providing advice on and monitoring compliance with Trust for Nature covenant	Trust for Nature	TfN covenant on Offset area	Staff members of Trust for Nature

1.6 Other offset requirements

The clearing of native vegetation associated with the YJRP was also assessed by the Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning (DELWP) as part of planning scheme amendment Wyndham C222 approved by the Victorian Minister for Planning on 18 October 2018. Environmental offsets prescribed under the Victorian *Guidelines for the removal, destruction or lopping of native vegetation* (DELWP 2017) will also be required for the YJRP. Where possible, the environmental offsets provided in fulfilment of the approval conditions for EPBC Act referral 2017/8049 will also contribute to the offset requirements under Wyndham C222. Additional environmental offsets may be required to meet all the requirements of Wyndham C222, however, these would not be relevant to this **OMP** and are not mentioned further.

1.7 OMP commencement

The implementation of this **OMP** will begin on execution of the **Credit Trading Agreement** and release of the agreed funds to the Landholder. The funds due to the Landholder are for the purchase of the offsets and for the costs associated with the establishment tasks for the **Offset area** (Section 3.5). **Trust for Nature** will retain sufficient funds in trust to provide for the 10-year management of the **Offset area** as well as a contingency for unexpected events or costs.

The registration of the covenant will be completed as soon as possible thereafter noting that administrative requirements may mean that the registration of the covenant with the titles office (currently called Land Use Victoria) takes a further 12 months to be completed and signed-off by the Commonwealth Minister for the Environment. This registration process is an administrative process only and will not prevent the commencement of the **management actions** of the **OMP** once the **Credit Trading Agreement** is executed since the funds are non-refundable.

The **Credit Trading Agreement** was executed on DD / Month / YYYY and henceforth is the date on which this **OMP** commenced.

1.8 Financial disclaimer

Please note that any information provided in this **OMP** regarding financial arrangements is for information purposes only. This **OMP** is not designed to govern any financial arrangements regarding purchase, management or monitoring of the **Offset area**. The financial arrangements are governed by the **Trust for Nature** agreement and the **Credit Trading Agreement**.



2. Offset area description

In accordance with Condition 7.d.i. of EPBC referral 2017/8049, this section provides a description of the **Offset area** including location, size, condition, environmental values present and surrounding land uses. In accordance with Condition 7.d.ii. of EPBC referral 2017/8049, this section also describes the current ecological condition of the **NTGVVP** and **GSM habitat** using baseline data and other supporting evidence that documents the presence and baseline **Quality** of the **NTGVVP** and **GSM habitat**.

2.1 Environmental offsets requirements

The Offsets Assessment Guides for the approved impacts were confirmed as meeting the **EPBC Act Environmental Offsets Policy** on 6 September 2019. The resulting offset requirements were as follows:

- NTGVVP: 166.68 hectares
- **GSM habitat**: 188.18 hectares (with 166.68 hectares concurrent with the **NTGVVP**)

The DJCS will secure third party offsets at two locations on the Victorian Volcanic Plain. This **OMP** covers 86% of total requirements (144.35 hectares) of **NTGVVP** and concurrently occurring confirmed **GSM habitat**. The remainder of the offsets that cannot be provided under this **OMP** will be provided at a second location.

2.2 Description of the Offset area

2.2.1 Location and surrounding land uses

The **Offset area** is located at the property called '*Warrambeen*', 815 Gumley Road, Mount Mercer, Victoria (Figure 2). Warrambeen is approximately 60 kilometres west of development site, near the regional centre of Ballarat (Figure 2). Warrambeen is owned by Taylor Gumley Land Holding Trust as part of a larger farming enterprise of approximately 4000 hectares. The details of the land titles on which the **Offset area** is located are provided in Table 3.

The **Offset area** is located within a large paddock of 190 hectares with the directly adjoining land uses being agricultural land and other offset sites. The paddock is located in the centre of the Warrambeen such that roads or other means of public access are more than 1 kilometre from the **Offset area**. The paddock itself contains one existing offset site and is used currently for sheep grazing. Warrambeen supports additional environmental offsets in other parts of the property.

All informal easements have been excluded from the net **Offset area** and there are no formal easements within the net **Offset area**. The **Offset area** also excludes an unmade government road on the southern edge of the paddock. No future utilities or road easements can be applied to the **Offset area** as these are likely to conflict with the objectives of this **OMP**.

2.2.2 Size

The **Offset area** is 144.35 hectares of **NTGVVP** concurrently with confirmed **GSM habitat** (Figure 3). The **Offset area** therefore provides 86.6% of the prescribed offset obligation for EPBC referral 2017/8049. The offset will be provided as a single contiguous area of grassland (Figure 3).





Table 3 Offset area and property details

Site details:	
Type of offset	Third party
Landholder of Offset area	Trustee for Taylor Gumley Land Holding Trust ABN 28 484 624 495
Landholder Contact	offsets@warrambeen.com
Location and address of Offset area	815 Gumley Road, Mount Mercer
Area of Offset area (ha)	144.35 ha
Allotment	TP16469T
Parcel identifier (SPI)	118\PP3485, 119\PP3485 & 120\PP3485
Local Government Area	Golden Plains
Security mechanism	Trust for Nature covenant registered on title
Bioregion	Victorian Volcanic Plain

2.2.3 General description of environmental values present

The **Offset area** has no known history of cultivation, significant pasture improvement or intensive fertilizer application. The surface rock and rocky rises remain intact as does a substantial cryptogam layer and soil crust.

A detailed description of the conservation values within the proposed **Offset area** is included in Biosis (2018). A total of 45 native and 23 introduced plant species were recorded from two inspections of the **Offset area** in 2018 (Biosis 2018). More native and weed species will be present but seasonal conditions and survey intensity typically preclude the detection of all species at any one time.

The **Offset area** supports many of the flora species that are characteristic of **NTGVVP** including: Kangaroograss *Themeda triandra*, Common Tussock-grass *Poa labillardierei*, Spear-grass *Austrostipa* spp., Wallaby-grass *Rytidosperma* spp., Lemon Beauty-heads *Calocephalus citreus*, Scaly Buttons *Leptorhynchos squamatus*, Blue Devil *Eryngium ovinum*, Small Scurf-pea *Cullen parvum*, and Common Woodruff *Asperula conferta* (Biosis 2018).

The Offset area is known to support at least two threatened flora species (Biosis 2018):

- Spiny Rice-flower Pimelea spinescens subsp. spinescens (Critically Endangered under the EPBC Act).
- Small Scurf-pea Cullen parvum (Endangered in Victoria).

Although weeds are present, the overall vegetation and habitat structure of the grasslands is provided by the native perennial tussock grasses characteristic of **NTGVVP**. Low-threat annual weeds were the most obvious type of weed present such as Wild Oats *Avena* spp., Quaking-grass *Briza* spp., Squirrel-tail Fescue *Vulpia myuros* and Narrow-leaf Clover *Trifolium angustifolium*. High threat perennial grasses Brown-top Bent *Agrostis capillaris* and Toowoomba Canary-grass *Phalaris aquatica* were present but these were not dominating the tussock cover of the grassland and were assessed to be a levels low enough to be managed effectively. The noxious broad-leaved weed, Spear Thistle *Cirsium vulgare*, was present in varying amounts throughout the **Offset area** but other broad-leaved perennial weeds were relatively rare.

Woody weeds were relatively rare and were considered at levels low enough to be controlled to negligible levels. All woody weeds were species that are readily recognised by the Landholder or contractor including the large shrubs: African Box-thorn *Lycium ferocissimum*, Sweet Briar *Rosa rubiginosa* and Cherry Plum *Prunus cerasifera*.



Because the **Offset area** is embedded within a larger patch of **NTGVVP**, the landscape values of the **Offset area** also add to its conservation value. **NTGVVP** has been cleared from most of the Victorian Volcanic Plain and usually occurs in small, isolated patches. In contrast, the **Offset area** occurs within a patch with a total area of over 300 hectares, when the adjoining paddocks are included.

Targeted surveys for **GSM** were undertaken by Biosis during the 2018/19 summer survey season. The **GSM** surveys were undertaken using the field methods stipulated in the Commonwealth EPBC Act Policy Statement 3.12 (DEWHA 2009) for approximately 100 hectares of the total **Offset area**.

A total of 86 male **GSM** were recorded flying within the area surveyed. Female moths, which are more difficult to detect, were not observed during the surveys. The **GSM** individuals were distributed throughout the area surveyed as well as on adjoining paddocks (Figure 3). The adjoining paddock also supports a large population of **GSM** and recorded sightings of **GSM** within the **Offset area** date back to 2009 (Biosis 2018).





<u>Legend</u> YJRP Offset area

NTGVVP / GSM habitat (144.36 ha)

Management details:

- Grazing cells (proposed)
- Existing Fence
- Cadastral boundary
- Excluded easements (6 m wide)
- Additional area not under covenant
- Existing offsets

Gates (not to scale)

- 🗙 Exisiting
- X New

Watering Points - troughs (not to scale)

- Existing
- New (outside offset area)

Listed flora species:

- Pimelea spinescens ssp. spinescens Spiny Rice-flower (EPBC Act)
- Cullen parvum -Small Scurf-pea (FFG Act)
- Cullen tenax -
- + Tough Scurf-pea (FFG Act)

Figure 3 Offset area (144.36 ha), Warrambeen, Victoria. External data provided by Warrambeen Trading Co.





2.3 Current condition

The vegetation condition of the **Offset area** was assessed using the Habitat Hectares method (Parkes et al. 2003) and the conservation values of the **NTGVVP** were assessed against those provided in the listing advice (TSSC 2008). The suitability and **Quality** of **GSM habitat** was assessed against the descriptions provided in (DEWHA 2009). The condition assessments were used in conjunction with consultation with DoEE to calculate the **Quality** score used to calculate the required offsets.

2.3.1 NTGVVP current condition

The native vegetation within the **Offset area** received a score of 63 out of 100 (Habitat Hectares method, as assessed against the Plains Grassland benchmark, Table 4). This is a high score for native vegetation that has been subject to agricultural disturbance and gives a **Quality** score of 6.3 out of 10. There are opportunities to improve **Quality** through increased weed control and maintenance of favourable recruitment conditions through biomass management. The assessed against the conservation values in the listing advice provides additional evidence that the **Quality** of the **Offset area** is higher than the **Quality** of the development site, for example, because it supports threatened flora species.

Appendix 4 provides the explanation of the **NTGVVP Quality** scoring method.

Table 4 Habitat Hectares results, Warrambeen

EVC Name (#):		Plains Grassland (EVC 132-61)	
		Score out of:	Score:
	Lack of Weeds	15	6
tion	Understorey	25	15
ndi	Recruitment	10	10
C e	Organic Matter	5	5
Sit	Site Score (standardised x1.36)		49.1
andscape Value	Patch Size	10	8
	Neighbourhood	10	2
	Distance to Core	5	4
ت_	Landscape Score		14
Total Habitat Score		100	63.1

The current condition of NTGVVP was also assessed against the conservation values in the listing advice for the ecological community (Table 5). This assessment was done for both the **Offset area** and the development site to demonstrate that the **Offset area** is of higher conservation value than the development site (Table 5).



Conservation value:	Development site	Offset area - Warrambeen	
A high native plant species richness	No. The site is low native diversity, modified grassland with 22 native species recorded from a survey* of 67 hectares (EHP 2017).	Yes. The site has high diversity with 44 native species recorded during the assessment.*	
*note that the impact site and Offset area were both surveyed in autumn. Targeted surveys for spring flowering flora were only done at the impact site.	The areas of NTGVVP in better condition are dominated by Spear Grass <i>Austrostipa</i> spp. and Wallaby Grass <i>Rytidosperma</i> spp. but herbs are scarce and are those that are tolerant of disturbance and found commonly in areas grazed by livestock. Kangaroo Grass <i>Themeda</i> <i>triandra</i> has negligible cover and <i>does not</i> provide the main vegetation structure.	Areas of NTGVVP are in good condition with areas dominated by Kangaroo Grass <i>Themeda triandra</i> and supports a range of native herbs indicative of higher conservation value grassland including Chocolate Lily <i>Arthropodium strictum</i> , Lemon Beauty-heads <i>Calocephalus citreus</i> , and Scaly Buttons <i>Leptorhynchos</i> <i>squamatus</i> as well as three threatened species that were recorded Incidentally.	
Large patch size	Yes. While no definition of 'large' is given, the patch is embedded in a landscape context of greater than 500 hectares of farmland, some of which is native grassland of varying condition.	Yes. While no definition of 'large' is given, the patch is embedded in a landscape context of greater than 3000 hectares of farmland, much of which is native grassland of varying condition.	
Minimal weed invasion	Variable. Weed invasion varies throughout the patch with the highest cover in any one area being 40% cover (EHP 2017). More than half of all species recorded were weeds (44 weed species compared to 22 native species).	Variable. Weed invasion varies throughout the patch with the highest cover in any one area being 30%. Only one-third of all species recorded were weeds (22 weed species compared to 44 native species).	
Presence of threatened plant and/or animal species	Flora - No. No threatened plant species were detected during targeted surveys.	Flora - Yes. One EPBC listed flora species Spiny Rice-flower <i>Pimelea</i> <i>spinescens</i> subsp. <i>spinescens</i> and two species FFG Act listed in Victoria, Small Scurf-pea <i>Cullen</i> <i>parvum</i> and Tough Scurf-pea <i>Cullen</i> <i>tenax</i> were recorded. A further 6 protected flora species under the <i>Flora and Fauna Guarantee Act 1988</i> were recorded (noting this status typically only infers protection on private land).	
	Fauna - Yes. GSM is recorded.	Fauna - Yes. GSM is also recorded.	
Presence of natural exposed rock platforms and outcrops	Minimal. Basalt surface and embedded rock is present throughout the site but surface rock removal has occurred in the past.	Yes. Rocky rises with undisturbed rock formations occur throughout the site as well as basalt surface rock and embedded rock away from the rises.	
Presence of mosses, lichens or a soil crust on the soil surface.	Minimal. The natural surface crust has been disturbed by a long history of livestock grazing but mosses and lichens are still present with modified cover and structure.	Yes. The natural surface crust is present with mosses and lichens found throughout.	

Table 5The conservation value of NTGVVP (TSSC 2008) at development site and Offset area



2.3.2 GSM habitat current condition

The **Offset area** supports a single contiguous area of high conservation value **NTGVVP** that is also confirmed **GSM habitat** and so was assigned a single **Quality** score. The **Quality** of 6/10 reflects the relatively intact condition of the vegetation but a moderately low stocking rate of **GSM** was recorded during targeted surveys in 2018/19. **GSM habitat Quality** can be improved by maintaining and increasing the cover of native grasses and maintaining an open grassland structure in time for the **GSM** breeding season.

Tables 6 provides the **Quality** scoring for the Warrambeen **GSM** offset. Appendix 4 provides the explanation of the **GSM habitat Quality** scoring method.

Parameter	Score	Justification
Site context	2/3	The Offset area is larger than 10 hectares in a landscape context of other large GSM offset sites. The Offset area is approximately rectangular noting that it also adjoins other Offset area s. The Offset area is essentially flat although rocky basalt geology creates minor topographic relief if viewed from ground level. This places the Offset area in the 2 out of 3 category.
Site condition	3/3	The vegetation in this category is dominated by high conservation value native vegetation (VQA site condition score of 49 out of 75) dominated by native grasses throughout including Kangaroo Grass <i>Themeda triandra</i> and Wallaby Grass <i>Rytidosperma</i> spp. as well as a high diversity of herbs. The Offset area also supports threatened plant species, including Spiny Rice-flower <i>Pimelea spinescens</i> subsp. <i>spinescens</i> . There are ample inter-tussock spaces with the Offset area getting the highest possible score for this attribute in the VQA assessment (10 out of 10). This places the survey area within the 3/3 category.
Species stocking rate	1/4	A total of 86 GSM were recorded from the Offset area . The total Offset area surveyed was 100 hectares. This gives a stocking rate of 0.86 moths per hectare. This places the survey area within the 1/4 category.
Quality score	6/10	A score of 6 out of 10 indicates that the Offset area has relatively intact conservation values in its current condition and represents habitat that is highly favourable to the species. There are opportunities to improve Quality through increased weed control and maintenance of favourable biomass levels.

 Table 6
 Warrambeen GSM habitat Quality score

2.3.3 Follow up inspection September 2019

To support the preparation of this **OMP**, a follow-up inspection of the **Offset area** was undertaken during spring 2019 (25 September – 26 September 2019). The aim of the inspection was to confirm the exact shape of the boundary that would be used to define the offset but it also allowed views of the **Offset area** during a more favourable season since previous inspections had been undertaken in autumn. The final layout of the **Offset area** is shown in Figure 3. The vegetation condition observed during the follow up inspection showed the benefit of strategic grazing for the grassland vegetation. The **Offset area** had been grazed over winter with stock removed in early September. As a result, the biomass was at suitable levels of **GSM** breeding compared with the autumn inspections. Several more native herb species were observed including the culturally important Yam Daisy (Murnong) *Microseris scapigera* that was observed in atypically high numbers.

2.4 Suitability of Offset area to provide a conservation gain

Under Section 7.6 of the **EPBC Act Environmental Offsets Policy** (DSEWPaC 2012), *environmental offsets must deliver a conservation gain for the impacted* **protected matter**, and that conservation gain must be new, or additional to what is already required by a duty of care or to any environmental planning laws at any level of



government. The following sections confirm that the proposed **Offset area** meets this requirement having no existing environmental offsets, on-title protections or other proposed conservation protections. In addition, the **Offset area** has current permitted land uses under the Golden Plains Planning Scheme that are also recognised threats to **NTGVVP** and **GSM habitat** as described below. Under these conditions, it was assessed that the risk of loss of **NTGVVP** or **GSM habitat** from the **Offset area** was 10%.

2.4.1 Current permitted land uses

The property is zoned Farming Zone (FZ) within the Golden Plains Shire Planning Scheme, which controls the use of the land. The purpose of the FZ is to provide for the use of land for agriculture. Uses for which a permit is *not* required include:

- Agriculture
- Cattle feedlot
- Domestic animal husbandry
- Dwelling
- Grazing animal production
- Poultry farm
- Timber production at least 40 hectares in size.

Under the Farming Zone, there are no permit requirements for the following agricultural activities that can lead to the decline or loss of native plant species and/or encourage the proliferation of weeds, which are known threats to **NTGVVP** and **GSM habitat**:

- Fertiliser application.
- Over-sowing with introduced pasture grasses or clover.
- Over-grazing or grazing with larger livestock that cause more damage to grasslands (especially horses).
- Biomass accumulation and loss of inter-tussock spaces.
- Selling the land to a new owner who may undertake the above activities.

In the event that the above activities were undertaken and the land declined in native grass cover to less than 25% of the perennial vegetation cover, the land would no longer met the definition of a patch of native vegetation (DELWP 2017). If a patch of native vegetation was no longer present, then there would be no planning permit requirement for removal of native vegetation (and associated environmental offsets) to facilitate further develop the land, for example, through de-rocking and cultivation.

2.4.2 Exemptions for minor native vegetation removal

Clause 52.17 of the Golden Plains Planning Scheme controls the removal of native vegetation via a planning permit and avoid, minimise and offset process. In addition to threats from existing uses above, clause 52.17-7 provides a table of exemptions where no planning permit is required to remove native vegetation for certain specified activities. These activities include the following that could lead to incremental loss of condition or extent of **NTGVVP** and **GSM habitat**:

- Operation or maintenance of an existing fence.
- Removal of dead vegetation.
- Fire protection, including periodic fuel reduction burning or construction of firebreaks and firefighting access tracks.
- Grazing by domestic stock.
- Pruning of up to 1/3 of the foliage of individual plants.



- Treatment of pest animal burrows or weed infestations.
- Geothermal energy/Mineral/Stone exploration or extraction.
- Minor Utility installation.

These activities can be undertaken without a permit to remove native vegetation and therefore there is no requirement to provide environmental offsets under state legislation.

2.4.3 Existing offset arrangements

A title search has been completed and the **Offset area** is not affected by any conservation related encumbrances. As shown in Figure 3, there is one existing environmental offset within the same paddock as the **Offset area** but it does not overlap with the **Offset area**. The **Offset area** therefore has not been allocated for the provision of any other offsets, either under the **EPBC Act Environmental Offsets Policy** or for provision of offsets under any current or past Victorian policy.

2.5 Specific objectives

This section presents the **specific objectives** to demonstrate **NTGVVP** and **GSM habitat Quality** improvement over the period of the **OMP**'s implementation, as required to fulfil Condition 7.d.iv. of EPBC Act approval 2017/8049. The specific objectives arise from the Offsets Assessment Guide and are used to determine the overall improvements required to be achieved at the end of 10 years. The specific objectives are broader scale objectives than the management commitments and management actions that are specified in Section 3.

Figure 4 below shows how the **specific objectives** relate to the **management commitments**, **management actions**, and management targets.





2.6 Specific objectives and key performance indicators

Table 7 below describes the **specific objectives** for the **Offset area** that result from the inputs into and the outputs from the Offsets Assessment Guide (a.k.a offsets calculator). Achieving the **specific objectives** will therefore ensure that an environmental offset that meets the requirements of the conditions of approval and the **EPBC Act Environmental Offsets Policy** will be provided. The **Offset area** as a whole will be assessed against **key performance indicators** that will determine if the **specific objectives** have been met (Table 7). The **key performance indicators** use technical terminology and so are broken down into **management targets** in for the Landholder to implement on the ground in Section 3.


Offset Assessment Guide	Specific objective	Key performance indicators (measureable through ecological monitoring)
Start area: 144.35 ha NTGVVP and GSM habitat	Offset area protection (security): Provide permanent protection for the conservation values of the Offset area with a conservation covenant.	• TfN agreement registered on relevant land titles
Risk of loss : 90%* confidence that the risk of loss decreases from 10%* to 1%* risk of loss Time over which loss is averted: 20 years**	Offset area protection (threat abatement): permanently exclude agricultural production except as directed by this OMP. Risk management: minimise the risk of the offset area failing to meet specific objectives. Procedures in place to manage and mitigate against incidents or emergencies.	 No loss of NTGVVP or GSM habitat or preventable weed introductions over 20 year time horizon No unauthorised access or unapproved works within offset area Understorey score maintained at a minimum of 15 (out of 25)
Gain: 85%* confidence Quality can be improved from 6* to 7* (out of 10) Time to ecological benefit: 10* years	Offset area improvement: Landholder commits to implementing the intensive 10- year program of management actions, routine inspections and facilitating annual ecological monitoring in accordance with the OMP. Risk management: minimise the risk of the offset area failing to meet specific objectives. Procedures in place to manage and mitigate against incidents or emergencies.	 Management actions adapted to seasonal conditions and/or new or emerging threats based on routine inspections and monitoring results Lack of Weeds score increases from 6 to at least 9 (out of 15) New weeds eliminated, emerging weed problems controlled to <1% cover, new pest animals eliminated Understorey score maintained at 15 (out of 25) or improved to 20 (out of 25) Bare ground score maintained at 10 (out of 10) Organic litter score maintained at 5 (out of 5) No active rabbit warrens or fox dens, minimal evidence of pest animal impacts Tussock cover always sufficient to provide fauna habitat after ecological burns Ecological monitoring undertaken in accordance with OMP Reporting undertaken in accordance with OMP Emergency management undertaken in accordance with OMP
Time over which loss is averted^: 20 years**	Offset area maintenance: Landholder commits to implementing the management commitments to maintain the improvement achieved in the first 10 years.	 Habitat hectares score achieved at the end of Year 10 is maintained over next 10 years (to achieve 20 year time horizon) OMP adapted to changing circumstances or ineffective management actions

Table 7Offset area management specific objectives and Key performance indicators

*input used in approved Offset Assessment Guide **Maximum value permitted to be used in Offset Assessment Guide ^No directly relevant input or output. 20 year time horizon assumed to be the most logical time period for maintenance to be applied

2.7 Measuring improvement in Quality

For both **NTGVVP** and **GSM habitat**, the required improvement is from **Quality** score 6 to **Quality** score 7. The following two sections explain how the baseline score of 6 was calculated and how improvements in **Quality** are to be measured.



2.7.1 NTGVVP

Quality improvement will be measured using the Habitat Hectares method at each of the permanent monitoring plots and as an average **Quality** for the whole area. Habitat Hectares is easily converted to a score out of 10 as shown in Appendix 4. The NTGVVP **Quality** scoring method was used to obtain the **Quality** score of the **Offset area** in the Offsets Assessment Guide and should be replicated to determine the final **Quality** score.

Since the Habitat Hectares method uses categories (which are converted to numeric scores) there is a limited number of ways in which the increase in **Quality** can be attained within the Habitat Hectares scoring system:

- The Landscape score is not influenced by on-site **management actions** and so is not expected to change of the 10-year management period (Table 8).
- Recruitment and Organic matter were already scored at their maximum possible scores,10 (out of 10) and 5 (out of 5) respectively, so **management actions** will maintain their condition.
- Lack of Weeds was scored 6 (out of 15) with possible improvements being 9, 11, 13 or 15 (out of 15). The maximum score (15 out of 15) requires there to be <5% weed cover with the elimination of all high threat weeds. This is not a practical target in a highly modified landscape because the surrounding landscape provides a constant source of wind-borne and animal-borne weed seeds. The minimum improvement target is therefore set at 9 (out of 15). The minimum target requires average cover of weeds to be reduced from the current <38% with the target to be <25%, with less than 50% of the weeds being high threat. The sub-groups of weeds will have lower targets within the overall target e.g. all woody weeds to be <1%.
- The Understory score is already relatively high at 15 (out of 25), with possible improvement categories being 20 (out of 25) or 25 (out of 25). Improvement in the number of understorey species will come from lower weed cover providing more opportunities for recruitment of understorey species that may presently be at quantities too low to be detected. The re-introduction of fire has potential to stimulate soil-stored seed to germinate if done with optimal seasonal conditions for recruitment, which could also improve the Understory score. It is recognised that many flora species are only visible for short amounts of time in response to seasonal conditions and their absence in any particular survey does not indicate their decline from the **Offset area**. The Understorey target will be set to maintain the 15/25 score (minimum requirement). An improvement 20 (out of 25) is the best improvement that can practically be expected. A perfect score of 25 (out of 25) may be possible to achieve but it would require the presence of Large Herbs (herbs >50cm tall), which, while the species are present, may not reach sufficient size under regular biomass management.

The Habitat Hectares score that can be expected to be achieved at the end of the 10-Year management period are shown in Table 8 below. Note that the confidence in achieving the best possible score is too low for this to be the required amount of improvement and still meet the confidence requirements.



Plai	ns Grassland (EVC	C 132)		Se	core	
Max. score for each component:		Starting condition	Minimum improvement required	Preferred improvement	Best improvement that can be expected	
Lack of Weeds 15		15	69(25 to 50% cover of weeds, with(5 to 25% cover weeds, with less than 50% of than 50% of the high threat)		11 (less than 5% cover of weeds, more than 50% high threat)	13 (< 5% cover of weeds, with less than 50% of them high threat)
	Understorey	25	15	15	15	20
ion	Recruitment	10	10	10	10	10
Site Condit	Organic Matter 5		5	5	5	5
	Site Score (standardised x1.36)		49.1	53.04	55.76	65.28
ē	Patch Size	10	8	8	8	8
Valu	Neighbourhood	10	2	2	2	2
dscape	Distance to Core	5	4	4	4	4
Landscape Score			14	14	14	14
HAB	ITAT SCORE	100	63.1	67.04	69.76	79.28
Quality (rounded) 10			6/10	7/10	7/10	8/10

Table 8Vegetation condition baseline and required improvement



2.7.2 Golden Sun Moth habitat

Quality improvement will be measured using the **NTGVVP** results for site score described above and the results of targeted surveys for **GSM**.

The scoring methods used to obtain the **Quality** score of the **Offset area** in the Offsets Assessment Guide is shown in Appendix 4 and should be replicated to determine the final **Quality** score. As for **NTGVVP**, there is a limited number of options for recording an improvement in **GSM habitat Quality** under the 10 point system:

- Site context is not influenced by on-site **management actions** and so is not expected to change of the 10-year management period (Table 9).
- Site condition has already been allocated a maximum score of 3 (out of 3) since the **Offset area** is high conservation value native vegetation with a site score greater than 46/75. While the target for site condition is set to maintenance of the 3 (out of 3) score, it is expected that the removal of weeds and subsequent opportunity for growth and recruitment of native grasses will favour **GSM**. However, it will not be possible to detect this change in the scoring system used.
- The expected improvement comes from the increase in **GSM** individuals detected during **GSM** surveys. This is because the **management actions** will produce increased cover of **GSM** food plants and maintain an open grassland structure, with suitable inter-tussock spaces. In addition, increases in the **GSM** population in the adjoining paddock to the **Offset area** have been detected as part of monitoring for a different offset site. Note however, that **GSM** populations fluctuate naturally in response to seasonal conditions outside the Landholder's control.

Parameter	Starting score (Justification)	Expected improvement score
Site context (max. 3 points)	2/3 (Offset area is larger than 10 hectares but does not meet the definition of slightly sloped (3° or less) and north-facing)	2/3 (N/A management actions are not expected to influence the site context)
Site condition (max. 3 points)	3/3 (VQA site condition score of 49 out of 75)	3/3 (It is expected that the cover of food plants will increase but won't be reflected score)
Species stocking rate (max. 4 points)	1/4 (86 GSM were recorded from a survey area of 100 hectares giving a stocking rate of 0.86 moths per hectare)	2/4 (It is expected that the GSM breeding population will increase to greater than 5 males per hectares as food plants increase)
Total (out of 10)	6/10	7/10

Table 9GSM habitat Quality scoring system as advised by DoEE (pers. comm. 2019)



2.8 Limitations and uncertainty

It is impossible to eliminate all uncertainty from natural systems, however, this **OMP** has been formulated using the best available information at the time. The information used includes the results of site inspections in 2018 and 2019, consultation with the Landholder, and the experience of the authors in grassland management and research. Relevant federal and state government policies, procedures and databases have also been consulted where appropriate. The **OMP** has been subject to external review and quality assurance by TfN and the Landholder as part of the process to register the TfN covenant.

Management action results

The **Offset area** already supports high conservation value **NTGVVP**, which provides certainty that conservation values are already present within the **Offset area** on which **management actions** can improve. The **OMP** includes a reasonable expectation that weed control combined with strategic grazing will reduce weed cover and impede weed seed production, which in turn, will provide increased recruitment, growth and seed production opportunities for the native grasses and herbs still in place. There is therefore a reasonable expectation that the **management actions** will result in an increase in the abundance and cover of native flora species. Since the dominant native grasses present are also **GSM** food plants, this management strategy along with management of biomass accumulation is expected to improve **GSM habitat** condition.

Recruitment and growth of native species occurs in response to seasonal conditions so there is a possibility that the recruitment and growth of native species will be slower than expected or may be inhibited altogether in the case of prolonged drought conditions. Such a situation would influence the condition score of the **NTGVVP** and **GSM habitat** but would be outside the control of the Landholder. Contingencies for these events are dealt with under the adaptive management section of this **OMP**.

The results of the **management actions** themselves are also influenced by external factors that cannot be controlled including: annual variation in weather conditions, human-induced climate change, and fluctuations in pest animals and weeds. Contingencies for these events are dealt with under the adaptive management section of this **OMP**. Especially with unprecedented events expected under human-induced climate change, allowance must be made for the influence of external factors with regard to the assessing the outcomes achieved where in all other respects the **OMP** has been adhered to satisfactorily.

NTGVVP condition

It is acknowledged that grassland condition varies with micro-topography (gilgais, rocky rises etc.) and it is not expected that grassland condition will be uniform across all monitoring plots but all plots should show improvement from the Year 1 surveys. If average **Quality** of the **Offset area** has improved by 1 point after 10 years, the **key performance indicators** will be considered to be met.

GSM population

Native flora and fauna are adapted to variable seasonal conditions and many display boom and bust cycles of reproduction. As such, it may not be possible to differentiate between a bust cycle and a decrease in **GSM** numbers due to **management actions** in any one particular year. The overall trend in **GSM** numbers should be referred to when assessing the success of the **Offset area** after 10 years.



3. Management commitments and actions

This section presents the specific **management commitments**, **management actions**, and timeframes for implementation, to be carried out to meet **specific objectives** to improve the **Quality** of the **NTGVVP** and **GSM habitat** within the **Offset area**, as required to fulfil Condition 7.d.v. of EPBC Act approval 2017/8049. The detailed schedule of **management commitments**, **management actions** and **management targets** is provided in Appendix 1.

The **OMP** aims to achieve gains in the **Quality** score of **NTGVVP** and **GSM habitat** through on-ground actions undertaken by the Landholder and with a high degree of certainty of success. As a result, the **management actions** are designed to be straightforward, practicable and achievable within the existing land management context.

The specific **management actions** of the **OMP** have two distinct stages for improvement and then maintenance of **NTGVVP** and **GSM habitat Quality** as follows:

- An intensive, 10-year program of **management actions** to be implemented from the commencement of the **OMP**. The **management actions** are directed at achieving an improvement in the ecological condition of the **Offset area** equivalent to a 1 point increase in **Quality**.
- A set of in-perpetuity land **management commitments** that will ensure that the improvement achieved in the first 10 years of the **OMP** is maintained over time.

These stages are described in the sections that follow and are supported by schedules of actions at the end of this document.

The prescribed **management actions** are in accordance with the *DELWP Output Delivery Standards For The Delivery Of Environmental Activities* (DELWP 2015).

3.1 Management commitments

The **management commitments** are the over-arching land use commitments made by the Landholder with regard to the in-perpetuity management of the **Offset area**. The **management commitments** contribute to fulfilling the **specific objectives** for the **Offset area** and apply as long as the conservation covenant is registered on-title. The **management commitments** also direct what on-ground actions will be undertaken during the 10 Year intensive management and in-perpetuity management periods.

The following commitments have been reviewed and agreed to by the current landholder. These commitments will be placed on title by the attachment of the **OMP** to the **Trust for Nature** covenant. Most commitments will apply immediately from the start of the **OMP** management period and continue inperpetuity. In addition to the commitments applicable immediately, the grassland condition achieved as a result of the 10 year period of management, will be required to be maintained, in perpetuity.

The in-perpetuity **management commitments** of the **OMP** are as follows:

1. Retain all native vegetation:

1.1 Permanently exclude all activities that would result in direct mechanical removal of native vegetation (excavation, geological exploration, ploughing of fire breaks, cultivation etc). Direct-driving of posts to mark out the **Offset area**, monitoring plots or install low-impact fencing is permitted to the minimum extent necessary.



- 1.2 Permanently exclude all activities that would knowingly introduce new weeds, weed seeds or other nonindigenous vegetation into the **Offset area**. Examples include: over-sowing with pasture seeds or other pasture improvement; using hay, silage or other supplementary feed from outside **Offset area** that may contain viable weed seeds; planting of tree belts. It is acknowledged that not all weed invasions are within the control of the landholder.
- 1.3 Exclude all broad-acre herbicide application use for purposes not related to weed control for conservation as specified in this **OMP** (e.g. maintaining fence lines or other easements, creating fire breaks).
- 1.4 Exclude installation of additional farm infrastructure except as generally in accordance with Figure 3 (e.g. yards, higher impact fencing are not allowed). Stock watering points will be outside the **Offset area** as described in section 3.4. If further watering points or low-impact fencing are needed to facilitate conservation grazing, these will be installed only after consultation with **Trust for Nature** or other relevant regulator at the time.
- 2. Protect native herb diversity and native grassland tussock structure:
 - 2.1 Permanently exclude all fertilizer application.
 - 2.2 Permanently exclude set-stocking of sheep.
 - 2.3 Permanently exclude all cattle and horse grazing.
 - 2.4 Sheep grazing is permitted if it complies with the requirements detailed in this **OMP**.
 - 2.5 Grazing of any other domestic livestock not already listed will only be considered after consultation with **Trust for Nature** and where there is clear evidence that it would be of greater benefit to the conservation of **NTGVVP** and **GSM habitat** than the sheep grazing described in this **OMP**.
- 3. Implement management actions as detailed in this OMP:
 - 3.1 Secure **Offset area** for conservation via **Trust for Nature** conservation covenant registered on-title.
 - 3.2 Years 1 to 10: implement works according to the **OMP** to achieve a 1 point gain in **Quality** for **NTGVVP** and **GSM habitat**. The annual works plan must address:
 - Fencing, signage & access
 - Adaptive management
 - Woody weeds
 - Herbaceous weeds
 - Pest animals
 - New or emerging threats
 - Grazing for biomass / weed control
 - Ecological burning (if trialled and successful)
 - Inspections, monitoring and reporting
 - Emergency management
 - 3.3 Years 11+: Maintain an annual works plan for the ongoing maintenance of the condition (Habitat Hectares score) of the **NTGVVP** and **GSM** that was achieved at the end of Year 10. The annual works plan must incorporate methods to ensure that management actions continue to adapt to current conditions for weeds, pest animals, and biomass control as well as:
 - Maintain fencing and signage.
 - Continued protection of herb diversity and native tussock grass structure.
 - Woody weeds maintained at <1% cover with no adult plants
 - Cover of herbaceous weeds does not increase beyond levels achieved at Year 10
 - Pest animals do not increase beyond levels achieved at Year 10



- Biomass is maintained to achieve >20 to 40% bare ground
- 3.4 Revise OMP in response to either ineffective management actions, or improvements identified through onground evidence/external research and development, or in response to an incident or emergency.

The implementation of these commitments provides the reasonable expectation that the **Offset area** will meet the **specific objectives** of **NTGVVP** and **GSM habitat Quality** improvement over the period of the **OMP**'s implementation.

3.2 Offset area management strategy

The key threats to the **Offset area** derive from the existing permitted uses associated with normal farming practices and the uncertainty created by a change in Landholder. The existing use rights are detailed in Section 2.1.4 and the associated threats are summarised as: inappropriate grazing regimes, pasture improvement, and fertiliser application.

Other threats to the **Offset area** derive from natural processes that must be managed with on-going works. In particular, expansion of the cover of existing high threat weeds, invasion of new high threat weeds, an explosion in pest animal numbers, and the excessive accumulation of dead plant material through the overgrowth of ground-layer plants (referred to generically throughout as 'biomass').

The broad objective of the **management actions** is to produce a decrease in the abundance of perennial weeds and maintain conditions that are suitable for the recruitment (seed production, germination and growth) of native plant species. While decreasing weed cover is an improvement in itself, it is anticipated that this will be accompanied by a commensurate increase in the abundance of native grasses and herbs, including native grasses that are known food plants for **GSM**. The management of any other parts of the paddock that are not within the **Offset area** are to be managed in a manner sympathetic to this broad objective.

Currently weeds and biomass are managed through grazing by sheep. Kangaroo grazing also currently contributes to biomass management but cannot be controlled by the Landholder. It is proposed that sheep grazing continue under a modified regime designed to provide the most benefit to conservation of the ecological values of the **Offset area**. This modified regime is referred to as 'rotational cell grazing' in this **OMP** although other names such as 'time controlled grazing' are also applied to similar activities, which are used for improved management of native grassland. The term 'pulse grazing' (also referred to as 'crash grazing') is a more generic term used to describe grazing that occurs at high intensity for a short period of time, with or without a specific rotational grazing system in place. In addition to sheep grazing, an intensive weed and pest management program will be implemented for the first 10-years of the **OMP**.

The **management actions** each have a target to be achieved by the end of the 10-year management period. The **management actions** and their targets apply to the entire **Offset area**. However, it is acknowledged that topographic variation (e.g. gilgais and rock rises) over the extent of the **Offset area** will produce variation in condition of the **Offset area**. This variation will be captured in the placement of the permanent monitoring plots and each target will be measured as an average across the whole **Offset area**. The results of the individual **management actions** will together provide the improvement in **Quality** required under the **management commitments**.

The modified grazing regime and weed control is likely to meet the required biomass and weed control management targets in this **OMP** even in the absence of ecological burning. Ecological burning is recognised to provide other benefits to in native grasslands aside from biomass and weed control (nutrient cycling and seed germination) so guidelines have been developed to guide re-introducing fire on a trial basis. If the trial is deemed successful and feasible, then ecological burning can be introduced more widely at the discretion of the Landholder in consultation with TfN and the consulting ecologist.



3.3 Offset area protection (security)

Condition 6 of the approval conditions for EPBC Act referral 2017/8049 states that to provide for the conservation and enhancement of **NTGVVP** and **GSM habitat**, the approval holder (DJCS) must provide evidence that a conservation covenant for the **Offset area** has been registered on-title.

To fulfil this approval condition, at the commencement of this **OMP**, the **Offset area** will be secured inperpetuity via a conservation covenant registered on-title under Section 3A *Victorian Conservation Trust Act 1972*. The statutory body that regulates the *Victorian Conservation Trust Act 1972* is **Trust for Nature** and the covenant is known as a **Trust for Nature** covenant.

A **Trust for Nature** covenant has standard provisions, which bind the owner to managing the land for conservation purposes. In addition, this **OMP** will be registered on-title as an attachment to the covenant. As a result, the **OMP** will be binding on the current and any future owners of the **Offset area**. Details of the security arrangement are shown in Table 10 below.

Table 10 On-title conservation covenant arrangements

Details of security mechanism	Date or other details
Type of security:	Covenant under part Section 3A Victorian Conservation Trust Act 1972
Trust for Nature covenant registered on-title:	DD / MM / 20YY
Commencement date for on-title protection:	Upon the on-title registration of the covenant
Commencement date for OMP management actions to improve offset Quality:	Upon the on-title registration of the covenant
Expiry date for OMP management actions to improve offset Quality:	10 years after the on-title registration of the covenant
Expiry date for maintenance of offset Quality at end of 10 management period	Nil - see in-perpetuity commitments in Section 3.1
Review of OMP in response to event or changing conditions	As required

3.4 Offset area protection (threat abatement)

The following actions will be undertaken by the landholder or their contractor to establish the **Offset area** as a conservation area (Appendix 1). The actions are once-off tasks that are required to set up the **Offset area**. These tasks are considered separately from the yearly management works that will be required after the **Offset area** is established.

3.4.1 Boundary fencing

Warrambeen has existing permanent boundary fencing able to exclude neighbouring domestic livestock from the property. The property boundary is located over a kilometre from the **Offset area** and as such is not considered of immediate influence on the **Offset area**. Should the Landholder require guidance on stock-proofing of boundary fences, they can refer to *Output Delivery Standards For The Delivery Of Environmental Activities* (DELWP 2015).

The paddock within which the offset is located is already fenced with low-impact 8-wire plain wire fencing or 4 wire electric fencing. Additional fencing around **Offset area** (Figure 3) is not required as it is proposed that grazing within the broader paddock will be managed in in the same manner as the **Offset area**.



In the event that existing land-use rights need to be fully exercised in the parts of the paddock not under an offset agreement, stock-proof fencing between the farmed areas and the **Offset area** will be required. Fencing should meet the minimum standard set by DELWP detailed in *Output Delivery Standards For The Delivery Of Environmental Activities* (DELWP 2015).

In the event of the **Offset area** being affected by a rapidly increased rabbit population that cannot be controlled to an adequate level (based on advice from TfN) then the **Offset area** fencing will need to be upgraded to a rabbit proof standard (DELWP 2015).

3.4.2 Permanent fencing to aid conservation management

To aid the conversion from production grazing to conservation grazing, additional low-impact internal fences will be installed within the existing paddock. The fencing is to be installed generally in accordance with the plan shown in Figure 3. The fencing plan in Figure 3 may be modified to accommodate on-ground constraints during Year 1 (e.g. rocky rises impede fence installation). An updated plan showing the "as built" layout of the fencing must be provided in the Year 1 annual report.

The objective of the new permanent fencing is to divide the paddock into smaller management units of approximately 30 hectares. This will have advantages for managing the grassland.

- The grazing regime can be managed with a rotational grazing system, which has been shown to have benefits for the management of native grasslands. The rotational grazing system combined with the smaller management units mean that the units or cells can be grazed more intensely but for a shorter amount of time. At the time of writing the **OMP** the proposed grazing method is 600 sheep per 30 hectare unit to achieve a stocking density of 50 dry sheep equivalent (DSE) for a period of 2 to 3 weeks. This stocking rate and grazing duration is to be adapted to seasonal conditions under the adaptive management arrangements of this **OMP**.
- Grazing at high intensity means that the sheep are more likely to eat both palatable and unpalatable species, resulting in more even grazing pressure, allowing weeds to be managed more effectively.
- The rotations allow the grassland more time to recover between grazing periods which can be managed to provide competitive advantage to desirable species such as native tussock grasses.

The following requirements for the installation of fencing have been discussed with the Landholder and agreed:

- All fence posts (strainer posts and stays) are to be direct-driven into the ground. Concrete footings are not allowed within the **Offset area**.
- New gates are to be as wide as possible to avoid disturbance associated with the funnelling of sheep through a confined space. Gates are to remain closed while a grazing cell is stocked to avoid disturbance associated with repeated movements of livestock through the gates.
- Fencing will use plain wire or electric wire only. Barbed wire is not permitted as it is a hazard to wildlife.
- Strainer posts and stays will be the minimum number needed to contain sheep within the grazing cell for the period of the grazing rotation. There is no requirement for internal fencing of the paddock to be completely stock-proof.



3.4.3 Stock watering points

Each grazing cell will require a water supply to water the sheep while they area grazing. There is an existing stock watering point (WP) in the centre of the paddock, which has two troughs supplied by the water supply pipeline for the property. The area around the existing WP is the preferred location for the majority of WPs. The existing WPs have been excised from the **Offset area** to allow for the trough configuration to be amended to supply more paddocks (Figure 3).

Indicative locations for additional WPs are shown in Figure 3. Additional troughs can be installed where they meet the following conditions:

- Are installed to the minimum number/size necessary to allow conservation management by rotational cell grazing.
- Located outside of the mapped **Offset area.**
- Are unlikely to cause new stock camp type damage within the **Offset area.**
- Trust for Nature or consulting ecologist is consulted where there is uncertainty about the impacts of
 proposed watering points.

The location of the WPs is also constrained by topography and the location of the existing water supply pipeline for the property. The finalised configuration of stock WPs is to be included on the "as built" plan included in the Year 1 annual report.

3.4.4 Temporary fencing to aid conservation management

To aid conservation management of the **Offset area**, additional temporary fences can be used within the **Offset area**. Temporary fencing is fencing that is not intended to be in place longer than the duration of the grazing season.

In particular, temporary livestock fencing will be established and maintained around the boundary of any burnt area within the **Offset area** for at least 6 months post-burn to prevent stock access and damage to regenerating vegetation from grazing.

Temporary livestock fencing can be established to delineate smaller cells for higher intensity grazing if this is required.

The temporary fencing must have negligible impacts to native vegetation associated with the placement and removal of that fencing.

Fencing will use plain wire or electric wire only. Barbed wire is not permitted as it is a hazard to wildlife.

3.4.5 Signage and access control

Direct-driven posts or other low-impact permanent marker, will be installed at the commencement of the **OMP** to clearly identify the boundary of the **Offset area**. This is required for auditing, monitoring and management purposes. Posts will be located in accordance with advice from a qualified ecologist to ensure impacts to native vegetation are avoided.

The **Offset area** remains private property and access or disturbance to the **Offset area** by unauthorised persons is prohibited. The existing access gates and security arrangement is adequate however signage on the **Offset area** gates is required.

Signs will be placed on the gates to the paddock in which the **Offset area** is located. The signs will alert farm workers to the protected status of the paddock and that works are strictly limited to the **management actions** in this **OMP**. At a minimum, the signs will state to the effect: "Conservation Area – Access not permitted unless strictly authorised by the manager".



No external signage identifying the property as an offset site is proposed in this **OMP** but could be considered by the Landholder at their discretion. Conservation-related signage has potential to inadvertently attract undesirable impacts.

Monitoring of access will be conducted on an ongoing basis with fencing repaired or upgraded as required.

3.5 Offset area improvement (Year 1 to Year 10)

In accordance with Condition 7.d.v. this section provides the specific **management actions**, and timeframes for implementation, to be carried out to meet **specific objectives** to improve the **Quality** of the **NTGVVP** and **GSM habitat** within the **Offset area**. The detailed schedule of **management commitments**, **management actions** and **management targets** is provided in Appendix 1.

3.5.1 Annual works plan

The annual works plan is the key process for implementing the principle of adaptive management used to minimise the risk of the **Offset area** being unsuccessful. Adaptive management is discussed in greater detail in section 3.6.4 and section 5. Prior to works towards the **management actions** being undertaken each year, the annual works plan (based on the schedule in Appendix 1) will be reviewed and updated in consultation with TfN. The updates will be based on the results of the **management actions** implemented the previous year and any new research or advice that may arise. To enable adaptive management, the review should identify which **management actions** in the previous year were successful in contributing to achieving the management target but also which actions were ineffective. The annual works plan will need to be updated based on what actions were effective and where relevant, to address any ineffective **management actions**.

If the **management actions** were ineffective, it will be necessary to determine the reason why they were ineffective. The most common reasons why a **management action** was ineffective include the following:

- Incorrect implementation (e.g. herbicides applied at the incorrect rate).
- Insufficient time has passed to determine effectiveness (The **management action** was not expected to work yet).
- There were seasonal conditions that rendered the **management action** ineffective (e.g. drought year).
- **Management action** produced an unexpected result (e.g. emergence of a new weed after ecological burning).

It may also be determined that the **management action** is generally not the most effective method for achieving the management target and would be better achieved using a different method. Where the **management action** is deemed to be generally not effective, the Landholder should discuss alternatives with **Trust for Nature**.

The annual works plan will also address any new or emerging issues, even if not anticipated in this **OMP** or not listed in the schedule in Appendix 1.

The Landholder should be consulted and sign-off on the annual works plan if it is prepared by their manager or other delegate.

3.5.2 Grazing for biomass / organic litter control

Biomass management is essential to maintain indigenous flora and fauna values throughout the **Offset area**. The term biomass describes the amount of living plant material in a grassland such as the **Offset area**. Once the biomass has died, it forms a layer of dried organic litter on the surface of the grassland. The amount of



biomass in one year therefore determines the amount of organic litter build up that carries over to the next year. Management of biomass and litter are therefore interrelated.

In the absence of a process to reduce biomass or the resultant litter, the dry conditions experienced in Australia mean that the organic litter builds up over time and threatens the condition of the grassland. Factors that influence the amount of biomass and organic matter include: seasonal conditions, presence/absence of fire, amount of grazing by herbivores, and the plant species present, with weeds generally growing faster and producing more biomass than native plant species. Biomass management is therefore required regardless of whether weed control is also required, however, controlling highly productive weeds can also assist in biomass management.

In native grasslands, biomass management is required to ensure that grasses do not dominate all the space in the grassland so that inter-tussock spaces are maintained. Where there are insufficient inter-tussock spaces, native grasses will shade out native herbs and prevent them from photosynthesising, flowering and seeding seed. Sufficient inter-tussock spaces are also required by **Golden Sun Moth**, a species that favours open grasslands for breeding. Biomass management is also a method of weed control as discussed in section 3.6.5. In this **OMP**, grazing will be the primary management method to manage biomass and organic litter and will therefore also contribute to maintaining species richness by helping to control weeds and maintain inter-tussock spaces.

The **management actions** for biomass management in this **OMP** will be the application of rotational grazing followed by a grazing exclusion period each year. The grazing exclusion period is required to allow native grasses and herbs to flower and set seed without grazing pressure from sheep. Grazing pressure from kangaroos cannot be controlled by the Landholder, however, it will need to be considered in drought conditions as the **Offset area** is likely to have higher grass cover than other parts of the landscape and so attract kangaroo grazing in dry periods. It is also acknowledged that there is a tension between optimal weed management using grazing and the grazing exclusion period, which may prevent grazing at the optimal time to manage some late growing weeds. This is discussed in section 3.6.5 with regard to control of Brown-top Bent *Agrostis capillaris*. The use of ecological burning for biomass control is discussed in section 3.7.

The management target for biomass/organic litter is to maintain the current level of inter-tussocks spaces to within the range of 20 to 40% bare ground and organic litter at 5 to 15% cover. Where there is a sustained build up in biomass over any one year, resulting in a reduction of inter-tussock space to an average of less than 25%, biomass will need to be actively reduced.

To inform the grazing strategy employed each season, biomass and organic litter will be surveyed using routine inspections by the Landholder in consultation with TfN. Ecological monitoring will also assess the effectiveness of the biomass control techniques applied and the need for any adjustments to the **management actions**.

3.5.3 Conversion to rotational grazing

Currently the **Offset area** is subject to typical intensity sheep grazing for the district (2 to 3 DSE per hectare) and is grazed to maintain sward vigour. Given the existing conservation values in the **Offset area** and the observations made during site inspections with regard to the low impacts from livestock and fencing, sheep grazing is seen as a reliable and relatively low risk **management action** for maintaining biomass and organic litter levels in the **Offset area**.

To increase the effectiveness of sheep grazing for managing biomass, organic litter and also weeds, the sheep grazing system will be upgraded to ensure it can be undertaken in a more finely controlled manner and in accordance with the annual works plan. Grazing will be implemented as a time-controlled rotational grazing system where small areas are subject to high intensity grazing for short periods of time (called pulse grazing or crash grazing). The rotational system provides benefits to both native plants and to weed control by



creating more even grazing pressure and giving plants longer to recover between grazes. Biomass control will be consistent with the standards for management of ecological grazing provided by DELWP (2015).

To ensure the conservation values of the grassland are protected there will be strict restrictions on the grazing activities that are allowed within the **Offset area**. Grazing of domestic livestock will be restricted to sheep only. Grazing by cattle and horses are specifically excluded in the in-perpetuity **management commitments** in this **OMP**. Grazing of any other domestic livestock not already excluded will only be considered after consultation with **Trust for Nature** and where there is clear evidence that it would be of greater benefit to the conservation of **NTGVVP** and **GSM habitat** than the sheep grazing described in this **OMP**.

The timing of grazing will be strictly controlled to allow native species to grow and set seed over the spring to mid-summer period (DELWP 2015). Sheep will be excluded from the start of spring to the middle of summer annually, in perpetuity. While the start of the spring growing season is best judged on the ground on a yearly basis, Table 11 provides targets to be met for ongoing management of grazing within the **Offset area**, including dates for the grazing exclusion period. The only exceptions to requirements specified for pulse grazing is to allow for an ecological burn or if additional strategic grazing is needed to address a specified weed problem. For ecological burns, a fire management plan produced to inform when grazing will be removed to allow for a build-up in biomass to establish a burn. For strategic grazing, see the adaptive management discussion in the paragraph below.

Each grazing rotation will occur over a short duration and allow for periods of grazing exclusion. The maximum length of continuous grazing is 3 weeks with a minimum 6 weeks rest between cycles. The rest period will need to be judged by the Landholder to ensure native grasses have recovered sufficiently prior to reintroducing sheep.

Grazing intensity needs to exceed the standard stocking rate to provide grazing pressure sufficient to ensure all plant species are grazed evenly in a short amount of time and to prevent selective browsing. The stocking rate will be dependent on the seasonal conditions and the amount of feed available in each grazing cell and so cannot be stipulated in this **OMP**.

Depending on seasonal conditions, at least three pulse grazing cycles will occur within the grazing period, one of which will occur immediately prior to the exclusion period (weather permitting).

Grazing will not occur in very wet conditions were pugging will cause unacceptable levels of damage to soil and grassland structure or result in more than 30% bare ground within the **Offset area**. The **Offset area** will need to be monitored during wet periods to prevent excessive soil damage in seasonally wet areas. Following any high rainfall events, stock will be removed immediately. Grazing will not occur in very dry conditions where grazing will destroy the tussock structure of the grassland and result in more than 30% bare ground within the **Offset area**.

Weed hygiene will be important to minimise the risk of sheep introducing new weed problems into the **Offset area**. Sheep moved into the **Offset area** will be selected and timed to minimise the potential for weed seed transport via mud, attachment to their fleece or within their faeces. Ideally, sheep will be shorn before entering the **Offset area**, and will otherwise be kept in paddocks with low weed levels. Sheep will be contained in a low weed area and allowed to shed weed seeds for at least 24 hours before entering the **Offset area**. Stock movements into the **Offset area** will be excluded within two days of rainfall and new stock brought onto the property will be excluded from use in in the **Offset area** until shorn.

3.5.4 Adaptive management of grazing

A grazing regime is made up of three factors that are known to influence plant growth: season, duration and intensity of grazing. Since rotational sheep grazing is the key **management actions** for biomass control,



organic matter control and weed control, the correct implementation and fine-tuning of the grazing regime will be essential to the success of the **Offset area**. Season of grazing will be controlled by the grazing exclusion period with a protocol put in place to allow strategic grazing where needed during the exclusion period. Duration and intensity of the grazing will be controlled by the Landholder and will be adapted to meet season conditions on an annual basis but also throughout the grazing period. Duration refers to both the length of grazing and the length of rest. Intensity refers to the stocking rate within individual grazing cells. Grazing should be adapted to meet seasonal conditions, to learn from the experience of previous years or in response to further research or information on grazing in **NTGVVP**. The Landholder is required to keep records of stocking rate and duration to ensure that the results of grazing can be adapted over time.

3.5.5 Grazing protocol for exclusion period strategic grazing

Management of biomass from excessive growth of weeds and to prevent weeds setting seed, may require strategic grazing to occur within the grazing exclusion period. Grazing within the exclusion period can occur under a limited set of circumstances in consultation with TfN. Grazing within the exclusion period will be limited to strategic crash grazing within the areas of the **Offset area** affected by a specified problem. Such strategic crash grazing will need to meet the following requirements:

- A risk assessment is made (based on the current seasonal conditions) to compare the benefits of the proposed grazing with the risks of not grazing, and the risks associated with undertaking the grazing.
- The crash graze is to be done for conservation purposes only. Reasonable reasons include unusual seasonal conditions resulting in unusual amounts of plant growth, specific weed management objectives.
- Under no circumstances can the crash graze be done for the primary purpose of benefiting agricultural production (e.g. commercial considerations or feed requirements).
- At no time should a change in grazing be undertaken where it poses a threat to the grassland (e.g. very wet conditions that could cause pugging).
- Prior to introducing the sheep, the Landholder is to document with photos and notes in writing as to the specific reason why the crash grazing is to be implemented. This should include information to show that a risk assessment at point 1 above has been done.
- This information is to be provided to TfN prior to introducing the sheep.
- If possible, the grazing strategy should be developed in consultation with TfN. It is acknowledged, however, that strategic grazing needs to be timed precisely so that TfN resourcing constraints may mean that a response is not received before the time when the grazing needs to occur. This should not preclude the **Landholder** from undertaking adaptive management if all other dot points above are complied with.

Further discussion of pulse grazing is provided in Section 3.6.6, especially with regard to targeting particular grassy weed species that may require grazing during the exclusion period.

Table 11 Requirements and limit of grazing activities within the Offset area

Requirement	Target
Grazing exclusion period (sheep grazing generally not permitted*)	30 th September to 31 st January annually* (4 months)
Rotational cell grazing period (sheep grazing generally permitted in accordance with this OMP)	1 February to 29 th September (8 months)
Number of rotations	3 or more (dependant on conditions and final configuration of cells)



Requirement	Target
Minimum rest from grazing between pulse grazing	6 weeks
Maximum continuous pulse grazing	3 weeks (2 weeks or less preferred)
Biomass management thresholds	Total vegetation cover of approx. 70% (maintain within range of 60 to 80%)
Target inter-tussock space	Approx. 30% of total bare ground cover (maintain within range of 20 to 40%)

* As per adaptive management, strategic grazing may be allowed during this period for specific conservation related purposes.

3.5.6 Weed control

The management targets for weed control are shown in Table 12 below and further information is provided in the sections that follow.

The overall target for the weed control **management action** is a reduction from the current estimation of less than 38% to less than 25% cover. Within this management target, there are targets for individual types of weeds (Table 12). The weeds species within the **Offset area** were surveyed in 2018 and in the follow up inspection in 2019. The main weeds recorded were: annual grasses, Spear Thistle *Cirsium vulgare*, and the mat-forming (rhizomatous) grass Brown-top Bent *Agrostis capillaris*. Weeds that occurred in smaller amounts were woody weeds and the tussock-forming perennial pasture grasses Cocksfoot *Dactylis glomerata* and Toowoomba Canary-grass *Phalaris aquatica*. There were two individuals recorded of the noxious grassy weed Serrated Tussock *Nassella trichotoma*. See Table 12 and the sections below for more details.

Table 12	Management targets for weed control
----------	-------------------------------------

Scientific Name	Name Common Name Average Proposed control measures cover 2018		Management Target for cover 2030				
Woody weeds							
Lycium ferocissimum, Marrubium vulgare, Prunus cerasifera, Rosa rubiginosa	African Box-thorn, Horehound, Cherry Plum, Sweet Briar	<1% (all species combined)	Cut and paint or other appropriate application of appropriate herbicide. Mechanical removal only if low impact.	Eliminate all established adult plants, regeneration/ seedlings <1% Inspections at Year 10 should not detect any established plants**			
Annual grasses							
<i>Vulpia</i> spp., <i>Briza</i> spp., <i>Bromus</i> spp., <i>Aira</i> spp., <i>Avena</i> spp.	Fescue, Quaking- grass, Brome, Air- grass, Oats	20%	Time-controlled pulse grazing by sheep to prevent seed set and reduce biomass. Spot spraying appropriate herbicide (or non-chemical methods if available) to prevent seeding.	10%			
High herbaceous thre	at weeds						
Perennial tussock grasses: Phalaris aquatica, Dactylis glomerata	Toowoomba Canary- grass, Cocksfoot	2%	Time-controlled pulse grazing by sheep to prevent seed set and reduce biomass. Spot spraying appropriate herbicide (early spring).	<1%			



Scientific Name	Common Name	Average cover 2018	Proposed control measures	Management Target for cover 2030
Perennial tussock grasses (declared noxious weeds): <i>Nassella trichotoma</i>	Serrated Tussock	<1%	Spot spraying appropriate herbicide (early spring). Management of ground cover to prevent excess recruitment opportunities	Elimination
Broad-leaved weeds: primarily <i>Cirsium</i> <i>vulgare</i> , with smaller quantities of <i>Carthamus lanatus</i> , <i>Hypochaeris radicat</i>	Primarily Spear Thistle, with smaller quantities of Saffron Thistle, Flatweed	5%	Spot Spraying appropriate herbicide (prevent flowering).	<3%
Perennial mat- forming grasses: <i>Agrostis capillaris</i>	Brown-top Bent	10%	Time-controlled pulse grazing by sheep to prevent seed set and reduce biomass (may require grazing within grazing exclusion period). Spot spraying appropriate herbicide (early spring). Potential trial of late crash grazing.	<10%
Total		< 38%		<25%

**It is expected that seedlings may re-establish from time to time due to the re-introduction of seeds by birds and other animals or resprouting of trunks after previous year's treatment.

Strategy for weed control

The weed control strategy is a multi-pronged approach that takes advantage of the ecological conditions of the **Offset area**. The weed control strategy focuses on ensuring that the ecological conditions stay favourable to native plant species while limiting the growth and reproduction of weed species as well as directly treating weed infestations. This strategy provides the native species with opportunities to recolonise the areas that were previously occupied by weeds once the weeds have been killed. The weed control strategy is similar to that used for well-managed native pastures making the weed control strategy practical and feasible within the agricultural context of the **Offset area**.

The weed control strategy aims to achieve the following outcomes:

- Maximise recruitment opportunities for native plants species by providing decreased competition from weeds for space, light, nutrients and water.
- Minimise recruitment and reduce recruitment conditions that favour weeds by:
 - Maintaining sufficient (60% to 80%) ground cover. Insufficient ground cover, resulting in excess bare ground, from over-grazing, post-fire or drought provides increased opportunities for weed seeds to germinate and grow.
 - Minimising nutrient enrichment.
 - Directly killing weeds prior to seed set with herbicide or physical removal. Chemical free methods of weed control such as steam weeding or flame weeding can also be used.
 - Limiting the yearly growth of weeds to minimise the total space they occupy in the Offset area and to
 prevent excessive build-up of organic litter (i.e. dead grass) that can smother the growth of seedlings
 and other plants.



- Limiting the yearly growth of weeds at the correct time to also prevent seed set.
- Trialling the use of fire to encourage germination of soil stored weed seed and exhaust the soil weed seed bank.

Note that while this **OMP** lists management targets for particular weed species, the target species are likely to change over time. The abundance of weeds will change in response to seasonal conditions, in response to grazing or in response to controlled burns (e.g. post-burn flush of broad-leaf weeds) and new weeds may emerge as a result of wind or animal-mediated seed dispersal or germination of soil-stored seed. The **management actions** for weed control must be adapted to meet the changing conditions. Weed cover and weed species will need to be monitored by both the Landholder and in yearly ecological monitoring with management adapted in response to the monitoring results. The document DELWP *Output Delivery Standards For The Delivery Of Environmental Activities* (DELWP 2015) provides information about acceptable weed control activities for conservation activities (N.B. this document supersedes the previous references to BushBroker Standards). However, for any new or emerging weeds or weeds requiring new management methods, TfN will be consulted for site-specific advice and approve the control techniques.

Woody weeds

Four species of woody weeds were recorded within the **Offset area** but all species were recorded as isolated plants only. The total cover of woody weeds was less than 1% of the **Offset area**. Woody weeds are considered easier to control that herbaceous weeds due to their larger size, slower growth/recruitment, and their occurrence as individual plants. The elimination of all established adult woody weeds is therefore considered practical within the 10 year management period. Woody weeds are generally spread by animals, including birds, that have ingested the fruit, which makes complete elimination of all woody weeds impractical. However, after the adults have been eliminated, weed control will focus on detection and treatment of new seedlings or any re-sprouting stumps that may occur following weed control. Woody weeds that are detected either Incidentally during site management or as part of monitoring activities, should be recorded with GPS and controlled and eliminated as soon as possible and before fruiting and seed set. Using this approach, the cover of woody weeds is to be maintained at negligible levels in-perpetuity.

Annual weeds

Annual weeds were recorded throughout the **Offset area** with an estimated average cover of 20%. Of the annual weeds, annual grasses are present throughout the **Offset area** including Fescue *Vulpia* spp., Quaking Grass *Briza* spp., Soft Brome *Bromus hordeaceus*, Hair Grass *Aira* spp. and Wild Oat *Avena* spp. while annual broad-leaved weeds like Cape Weed *Arctotheca calendula* and Heron's-bill *Erodium* spp. are concentrated around high traffic areas such as the stock watering point and tracks.

Given that the main structural components of the grassland are intact (native tussock grasses, herb diversity, intact rock layer), annual weeds are not considered a threat to the conservation values of the **Offset area**. However, uncontrolled growth of annual weeds can reduce the vegetation condition and Habitat Hectares score by decreasing the Lack of Weeds score, Recruitment score and Organic Litter score. Given this is the case, management will be directed at maintaining the annual weed cover at the existing level and minimising growth and reproduction using strategic grazing.

Active management using targeted grazing is expected to have an impact on the abundance of these species, however, seasonal conditions such as a wet winter followed by a late warm spring may produce growth rates in excess of what can be controlled with strategic grazing before the grazing exclusion period begins. The implementation of rotational cell grazing as described in section 3.6.2 will assist with managing annual weed growth in response to seasonal conditions. The Landholder may also choose to use temporary fencing to further reduce the size of grazing cells in this instance. The grazing provisions also allow for strategic grazing to be implemented during the grazing exclusion period under certain circumstances (section 3.6.4).



If grazing alone has not been able to constrain the spread of annual weeds, direct weed control methods should be applied. A range of non-chemical weed control methods have been developed that can be effective against annual weeds including steam weeding and flame weeding. If chemical weed control is proposed for annual weeds, its use should be evaluated against the risk of damage to non-target (native) plant species prior to application. The use of ecological burning to control weeds is discussed in section 3.7.

High threat herbaceous weeds (perennial tussock grasses, perennial broad-leaved weeds)

High threat herbaceous weeds are those that have potential to displace native species of the same type. For example, perennial grassy weeds like Serrated Tussock or Toowoomba Canary-grass have potential to replace native perennial tussocks grasses like Kangaroo Grass *Themeda triandra*. The overall management objective is to ensure that all high threat herbaceous weeds are controlled to ensure that there is no increase in their cover where they currently occur, no further spread of these weeds into new areas of the **Offset area**, and where possible, to reduce their cover and abundance.

The management targets for high threat weeds are set for weed species grouped according to growth form and status: Perennial tussock grasses, perennial tussock grasses that are declared noxious weeds, perennial mat-forming (rhizomatous) grasses, and perennial broad-leaved weeds (Table 12). The total cover of high threat herbaceous weeds is currently less than 18% within the **Offset area**, with details provided in Table 12. Each growth form of weed has been allocated specific management targets as detailed in Table 12. Overall, the **management actions** must result in a reduction of the cover of herbaceous weeds from less than 18% to less than 12%.

The control methods for high threat herbaceous weeds are discussed below with particular attention to Brown-Top Bent, regarding which the Landholder has already consulted TfN, who have confirmed that this species is known to be difficult to control in conservation settings. The principle method for controlling high threat perennial weeds will be strategic grazing in combination with spot-spraying of herbicide. As discussed above, strategic grazing will aim to reduce the vigour and reproduction of high threat herbaceous weeds, however, not all weed species will be palatable to sheep during the grazing period. For unpalatable species or species where grazing is no sufficient to prevent their spread, herbicide will also be used. Weed control will be a regular activity and undertaken generally in accordance with the schedule in Appendix 1. Grazing methods are discussed in more detail in section 3.6.2. The use of ecological burning to control weeds is discussed in section 3.7.

Use of herbicide

Spot-spraying involves applying herbicide using a small nozzle so that only the target plant is treated. All spot spraying must be completed in a manner that minimises non-target damage by following all manufacturer's directions regarding rainfall and wind speed on the day of application. There will be no spot spraying in close proximity to threatened flora without protective measures in place (i.e. physical shielding). Spot spraying will be undertaken regularly, particularly in spring and early summer, with a focus on killing weed plants prior to seed set.

There are also a number of chemical-free weed control methods that could be trialled including steam weeding and flame weeding. The Landholder does not have experience with these methods so it is not a requirement that they be used. If, in consultation with TfN, a trial of chemical-free weed control is considered worthwhile, this can be done within the requirements for adaptive management within this **OMP** since a move away from chemical usage would be considered to be of general benefit to the local environment.

The **Offset area** is 50 metres from Warrambine Creek at its most westerly extent but 1.6 kilometres from the eastern extent. A number of seasonal wetlands occur within the **Offset area** and its surrounds but there are no mapped drainage lines from the **Offset area** that form part of the catchment for Warrambine Creek. Any



runoff from the **Offset area** will be minimal overland flow due to the high cover of perennial vegetation. While there maybe localised surface water flows and pooling during high rainfall events resulting in ephemeral wetlands, herbicide is unlikely to be used during such rainfall events as it would be ineffective. Given the long history of herbicide use in the surrounding cropping areas, there is no specific runoff risk is identified for the application of herbicides to the **Offset area**.

Options for control of Brown-top Bent

Brown-top Bent *Agrostis capillaris* has several biological characteristics that make it more difficult to control. Firstly it is a weed of low fertility soils so that it directly competes with other native grass species that are likewise adapted to low fertility soils. Secondly, its rhizomatous growth form means that it can survive undetected until it flowers as well as making it harder to target with spot spraying of herbicide and is less favoured by sheep. For the **Offset area**, control of Brown-top Bent will require a combination of herbicide application and strategic grazing.

The manufacturer's instructions for use of glyphosate (RoundUp) state that herbicide application alone is insufficient to kill the species and follow up management is required involving full disturbance with a typed implement 10-21 days after spraying and then re-seeding. Since this treatment is not possible within a conservation context, it is unlikely that herbicide alone will be effective.

Agriculture Victoria advises that for winter grazing, a change from set-stocking to rotational grazing will help to control Brown-top Bent by giving an advantage to more upright species such as tussock grasses. The control of Brown-top Bent will require the fine-tuning of the duration and stocking rate of the proposed rotational grazing system as well as the duration of each rest period. These adjustments fit within the requirements of the **OMP** to adapt management to seasonal growth conditions. More information can be found at the following link:

http://agriculture.vic.gov.au/agriculture/farm-management/pastures/developing-a-bent-grass-controlprogram

The species responds readily to summer rainfall and so growth may remain static in drought years but increase rapidly over summer in wet years. Agriculture Victoria advises that in a wet year, grazing may be required late in the year to control growth that can occur after summer rainfall. Grazing will be most effective if done in the early flowering stage but before seed set. <u>http://agriculture.vic.gov.au/agriculture/farm-management/pastures/what-is-bent-grass</u>

A late grazing strategy would involve grazing within the grazing exclusion period of this **OMP** and so would need to be done in consultation with **Trust for Nature**. In areas where Brown-top Bent cover is highest and if herbicide application has been ineffective, late crash grazing to control growth can be trialled. The trial is to be within the affected grazing cells only and only after confirming that no threatened flora or fauna species would be impacted negatively by the grazing. It is assumed that in years of high Brown-top Bent growth, the growth of native grasses will also be high and so will not suffer any long term effects from the grazing trial. Grazing cells where Brown-top Bent is already well controlled or absent should not be grazed during the trial. The trial should be done in consultation with TfN who can monitor the effects of late grazing on native species as well as Brown-top Bent. If successful, the grazing can be repeated under the same restrictions in subsequent years.

The use of ecological burning to control weeds is discussed in section 3.7.

New and emerging weed problems

A key **management action** will be to ensure procedures are in place that can detect any new weed species or emerging weed problems in time to take preventative action. The **management actions** are described in



Appendix 1. The requirements comprise routine inspections by the Landholder (on-going), visits from **Trust for Nature** (on-going) and annual ecological monitoring (first 10 years of **OMP**). Any new or emerging weed problems are to be recorded with GPS or clearly marked in the field and treated as soon as possible. Records are to be kept of any new or emerging weeds identified, the treatment applied and follow up inspections of the treated weeds. Where possible, new and emerging high threat weeds (noxious weeds or known environmental weeds) will be eradicated from the **Offset area**. However, if the weed is already established by the time it is detected and cannot be eradicated in must be controlled to less than 1% cover.

The surrounding landscape is the most likely source of new weeds so that it is advisable to have weed monitoring and treatment schedules for the rest of the property (although this cannot be enforced via the **OMP** or TfN covenant). This is likely to be a cost effective way to reduce weed loads in the **Offset area**. Public land can also be a source of weeds (e.g. council managed road reserves) and it would be prudent for the Landholder to alert the relevant authority to any weed problems on public land adjoining the property.

3.5.7 Pest animals

The *Catchment and Land Protection Act 1994* requires that Landholders must take all reasonable steps to prevent the spread of - and as far as possible eradicate - established pest animals on their land. In addition to this legal duty, the control of declared pest animals including rabbits and other pest herbivores is a requirement of this **OMP**. Grazing by pest herbivores is a known threat to native grasslands and must be controlled to avoid impacts on the conservation values the **Offset area**.

Within the **Offset area**, grazing by European Rabbits *Oryctolagus cuniculus* and European Hares *Lepus europeaus* was evident therefore pest animal control works are required to control the numbers of pest animals. No active rabbit warrens were observed within the **Offset area** so that pest animal control will need to include the surrounding landscape where this is acting as a source of pest animal grazing (Biosis 2018).

Rabbits and hares will be monitored and controlled throughout the year. Currently, populations are at low levels, so that rabbits and hares have the potential to be controlled by shooting alone. If rabbit activity is not controlled by shooting alone, use an integrated approach such as is described in *Output Delivery Standards For The Delivery Of Environmental Activities* (DELWP 2015). An integrated approach involves fumigation, hand collapsing of burrows and baiting.

Ripping of rabbit warrens within the **Offset area** is not permitted. If any warrens develop within the **Offset area**, they are to be treated by low impact measures such as fumigation or implosion. Remove any carcasses to prevent poisoning of native predators.

In the event of an explosion in the rabbit population, rabbit-proof fencing of the **Offset area** will need to be considered as control options for these pests.

Pest animal control within the **Offset area** will need to include works to eliminate any active warrens in the local area. As well as direct control of rabbit numbers, there should be control of potential harbour for rabbits including: shelter provided by shrubby weeds, rock piles and in rock walls. The Landowner should control all active rabbit warrens, shrubby environmental weeds (e.g. African Box-thorn, Sweet Briar) on their land within 500 m of the **Offset area** and remove any unnecessary stockpiles or rocks or other materials.

Other problem pest animals may include mice, cats and foxes that may find shelter in crops, rock formations and rock walls within and adjacent to the **Offset area**. The Landholder will select from the range of control techniques available and apply the most effective in the local conditions. Control works targeting these pest animals are not expected to have any negative impact on any MNES.



3.6 Use of fire for ecological management

The controlled application of fire is an efficient and cost-effective alternative technique for reducing biomass in grasslands and can be effective at reducing weed cover, especially for species that are difficult to control. Periodic burning that is followed by spot spraying can be an important strategy for difficult to control weed species such as perennial grassy weeds or widespread annuals. Importantly, burning (c.f. grazing or slashing) allows greater access and efficiency for weed control and increased natural regeneration of indigenous plant species. While burning may enhance germination of native species, it can also promote weed species to germinate, however, stimulating the soil stored weed seed bank and then applying follow-up weed control is seen as positive as this allows this seed bank to be exhausted over time.

However, burning also has risks involved that must be managed carefully to avoid creating further problems. The reduction in biomass, increased open space, increased soil nutrients that can follow an ecological burn means that weeds often germinate in high numbers shortly after a burn. Because weeds generally grow faster than native species, if weeds are not controlled immediately after a burn, then there is a risk that weed cover will increase as a result of the burn. The timing of any burning also needs to consider the habitat requirements of **GSM** and therefore burning is prohibited from the beginning of the **GSM** flight season (typically about November) until the end of January.

3.6.1 Ecological burning trial

The **Offset area** has not been subject to regular burns in recent decades and as a result, the management requirements of the **Offset area** with regard to burning can only be inferred. The **Offset area** has two small grazing exclusion plots already installed and these were experimentally burnt 5 to 6 years ago. It would appear that follow up weed control was not undertaken an as a result, there is a higher cover of broad-leved weeds such as Plantain *Plantago lanceolata* and Flatweed *Hypochaeris radicata*. This would suggest that planned ecological burns can affect the species composition of the **Offset area** unless weed control postburn is rigorously implemented.

If ecological burning is to be introduced into the **Offset area**, it is to be done initially on a trial basis in a small area to ensure that the Landholder can develop a practical and feasible approach to managing post-burn weed control. Since ecological burns are ideally low temperature and patchy, the weed control requirements of a larger burn will be consequently further complicated by the patchiness of the burn. The initial trial burn should not be more than 1% of the area of the offset (1.5 hectares in size) and should be done with the same conditions as would be required for a larger burn with respect to season and intensity. The burn area should be temporarily fenced to prevent grazing and post-burn germination of weeds should be closely monitored and treated until native species have regenerated (at least 6 months). Photos should be taken regularly to track the progress of the post-burn recovery. The results of the trial should be evaluated by the Landholder in consultation with TfN and the advising ecologist. If the post-burn weed management requirements are deemed feasible by the Landholder and TfN and the ecologist are satisfied with the results, ecological burning can be progressively introduced into other areas of the **Offset area**.

3.6.2 General ecological burning requirements

The following section provides guidelines for use of burning only for the purposed of ecological management of biomass and weed control only. Fuel hazard reduction burning is excluded from the **Offset area**. It should be noted that in some wet years burning may not be possible prior to seed set due to a combination conditions and restrictions.

A fire management plan is to be completed in consultation with TfN and/or the advising ecologist as part of the annual works plan. Any approved fire plan will be provided to TfN at least three weeks prior to any burning event identified within that plan.



Any ecological burns will be conducted during benign (low wind and mild temperature) weather conditions. Burning within the **Offset area** will be undertaken only with due consideration to relevant health and safety issues. Ecological burning should only occur outside the prescribed declared fire danger period for the region and therefore is unlikely to require a permit. However, the Country Fire Authority should be consulted if there is any doubt about the permit requirements to undertake planned burning. The Landholder is responsible for ensuring the requirements of this **OMP** are carried out only if compliant with all other government planning requirements and permits. Any planned burns will minimise the potential for fire to spread in an uncontrolled manner.

All parts of the **Offset area** are suitable for burning, however, the extent of the burn needs to determined based on what is feasible for follow up weed control (as determined by the trial burn). For weed control, selected areas of grassland may be burnt to tackle particular weed issues or to assist in the lowering of soil nitrogen and phosphorous, which would also assist in weed control works. For biomass control, selected areas of grassland will be those where biomass is approaching the upper limit allowed under this **OMP** (70 to 80% cover).

No area is to be burnt more frequently than every two years. After each burn, the Landholder will prepare maps identifying the fire history of the **Offset area** to ensure the time since an area was last burnt can be documented. If wildfire should happen to occur in the **Offset area**, this will also need to be recorded in the fire history.

At no time should the entire **Offset area** be burnt in a single season. The application of a mosaic burning regime is the preferred burn pattern and therefore any individual burn should not burn all vegetation within the **Offset area**. Nevertheless, the burns must be planned to meet the requirement to maintain adequate fauna habitat within the **Offset area**. Planned burns therefore will be restricted to no more than 50% of the **Offset area** within any 12 month period. Patchy burns are a desirable outcome and an array of small burnt and unburnt patches covering up to a hectare is an appropriate scale on which to gauge the success of the burn.

The extent, intensity and timing of burns must take into account the presence of threatened species, in particular **GSM**. Fire may kill individuals of **GSM**s during the warmer months of the year when they are active above the soil surface. Timing of burns should only be undertaken outside the **GSM** flight season (generally November to January) unless fires are conducted at a small and limited scale. Late spring burns can be implemented if less than 20% of the **Offset area** is impacted.

Burnt areas will be protected from grazing for at least 6 months to allow species regeneration and recruitment to occur. Temporary fencing should be erected around burn areas if grazing is to be implemented in the surrounding areas.

3.7 Understorey diversity and recruitment

The **Offset area** already support a relatively high number and diversity of native plant species. The **management actions** associated with plant diversity therefore aim to protect the existing plant diversity and encourage its growth and recruitment.

The main risks to understorey diversity in the **Offset area** once it is protect by the TfN covenant will be: overgrazing (either by sheep, other introduced herbivores or kangaroos), uncontrolled weed growth and the accumulation of biomass over a prolonged period (greater than a year). Since all three risks are addressed in the previous **management actions** no further mitigation measures are required to manage native plant diversity and recruitment.



There is currently no need to do any supplementary planting or revegetation within the **Offset area**. The Habitat Hectares assessment shows that the **Offset area** retains between 50 and 90% of the expected number of understorey lifeforms, and is generally not considered deficient in terms of the species diversity of the life-forms that are present. Missing or deficient elements are typically the large herbs, which is often a function of the growth stage of the plants present.

If the Landholder wished to undertake works for the reintroduction of native species now considered locally extinct, a risk assessment of the activity will need to done in consultation with TfN. The risk assessment will need to include the likelihood of:

- Introducing new weeds or plant diseases, which can be brought in on potting mix from nurserygrown seedlings;
- Disturbance to the **Offset area** by digging holes to plant seedlings; and
- Introduction of weed seeds in seed mixes or machinery.

3.8 Offset area maintenance (Year 11-onwards)

At the end of Year 10, ecological monitoring will determine the condition of the **NTGVVP** and **GSM habitat** using Habitat Hectares and the results of **GSM** surveys. The condition measured at the end of 10 years must be maintained in perpetuity to ensure that **NTGVVP** and **GSM** continue to be provided with a conservation benefit. The following ongoing **management action** will apply in-perpetuity and align with the **management commitments** listed in Section 3.1.

As the responsible authority for TfN covenant, it will be the responsibility of TfN to ensure the land under covenant continues to be managed in accordance with their requirements.

The Landholder agrees to undertake the following on-going **management actions** listed in the following table.



Management action	On-going requirement
Access and signage	 Routine inspections to check the condition of fencing and signs. Maintaining the existing paddock fencing and signage including the arrangement of gates, unless otherwise authorised by TfN as appropriate.
Weeds	 Routine inspections to look for and detect any new and emerging weeds and eliminate to < 1% cover. Ensuring that overall weed cover does not increase beyond the levels attained at the end of the 10-year management period either.
Pest animals	 Routine inspections to look for and detect pest animals, particularly rabbits, hares, foxes and cats; Ensuring that size of the pest animal population does not increase beyond the levels attained at the end of the 10-year management period.
Biomass	 Manage biomass so that bare ground stays at its current level of 20 to 40% cover. Manage organic litter to meet the EVC benchmark cover of 10%.
Grazing exclusion	 High intensity, short duration (known as 'crash' or 'pulse') grazing of sheep only. Grazing excluded from 15th September to 31st January, under ideal conditions. Use of strategic crash grazing can be considered during the grazing exclusion period under the specific circumstances described in section 3.6.4. Ensuring the in-perpetuity exclusions in Section 3.1 continue to be apply.

Table 13 Summary of on-going management actions (Year 11 onwards)

3.9 Contractor requirements

Due to the sensitive nature of the working environment, contractors working with **Offset area** are required to be suitably qualified and experienced. All workers should be familiar with the restrictions association with working within a conservation area prior to starting works. This can be in the form of a site induction or supervision by the Landholder. Note that the contractor requirements apply to all of the establishment, improvement and on-going **management actions**.

3.9.1 Required qualifications

All management works are to be carried out by the Landholder (their delegate) or their contractor. All unsupervised contractors should be suitably qualified and experienced and familiar with the **Offset area**. For labourers being supervised by a suitably qualified contractor, the labourers should be carefully supervised until the Landholder or supervisor is satisfied that the contractor is suitably skilled at the required tasks.

All ecological monitoring of **NTGVVP** should be undertaken by a suitably qualified professional ecologist who has at least 3 years of experience in assessment of native grassland. All **GSM** surveys should be overseen by a suitably qualified ecologist who has experience in identifying **GSM** for field surveys.

DoEE defines suitably qualified person as follows:

• **Suitably qualified person** means a person who has professional qualifications, training, skills and/or experience related to the nominated subject matter and can give authoritative independent assessment, advice and analysis on performance relative to the subject matter using the relevant protocols, standards, methods and/or literature.

3.9.2 Required independence

The suitably qualified ecologist undertaking the monitoring must have sufficient independence to objectively assess the results of management actions and therefore cannot be employed by the same contractor



engaged to implement the management actions. DoEE also has requirements for auditors to be independent. Please refer to the approval conditions for EPBC Act referral 2017/8049 for auditor requirements.

3.9.3 Site inductions

For contractors that are unfamiliar with the **Offset area**, the Landholder (or delegate) should provide site inductions to ensure that any contractors undertaking management works within the **Offset area** are aware of the allowed activities and work methods. Site inductions should include the following key information:

- The **Offset area** is a conservation area that is protected by federal legislation.
- There are fines associated with damage to the grasslands.
- A work order with specific tasks or a list of works permitted in the Offset area.
- A list of works prohibited in the **Offset area**.
- Weed hygiene protocols to avoid introducing new weeds on boots, vehicles, plant or equipment.
- All vegetation within the **Offset area** is protected (other than weeds). Protected vegetation includes native grasses and wildflowers, sedges and rushes, mosses and lichen.
- Surface rocks should not be disturbed as these provide habitat for native reptiles.
- Works should have a minimal impact on the grassland and efforts should be made to avoid leaving wheel ruts due to driving in wet conditions or otherwise disturbing the grassland.
- The emergency management and reporting procedures for **Incident**s. Note to contractors that possible or actual damage to the grasslands counts as an **Incident** along with weather-related, bushfire, accidents or medical emergencies.

3.9.4 Contracts

For engagement of new contractors, the Request for Tender or Request for Quote should include a requirement to comply with the relevant provisions in the **OMP**. The Landholder should request details of the contractor's experience with undertaking works in native grasslands. The services contract should include requirements for compliance with the relevant provisions on the **OMP** or include requirements to comply with all instructions regarding protection of native plants and animals on site.



4. Monitoring actions

This section presents the nature, timing and frequency of monitoring to determine the success of **management actions** against **key performance indicators**, as required to fulfil Condition 7.d.vii. of EPBC Act approval 2017/8049. The detailed schedule of **monitoring actions** is provided in Appendix 1.

Surveillance of the **Offset area** is an integral component of the regular **management actions**. Routine inspections and ecological monitoring are separate activities in the **OMP** but both are important for early identification of changes, allowing an appropriate and timely management response to matters which would otherwise undermine the objectives of the **OMP**. Routine inspections include observations by the Landholder during normal activities within the **Offset area** and broader property and which are important for maintaining a record over the entire year that is not possible during annual ecological monitoring events. Ecological monitoring is undertaken by qualified ecologists who will collect data from repeat surveys of permanent monitoring plots to assess the overall improvement in **Quality** over time.

4.1 Routine inspections undertaken by landholder

The progress of management works will be surveyed and recorded by the Landholder on a regular basis. Most of these records are normally kept in the course of land management activities but the requirement to keep these records has been formalised in this **OMP** for the **Offset area** specifically.

The Landholder will provide a progress report to TfN and DoEE on an annual basis. The report will utilize the compiled records of observations and management works as described below.

4.1.1 Records of management works

The Landholder must keep a diary of any **management actions**/works undertaken within the **Offset area**. The works will include weed control, pest animal control, fence maintenance and stocking rates and duration of grazing. These records of all **management actions** must be kept to provide evidence of the implementation of the **OMP**.

4.1.2 Records of routine inspections

The Landholder is to undertake regular site inspections in accordance with the schedule in Appendix 1 (at a minimum once every 3 months, with additional requirements to inspect grazing results during the grazing period, Appendix 1). During the site inspections the Landholder is to record general observations including on fence condition, weed levels and biomass levels and well as the location and management requirements of any problems observed during the inspections.

As part of these notes, the Landholder must record any observations that could influence or initiate a management response. It is helpful to allocate a timeframe to undertake the identified management response. E.g. "seedlings of a new woody weed seen in the middle of the **Offset area** today. Will spot spray these with glyphosate by the end of the week". The Landholder should also record any new or emerging weed problems or if any weed species have been eradicated. These details provide valuable information on the management of the **Offset area** and contribute to the records that detail the commitment of the Landholder to the **OMP**.

Some specific requirements are detailed in Table 14 below.



Management action	Routine inspection requirement
Fence condition	Surveys of the paddock boundary fence must be conducted quarterly, and when visiting the Offset area to do other monitoring or management actions . Any damage to the fence that may allow vehicles or stock to enter outside of the parameters outlined in this OMP must be repaired immediately.
Weed monitoring	Once a year in spring, the entire Offset area should be surveyed for woody weeds, by walking and / or driving throughout the area such that a visual inspection (including with binoculars) would detect the presence of any woody weeds. Complete coverage of the Offset area will likely require at least six hours of survey. All infestations or individual woody weeds will be mapped with a GPS, and the locations will be supplied to the weed management contractor/Landholder for treatment. Subsequent surveys will then revisit previously mapped infestations to evaluate the success of weed control, as well as inspecting the entire Offset area for new infestations. While conducting the woody weed surveys, notes will be taken regarding the cover of herbaceous weed species, (estimated to the nearest 5%). Species and areas suitable for targeted treatment (such as spot spraying), will be mapped and supplied to the weed management contractor/Landholder for treatment.
Pulse grazing inspections	To inform the annual works plan, the Offset area should be inspected to determine biomass and pulse grazing requirements for the coming season. During the grazing period, the Landholder will inspect the grazing cells to evaluate grazing effectiveness at reducing biomass and weed levels, and to determine grazing duration. Records are to be kept on grazing intensity (stocking rate) and duration during the grazing period each year.
Pest animal monitoring	Signs of pest animals (rabbits, hares and foxes) will be recorded when visiting the Offset area . In particular, the locations of any active rabbit warrens must be mapped using GPS, and the locations supplied to the pest animal management contractor/Landholder for treatment. Subsequent monitoring will then revisit previously mapped warrens to check for on-going use, as well as searching for new warrens throughout the Offset area .

Table 14 Routine inspection requirements each quarter

4.2 Routine visits and oversight provided by Trust for Nature

More general supervision/monitoring of the grassland will be undertaken by TfN to ensure the grasslands response to **management actions** produce the desired outcome outlined by this OMP.

On an annual basis, TfN will liaise with the Landholder regarding the development of an annual works plan in accordance with management actions in Appendix 1. TfN will visit the **Offset area** a minimum of four times over the 10 year management period (of years 1, 3, 7 and 10). This level of monitoring is the minimum that TfN can commit to as advised in their review of a previous draft of the OMP. TfN can commit to at least one site visit to be undertaken in spring with the other visits undertaken throughout the year, although spring is the best time to assess grassland condition. Further site visits can be requested by the Landholder as needed to address specific management problems or to discuss the progress of the **Offset area**. During Years 11 to 20, TfN will visit the **Offset area** a minimum of once every five years. Further site visits can be requested by the Landholder as needed by the Landholder as needed during Years 11 to 20.

On an annual basis, the Landholder provides an annual report to TfN, which is in the form of a template based on the schedule of management actions in Appendix 1. TfN reviews the annual report before releasing funding to the Landholder for works completed. This process ensures that the works are undertaken in accordance with the OMP each year of the 10 year management period or funds are withheld until the works are completed to a satisfactory standard. After the 10 year management period has been completed, TfN has



a statutory responsibility to ensure compliance with the TFN covenant. Since the OMP is attached to the covenant, TfN also provides oversight of the OMP.

4.3 Ecological monitoring undertaken by qualified ecologists

Suitably qualified ecologists as defined in section 3.9 must be engaged to undertake ecological monitoring on a regular basis according the schedule in Appendix 1. The monitoring will include assessments that require expert skills such as Habitat Hectares assessment that cannot be undertaken by the Landholder.

4.3.1 Control plots

To determine if **management actions** have been effective, it is necessary to have a baseline and a control against which to compare the treatment areas. Monitoring done without control plots can only record change over time but does not provide a way to link the **management actions** to the changes recorded. To address this problem, the Landholder will allow some small exclusion plots to be installed prior to any **management actions** being undertaken. There are already two exclusion plots, however, these have been treated with fire and so are not comparable to the rest of the paddock. An exclusion plot will be installed by a suitably qualified ecologist in half of the grazing cells (4 control plots). These will be 20 metres x 20 metres and fenced with chicken wire to prevent herbivore grazing as the existing plots show this has been sufficient to exclude most grazing. No weed control works will be undertaken in these plots. The plots can be removed at the end of the 10 years of management if required.

4.3.2 NTGVVP condition

Ecological monitoring of the condition of **NTGVVP** will be undertaken annually in spring, ideally at the peak flowering time for native grasses. The first monitoring event should occur in 2019 prior to introduction of conservation management. This will provide a baseline or "before" measure against which the results of future **management actions** can be compared.

The monitoring will consist of the following components:

- General site inspection and average Habitat hectare assessment. The walkover will take at least 8 hours and make notes on woody weed abundance, evidence of biomass management, herbaceous weed cover for target weed species and general condition (evidence of pests, new weeds etc). This assessment will document the general overall condition of the **Offset area** and the ability of management works to maintain the condition of **NTGVVP**.
- Permanent monitoring points will be established throughout the Offset area, stratified by weed cover and topography. There will be 3 to 4 plots in each grazing cell, producing a total 20 plots (4 controls and 16 treatment plots). The plots will be a square 20 m by 20 m in size to allow for the detection of herb diversity during the monitoring. The plots will be clearly marked and their location accurately recorded using GPS.
- The following data will be collected from each plot and the control plots. It is estimated an hour will be required to collect these data from each plot:
 - List of native and introduced species.
 - Total vegetation cover (%)
 - Total cover of native perennial vegetation (%)
 - Total cover of native herbs (%)
 - Total cover of perennial weeds (%)
 - Total cover of annual weeds (%)
 - Cover of bare ground (%)
 - Cover of organic litter (%)



- Average height of vegetation (cm).
- Habitat Hectares score.
- A photo of each plot will also serve as permanent photo points. Using the NE corner of the plot for the photo point, a photo will be taken facing the four points of the compass (N, S, E & W).

Information will be collated as part of the annual reporting requirements (Section 4.4).

4.3.3 Golden Sun Moth monitoring

Monitoring during the flight season for **Golden Sun Moth** is necessary to determine the size of the flying male **GSM** population over time.

Baseline surveys of the **GSM** population were undertaken in the summer of 2018/19. It is recommended that **GSM** surveys be undertaken after one year of management has been achieved and then every second year thereafter for the duration of the 10 year management period. It is unlikely that **management actions** to encourage increased growth of **GSM** food plant species will have an immediate effect on **GSM** numbers, therefore, surveys every second year are considered sufficient to monitor the health of the **GSM** population. **GSM** surveys area therefore required in the following summers:

- 2020/21
- 2022/23
- 2024/25
- 2026/27
- 2028/29

Monitoring will record the number of individuals observed from set monitoring transects. Note that the **Offset area** is too large to be surveyed in one day using only two people. A team of 6 people is likely to be needed to survey the entire **Offset area** in one day using 50 metre wide transects. If the full surveys are not feasible, the surveys should be done in each grazing cell but 100 metre transects are used instead of 50 metres. The chosen method must be repeated exactly the same for each of the four visits done in a survey year (i.e. it is not acceptable to assess a quarter of the **Offset area** once in order to survey the whole **Offset area** in four visits).

Monitoring for **GSM** will be undertaken in accordance with the requirements of DEWHA (2009) with regard to survey season and weather conditions on the day of survey. As **GSM** are known to occur at this site no reference sites are required. The Landholder is likely best placed to watch for when the flight season has started but other **GSM** sites within the district can also be used. A monitoring event requires four visits to the **Offset area** on four days approximately one week apart. Surveys will take place when conditions are suitable for male flight (generally >20oC, bright, clear days, full sun, absence of rain and wind other than a light breeze) between 10:00 hrs and 15:00 hrs. Tracks will be recorded using a GPS receiving device and a waypoint taken for each location where **GSM** are observed. Notes on habitat condition including cover of food plants and inter-tussock spaces will also be recorded.

The results of these surveys will be compared to the original baseline surveys (2018 /19 flight season) and those of the previous monitoring event.

Any observations of **GSM** during monitoring for vegetation condition and during inspections by the Landholder or TfN will also be recorded.

4.3.4 Monitoring report

Once monitoring is complete, a monitoring report with the following information will be provided:

• Assessment of condition improvement of NTGVVP



- Results of **GSM** surveys (every second year).
- Advice on planned burning and weed/biomass control approach for the coming year.

The monitoring report is to be provided to the Landholder, DJCS and TfN. It will be the responsibility of DJCS to supply the ecological monitoring reports to DoEE as required under their annual compliance report (Approval condition 14).

4.3.5 Independent audits

Under Approval Condition 17, the approval holder (DJCS) must ensure that **independent audits** of compliance with the conditions are conducted as requested in writing by the Minister. In addition, as the approval holder, DJCS is responsible for ensuring the implementation and effectiveness of the **OMP**.

If required, audits will be conducted by an independent ecologist appointed by DJCS at the following stages:

- At the end of the first year of site management this is to ensure that initial **management actions** are conducted to the satisfaction of the approval holder and DoEE, including implementing the legal security mechanism, ensuring the property is securely fenced, and that other initial **management actions** have commenced.
- At the end of the fourth year of site management this will involve a review of four annual monitoring and management reports, as well as an independent assessment of the condition of **GSM habitat** within the **Offset area**.
- At the end of the eighth year of site management as per the four year audit.
- Following the completion of the 10 year management period to be a final audit of the implementation and effectiveness of the **OMP**.

Additional audits may be triggered as a result of a review of the OMP or following an environmental **Incident** resulting in significant change to site conditions, as identified in the risk assessment.

4.4 Reporting

Under Approval Condition 15, the approval holder (DJCS) must submit an annual compliance report to DoEE for the period of the approval. The detailed schedule of **reporting** is provided in Appendix 1.

As part of this reporting, the Landholder will prepare an Annual Report to address progress against the commitments set out in this **OMP**. Annual Reports will provide enough detail in the form of written comments and supporting evidence that an assessor can easily determine the completion of/progress against the **management commitments** and completion criteria for the **Offset area**. Reports will be submitted prior to the anniversary date of the execution of the **OMP** to allow time for compliance to be assessed.

The annual report will include:

- Details of **management actions** undertaken within the reporting period.
- Results of at least four routine inspections, including fence condition, weeds, pest animals, and biomass accumulation.
- Details of compliance or non-compliance with the schedule of management actions (Appendix 1).
- Details of compliance or non-compliance with management targets (Appendix 1).
- Details of any **incidents** or new and emerging management issues, with required corrective action.
- Any triggers exceeded and which corrective actions were implemented.
- Details of ecological monitoring results including photos from photo points and **GSM** survey results in relevant years.



The reporting schedule is detailed in Appendix 1.



5. Risk assessment and emergency management

5.1 Risk assessment

Table 15 on the following pages uses the DoEE risk framework to assess the risk of the KPIs not being met. The risk of the KPIs not being met is assessed by comparing two scenarios: a situation with an approved OMP and a situation without an approved OMP. This is done by identifying a hazard based on each KPI. The risk assessment then provides a summary of how the management actions provide control measures for each of the hazards identified. This allows the risk of the offset failing to meet the KPI's to be reduced. The risk assessment also details the residual risk after the control measures in the OMP are put in place. A strategy for addressing the residual risk is provided in the last column.

The likelihood and consequence classification is summarised in Appendix 2.

5.2 Emergency management

There is residual risk posed by emergency event such as wildfire, floods or unexpected pest outbreak. These events present a risk of damage to the **Offset area**, because emergency activities may involve any of the following:

- Extreme change in conditions requiring rapid adaptation of **management actions** and/or **management targets** (e.g. rapid change from unburnt to burnt in the case of wildfire).
- Emergency works such as earthworks to plough or excavate firebreaks.
- New threats previously absent to the **Offset area** (e.g. new weeds brought in during emergency works).
- Previously controlled threats becoming more prevalent (e.g. rapid increase in existing weed cover).
- Unauthorised access, livestock grazing or trespass (i.e. as a result of fences being destroyed).

While the likelihood of an emergency management scenario occurring over the life of the OMP is rare, the consequences could be Major and resulting in a risk assessment of Medium. The risk assessment of Medium is based on the impacts that emergency management actions can have on the protected matters, especially ploughing of fire breaks.

5.3 Emergency Contacts and procedures

Should any emergency occur, the relevant contacts (listed below) must be notified as soon as possible.

- In the event of a life-threatening emergency, the relevant emergency services should be contacted immediately. Emergency services must be advised of the conservation protections to avoid inadvertent damage (e.g. ploughing fire breaks, use of chemical fire suppressants).
- DJCS is required to notify DoEE of any incident within 10 days so that the Landholder must notify DJCS and DoEE within this timeframe.
- The Landholder's delegate must notify the Landholder within 12 hours and the Landholder must notify TfN within 24 hours.



5.4 Emergency contact details

- Bushfire or other life-threatening emergency: Phone **000**, ask for fire brigade
- Non-emergency criminal activity (illegal dumping, trespass): Phone Victoria Police 131 444
- Department of the Environment and Energy (DoEE): Phone 1800 803 772
- Trust for Nature: Offset advisor phone (03) 8631 5888
- Landholder: James Taylor

5.5 Review of OMP

This **OMP** includes an adaptive management framework so that a review of the **OMP** will only be necessary under the following circumstances:

- A major **incident** that makes a significant change to the character or condition of the **Offset area** requiring updates to management targets or KPIs (most likely wildfire, Table 15).
- The Landholder / TFN identifies a beneficial permanent management change such as might arise from new research or on-ground observations and requiring updates to permitted activities or management actions.

If a review required by the Landholder or after a major **incident**, this will be undertaken by the Landholder in consultation with TfN and DoEE.

If a review is required by DoEE as part of the conditions of approval, the review will be undertaken by DJCS.

Potential hazards as defined by Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)	Likeli- hood	Consequ- ence	Risk Level	Management action # (see Appendix 1)	Hazard Control Methods	Likeli- hood	Consequ- ence	Risk Level	Residual risks	Management strategy for residual risks
	١	Without OM	Р					With	OMP	
Failure to register TfN agreement on relevant land titles	Highly Likely	Major	Severe	1, 15	 Statutory approval condition for YJRP DoEE post-approvals team to regulate execution of approval conditions Bond agreement with TFN ensures funds held in trust until agreement in place 	Rare	High	Low	The risk assessment of low is based on the Offset area being secured using a TfN covenant. The funds for the Offset area are only release by TfN after the Credit Trading Agreement has been finalised. This provides a strong financial incentive for both the Landholder and approval holder to ensure the security mechanism is placed on title.	If the TfN covenant is not registered on title, TfN will hold the funds in trust until a TfN agreement is registered.
Failure to implement the OMP to the required standard. (NOTE: for the other risks in the table, when assessing the risk, it is assumed that the OMP has been implemented to the required standard.)	Likely	High	High	5, 6, 14, 15	 Checks and balances in place to ensure OMP is implemented to the required standard: TfN review of annual report from landholder each year. Release of annual funding from TfN only when satisfied works have been undertaken in accordance with the OMP Ecological monitoring undertaken yearly during 10 year period TfN to visit offset area a minimum of four times during 10 year period TfN to visit offset area every 5 years after Year 10 Independent audits undertaken as directed by DoEE The TfN covenant binds the current and future Landholder to both the standard restrictions in the TfN covenant and to the requirements described in this OMP 	Rare	High	Low	The risk assessment of low is based on the oversight provided by TfN. TfN reviews the annual report before releasing funding to the Landholder for works completed. This process ensures that the works are undertaken in accordance with the OMP each year of the 10 year management period.	In the event that the landholder fails to undertake the management actions in accordance with the OMP, TfN will withhold funds until the works are completed to a satisfactory standard.
Loss of NTGVVP or GSM habitat over 20 year time horizon	Likely	High	High	2, 3, 15	• OMP provides a schedule of ten detailed management commitments to change land management and protect native vegetation in OMP and TfN covenant	Rare	Moderate	Low	The risk assessment of low is based on the resourcing being provided to the offset area. That is, Biosis has observed that for grassland reserves throughout Melbourne and Victoria, loss of NTGVVP is usually attributable to insufficient funding to provide for the intensity of management required to address the labile nature of native grasslands. Where there is insufficient intensity of management, this has led to invasion of perennial grassy weeds such as Chilean Needle-grass, which dominate the tussock structure. Since the offset area has a dedicated manager (the Landholder), regular monitoring, and sufficient funding available to undertake the required works, it is expected that only exceptional climatic conditions or an emergency event would to lead to a loss of NTGVVP or GSM.	Emergency management provisions are provided in the OMP. Incident reporting procedures of the OMP will also apply - TfN and the consulting ecologist will be consulted for advice, DoEE will be informed and the OMP will be reviewed by the landholder.
Preventable weed introductions over 20 year time horizon	Likely	High	High	2, 3, 15	 OMP provides a schedule of ten detailed management commitments to change land management and protect native vegetation in OMP and TfN covenant 	Unlikely	Moderate	Low	The risk assessment of low is based on the monitoring and oversight of the offset area such that any introduction of new weeds will be detected early and management actions undertaken to rectify the problem. N.B. This risk addresses preventable weed introductions only (such as weed seeds brought in on vehicles or machinery) so that the source of the introduction can be traced and prevented in future. Non-human mediated introduction of weeds by fauna or wind-blown seed are addressed in "new or emerging threats".	Preventable weed introductions over 20 year time horizon will be addressed using the adaptive management provisions in the OMP and in consultation with TfN. The management actions in Appendix 1 detail the process by which to address new or emerging threats.
Unauthorised access or works within offset area	Possible	Major	High	3, 4, 15	• OMP provides a schedule of management actions to control access and authorise works within offset area	Unlikely	Moderate	Low	The risk assessment of low is based on the Offset area being fully fenced and not accessible by the public or easily trespassed upon due to its distance from the road so that contravention of the covenant by malicious	Since unauthorised access would most likely be a result of trespass, this will be referred to police and will be addressed using the emergency

Table 15 Risk assessment of potential hazards as defined by Key Performance Indicators

© Biosis 2020 – Leaders in Ecology and Heritage Consulting



									damage to the Offset area is Low risk. Signage and site induction will ensure that any workers will be aware of the activities allowed in the offset area.	management provisions in the OMP. Where unauthorised access or works within offset area result in an incident, the incident reporting procedures in the OMP will be followed.
Management actions fail to adapt to seasonal conditions or monitoring/routine inspection results.	Likely	High	High	5, 15	• Landholder to prepare annual works plan in consultation with TfN and incorporating monitoring results and information from routine inspections.	Rare	High	Low	The risk assessment of low is based on the adaptive management provisions in the OMP being designed to allow the landholder to ensure there are no adverse impacts from management during unfavourable conditions such as drought. Should management actions fail to keep pace with changing conditions, the most likely cause will be extreme seasonal conditions or weather events.	Routine inspections will be used to track seasonal conditions and/or emerging threats. The annual works plan will address the management actions required for the coming season. TfN will be consulted where management actions do not appear to be effective and their advice sought on how to address any problems. For extreme events, the emergency management provisions will apply instead.
Failure to improve Lack of Weeds score from 6 to at least 9 (out of 15) or Lack of Weeds score declines.	Likely	High	High	7, 8, 11, (12, 13)	 Management actions provide multiple methods of weed control that can be implemented in response to changing conditions. OMP provides an adaptive management strategy to allow the landholder to respond to changing the weed levels. Management actions for weed control compatible with other management targets. Options for weed control in OMP are: Rotational cell grazing Herbicide application Non-chemical weed control methods Optional ecological burning trial and implementation 	Unlikely	High	Medium	This risk assessment of medium is based on the difficulty of controlling weed invasions once a particular weed species is well established. The circumstances when this could occur include unpredictable extreme climatic or weather event or a post wildfire weed outbreak. In such cases, review of the OMP would be warranted to address the failure to improve the Lack of Weeds score.	In the event that the management actions even in accordance with the OMP fail to improve the Lack of Weeds score in any one year, TfN will be consulted for advice. In the event that the management actions even in accordance with the OMP fail to improve the Lack of Weeds score in consecutive years, and no reason for this can be identified, the OMP will be reviewed by the landholder.
Failure to eliminate new weeds, emerging weed problems not controlled to <1% cover, failure to eliminate new pest animals	Possible	High	Medium	6, 10, 15	 Management actions provide process to Identify and control or eliminate new or emerging threats complimented by oversight by TfN 	Rare	High	Low	This risk assessment of low is based on early detection of new or emerging threats leading to effective control or elimination of the threat.	The management actions in Appendix 1 detail the process by which to address new or emerging threats. Where new or emerging threats are not treated promptly and allowed to proliferate, this will be considered a failure to implement the OMP to the required standard and addressed by TfN as above.
Failure to maintain Understorey score at 15 (out of 25) or score declines	Possible	Critical	Severe	2, 3, 4, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11 (12, 13), 14, 15	 OMP provides a schedule of ten detailed management commitments to change land management and protect native vegetation all of which are designed to protect native herb diversity. OMP provides detailed schedule of management actions all of which consider the need to protect native herb diversity. Oversight provided by TfN and ecological monitoring annually will record and track vegetation condition 	Unlikely	High	Medium	This risk assessment of medium is based on the difficulty of re-establishing herb diversity once it declines. The circumstances when this could occur include unpredictable extreme climatic or weather event or a post wildfire weed outbreak. In such cases, review of the OMP would be warranted to address the failure to improve the Understorey score.	The management actions in Appendix 1 provide a detailed strategy to manage NTGVVP condition. In the event that the management actions even in accordance with the OMP fail to maintain the Understorey score in any one year, TfN and the consulting ecologist will be consulted for advice, DoEE will be informed and the OMP will be reviewed by the landholder.
Failure to maintain Recruitment score at 10 (out of 10)	Likely	Moderate	Medium	• 8, 11 (12, 13)	 OMP provides two options for biomass control, rotational cell grazing with exclusion period and ecological burning trial and implementation. OMP provides an adaptive management strategy to allow the landholder to respond to changing the biomass levels. 	Unlikely	Moderate	Low	The risk assessment of low is based on biomass being relatively easy to manage and rectify and therefore space for recruitment is also relatively easy to manage.	The management actions in Appendix 1 provide a detailed strategy to manage NTGVVP condition. In the event that the management actions even in accordance with the OMP fail to maintain Recruitment score in any one year, TfN will be consulted for advice. In the event that the management actions even in accordance with the OMP fail to


					 anagement actions for biomass control compatible with other management targets. 				
Failure to maintain Organic litter score at 5 (out of 5)	Likely	Moderate	Medium	8, 11 (12, 13)	 OMP provides two options for biomass control, rotational cell grazing with exclusion period and ecological burning trial and implementation. OMP provides an adaptive management strategy to allow the landholder to respond to changing the biomass levels. Management actions for biomass control compatible with other management targets. 	Unlikely	Moderate	Low	The risk assessment of low is based on biomass being relatively easy to manage and rectify and therefore space for organic matter is also relatively easy to manage.
Failure to eliminate active rabbit warrens or fox dens, evidence of pest animal impacts present	Possible	Moderate	Medium	9	 Offset area already has a low density of pest animals. OMP provides process for monitoring and treating pest animal populations. Oversight provided by TfN and ecological monitoring annually will record and track evidence of pest animal impacts. 	Unlikely	Moderate	Low	The risk assessment of low is based on pest animals and their impacts being relatively easy to detect and monitor and is undertaken as part of farm management in the rest of the property as well.
Failure to maintain Tussock cover sufficient to provide fauna habitat after ecological burns	Possible	Major	High	(12, 13)	OMP provides clear guidelines for ecological burning requirements. Burn plans will be developed as part of annual works plan in consultation with TfN. Ecological monitoring will track weed levels post-burn.	Rare	Major	Medium	This risk assessment of medium is based on the large scale on which a burn would have to occur for this target not to be met (i.e. more than 50% of the offset area to be burnt in any one year). The most likely cause of a large-scale burn would be escape of a controlled burn, which would be a rare occurrence.
Failure to undertake ecological monitoring in accordance with OMP	Highly Likely	Moderate	High	14	Ecological monitoring remains the responsibility of the approval holder. TfN to review annual report from landholder each year and release funding only when satisfied works have been undertaken in accordance with the OMP	Unlikely	Minor	Low	The risk assessment of low is based on the approval holder remaining responsible for ensuring the ecological monitoring is undertaken and the oversight provided by TfN. DJCS has agreed to be responsible for engaging an ecologist to undertake monitoring each year during the 10 year management period.
Failure to undertake reporting in accordance with OMP	Highly Likely	Moderate	High	16	Ecological monitoring report remains the responsibility of the approval holder. TfN to review annual report from landholder each year and release funding only when satisfied works have been undertaken in accordance with the OMP	Unlikely	Minor	Low	The risk assessment of low is based on the approval holder remaining responsible for ensuring the ecological reporting is provided and the oversight provided by TfN.
Failure to undertake emergency management in accordance with OMP	Possible	Major	High	17	OMP provides emergency management procedure. Offset area will have signage to alert emergency services to conservation values within offset area.	Rare	Major	Medium	The risk assessment of medium is based on the large impacts that emergency management actions can have on native vegetation, especially ploughing of fire breaks. However, the frequency of emergency events i expected to be rare and the risk has been reduced compared to the current conditions of no OMP.
Failure to maintain habitat hectares score achieved at	N/A	N/A	N/A	18	The TfN covenant binds the current (and future) Landholder to the standard	Possible	High	Medium	This risk assessment of medium is based on the difficulty of improving conditions once they start to

© Biosis 2020 – Leaders in Ecology and Heritage Consulting



improve the Recruitment score in consecutive years, and no reason for this can be identified, the OMP will be reviewed by the landholder. The management actions in Appendix 1 provide a detailed strategy to manage NTGVVP condition. In the event that the management actions even in accordance with the OMP fail to maintain organic litter score in any one year, TfN will be consulted for advice. In the event that the management actions even in accordance with the OMP fail to improve the organic litter score in consecutive years, and no reason for this can be identified, the OMP will be reviewed by the landholder. The management actions in Appendix 1 provide a detailed strategy to manage pest animals. In the event that the management actions even in accordance with the OMP fail to maintain pest animal numbers in any one year, TfN will be consulted for advice. In the event that the management actions even in accordance with the OMP fail to manage pest numbers in consecutive years, and no reason for this can be identified, the OMP will be reviewed by the landholder. For an escaped burn, the emergency provisions and incident reporting of the OMP will apply. TfN and the consulting ecologist will be consulted ause for advice, DoEE will be informed and the OMP will be reviewed by the landholder, In the event that the ecological monitoring is not undertaken in accordance with OMP, the cause of ght the failure will be investigated and e for rectified prior to the next monitoring season (annually for NTGVVP or alternate years for GSM surveys). In the event that reporting is not undertaken in accordance with OMP, the cause of the failure will be investigated and rectified prior to the next reporting season (annually for landholder annual report and NTGVVP or alternate years for GSM surveys). Failure to implement the emergency provisions of the OMP will likely result in an incident and the incident nave reporting provisions of the OMP will apply. TfN and the consulting nts is ecologist will be consulted for advice, DoEE will be informed and the OMP will be reviewed by the landholder if the offset area is affected. The annual works plan will address the management actions required for

the end of Year 10 from Year 11 to Year 20 (to achieve 20 year time horizon)					restrictions in the TfN covenant and to the requirements described in this OMP TfN to visit offset area every 5 years after Year 10 Adaptive management procedure ensures management can response to changing conditions over time.				decline when compared to simply maintaining conditions. Failure to maintain the habitat hectares score would likely be derived from one of two sources: unpredictable extreme event or insufficient inputs to maintain the NTGVVP condition, both of which have been addressed above.	the coming season including routine monitoring. As part of development of the annual works plan, TfN will be consulted where management actions do not appear to be effective and their advice sought on how to address any problems. TfN will visit the offset area at least twice over the Year 11 to Year 20 period and require annual reports to be submitted for review to ensure compliance continues. For extreme events, the emergency management provisions will apply.
Failure to review OMP when circumstances change or management actions become ineffective	N/A	N/A	N/A	19	OMP allows both the landholder and the approval holder to review the OMP and make changes as needed. TfN will provide advice on management to landholder in the event management actions become ineffective.	Unlikely	Moderate	Low	The risk assessment is low because failure to review the OMP after a change of circumstances/due to ineffective management actions would be a failure to implement the OMP to the required standard, which is addressed above.	The OMP provides the details of how and when the OMP is to be reviewed and updated.

N/A = Not applicable, the KPI is only possible if the OMP is in place.





References

Biosis 2017. Youth Justice Redevelopment Project: Spiny Rice-flower survey and updated vegetation assessment. Report for Department of Justice and Community Safety. Authors: McCutcheon, C., Lee, M. & Goddard, M. Biosis Pty Ltd, Melbourne. Project no. 25272

Biosis 2018. Offset area Report: 1372 Rokewood Shelford Road, Shelford – Natural Temperate Grassland. Report prepared for Department of Justice and Community Safety. Authors: Mueck, S. Biosis Pty Ltd, Melbourne. Project no. 25271.

Commonwealth of Australia 2014. *Guidelines for the preparation of an Offset Management Plan under the EPBC Act offsets policy*. Australian Government Department of Sustainability, Environment, Water, Population and Communities, Canberra.

DELWP (2015). DELWP *Output delivery standards For the delivery of environmental activities*. The Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning, State of Victoria, Melbourne. URL: https://www.water.vic.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0016/52414/DELWP-OutputDeliveryStandard-web1.pdf

Department of the Environment (DoE) 2013. *Approved Conservation Advice for Synemon plana* (Golden Sun Moth). Department of the Environment, Canberra.

Department of the Environment (DoE) 2015. *Threat abatement plan for predation by feral cats.* Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra, ACT.

Department of the Environment and Energy (DoEE) 2016. *Threat abatement plan for competition and land degradation by rabbits.* Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra, ACT.

DEPI 2013. *Permitted clearing of native vegetation - Biodiversity assessment guidelines*. Victorian Government Department of Environment and Primary Industries, Melbourne (September 2013).

DEPI 2014. Advisory list of rare or threatened plants in Victoria. Department of Sustainability and Environment, Melbourne.

DEWHA 2008. *Approved Conservation Advice for the Natural Temperate Grassland of the Victorian Volcanic Plain*. Department of the Environment, Water, Heritage and the Arts, Canberra.

DEWHA 2008b. Threat abatement plan for predation by the European red fox. Department of the Environment, Water, Heritage and the Arts, Canberra.

DEWHA 2009. Background paper to EPBC Act Policy Statement 3.12 – *Nationally threatened species and ecological communities. Significant impact guidelines for the critically endangered Golden Sun Moth* (Synemon plana). DEWHA, Canberra. Available on the Internet at:

http://www.environment.gov.au/resource/significant-impact-guidelines-critically-endangered-golden-sun-moth-synemon-plana.

DEWHA 2009b. *Significant impact guidelines for the critically endangered golden sun moth* (Synemon plana). Nationally threatened species and ecological communities EPBC Act policy statement 3.12, The Australian Government, Canberra.

DSE 2004. Native Vegetation: Sustaining a living landscape. Vegetation Quality Assessment Manual – Guidelines for applying the Habitat hectares scoring method. Version 1.3. Victorian Government Department of Sustainability & Environment, Melbourne.



DSE 2007. *Native Vegetation - Guide for assessment of referred planning permit applications.* Victorian Government, Department of Sustainability and Environment, East Melbourne

DSE 2009. BushBroker: Standards for management – Ecological grazing: Information Sheet No. 13. DSE, East Melbourne.

DSEWPaC 2011. *Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999 referral guidelines for the vulnerable striped legless lizard, Delma impar.* Department of Sustainability, Environment, Water, Population & Communities. Australian Government, Canberra.

DSEWPaC 2011. Nationally Threatened Ecological Communities of the Victorian Volcanic Plain: Natural Temperate Grassland & Grassy Eucalypt Woodland A guide to the identification, assessment and management of nationally threatened ecological communities. The Australian Government, Canberra.

DSEWPaC 2012. *Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999 Environmental Offsets Policy.* Department of Sustainability, Environment, Water, Population & Communities. Australian Government, Canberra.

Marshall, A. 2013. *Start with the grasslands: Design guidelines to support native grasslands in urban areas (Final Draft)*. Victorian National Parks Association, Melbourne.

Smith, W.J.S. & P. Robertson 1999. *National Recovery Plan for the Striped Legless Lizard (Delma impar) 1999-2003.* NSW National Parks and Wildlife Service & Wildlife Profiles Pty Ltd

Threatened Species Scientific Committee (TSSC) 2008. *Commonwealth Listing Advice on Natural Temperate Grassland of the Victorian Volcanic Plain*. Department of the Environment, Water, Heritage and the Arts.

Threatened Species Scientific Committee (TSSC) 2009. *Commonwealth Listing Advice on Golden Sun Moth*. Department of the Environment, Water, Heritage and the Arts.

Threatened Species Scientific Committee 2016. *Conservation Advice Delma impar striped legless lizard. Department of the Environment and Energy*, Canberra.

Williams, N.S.G., Marshall, A. and Morgan, J.W. (eds) 2015. *Land of sweeping plains: Managing and restoring the native grasslands of south-eastern Australia*. CSIRO publishing, Clayton South, Melbourne.



Appendices

Appendix 1 Schedule of management actions

Table A1 Schedule of management actions and management targets

Legend to table:



Management action	Timing of activity	Roles and responsibility	Management results to be achieved	Yr: 0 2019	1 2020	2 2021	3 2022	4 2023
1	Register the Offset area o	n title						
	Immediately upon OMP commencement. See OMP commencement in Section 1.	Landholder to register TfN covenant on title	TfN covenant registered on title in accordance with Section 3A Victorian Conservation Trust Act 1972 Covenant to cover 144.35 ha					
		Landholder to provide copies of title to DJCS within 2 weeks of registration being completed						
		DJCS to provide title to DoEE within 4 weeks of registration						
2	Implement management covenant	commitments to change land manager	ment and protect native vegetation in OMP and TfN					
	Immediately upon OMP commencement. See OMP commencement in Section 1.	Landholder to ensure all excluded activities no longer occur within 860 paddock	Permanently exclude all activities involving mechanical disturbance (excavation, geological exploration, ploughing of fire breaks, cultivation etc.).					
			All posts to be direct driven					
			Permanently exclude all activities that would knowingly introduce new weeds/weed seeds, e.g. over-sowing or other pasture improvement using hay, silage or feed that could contain viable weed seeds planting of tree belts					
			Exclude all broad-acre herbicide use except in accordance with OMP. No creating fence lines or firebreaks with spraying.					
			No farm infrastructure except in accordance with OMP (e.g. no yards, barbed wire fencing etc)					
			Stock watering points to be installed outside the offset area, to the minimum number necessary.					
			Approval is obtained from TfN for any new farm infrastructure not in accordance with OMP					
			All workers are aware of activities that are not permitted in offset area					
			No unauthorised access or unapproved works within offset area					
			Weed hygiene protocol developed for sheep, workers, vehicles, plant and equipment					
3	Implement permanent ch	anges to grazing						
	Immediately upon OMP commencement. See OMP commencement in Section 1.	Landholder to ensure all grazing is in accordance with OMP	Permanently exclude all fertilizer application.					
			Permanently exclude all cattle and horse grazing.					
			All sheep grazing to be in accordance with OMP, see section bellow					



5	6	7	8	9	10
2024	2025	2026	2027	2028	2029

Management action	Timing of activity	Roles and responsibility	Management results to be achieved	Yr: 0 2019	2020	2 2021	3 2022	4 2023	5 2024	6 2025	7 2026	8 2027	9 2028	10 2029
			Grazing of any other domestic livestock not already listed will only be considered after consultation with Trust for Nature											
4	Prevent uncontrolled live	stock grazing and unauthorised access	. Install fencing for rotational cell grazing.											
	Prior to commencement of Year 1 grazing period	Landholder to ensure all fencing and signage is installed and maintained in accordance with OMP	 Fencing installed on boundary or within Offset area must meet the following requirements : Direct-driven posts only, no concrete footings New gates are as wide as possible Plain or electric wire only Minimum number of strainer posts 											
			The existing paddock fencing is already stock-proof and no further upgrades are needed. Refer to DELWP (2015) for stock-proof fencing standards if new stock-proof fences are needed Install watering points outside of offset area. Installation must not use excavation within offset area, have the minimum number of											
			troughs possible, not create new stock camp impacts. Install signage on gates to restrict access into paddock. E.g. "Conservation Area – Access not permitted unless strictly authorised by the manager".											
			not marked by fencing Undertake regular repairs to prevent uncontrolled sheep grazing or											
			access New infrastructure is checked routinely to ensure it remains low impact											
			Fencing, gates and signage maintained to prevent accidental access by livestock or people											
5	Prepare and implement a	nnual works plan												
	Annually, prior to commencement of each grazing period	Landholder to prepare annual works plan in consultation with TfN and incorporating monitoring results and information from routine inspections.	Review results from routine inspections and monitoring, determine management requirements for coming season in timely manner											
		Landholder to ensure overall progress/results are reviewed at least once per year.	Identify areas for improvement, incidents or changing conditions											
		Landholder to ensure works plan adapts to seasonal conditions and/or new or emerging threats	Prepare annual works plan based on review											
			Identify suitably qualified staff or suitably qualified contractors to undertake works. All work to be undertaken by/supervised by suitably qualified individuals											
			Provide site induction to new staff or contractors Seek advice from TfN, CMA, ecologist or other contractor, if											
6	Routine inspections and r	ecords of works	necessary											
	Minimum of once per quarter (4 times per year)	Landholder to ensure routine inspections record are undertaken at regular intervals	Undertake routine inspections of Offset area at least once every three months											
		Landholder to records are kept of all routine inspections	Identify any maintenance requirements for external paddock fencing, internal fencing, signage and watering points. Note if additional impacts from livestock movements become apparent around gates, fencelines or watering point.											
		Landholder to records are kept of all works undertaken in the offset area	Records are kept of any maintenance requirements and timeline for repair.											
			Records are kept of all routine inspections											



Management action	Timing of activity	Roles and responsibility	Management results to be achieved	Yr: 0 2019	1 2020	2 2021	3 2022	4 2023	5 2024	6 2025	7 2026	8 2027	9 2028	10 2029
			Use GPS to record any weed infestations to target for treatment, new or unknown weeds/pests or weeds/pests that appear to be increasing											
			Use GPS to record the location of active rabbit warrens or fox dens											
7	Control woody weeds													
	July–Nov or as detailed in the annual works plan	Landholder to ensure annual works plan details target species, methods and timing of woody weed control	Search offset area and use GPS to record location of woody weeds (at least once per year). Record any areas to target for herbaceous weed control at the same time.											
		Landholder to ensure woody weeds are controlled using minimal impact methods and in accordance with OMP	Treat woody weeds using appropriate herbicide at correct time of year and to prevent fruiting and seeding. Refer to manufacturer's instructions or seek advice from TfN or weed contractor if needed.											
		Landholder to ensure woody weed mapping is undertaken at least once per year.	Treat woody weeds with methods that have minimal impact on native species											
		Landholder to ensure woody weed control starts in Year 1 and the management target is met by Year 2 and then maintained.	Avoid off target damage to native species											
			Target:Eliminate all established adult plants by end of Year 2											
			 After Year 2, continue treat woody weed seedlings/resprouting stumps to achieve the management target of <1% cover of woody weed seedlings at end of Year 10 											
8	Control herbaceous weed	S												
	July–Nov or as detailed in the annual works plan	Landholder to ensure annual works plan details target species, methods and timing of herbaceous weed control	Determine target weed species/groups for each season, determine treatment method (grazing/herbicide/combination/other)											
		Landholer to ensure herbaceous weeds are controlled using minimal impact methods and in accordance with OMP	Determine number of spot spraying/chemical free weed control events required and record in annual works plan											
		Landholder to ensure herbaceous weeds control starts in Year 1 and management target is met by the end of Year 10	For spot spraying, determine appropriate herbicide/rate and record in annual works plan											
			For grazing, determine seasonal requirements and record in annual works plan											
			Treat herbaceous weeds with appropriate method at appropriate season according to annual works plan.											
			Avoid off target damage to native species											
			 Weed cover reduced to <25% Towards for times of woods (also applies for evolves and 											
			 ecological burns): Woody weeds: <1% (see Management Action 7 above) 											
			Annual grasses: 10%											
			Perennial mat-forming grasses: <10%											
			Broad-leave high threat weeds <3%											
			rerennial tussock grasses: < 1% Perennial tussock grasses (declared povious): eliminated											
٩	Control pest animals (e.g.	rabbits bares foxes)	י היבודוומו נעסטיניג אימטיבט (עבנומו בע דוטאוטעט). פוודוודומנצע											
,	Feb-Apr, Sep-Nov or in accordance with annual works	Landholder to ensure annual works plan details target species, methods and timing of pest	Determine pest animal control requirements and record in annual works plan. A minimum requirement is quarterly spotlighting											
	plan	animal control Landholder to ensure pest animals are	searches. Treat pests with appropriate method at appropriate season, record											
		controlled using minimal impact methods and in accordance with OMP	results in accordance with annual works plan. A											





Management action	Timing of activity	Roles and responsibility	Management results to be achieved	Yr: 0 2019	2020	2 2021	3 2022	4 2023	5 2024	6 2025	7 2026	8 2027	9 2028	10 2029
		Landholder to ensure pest animal control starts in Year 1 and management target is met by the end of Year 10	Treatment methods will be in accordance with OMP and will not cause damage to the grassland. E.g. no ripping of rabbit warrens. Refer to DELWP (2015) for details on low-impact methods											
			Rabbit warrens fumigated within three weeks of detection.											
			Record any incidental sightings											
			 By end of Year 2, no active rabbit warrens within offset area, minimal surface harbour in the form of woody weeds 											
			 By end of year 10 there should be no fresh ground disturbance by pest animals (particularly rabbits) observed in the offset area or active rabbit warrens or fox dens. 											
10	Identify and control or eli	minate new or emerging threats												
	Routine monitoring, treatment as needed	Landholder to ensure routine inspections record any new or emerging threats.	Routine inspections undertaken according to OMP and all new and emerging threats are identified early.											
		Landholder to ensure incidental sightings of any new or emerging threats are recorded.	Identify correct treatment and treat infestation appropriately											
		Landholder to ensure appropriate treatment methods is identified and implemented where new threat is identified	For unknown weeds/pests, consult appropriately qualified person to establish identity											
			If possible, identify source of new infestation, change procedures to prevent further infestations if within control of Landholder											
			For unknown weeds/pests, consult appropriately qualified person to establish identity											
			Adaptive management used to update procedures in response to new or changing conditions											
			be eliminated. If already established, threat should be minimised to <1% cover											
			 Target to be achieved from Year 1 onwards: New weeds eliminated, emerging weed problems controlled to <1% cover, new pest animals eliminated 											
11	Use rotational cell grazing	g for biomass/weed control												
	Exclude grazing from 30th September to 31st January each year	Landholder to ensure rotational cell sheep grazing is in accordance with OMP at all times: Total vegetation cover of approx. 70% (maintain within range of 60 to 80%)	Annual works plan prepared prior to grazing period each year. Determine feed availability/target weed species and adapt grazing strategy to seasonal conditions, record strategy in annual works plan											
	Rotational cell grazing between 1 February to 30th September each year (grazing adapted to seasonal conditions within these dates)	Landholder to consult with TfN periodically to discuss effectiveness of grazing strategy	Use rotation cell grazing during grazing period to graze target weeds before seed set											
	Maximum grazing duration: 3 weeks	Landholder to ensure stocking rate and grazing duration are recorded	Record to be kept of stocking rate and grazing duration and compared with results of grazing in annual review											
	Minimum rest period: 6 weeks	Landholder to inspect results of grazing on regular basis (at least 6 times during grazing period and twice during exclusion period)	If needed, use strategic pulse grazing during exclusion period to control a specified weed problem in consultation with TfN											
			Adaptive management used to update procedures in response to new or changing conditions Targets to be maintained from Year 1 onwards:											
			 Inter-tussock space is maintained at 20 to 40% Organic litter is maintained at 5 to 15% 											
			Targets for weed cover to be achieve at end of Year 1 (as above)											
12	Ecological burning trial**				**									
	Sep-Oct or March - May (or as specified in the burn plan)	Landholder to develop trial burn plan in consultation with TfN and where necessary, CFA or ecological consultant	Determine appropriate location for ecological burning trial in consultation with TfN / ecologist and record in annual works plan											



Management action	Timing of activity	Roles and responsibility	Management results to be achieved	Yr: 0	1	2 2021	3 2022	4 2023	5 2024	6 2025	7 2026	8 2027	9 2028	10 2029
		Landholder to ensure all ecological burns are in accordance with the OMP	Undertake burning trial of up to 1.5 hectares, followed by 6 to 12 months grazing exclusion and follow up weed control											
		Landholder responsible for determining feasibility of larger burn in consultation with TfN based on results of trial	Data collected to determine that weed cover does not increase in burnt areas compared to unburnt areas											
			Review results of burning trial against management targets for ecological burn below and discuss feasibility with Trust for Nature and ecologist											
			Feasibility is determined for follow up weed control and grazing exclusion requirements prior to undertaking further ecological burning											
13	Ecological burning^^					~~								
	Sep-Oct or March - May (or as specified in the burn plan)	Landholder to develop burn plan in consultation with TfN and where necessary, CFA or ecological consultant	Determine appropriate location for ecological burning in consultation with TfN and/or ecologist and develop burn plan in accordance with OMP. Record burn plan in annual works plan											
		Landholder to ensure all ecological burns are in accordance with the OMP	Undertake burn in accordance with burn plan, followed by 6 to 12 months grazing exclusion and follow up weed control											
		Landholder to ensure all ecological burns are in accordance with the OMP	Undertake burning outside of declared fire danger period, followed by 6 to 12 months grazing exclusion and follow up weed control											
			Record burn area with GPS, record approximate coverage of burn within total burn area											
			Ecological monitoring to include review of burnt areas even if outside of control plots											
			Targets to be maintained from Year 1 onwards:											
			• No part of offset area burnt more than once every 2 years											
			 No more than 50% of offset area targeted for burning in any single year / At least 50% of offset area remains unburnt at any one time 											
			 Burns are undertaken in accordance with OMP 											
			 Weed cover does not increase in burnt areas compared to unburnt areas 											
			 Inter-tussock space is maintained at 20 to 40% 											
			 Organic litter is maintained at 5 to 15% 											
			Target for weed cover to be achieve at end of Year 10 (as above)											
14	Ecological monitoring													
	NTGVVP: Oct-early Dec GSM: flight season Nov-early Jan	Landholder to facilitate access to offset area for ecologists undertaking monitoring	Ecologist to establish monitoring plots and undertake baseline surveys in Year 0											
		Landholder to ensure any permanent markers of monitoring plots are not accidentally removed	data collected consistently to determine improvement in NTGVVP and GSM habitat, identify problems early, identify opportunities for adaptive management											
		DJCS to engage and fund ecological monitoring in accordance with the schedule in the OMP	Ecologist to review results of planned burns and provide advice on burn planning (as needed). Data collected to determine weed cover does not increase in burnt areas compared to unburnt areas											
			Ecologist to undertake GSM surveys during flight season at end of Years 1,3,5,7,9. Data collected consistently to determine improvement in GSM breeding population		(summer 2020/21)		(summer 2022/23)		(summer 2024/25)		(summer 2026/27)		(summer 2028/29)	
15	Trust for Nature routine i	nspections												
	Years 1, 3, 7 and 10 with at least one visit in spring	TfN will visit the Offset area a minimum of four times over the 10 year management period	Provide advice to landholder, ensure covenant is compliant											
16	Reporting													
	Ecological monitoring report - 15th January Landholder annual report - anniversary of OMP	Ecologist to prepare report and supply to Landholder and DJCS prior to start of grazing period each year	Ecologist to prepare report on ecological monitoring and planned burn advice as detailed above.											



Aanagement action	Timing of activity	Roles and responsibility	Management results to be achieved	Yr: 0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
<		Landholder to supply annual report to DJCS and TfN	Landholder to prepare annual report on based on records of works undertaken and routine inspections.	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025	2026	2027	2028	2029
		DJCS to supply all reports to DoEE in fulfilment of approval conditions	Report must demonstrate progress of offset area has been tracked regularly each year over the 10 year management period											
17	Emergency management													
	Immediately as needed	Landholder to report any incidents that could threaten NTGVVP or GSM to TfN with 24 hours	Identify and respond to emergency events according to Warrambeen emergency management plan											
		Landholder to report any incidents that could threaten NTGVVP or GSM to DJCS and DoEE within 5 days	Report any incidents that could threaten NTGVVP or GSM to TfN with 24 hours (03) 8631 5888											
			Report any incidents that could threaten NTGVVP or GSM to DJCS and DoEE within 5 days post.approvals@environment.gov.au											
18	Years 11+: Maintain an an	nual works plan as above for the ongo	ing maintenance of the condition											Start in Year 11
	Year 11 onwards	Landholder to maintain condition achieved at the end of Year 10	Develop annual works plan to ensure management actions continue to adapt to current conditions for weeds, pest animals and biomass control.											
		Landholder to consult with TfN periodically to discuss effectiveness of on-going management	Maintain fencing and signage.											
			• Continued protection of herb diversity and native tussock grass structure.											
			 Woody weeds maintained at <1% cover with no adult plants 											
			 Cover of herbaceous weeds does not increase beyond levels achieved at Year 10 											
			Pest animals do not increase beyond levels achieved at Year 10											
			Biomass is maintained to achieve >20 to 40% bare ground											
			Seek advice from TfN, CMA, ecologist or other contractor, if necessary											
19	19 Revise OMP in response to either ineffective management actions, or improve and development, or in response to an incident or emergency.		nents identified through on-ground evidence/external research											
	As needed	Landholder to Identify any incidents or ineffective management actions and revise OMP where these can't be addressed within adaptive management provisions	Revise OMP to address changed circumstances (e.g. wildfire), ineffective management actions or new research											
		DJCS to respond to any plan review request from DoEE	Apply to DoEE post-approvals to update OMP											
			Ensure OMP remains affective over time											



Appendix 2 DoEE Risk matrix

A4.1 Risk Framework

		Consequence				
		Minor	Moderate	High	Major	Critical
	Highly Likely	Medium	High	High	Severe	Severe
	Likely	Low	Medium	High	High	Severe
	Possible	Low	Medium	Medium	High	Severe
hood	Unlikely	Low	Low	Medium	High	High
Likeli	Rare	Low	Low	Low	Medium	High

A4.2 Likelihood

Qualitative measure of likelihood (how likely is it that this event/circumstances will occur after **management actions** have been put in place/are being implemented

Highly Likely	Is expected to occur in most circumstances
Likely	Will probably occur during the life of the project
Possible	Might occur during the life of the project
Unlikely	Could occur but considered unlikely
Rare	May occur in exceptional circumstances

A4.3 Consequence

Qualitative measure of consequences (what will be the consequence / result if the issue does occur)						
Minor	Minor Incident of environmental damage that can be reversed					
Moderate	Isolated but substantial instances of environmental damage that could be reversed with intensive efforts					
High	Substantial instances of environmental damage that could be reversed with intensive effort					
Major	Major loss of environmental amenity and real danger of continuing					
Critical	Severe widespread loss of environmental amenity and irrecoverable environmental damage					



71



Appendix 3 Flora species recorded in 2018

Notes to tables:

EPBC Act:	DEPI 2014a:	
CR - Critically Endangered	e - endangered	
EN - Endangered	v - vulnerable	
VU - Vulnerable	r - rare	
PMST – Protected Matters Search Tool	k - poorly known	
FFG Act: L - listed as threatened under FFG Act P - protected under the FFG Act (public land only)	Noxious weed status:SP- State prohibited speciesRP- Regionally prohibited speciesRC- Regionally controlled speciesR- Restricted species#- Native species outside natural range	

A3.1 Flora species recorded from the Offset area

Note that this list is for information purposes only, it is not an exhaustive list of all species that currently occur within the **Offset area** or may occur in the future. Weed monitoring should include the possibility of new species entering the **Offset area** that are not listed in the table below.

Table A3.1 Flora species recorded from the study area

Status	Scientific Name	Common Name
Indigenous species		
	Acaena echinata	Sheep's Burr
	Anthosachne scabra s.s.	Common Wheat-grass
	Arthropodium strictum s.s.	Chocolate Lily
	Asperula conferta	Common Woodruff



Status	Scientific Name	Common Name
	Austrostipa spp.	Spear Grass
Р	Calocephalus citreus	Lemon Beauty-heads
	Carex inversa	Knob Sedge
Р	Cheilanthes austrotenuifolia	Green Rock-fern
Р	Chrysocephalum sp. 1	Plains Everlasting
	Convolvulus angustissimus subsp. angustissimus	Blushing Bindweed
k	Convolvulus angustissimus subsp. omnigracilis	Slender Bindweed
L, P, e	Cullen parvum	Small Scurf-pea
	Dichondra repens	Kidney-weed
	Drosera aberrans	Scented Sundew
	Eryngium ovinum	Blue Devil
Р	Euchiton japonicus s.s.	Creeping Cudweed
	Geranium retrorsum s.s.	Grassland Crane's-bill
	Goodenia pinnatifida	Cut-leaf Goodenia
	Hydrocotyle sibthorpioides	Shining Pennywort
	<i>Juncus</i> sp. (subgenus Genuini)	Rush
	Juncus subsecundus	Finger Rush
Р	Leptorhynchos squamatus	Scaly Buttons
	Lobelia pratioides	Poison Lobelia
	Lomandra filiformis	Wattle Mat-rush
	Melicytus dentatus s.s.	Tree Violet
	Microlaena stipoides var. stipoides	Weeping Grass
	Oxalis perennans	Grassland Wood-sorrel
	Pauridia glabella var. glabella	Tiny Star
CR, L, P, e	Pimelea spinescens subsp. spinescens	Spiny Rice-flower
	Plantago gaudichaudii	Narrow Plantain
	Poa labillardierei	Common Tussock-grass
	Poa morrisii	Soft Tussock-grass
	Poa rodwayi	Velvet Tussock-grass
	Poa sieberiana	Grey Tussock-grass
	Rumex brownii	Slender Dock
	Rumex dumosus	Wiry Dock
	Rytidosperma spp.	Wallaby Grass
	Schoenus apogon	Common Bog-sedge



Status	Scientific Name	Common Name
Р	Solenogyne dominii	Smooth Solenogyne
	Themeda triandra	Kangaroo Grass
	Tricoryne elatior	Yellow Rush-lily
	Veronica gracilis	Slender Speedwell
	Wahlenbergia communis s.s.	Tufted Bluebell
	Wahlenbergia luteola	Bronze Bluebell
	Wahlenbergia multicaulis	Branching Bluebell
Introduced species		
	Acetosella vulgaris	Sheep Sorrel
	Agrostis capillaris	Brown-top Bent
	Arctotheca calendula	Cape Weed
	Briza maxima	Large Quaking-grass
	Bromus hordeaceus subsp. hordeaceus	Soft Brome
RR	Carthamus lanatus	Saffron Thistle
RR	Cirsium vulgare	Spear Thistle
	Cynosurus echinatus	Rough Dog's-tail
	Dactylis glomerata	Cocksfoot
	Erodium botrys	Big Heron's-bill
	Hypochaeris radicata	Flatweed
	Leontodon taraxacoides subsp. taraxacoides	Hairy Hawkbit
RC	Lycium ferocissimum	African Box-thorn
RC	Marrubium vulgare	Horehound
RC	Nassella trichotoma	Serrated Tussock
	Phalaris aquatica	Toowoomba Canary-grass
	Plantago coronopus	Buck's-horn Plantain
	Prunus cerasifera	Cherry Plum
RC	Rosa rubiginosa	Sweet Briar
	Rumex crispus	Curled Dock
	Trifolium angustifolium var. angustifolium	Narrow-leaf Clover
	Trifolium subterraneum	Subterranean Clover
	Vulpia spp.	Fescue
RC	Xanthium spinosum	Bathurst Burr



Appendix 4 Quality scoring methods

NTGVVP

Quality improvement will be measured using the Habitat Hectares method at each of the permanent monitoring plots and as an average **Quality** for the whole area. Habitat Hectares is easily converted to a score out of 10 as shown in the Table below. The NTGVVP **Quality** scoring method was used to obtain the **Quality** score of the **Offset area** in the Offsets Assessment Guide and should be replicated to determine the final **Quality** score. Where the score is a decimal, it is rounded to the nearest whole number for entry into the Offsets Assessment Guide. Scores with a decimal place value of less than 0.5 are rounded down, scores with a decimal place value of 0.5 or above are rounded up.

Parameter	COMPonents measured	Max. Habitat Hectares score	Equivalent Quality score
Site context	Number of species, cover and diversity of lifeforms Percentage of weed cover moderated by percentage of high threat weed cover Percentage of recruitment area scaled by herb diversity Percentage cover of organic litter scaled to litter type (native/non-native)	75/100	7.5/10
Site condition & stocking rate equivalent	Size of patch Neighbourhood measured as percentage of surrounding area Distance to large areas of native vegetation (>50 ha)	25/100	2.5/10
Total score		100/100	10/10

Table A5.1 Habitat Hectares score conversion to Quality score out of 10



GSM habitat

Quality improvement will be measured using the **NTGVVP** results for site score described above and the results of targeted surveys for **GSM**.

The scoring methods used to obtain the **Quality** score of the **Offset area** in the Offsets Assessment Guide is shown in Table xx and should be replicated to determine the final **Quality** score.

TableA5.2	GSM habitat	Quality sco	ring system as	s advised by	DoEE (pers.	comm. 2019)
-----------	--------------------	--------------------	----------------	--------------	-------------	-------------

Parameter	Scoring system
Site context (max. 3 points)	 0/3 = Habitat patch¹ size <0.25 ha.² 1/3 = Habitat patch size more than 0.25 ha and up to 10 ha.² 2/3 = Habitat patch size more than 10 ha, shaped appropriately³ to reduce edge effects.² 3/3 = Habitat patch size more than 10 ha, shaped appropriately to reduce edge effects, slightly sloped (3° or less) and north-facing, minimal shading.
Site condition (max. 3 points)	 0/3 = dominated by introduced vegetation that is not a known food source. 1/3 = dominated by poor condition native vegetation (VQA site condition score up to 30/75) including <20% cover known food source, or dominated by introduced vegetation that is a known food source (i.e. Chilean needle grass) where the species stocking rate⁴ is less than 20 moths per hectare. 2/3 = dominated by moderate condition native vegetation (VQA site condition score 31-45/75) including between 20% and 40% cover known food source with limited inter-tussock space (<5%), or dominated by introduced vegetation that is a known food source (i.e. Chilean needle grass) where the species stocking rate⁴ is greater than 20 moths per hectare. 3/3 = dominated by high conservation value native vegetation (VQA site condition score 46+/75) including >40% cover known food source and appropriate inter-tussock space.
Species stocking rate4,5 (max. 4 points)	 0/4 = species not present 1/4 = 0-5 males per hectare 2/4 = >5-20 males per hectare 3/4 = >20-50 males per hectare 4/4 = >50 males per hectare

Total (out of 10)

¹A patch is considered to be an area of **GSM habitat** separated from other areas of suitable habitat by >200m of unsuitable habitat, or barriers to flight (e.g. buildings, solid fences). A habitat patch should not be defined by administrative boundaries such as farm fencing, title or lot boundaries if habitat is continuous on either side of the boundary. According to the guidelines, if the amount of **GSM habitat** adjoining the site of the action cannot be determined, the area of habitat will be considered to be the same as that identified within the site.

²Add 1 point (up to a maximum of 3) where a patch is an occupied linkage between 2 populations. ³Assessed on a case by case basis.

⁴Stocking rate (measured as males per hectare) calculated as: total number of males recorded across four surveys in one flight season divided by area of habitat surveyed (with survey area confirmed with GPS tracks). It is not expected that results can be extrapolated across unsurveyed areas unless justification is given (e.g. the surveyed area is a sub-sample of the total area). Stocking rate calculations to be rounded up if required.

⁵It is expected that impact and offset sites to be surveyed on four occasions during the flying season and the survey results to be summed (consistent with survey guidelines). Justification will need to be provided to the Department to support proceeding in the absence of suitable survey effort.

For clarity, if lower survey effort than four complete surveys is accepted, the Department will consider:

- For impact sites: the highest recorded density is assumed to be the remaining score (e.g. if three surveys detect 5, 10, 15 males/ha, the assumed score for the last survey is 15 males/ha).
- For offset sites: the lowest record is assumed to be the remaining score (e.g. if three surveys detect 5, 10, 15 males/ha, the assumed score for the last survey is 5 males/ha).

For either type of site, if one survey records 5 males/ha, then assumed total of four surveys is 20 males/ha.



Appendix 5 Glossary of terms

Benchmark*

A standard vegetation –quality reference point, dependent on vegetation type, which is applied in Habitat hectare assessments. Represents the average characteristics of a mature and apparently long undisturbed state of the same vegetation type.

Biodiversity*

The variety of all life forms, the different plants, animals and microorganisms, the genes they contain, and the ecosystems of which they form a part.

Bioregion*

Biogeographic areas that capture the patterns of ecological characteristics in the landscape or seascape, providing a natural framework for recognising and responding to biodiversity values. A landscape based approach to classifying the land surface using a range of environmental attributes such as climate, geomorphology, lithology and vegetation.

BushBroker

A program coordinated by DELWP to match parties that require native vegetation offsets with third party suppliers of native vegetation offsets.

Ecological vegetation class (EVC)*

A native vegetation type classified on the basis of a combination of its floristic, life form, environmental and ecological characteristics.

EPBC Act

Environmental Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999

Gain

Predicted improvement in the contribution to Victoria's biodiversity achieved from an offset, calculated by combining site gain with the strategic biodiversity score or habitat importance score of the site. Gain is measured with biodiversity equivalence scores or units.

Habitat hectares*

Combined measure of condition and extent of native vegetation. This measure is obtained by multiplying the site's condition score (measured between 0 and 1) with the area of the site (in hectares).

Habitat score*

The score assigned to a habitat zone that indicates the quality of the vegetation relative to the ecological vegetation class benchmark – sum of the site condition score and landscape context score, usually expressed as a percentage or on a scale of 0 to 1.

Habitat zone*

A discrete area of native vegetation consisting of a single vegetation type (EVC) within an assumed similar quality. This is the base spatial unit for conducting a Habitat hectare assessment. Separate *Vegetation Quality Assessments* (or Habitat hectare assessments) are conducted for each habitat zone within the designated assessment area.

Indigenous vegetation*

The type of native vegetation that would have normally been expected to occur on the site prior to European settlement.

Offset*

Protection and management (including revegetation) of native vegetation at a site to generate a gain in the contribution that native vegetation makes to Victoria's biodiversity. An offset is used to compensate for the loss to Victoria's biodiversity from the removal of native vegetation.



Offset Management Plan (OMP)

A document which sets out the requirements for establishment, protection and management of an offset site.

Site

An area of land that contains contiguous patches of native vegetation or scattered trees, within the same ownership.

Site gain

Predicted improvement in the condition, or the condition and extent, of native vegetation at a site (measured in Habitat hectares) generated by the landowner committing to active management and increased security.

Recruitment*

The production of new generations of plants, either by allowing natural ecological processes to occur (regeneration etc.), by facilitating such processes such as regeneration to occur, or by actively revegetating (replanting, reseeding). See Revegetation.

Remnant vegetation*

Native vegetation that is established or has regenerated on a largely natural landform. The species present are those normally expected in that vegetation community. Largely natural landforms may have been subject to some past surface disturbance such as some clearing or cultivation (or even the activities of the nineteenth century gold rushes) but do not include man-made structures such as dam walls and quarry floors.

Understorey*

Understorey is all vegetation other than mature canopy trees – includes immature trees, shrubs, grasses, herbs, mosses, lichens and soil crust. It does not include dead plant material that is not attached to a living plant. More information on understorey life forms is set out in the Vegetation Quality Assessment Manual (DSE 2004).



EPBC Act referral 2017/8049 Youth Justice Redevelopment Project, Cherry Creek:

Offset Management Plan for NTGVVP and Golden Sun Moth habitat:

346 Carngham Streatham Road, Chepstowe

Prepared for Department of Justice and Community Safety

24 January 2020

📣 biosis.

Biosis offices

NEW SOUTH WALES

Albury Phone: (02) 6069 9200 Email: <u>albury@biosis.com.au</u>

Newcastle Phone: (02) 4911 4040 Email: <u>newcastle@biosis.com.au</u>

Sydney Phone: (02) 9101 8700 Email: sydney@biosis.com.au

Western Sydney

Phone: (02) 9101 8700 Email: <u>westernsydneyoffice@biosis.com.au</u>

Wollongong Phone: (02) 4201 1090 Email: wollongong@biosis.com.au

VICTORIA

Ballarat Phone: (03) 5304 4250 Email: <u>ballarat@biosis.com.au</u>

Melbourne (Head Office) Phone: (03) 8686 4800 Email: <u>melbourne@biosis.com.au</u>

Wangaratta

Phone: (03) 5718 6900 Email: <u>wangaratta@biosis.com.au</u>

Document information

Report to:	Department of Justice and Community Safety
Prepared by:	Shana Nerenberg and Steve Mueck
Biosis project no.:	25271
File name:	25271.Chepstowe.OMP.FIN.24012020
Citation:	Biosis 2020. EPBC Act referral 2017/8049 Youth Justice Redevelopment Project, Cherry Creek: Offset Management Plan for NTGVVP and Golden Sun Moth habitat: Chepstowe, 346 Carngham Streatham Road, Chepstowe 3351. Report for Department of Justice and Community Safety. Authors: Mueck S & Nerenberg S Biosis Pty Ltd, Melbourne. Project no. 25271.

Document control

Version	Internal reviewer	Date issued
Draft version 01	SCC	24/04/2018
Draft version 02 (minor updates)	SGM	04/02/2019
Draft version 03 (major revision)	SN	22/01/2020
Final version 01 (minor updates following DoEE review)	SN	24/01/2020

Acknowledgements

Biosis acknowledges the contribution of the following people and organisations in undertaking this study:

- Department of Justice and Community Safety: Kym Hilliard, Dijana Dragovic, Garry Jackson and Samantha Morgan
- Landholder: Neville Oddie
- Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning for access to the Victorian Biodiversity Atlas

Biosis staff involved in this project were:

Sonika Kumar (mapping)

© Biosis Pty Ltd

This document is and shall remain the property of Biosis Pty Ltd. The document may only be used for the purposes for which it was commissioned and in accordance with the Terms of the Engagement for the commission. Unauthorised use of this document in any form whatsoever is prohibited. Disclaimer:

Biosis Pty Ltd has completed this assessment in accordance with the relevant federal, state and local legislation and current industry best practice. The company accepts no liability for any damages or loss incurred as a result of reliance placed upon the report content or for any purpose other than that for which it was intended.



Contents

Dec	laratio	n of accuracy	1
Sum	mary		2
Stru	cture	of this document	4
Defi	nition	of terms	5
1.	Intro	oduction	7
	1.1	Background information / description of the action	7
	1.2	Purpose	9
	1.3	Objectives	9
	1.4	Approval conditions	10
	1.5	Roles and responsibilities	11
	1.6	Other offset requirements	13
	1.7	OMP commencement	13
	1.8	Financial disclaimer	14
2.	Offs	et area description	15
	2.1	Environmental offsets requirements	15
	2.2	Description of the Offset area	15
		2.2.1 Location and surrounding land uses	15
		2.2.2 Size	16
		2.2.3 General description of environmental values present – North Offset area	18
		2.2.4 General description of environmental values present – South Offset area	19
	2.3	Current condition	
		2.3.1 Vegetation current condition	
		2.3.2 GSM habitat current condition	
	2.4	Suitability of Offset area to provide a conservation gain	
		2.4.1 Current permitted land uses	
		2.4.2 Exemptions for minor native vegetation removal	
	25	2.4.5 Existing onset an angements	25
	2.5	Specific objectives and key performance indicators	25
	2.0	Measuring improvement in Quality	23
	2.7	2.7.1 Vegetation condition	27
		2.7.2 GSM habitat	
	2.8	Limitations and uncertainty	
3.	Man	agement commitments and actions	31
	31	Management commitments	21
	3.2	Offset area management strategy	
	3.3	Offset area protection (security)	
		1 5 77	



3.4	Offset area protection (threat abatement)	
	3.4.1 Boundary fencing	
	3.4.2 Temporary fencing to aid conservation management	35
	3.4.3 Other farm infrastructure	
	3.4.4 Signage and access control	
3.5	Offset area improvement (Year 1 to Year 10)	
3.6	Annual works plan	
3.7	Strategy for biomass / organic litter control	
	3.7.1 Grazing for biomass / organic matter control (North Offset area only)	37
	3.7.2 Conversion to pulse grazing (North Offset area only)	
	3.7.3 Adaptive management of grazing (North Offset area only)	
	3.7.4 Grazing protocol for exclusion period strategic grazing (North Offset area only)	39
3.8	Use of fire for ecological management	40
	3.8.1 South Offset area – ecological burning for biomass control	40
	3.8.2 North Offset area – ecological burning for biomass control	41
	3.8.3 General ecological burning requirements	41
3.9	Slashing for biomass and weed control	42
3.10	Weed control	43
	3.10.1 Woody weeds	46
	3.10.2 Annual weeds	
	3.10.3 High threat herbaceous weeds (perennial tussock grasses, perennial broad-leaved weeds)	
	3.10.4 Use of herbicide	47
	3.10.5 Options for control of Brown-top Bent	47
	3.10.6 New and emerging weed problems	48
3.11	Pest animals	
3.12	Understorey diversity and recruitment	49
3.13	Offset area maintenance (Year 11-onwards)	49
3.14	Contractor requirements	50
	3.14.1 Required qualifications	
	3.14.2 Required independence	51
	3.14.3 Site inductions	51
	3.14.4 Contracts	51
Mon	itoring actions	52
4.1	Routine inspections undertaken by landholder	52
	4.1.1 Records of management works	
	4.1.2 Records of routine inspections	52
4.2	Routine visits and oversight provided by Trust for Nature	53
4.3	Ecological monitoring undertaken by qualified ecologists	54
	4.3.1 Control plots	54
	4.3.2 NTGVVP condition	54
	4.3.3 Golden Sun Moth monitoring	55

4.



		4.3.4 Monitoring report	56
		4.3.5 Independent audits	56
	4.4	Reporting	56
5.	Risk	assessment and adaptive management	58
	5.1	Risk assessment	58
	5.2	Emergency management	58
	5.3	Emergency Contacts and procedures	
	5.4	Emergency contact details	59
	5.5	Review of OMP	59
Refe	rence	S	64
Арре	endice	95	66
Арре	endix	1 Schedule of management actions	67
Арре	endix	2 DoEE Risk matrix	73
Арре	endix	3 Flora species recorded in 2018	74
Арре	endix 4	4 Quality scoring methods	78
Арре	endix !	5 Glossary of terms	80

Tables

Table 1	Development Site Details	7
Table 2	Offset area responsibilities	12
Table 3	Offset area and property details	18
Table 4	Habitat Hectares results, Chepstowe	22
Table 5	GSM habitat condition results, Chepstowe Property	22
Table 6	Chepstowe GSM habitat Quality score – North Offset area	23
Table 7	Chepstowe GSM habitat Quality score – South Offset area	23
Table 8	Offset area management specific objectives and Key performance indicators	26
Table 9	Vegetation condition target improvement Habitat hectares scores (bold scores show improvement, italicised scores are mainentance)	28
Table 10	Chepstowe GSM habitat Quality score improvement target – North Offset area	29
Table 11	Chepstowe GSM habitat Quality score improvement target – South Offset area	29
Table 12	On-title conservation covenant arrangements	
Table 13	Requirements and limit of grazing activities within the Offset area	
Table 14	Management targets for weed control – South Offset area	44
Table 15	Management targets for weed control – North Offset area	45
Table 16	Summary of on-going management actions (Year 11 onwards)	50
Table 17	Routine inspection requirements each quarter	53
Table 18	Risk assessment of potential hazards as defined by Key Performance Indicators	60



Figures

Figure 1	Location of the Youth Justice Redevelopment Project, Cherry Creek, Victoria	8
Figure 2	Location of the Chepstowe Offset area, Chepstowe, Victoria	17
Figure 3	Ecological features and proposed Offset area at Chepstowe, Chepstowe, Victoria	21
Figure 4	Specific objectives and their relationship to the management commitments	25



Declaration of accuracy

Youth Justice Redevelopment Project, Cherry Creek,

Victoria

EPBC 2017/8049

In making this declaration, I am aware that section 491 of the *Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999* (Cth) (EPBC Act) makes it an offence in certain circumstances to knowingly provide false or misleading information or documents to specified persons who are known to be performing a duty or carrying out a function under the EPBC Act or the Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Regulations 2000 (Cth). The offence is punishable on conviction by imprisonment or a fine, or both. I am authorised to bind the approval holder to this declaration and that I have no knowledge of that authorisation being revoked at the time of making this declaration.

Signed

2-1->

Shana Nerenberg Consultant Botanist Biosis Pty Ltd 24/01/2019



Summary

Biosis Pty Ltd was commissioned by the Department of Justice and Community Safety (DJCS) to prepare an **Offset Management Plan (OMP)** for the Youth Justice Redevelopment Project (YJRP), Cherry Creek, Victoria. The YJRP was declared a controlled action under the EPBC Act and assessed via preliminary documentation. The controlled action was approved by the Minister for the Environment on 20 November 2018.

The purpose of this **OMP** is to describe how the DJCS will meet approval Condition 6 and Condition 7 for the provision of Environmental Offsets under the approval conditions for *Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999* (EPBC Act) referral number 2017/8049. This **OMP** will demonstrate how the Environmental Offsets will compensate for the loss of 28.23 hectares of **Natural Temperate Grassland of the Victorian Volcanic Plain (NTGVVP)** and 35.66 hectares of **Golden Sun Moth (GSM)** habitat consistent with the **EPBC Act Environmental Offsets Policy**. In summary, these conditions will be met in part by securing for conservation and improving the condition of 47.13 hectares of **GSM habitat** concurrent with 22.33 hectares of **NTGVVP** within a new third party **Offset area** located at the property called *'Chepstowe'*, 346 Carngham Streatham Road, Chepstowe 3351, Victoria, 95 kilometres north west of the development site.

The **specific objectives** for the **Offset area** result from the inputs into and the outputs from the Offsets Assessment Guide. The **specific objectives** form the basis of the **management commitments** that the Landholder has agreed to when reviewing earlier versions of this **OMP**. The **management commitments** will be implemented on the ground using defined **management actions** that are practical and feasible within an agricultural context. Each of the individual **management actions** will have a management target based on maintenance or improvement of the current condition of the **Offset area**.

The **specific objectives** of the **Offset area** will be assessed using the following **key performance indicators**:

- Permanent legal protection of 47.13 ha of **GSM habitat** concurrent with 22.33 hectares of **NTGVVP** via **Trust for Nature** covenant.
- Permanent exclusion of all agricultural practices except as described in this **OMP**.
- Completion of the 10-year program of intensive management, including monitoring and reporting.
- Improving the Quality of GSM habitat from 7 (out of 10) to 8 (out of 10).
- Improving the Quality of NTGVVP from 6 (out of 10) to 7 (out of 10).
- Annual works plan in place for on-going management actions from Year 11 onwards.

The broad approach of the **management actions** is to produce a decrease in the abundance of perennial weeds and maintain open grassland conditions that are suitable for the recruitment (seed production, germination and growth) of native plant species. While decreasing weed cover is an improvement in itself, it is anticipated that this will be accompanied by a commensurate increase in the abundance of native grasses and herbs. The increased abundance of native grasses will also improve food availability for **GSM**.

A risk assessment has been undertaken to address potential threats to the success of the **Offset area**. Surveillance of the **Offset area** is an integral component of risk management for the **Offset area** and includes both routine inspections by the Landholder and ecological monitoring by a qualified ecologist. These activities allow for early identification of changes, appropriate and timely management responses, and adaptive management to changing conditions. Regular reporting to regulatory bodies will track the improvement of the **Offset area** over time.

Schedules for **management actions**, monitoring and reporting are provided at the end of this document. The table on the following page summarises the **OMP specific objectives**, **key performance indicators** (KPIs) and **management actions** to be implemented according to the details in this **OMP**.



Specific objective	Offsets Assessment Guide	KPI / Measureable target	Management actions		
			Upon commencement	Year 1 to Year 10	Year 11 onwards
Offset area protection (security)	Provide 47.13 ha Offset area	On-title protection via Trust for Nature covenant	Register Trust for Nature covenant on- title		
Offset area protection (threat abatement)	Risk of loss reduced from 10% to 1%	 No loss of NTGVVP and GSM habitat or preventable weed introductions over 20 year time horizon of OMP No unauthorised access or unapproved works within offset area 	Exclude all agricultural practices except those in accordance with OMP	Routine inspections and maintenance of: • Fencing • Signage and access	Routine inspections and maintenance of: • Fencing • Information and access
Offset area improvement	Quality score of GSM habitat improved from 7/10 to 8/10. Quality score of NTGVVP improved from 6/10 to 7/10.	 Average Habitat Hectares score improves by at least 10 points for NTGVVP Average Site score improves by at least 10 points for GSM habitat GSM stocking rate is maintained or improved 	Conversion from passive management to active management: • Signage & markers • Convert to active weed control • Install monitoring plots	Intensive program of management actions for: • Weeds • Pest animals • Biomass & organic litter • Routine inspections by Landholder and Trust for Nature. • Ecological monitoring of GSM	
Offset area maintenance	Quality score achieved at the end of Year 10 maintained from Year 11 onwards	Habitat Hectares score and GSM stocking rate achieved at the end of Year 10 maintained			Maintenance of Year-10 condition with annual works plan for: • Weeds • Pest animals • Biomass & organic litter • Routine inspections by Landholder and Trust for Nature

Summary Table Specific objectives, KPIs and management actions



Structure of this document

The structure and content of the **Offset Management Plan** (**OMP**) is organised as follows: Sections 1 and 2 are aimed at technical professionals at DoEE, DJCS, and ecologists undertaking monitoring of the **Offset area**; meanwhile, Sections 3, 4 and 5 are also aimed at the Landholder who will implement the **OMP** as well as technical professionals. Appendix 1 is contains the detailed schedule of **management actions**, including monitoring and reporting, to enable implementation of the **OMP**.

- **1. Introduction:** summarises the background information leading up to the requirement for this **OMP**, including the purpose and scope of the **OMP** and who is responsible for its implementation.
- **2. Offset area description:** provides information about the property on which the offset is located and describes the **Offset area** itself. This section also defines the **specific objectives** as they arise from the Offset Assessment Guide, rather than detailed management targets.
- **3. Specific management actions:** details the **management actions** to achieve the **specific objectives** of the **OMP** including weed, pest and biomass control targets.
- **4. Monitoring actions:** describes how the progress of the **Offset area** will be tracked over the 10 year timeframe to achieve the **specific objectives**.
- **5. Risk assessment and adaptive management:** details how management of the **Offset area** will adapt to changes conditions, the results of monitoring and any unforeseen events or **Incidents**.
- Appendices: provides schedule for management actions and background information.

For terms in **bold**, a list of terms and their definitions is provided on the following page. A glossary of technical terms used throughout this **OMP** is provided in Appendix 5.



Definition of terms

The following terms are defined in the EPBC Act approval:

Credit Trading Agreement means a legal agreement between the approval holder, **Trust for Nature** and the owner of the **Offset area** to outline the arrangements for the **Offset area** in accordance with the **Offset Management Plan.**

Conservation covenant means a binding agreement registered on the title of the property that provides enduring protection of the environmental values of the property.

Environmental services means services including: (i) entering into and registering a **conservation covenant** over the **Offset area**; and, (ii) managing the **Offset area** in accordance with the **Offset Management Plan.**

EPBC Act Environmental Offsets Policy means the *Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999 Environmental Offsets Policy*, October 2013 or any document published by the Australian Government which supersedes this document.

Golden Sun Moth or GSM means the EPBC Act listed threatened species Synemon plana.

Golden Sun Moth habitat or **GSM habitat** means the habitat for the **Golden Sun Moth** as defined in the species *approved conservation advice*.

Incident means any event which has the potential to, or does, impact on protected matter(s).

Independent audit(s): means an audit conducted by an independent and **suitably qualified person** as detailed in the *Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999 Independent Audit and Audit Report Guidelines* (2015).

Monitoring data means the data required to be recorded under the conditions of this approval.

Natural Temperate Grassland of the Victorian Volcanic Plain or **NTGVVP** means the **EPBC Act** listed ecological community: the **Natural Temperate Grassland of the Victorian Volcanic Plain** ecological community.

Offset area means the area of land to be secured and managed for **NTGVVP** and/or **Golden Sun Moth** habitat.

Offset Management Plan or **OMP** means the document outlining the management and protection of the **Offset area**, or any subsequent version approved by the **Minister** under section 143A of the **EPBC Act.**

Preliminary Documentation means the document titled *Youth Justice Redevelopment Project, Cheery Creek, Victoria: Preliminary Documentation EPBC Referral number: 2017/8048* and dated 9 August 2018, inclusive of *Appendices 1-15*, provided to the **Department** on 13 August 2018.

Protected matter(s) means a matter protected under a controlling provision in Part 3 of the **EPBC Act** for which this approval has effect.

Suitably qualified person means a person who has professional qualifications, training, skills and/or experience related to the nominated subject matter and can give authoritative independent assessment, advice and analysis on performance relative to the subject matter using the relevant protocols, standards, methods and/or literature.

Trust for Nature means the Victorian based not-for-profit organisation working to protect native plants and wildlife in cooperation with private landowners (ABN: 60 292 993 543).



The following terms are defined below for use in this OMP:

Key performance indicator or **KPI** means a measureable change that provides evidence that the **Offset area** has achieved/is progressing towards achieving the **specific objectives**.

Management commitment(s) means the overall changes to land management practices that will be undertaken by the Landholder within the **Offset area**.

Management action(s) means the works that will be undertaken within the **Offset area** to improve and maintain **GSM habitat** within the **Offset area**.

Management target means a measureable change that provides evidence that the **management action** has achieved/is progressing towards achieving the improvement in **GSM habitat.**

Quality means the score out of 10 used in the Offset Assessment Guide to define the conservation values present within an area of Listed threatened species habitat or ecological community.

Specific objectives means the requirements for the performance of the **Offset area** as defined by the Offsets Assessment Guide.

The following list of the entities are referred to in this document:

Department of Justice and Community Safety (DJCS) means the Victorian government department responsible for correctional facilities (regardless of the name of the department). At the time the EPBC Act approval 2017/8049 was granted, this department was called Department of Justice and Regulation (DJR). The name of the department may undergo further changes throughout the life of this document but the department responsible for correctional facilities will remain the approval holder.

Department of Environment and Energy (DoEE) means the Commonwealth Government department responsible for the Environment *Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999* (EPBC Act). The name of the department may undergo changes throughout the life of this document but it is assumed the department responsible for the EPBC Act will remain the regulator of the approval.

Trust for Nature (TfN) means the statutory body enacted under the *Victorian Conservation Trusts Act 1972* and is responsible to covenants enacted as a result of that Act. Regardless of any future name changes, this document assumes that a successor organisation would take responsibility for and be bound by the covenants should TfN be dissolved.

Landholder means the current or future owner of the **Offset area** or their legal representative or their delegate, where the delegate is the person responsible for land management within the **Offset area** (e.g. farm manager).

Chepstowe means the name of the property currently owned by Neville Oddie where 346 Carngham Streatham Road, Chepstowe, 3351 is one of the land titles and is the location of the **Offset area**. Note that Chepstowe is also the name of the locality but is not bolded throughout the document.



1. Introduction

1.1 Background information / description of the action

The Department of Justice and Community Safety (DJCS) is undertaking the Youth Justice Redevelopment Project (YJRP) at Cherry Creek, Victoria (Figure 1). The YJRP was declared a controlled action under the *Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999* (EPBC Act) and assessed via **Preliminary Documentation** (EPBC Act referral number 2017/8049). An ecological assessment of the development site and an environmental impact assessment of the YJRP was provided in the **Preliminary Documentation** by which EPBC Act referral 2017/8049 was assessed. The controlling provisions on the action are summarised as significant impacts on *Listed Threatened Species and Communities* protected under Section 18 and Section 18A of the EPBC Act. A second controlling provision, *Wetlands of international importance*, does not have any relevance to this document or environmental offsets associated with the YJRP and is not mentioned further.

The impacts on *Listed Threatened Species and Communities* were described in detail in the **Preliminary Documentation** and are summarised here. The **Preliminary Documentation** identified that there would be a significant impact on two Matters of National Environmental Significance (MNES):

- 28.225 ha Temperate Grassland of the Victorian Volcanic Plain (NTGVVP)
- 36.67 ha Habitat for Golden Sun Moth Synemon plana (GSM).

The total impact area of NTGVPP was considered to be **GSM habitat** (Figure 1) with an additional 7.366 hectares of predominantly introduced vegetation and poor condition native vegetation also identified as **GSM habitat**.

The **Quality** (measured out of 10) of the **NTGVVP** varied within the development site. The majority of the **NTGVVP** was assessed as **Quality** 6 (out of 10), with small areas along the access road assessed as **Quality** 3 (out of 10). The **Quality** of **GSM habitat** varied according to the condition of the vegetation. Of the total of 36.6 hectares of **GSM habitat**, approximately 20% of the development site was **GSM habitat** of **Quality** 3 (out of 10), a small section supported **Quality** 4 (out of 10), and approximately 80% of the development site supported **GSM habitat** of **Quality** 5 (out of 10) (Figure 1).

The proposed controlled action was approved by the Minister for the Environment on 20 November 2018. The approval has effect until 1 November 2035. The details of the development site are provided Table 1.

Site details:			
Applicant	Department of Justice and Community Safety		
Location/address of Development Site	215 Farm Road Cocoroc 3030		
Local Government Area	City of Wyndham		
Catchment Management Authority	Port Phillip and Western Port		
Responsible Authority	Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning		
Planning Scheme Amendment (ID)	Wyndham C222		
Date Planning Scheme Amendment approved	18 October 2018		
EPBC Act referral	2017/8049		
Date Controlled Action approved	20 November 2018		

Table 1 Development Site Details





1.2 Purpose

The purpose of this **OMP** is to describe how Condition 6 and Condition 7 for the provision of Environmental Offsets under EPBC Act referral 2017/8049 (reproduced below) will be met in part by an **Offset area** established at the property called **Chepstowe**. The **specific objectives** of this **OMP** are as follows:

- Offset area protection (security): In-perpetuity, legal protection of the conservation values of the Offset area.
- **Offset area protection (threat abatement):** in-perpetuity **management commitments** for removing the threats posed by agricultural production and current land use rights.
- Offset area improvement: An intensive 10-year program of management actions to be implemented from the commencement of the OMP to improve NTGVVP and GSM habitat Quality.
- **Offset area maintenance:** In-perpetuity **management actions** that will ensure that the improvement achieved in the first 10 years of the **OMP** is maintained over time.

The **management actions** are described in the sections that follow and are supported by schedules at the end of this document (Appendix 1).

1.3 Objectives

This **OMP** has the following objectives based on Condition 7 of the EPBC Act approval for referral 2017/8049:

- Provide supporting documentation for the establishment of a conservation covenant for the **Offset area** (Condition 6);
- Describe the **Offset area** including location, size, condition, environmental values present and surrounding land uses and provide maps of the **Offset area**.
- Document the presence and baseline Quality of the NTGVVP and GSM habitat within the Offset area.
- Define specific objectives to demonstrate NTGVVP and GSM habitat Quality improvement.
- Describe specific **management actions**, and timeframes for implementation, to be carried out to meet **specific objectives**.
- Define **key performance indicators** to demonstrate the improvement to the **Quality** of **NTGVVP** and **GSM habitat**.
- Detail the nature, timing and frequency of monitoring to determine the success of **management** actions against key performance indicators.
- Provide information on indicative corrective actions that will be implemented in the event monitoring activities indicate **key performance indicators** are not or are unlikely to be achieved.
- Explain the roles and responsibilities for implementing the management actions.

All **management actions** are consistent with conservation advice for **NTGVVP** and **GSM**, and threat abatement plans relevant to both **protected matters**. These documents are referenced throughout where necessary.



1.4 Approval conditions

The following approval conditions for EPBC Act referral 2017/8049 relate to this **Offset Management Plan** (**OMP**). A list of terms is provided in the next section.

- 6. To provide for the conservation and enhancement of **NTGVVP** and **Golden Sun Moth habitat** the approval holder must:
 - a. Within 12 months of the date of this approval, execute a Credit Trading Agreement for the provision of Environmental Services at the Offset area.
 - b. The Department must be provided with a copy of the signed Credit Trading Agreement within 4 weeks following its execution.
 - c. Within 12 months of the date of signing the Credit Trading Agreement, provide written evidence to the Department of the signed conservation covenant for the Offset area has been registered on the title of the Offset area.
 - *d.* The Department must be provided with a copy of the signed conservation covenant within 4 weeks following execution.
- 7. Prior to executing the **Credit Trading Agreement** under condition 6, the approval holder must submit to the Department an **Offset Management Plan** for the **Offset area**.
 - a. The approval holder must obtain the Minister's approval for the Offset Management Plan before executing a Credit Trading Agreement.
 - b. The Offset Management Plan must be prepared by a suitably qualified person and be consistent with the Department's Environmental Management Plan Guidelines, and the EPBC Act Environmental Offset Policy.
 - c. The Offset Management Plan must demonstrate how the Offset area and Environmental Services will compensate for the loss of 28.23 hectares of NTGVVP and 35.66 hectares of Golden Sun Moth habitat consistent with the EPBC Act Environmental Offsets Policy.
 - d. The **Offset Management Plan** must include, but not be limited to:
 - *i. a description of the Offset area including location, size, condition, environmental values present and surrounding land uses.*
 - *ii. baseline data and other supporting evidence that documents the presence and baseline* **Quality** *of the* **NTGVVP** *and* **Golden Sun Moth habitat** *within the* **Offset area**.
 - *iii. maps and shapefiles of the Offset area.*
 - *iv.* **specific objectives** to demonstrate **NTGVVP** and **Golden Sun Moth habitat Quality** *improvement over the period of the* **Offset Management Plan**'s *implementation.*
 - v. specific management actions, and timeframes for implementation, to be carried out to meet specific objectives to improve the Quality of the NTGVVP and Golden Sun Moth habitat within the Offset area.
 - vi. key performance indicators to demonstrate the improvement to the Quality of NTGVVP and Golden Sun Moth habitat.
 - vii. the nature, timing and frequency of monitoring to determine the success of management actions against key performance indicators.
 - viii. indicative corrective actions that will be implemented in the event monitoring activities indicate key performance indicators are not or are unlikely to be achieved.
 - ix. the roles and responsibilities for implementing the **management actions**.
 - *x. Evidence of consistency with relevant conservation advices, recovery plans and/or threat abatement plans.*
 - xi. maintain or improve the extent and **Quality** of habitat and populations of other EPBC Act listed threatened species and ecological communities in the **Offset area**.



1.5 Roles and responsibilities

This section is important because it provides the details of which entities (see Definition of terms section above for the full list of entities listed in this document) are responsible for the various components of this **OMP**. Under Condition 7.d.ix., this **OMP** must include the roles and responsibilities for implementing the **management actions**, however, this section expands on this requirement to include the execution of the conditions themselves. Note that the **Credit Trading Agreement** and **Trust for Nature** covenant have further contractual obligations defined as part of their terms and conditions and should be referred to as necessary.

Table 2 provides a list of the responsibilities allocated to each entity and further description is provided below. The legal liabilities associated with these responsibilities are not directly controlled by this document but are conferred through the approval under the EPBC Act for EPBC Act referral 2017/8049, the **Credit Trading Agreement** and the **Trust for Nature** covenant.

DJCS: The approval for EPBC Act referral 2017/8049 is granted to the approval holder, who is the Victorian Department of Justice and Community Safety (DJCS). As the approval holder, DJCS is ultimately responsible for execution of the approval conditions for their project, the YJRP. Unless otherwise agreed in a legally binding document, DJCS retains ultimately responsible for ensuring the approval conditions are met to the satisfaction of DoEE including providing compensation for loss of **NTGVVP** and **GSM habitat** via implementation of the **OMP**, ecological monitoring, reporting to DoEE, and ensuring adequate oversight (e.g. auditing). DJCS has engaged the Landholder of **Chepstowe** to deliver **Environmental Services** on their behalf, including implementation of the **management actions** in this **OMP**.

Trust for Nature: The responsible authority for the conservation covenant under the *Victorian Conservation Trust Act 1972* (VCT Act) is **Trust for Nature** (TfN). TfN has authority under the VCT Act to enforce restrictions contained in the covenant but also provides advice on land management to the Landholder (both during the 10 year management period and from Year 11 onwards). TfN bears no responsibility for the execution of approval conditions for EPBC Act referral 2017/8049.

Landholder: The TfN covenant binds the current (and future) Landholder to the standard restrictions in the TfN covenant and to the requirements described in this **OMP**. As agreed with DJCS and TfN, the Landholder will be responsible for carrying out the works and associated reporting to manage the **Offset area**. The Landholder will also facilitate access to the **Offset area** for ecological monitoring and auditing, as required. The Landholder can engage suitably qualified contractors to carry out the works on the Landholder's behalf. The Landholder can deputise responsibility for carrying out the works to a designated site manager and/or managing ecologist, however, the Landholder remains responsible for ensuring the works are undertaken (Table 2).

Funding arrangements: Financial liabilities have been agreed between DJCS, TfN and the Landholder, who are parties to the **Trust for Nature** agreement. In general terms, **Trust for Nature** will retain sufficient funding to ensure that the **Offset area** can be managed according to the 10-year management period described in this **OMP**. A portion of the funds held in trust are released each year to the Landholder, with the exact arrangements stipulated in the TfN agreement. The **Credit Trading Agreement** has further arrangements pertaining to financing the management and monitoring of the **Offset area**, however, the details of the financial arrangements associated with the **Offset area** are beyond the scope of this **OMP**.


Table 2Offset area responsibilities

Notes to table: DJCS: Department of Justice and Community Safety. Landholder: refers to the Landholder or their delegate (e.g. farm manager). TfN: **Trust for Nature**

Responsibility	Responsible entity	Obligation arising from	Person who will undertake the work
Executing approval Condition 6 and 7 under EPBC Act approval 2017/8049 (i.e. providing the required environmental offsets)	DJCS	Statutory approval conditions for YJRP	DJSC or their representative Ecological consultant (preparation of OMP)
Implementation of OMP such as undertaking conservation and maintenance works in Offset area	Landholder	TfN covenant on Offset area	Landholder or their contractor
Routine inspections of Offset area	Landholder	TfN covenant on Offset area	Landholder or their contractor
Keeping records of conservation and maintenance works, and results of routine inspections in Offset area	Landholder	TfN covenant on Offset area	Landholder or their contractor
Ecological monitoring of Offset area	DJCS	Statutory approval conditions for YJRP	Experienced grassland ecologist to be engaged by the Landholder/DJCS with the costs invoiced to DJCS
Auditing of compliance with the approval conditions for EPBC Act approval 2017/8049 (see Condition 17 and Condition 18 of that approval)	DJCS	Statutory approval conditions for YJRP	An independent and suitably qualified person as detailed in the <i>Environment Protection and Biodiversity</i> <i>Conservation Act 1999</i> Independent Audit and Audit Report Guidelines (2015).
Records and reports of works and routine inspections for Trust for Nature	Landholder	TfN covenant on Offset area	Landholder or their contractor
Ecological monitoring reports	Landholder	TfN covenant on Offset area	Experienced grassland ecologist to provide report to Landholder
Annual compliance reporting to DoEE (Condition 14 of EPBC Act approval 2017/8049)	DJCS	Statutory approval condition for YJRP	Landholder or their contractor to provide annual report to DJCS as per management action . DJCS to provide annual compliance report to DoEE (N.B. will include details of both the development site and Offset area).
Reporting non-compliance to DoEE (Condition 15 of EPBC Act approval 2017/8049)	DJCS	Statutory approval condition for YJRP	Landholder to inform Trust for Nature , DJCS and DoEE in the event of an Incident . Incident means any event which has the potential to, or does, impact on protected matter(s) . E.g. wildfire (bushfire) occurring in the Offset area ; plant pest or disease outbreak affecting native grassland flora. Minor seasonal



Responsibility	Responsible entity	Obligation arising from	Person who will undertake the work
			issues like fluctuations in weed cover can be discussed with TfN in the course of routine works planning but does not meet the description of an Incident .
Review of OMP (in accordance with the adaptive management provisions of OMP)	Landholder	TfN covenant on Offset area	Landholder in consultation with TfN
Providing advice on and monitoring compliance with Trust for Nature covenant	Trust for Nature	TfN covenant on Offset area	Staff members of Trust for Nature

1.6 Other offset requirements

The clearing of native vegetation associated with the YJRP was also assessed by the Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning (DELWP) as part of planning scheme amendment Wyndham C222 approved by the Victorian Minister for Planning on 18 October 2018. Environmental offsets prescribed under the Victorian *Guidelines for the removal, destruction or lopping of native vegetation* (DELWP 2017) will also be required for the YJRP. Where possible, the environmental offsets provided in fulfilment of the approval conditions for EPBC Act referral 2017/8049 will also contribute to the offset requirements under Wyndham C222, however, it is not anticipated that **Chepstowe** will form part of these offsets. Additional environmental offsets may be required to meet all the requirements of Wyndham C222, however, these would not be relevant to this **OMP** and are not mentioned further.

1.7 OMP commencement

The implementation of this **OMP** will begin on execution of the **Credit Trading Agreement** and release of the agreed funds to the Landholder. The funds due to the Landholder are for the purchase of the offsets and for the costs associated with the establishment tasks for the **Offset area** (Section 3.5). **Trust for Nature** will retain sufficient funds in trust to provide for the 10-year management of the **Offset area** as well as a contingency for unexpected events or costs.

The registration of the covenant will be completed as soon as possible thereafter noting that administrative requirements may mean that the registration of the covenant with the titles office (currently called Land Use Victoria) takes a further 12 months to be completed and signed-off by the Commonwealth Minister for the Environment. This registration process is an administrative process only and will not prevent the commencement of the **management actions** of the **OMP** once the **Credit Trading Agreement** is executed since the funds are non-refundable.

The **Credit Trading Agreement** was executed on DD / Month / YYYY and henceforth is the date on which this **OMP** commenced.



1.8 Financial disclaimer

Please note that any information provided in this **OMP** regarding financial arrangements is for information purposes only. This **OMP** is not designed to govern any financial arrangements regarding purchase, management or monitoring of the **Offset area**. The financial arrangements are governed by the **Trust for Nature** agreement and the **Credit Trading Agreement**.



2. Offset area description

In accordance with Condition 7.d.i. of EPBC referral 2017/8049, this section provides a description of the **Offset area** including location, size, condition, environmental values present and surrounding land uses. In accordance with Condition 7.d.ii. of EPBC referral 2017/8049, this section also describes the current ecological condition of the **NTGVVP** and **GSM habitat** using baseline data and other supporting evidence that documents the presence and baseline **Quality** of the NTGVVP and GSM habitat.

2.1 Environmental offsets requirements

The Offsets Assessment Guides for the approved impacts were confirmed as meeting the **EPBC Act Environmental Offsets Policy** on 6 September 2019. The resulting offset requirements were as follows:

- NTGVVP: 166.68 hectares
- **GSM habitat**: 188.18 hectares (with 166.68 hectares concurrent with the **NTGVVP**)

The DJCS will secure third party offsets at two locations on the Victorian Volcanic Plain. This **OMP** covers 13.40% of total requirements (22.33 hectares) of **NTGVVP** and 25.0% of total requirements (47.13 hectares) confirmed **GSM habitat**. The remainder of the offsets that cannot be provided under this **OMP** will be provided at a second location.

2.2 Description of the Offset area

2.2.1 Location and surrounding land uses

The **Offset area** is located at the property called *'Chepstowe'*, 346 Carngham Streatham Road, Chepstowe 3351, Victoria (Figure 2). **Chepstowe** is approximately 95 kilometres north west of development site, near the regional centre of Ballarat (Figure 2). **Chepstowe** is owned by Neville Oddie as part of a larger farming enterprise of approximately 800 hectares. It is located within the Victorian Volcanic Plain and supports a range of uses including sheep grazing on native pasture. The property has several existing offset sites for GSM as well as voluntary conservation covenants that have protected high quality native grassland areas. The landholder plans to increase the protections in place with further offset agreements if compatible with farm operations while also reserving some areas of the property to maintain farm operations including sheep grazing, pine plantations and areas of cropping. The details of the land titles on which the **Offset area** is located are provided in Table 3.

The **Offset area** is located in two paddocks within the **Chepstowe** property, which are designated North and South throughout this document (Figure 3). Both paddocks are surrounded by agricultural land, much of which is also confirmed GSM habitat. Other conservation values in the landscape include connectivity to nearby Mount Emu Creek, which is known habitat for the threatened species Growling Grass Frog *Litoria raniformis*.

The Offset Area will be approximately square shape to minimise the edge-to-interior ratio of the **Offset area**. Because the **Offset area** is embedded within a larger area of GSM habitat, the landscape values of the **Offset area** also add to its conservation value. The road dividing the north and south of the property is not considered a barrier to GSM movement being less than 200 metres wide such that the GSM population on the **Chepstowe** property is likely to be a single, interbreeding population with movement of moths between northern and southern sections of the property almost certain.



2.2.2 Size

The Offset area provides a total of 22.33 hectares of **NTGVVP** with an additional 24.8 hectares of **GSM habitat** for a total of 47.13 hectares of **GSM habitat**. The North **Offset area** is 1.49 hectares of **NTGVVP** with an additional 15.92 hectares of confirmed **GSM habitat** for a total of 17.41 hectares (Figure 3). The South **Offset area** is 20.67 hectares of **NTGVVP** with an additional 8.89 hectares of confirmed **GSM habitat** to give a total of 29.76 (Figure 3). The South **Offset area** is a single contiguous area of grassland although an existing covenant covers part of it (Figure 3).





Table 3 Offset area and property details

Site details:	
Type of offset	Third party
Landholder of Offset area	Neville Oddie (Director, J H Oddie & Co Pty Ltd, ACN: 082 840 122)
Landholder Contact	NevOddie@netconnect.com.au
Location and address of Offset area	346 Carngham Streatham Road, Chepstowe 3351
Area of Offset area (ha)	47.13 ha
Allotment	
Parcel identifier (SPI)	
Local Government Area	Pyrenees Shire
Security mechanism	Trust for Nature covenant registered on title
Bioregion	Victorian Volcanic Plain

2.2.3 General description of environmental values present – North Offset area

The North **Offset area** has no known history of cultivation, significant pasture improvement or intensive fertilizer application. The offset area is heavily grazed with sheep, which manages biomass to a level suitable for GSM breeding.

The **Offset area** is identified as GSM habitat supporting GSM food plants and topographic features typical of GSM habitat. The **Offset area** is located on Baillie's Creek, a small ephemeral watercourse. The low, open structure of the grassland is typical of sites favoured by GSM. The part of the **Offset area** to the north of Baillie's Creek supports an obvious gilgai structure, which is commonly associated with GSM populations. Key GSM food plants Wallaby-grasses *Rytidosperma* spp., and Spear-grasses *Austrostipa* spp are present throughout in varying amounts of cover.

A portion of the North **Offset area** (1.5 hectares) was assessed as easily meeting the definition of **NTGVVP** during a repeat visit undertaken in November 2019. While the Offset area was heavily grazed at the time, the favourable seasonal conditions had resulted in the herb component of the community being in flower at the time of the survey. In some places, the herb component was the dominant vegetation cover with native tussock grasses and annual weeds at lower levels of cover. Many of the flora species typical of **NTGVVP** were present with the herbs Smooth Solenogyne *Solenogyne dominii*, Austral Sunray *Triptilodiscus pygmaeus* and Scaly Buttons *Leptorhynchos squamatus* the most frequently occurring species in some places. Other characteristic species recorded include: Kangaroo-grass *Themeda triandra*, Spear-grass *Austrostipa* spp., Wallaby-grass *Rytidosperma* spp., Blue Devil *Eryngium ovinum*, Common Woodruff *Asperula conferta* and several species of Bluebells *Wahlenbergia* spp. (Biosis 2019, unpublished data).

The remainder of the **Offset area** could not be easily assessed as meeting the definition of **NTGVVP** due to the high grazing pressure making it difficult to ascertain the cover of weeds and native tussock grasses at the time of survey. However, these areas remain confirmed **GSM habitat** and contribute to the offset obligation for **GSM habitat**.

Targeted surveys for **GSM** were undertaken by Biosis during the 2018/19 summer survey season. The **GSM** surveys were undertaken using the field methods stipulated in the Commonwealth EPBC Act Policy Statement 3.12 (DEWHA 2009) for the entire **Offset area**. The 2018 surveys were done on foot, using the same team of three field workers walking pre-defined 50 metre transects.



A total of 1481 male **GSM** were recorded flying within the area surveyed. Female moths, which are more difficult to detect, were not observed during the surveys. The **GSM** individuals were distributed throughout the area surveyed as well as on adjoining paddocks (Figure 3). The adjoining paddock also supports a large population of **GSM** and recorded sightings of **GSM** within the **Offset area** date back to 2013 (Abzeco 2018).

The **Offset area** also supports potential habitat in Baillie's Creek for Growling Grass Frog *Litoria raniformis*, which is known to occur downstream in Mount Emu Creek.

The most obvious weeds to target for weed control in 2019 were continued treatment of the woody weed Gorse *Ulex europeaus*, which occurs along Baillie's Creek and had been sprayed relatively recently, and the broad-leaved weeds, Variegated Thistle *Silybum marianum*, Spear thistle *Cirsium vulgare* and Flatweed *Hypochaeris radicata*. Subterranian Clover *Trifolium subterraneum* was present throughout the paddock but is not considered an important threat to the community. While excluded from the offset area, the semi-aquatic weed Spiny Rush *Juncus acutus* was present in Baillie's Creek. High threat perennial grasses Brown-top Bent *Agrostis capillaris* and Toowoomba Canary-grass *Phalaris aquatica* were present throughout but at levels considered manageable as were low-threat annual weeds, which were the most obvious type of weed present including Quaking-grass *Briza* spp., Squirrel-tail Fescue *Vulpia myuros* and Hop Clover *Trifolium campstre*. Woody weeds were rare and were considered at levels low enough to be controlled to negligible levels. Other than the Gorse that had been sprayed, woody weeds were species that are readily recognised by the Landholder or contractor including the large shrubs: Gorse *Ulex europaeus* and Sweet Briar *Rosa rubiginosa*.

2.2.4 General description of environmental values present – South Offset area

The South **Offset area** has no known history of cultivation, significant pasture improvement or intensive fertilizer application. The offset area is heavily grazed with sheep, which manages biomass to a level suitable for GSM breeding.

The South **Offset area** is located within a large paddock of 65 hectares with the directly adjoining land uses being agricultural land and other offset sites. The gates providing access to the **Offset area** are kept locked and is located opposite the Chepstowe Wind Farm, which is regularly monitored and so acts as a deterrent to potential trespassers. The paddock itself contains one existing offset site and has been used for research on native grassland management including the well-known doctoral research on grassland restoration done by Paul Gibson-Roy. **Chepstowe** supports additional environmental offsets in other parts of the property.

There are no formal easements within the net **Offset area**, however, a buffer of 4 m has been added to the northern fence line of the **Offset area** because the fence line is maintained in the adjacent crop paddock using herbicide. No future utilities or road easements can be applied to the **Offset area** as these are likely to conflict with the objectives of this **OMP**.

A portion of the South **Offset area** (22.33 hectares) was assessed as easily meeting the definition of **NTGVVP** during a repeat visit undertaken in October and November 2019. These parts comprised a high cover of Kangaroo-grass or Spear-grass and Wallaby-grass and a low cover of weeds. Other parts of the paddock support a substantial component of these native tussock grass species, however, the wet seasonal conditions meant that the short-lived perennial Sweet Vernal-grass *Anthoxanthum odoratum*, which responds to rainfall and flowers earlier than the native species was very obvious in 2019 and obscured the true cover of native tussock grasses. These areas are still confirmed GSM habitat due to short-lived nature of Sweet Vernal-grass, which is not expected to affect **GSM habitat** unless biomass management ceases and thatch builds up.

Because the **Offset area** is embedded within a larger patch of grassland vegetation, the landscape values of the **Offset area** also add to its conservation value. **NTGVVP** has been cleared from most of the Victorian Volcanic Plain and usually occurs in small, isolated patches.



Targeted surveys for **GSM** were undertaken by Biosis during the 2018/19 summer survey season. The **GSM** surveys were undertaken using the field methods stipulated in the Commonwealth EPBC Act Policy Statement 3.12 (DEWHA 2009) for the entire **Offset area**.

A total of 67 male **GSM** were recorded flying within the area surveyed. Female moths, which are more difficult to detect, were not observed during the surveys. The **GSM** individuals were distributed throughout the area surveyed as well as on adjoining paddocks (Figure 3). The adjoining paddocks also supports a large population of **GSM** and recorded sightings of **GSM** within the **Offset area** date back to 2013 (Abzeco 2018).

The **Offset area** is known to support at least one threatened flora species (Biosis 2018):

• Clumping Golden-moths *Diuris gregaria* (Listed under Victorian *Flora and Fauna Guarantee Act 1988*).

The **Offset area** also supports three dams that are potential habitat for Growling Grass Frog *Litoria raniformis*, which is known to occur downstream in Mount Emu Creek.

A detailed description of the conservation values within the proposed **Offset area** is included in Biosis (2018). A total of 78 native and 36 introduced plant species were recorded from two inspections of the **Offset area** in 2018 (Biosis 2018). More native and weed species will be present but seasonal conditions and survey intensity typically preclude the detection of all species at any one time. The **Offset area** supports many of the flora species that are characteristic of **NTGVVP** including: Kangaroo-grass *Themeda triandra*, Common Tussock-grass *Poa labillardierei*, Spear-grass *Austrostipa* spp., Wallaby-grass *Rytidosperma* spp., Blue Pincushion *Brunonia australis*, Milkmaids *Burchardia umbellata*, Lemon Beauty-heads *Calocephalus citreus*, Scaly Buttons *Leptorhynchos squamatus*, Blue Devil *Eryngium ovinum*, and Common Woodruff *Asperula conferta* (Biosis 2018).

Weeds are present, although their cover is highly variable and the overall vegetation and habitat structure of the grasslands is provided by the native perennial tussock grasses characteristic of **NTGVVP**. In areas where Kangaroo-grass is providing most of the ground cover and thatch is occupying most of the inter-tussock spaces, the cover of weeds is very low (less than 5% to less than 1%). In areas where Spear-grass and Wallaby-grasses dominate and inter-tussock space is higher, then weed cover is also higher. In wet years, the short-lived perennial Sweet Vernal-grass *Anthoxanthum odoratum* is the most prevalent grassy weed but otherwise low-threat annual weeds were the most obvious type of weed present such as Wild Oats *Avena* spp., Quaking-grass *Briza* spp., Squirrel-tail Fescue *Vulpia myuros* and Narrow-leaf Clover *Trifolium angustifolium*. High threat perennial grasses Brown-top Bent *Agrostis capillaris* and Toowoomba Canary-grass *Phalaris aquatica* were present but these were not dominating the tussock cover of the grassland and were assessed to be a levels low enough to be managed effectively. The noxious broad-leaved weeds, Variegated Thistle *Silybum marianum* and Spear Thistle *Cirsium vulgare*, was present in scattered amounts throughout the **Offset area** but other broad-leaved perennial weeds were relatively rare.

Woody weeds were rare and were considered at levels low enough to be controlled to negligible levels. All woody weeds were species that are readily recognised by the Landholder or contractor including the large shrubs: Gorse *Ulex europaeus* and Sweet Briar *Rosa rubiginosa*. Hawthorn *Crataegus monogyna* is present on roadsides immediately adjacent to the South **Offset area** and could provide a source of weed seeds.





2.3 Current condition

The vegetation condition of the **Offset area** was assessed using the Habitat Hectares method (Parkes et al. 2003). The suitability and **Quality** of **GSM habitat** was assessed against the descriptions provided in (DEWHA 2009). The condition assessments were used in conjunction with consultation with DoEE to calculate the **Quality** score used to calculate the required offsets.

2.3.1 Vegetation current condition

The vegetation within the **Offset area** was assessed using the Habitat Hectares method, as assessed against the Plains Grassland benchmark, Table 4. Appendix 4 provides the explanation of the **NTGVVP** and **GSM Quality** scoring method.

Plains Grassland (EVC 132-61)			North Offset area South Offset			area		
Area (ha)			1.49	15.92	17.41	20.84	8.89	29.73
			NTGVVP	GSM-	Total	NTGVVP	GSM-	Total
		out of		only			only	
	Score	out of:		score:			score:	
u o	Lack of Weeds	15	9	2		9	2	
diti	Understorey	25	15	10		20	10	
, Second	Recruitment	10	6	0		0	0	
يە O	Organic Matter	5	4	2		3	3	
Site Score (standardised x1.36)			46.24	19.04	21.37*	43.52	20.40	36.61*
be	Patch Size	10	8			8		
sca lue	Neighbourhood	10	2			2		
nd: Va	Distance to Core	5	1			4		
La	Landscape Score		11			14		
Total Habitat Score 100		57.24			57.52			
Quality	/ component		6/10		1/3	6/10		2/3

Table 4 Habitat Hectares results, Chepstowe

*Combined GSM habitat site score is weighted by area of each MNES

2.3.2 GSM habitat current condition

GSM habitat was assessed against the habitat characteristics provided in DEWHA (2009) (Table 5).

Table 5 GSM habitat condition results, Chepstowe Property

Habitat characteristic	Assessment
Size of patch	Patch size is large (greater than 10 hectares)
Cover of food plants	Cover of food plants appeared scattered throughout at time of 2018 assessment, although exact amount of cover difficult to measure
Distance to nearest source population	Contiguous with confirmed population/existing GSM offset site
Amount of shading	Nil
Aspect	Flat with gentle undulations (creekline excluded from Offset area)
Amount of bare ground	Cover of bare ground less than ideal (less than 20%)
Presence of rocky areas	Rocks still present although historical removal of surface rock may have occurred
Soil characteristics	Basalt derived
Land use history	Long history of sheep grazing, current grazing pressure high



Tables 6 ant Table 7 provides the **Quality** scoring for the **Chepstowe GSM** offset. Appendix 4 provides the explanation of the **GSM habitat Quality** scoring method. The **Quality** score utilises the Site condition components of the Habitat hectares method only since site context is already accounted for in the first parameter.

Parameter	Score	Justification
Site context	3/3	The North Offset area is larger than 10 hectares and adjoins further areas of confirmed GSM habitat . The paddock is approximately square, which is appropriate for reducing edge effects. The paddock has gentle northerly slopes throughout the topographic undulations within the Offset area with minimal shading.
Site condition	1/3	The North Offset area supports lower quality vegetation over most of the Offset area with the higher quality NTGVVP only occupying 8.5% of the Offset area. The weighted VQA site condition score is therefore 21.37 / 75, which places the Offset area in the first scoring category. Both annual and perennial weeds were present throughout noting however that the offset area and the property as a whole does not have Chilean Needle Grass <i>Nassella neessiana</i> such that none of the weeds present are known food plants for GSM.
Species stocking rate	3/4	A total of 1481 GSM were recorded for the North Offset area (37.6 hectare survey area). This gives a stocking rate for the North Offset area of 39.4 moths per hectare. This places the survey area within the 20-50 moths per hectare category.
Quality score	7/10	A score out 7 (out of 10) indicates that the offset area is of already highly favourable to the species. There are opportunities to improve Quality by decreasing weed cover and allowing Wallaby Grass cover to increase and greater plant growth overall.

Table 6 Chepstowe GSM habitat Quality score – North Offset area

Table 7 Chepstowe GSM habitat Quality score – South Offset area

Parameter	Score	Justification
Site context	3/3	The North Offset area is larger than 10 hectares and adjoin further areas of confirmed GSM habitat . The paddock is approximately square, which is appropriate for reducing edge effects. The paddock has gentle northerly slopes throughout the topographic undulations within the Offset area with minimal shading.
Site condition	2/3	The South Offset area supports higher quality vegetation over most of the Offset area with the higher quality NTGVVP occupying 70% of the Offset area. The weighted VQA site condition score is 36.61 / 75, which places the Offset area in the second scoring category. Much of the tussock grasses are overgrown with very few inter-tussock spaces, reducing favourability for high numbers of GSM. Weeds were prevalent throughout however, the offset area and the property as a whole does not have Chilean Needle Grass <i>Nassella neessiana</i> such that none of the weeds present are known food plants for GSM.
Species stocking rate	1/4	A total of 67 GSM were recorded for the paddock in which the offset area will be located. The total area surveyed was 35.7 hectares. This gives a stocking rate of 1.9 moths per hectare. This places the survey area within the 1-5 moths per hectare category.
Quality score	6/10	A score out 6 (out of 10) indicates that the offset area is favourable to the species but there are opportunities for Quality improvement through improved biomass management to increase inter-tussock spaces as well as weed control.



2.4 Suitability of Offset area to provide a conservation gain

Under Section 7.6 of the **EPBC Act Environmental Offsets Policy** (DSEWPaC 2012), *environmental offsets must deliver a conservation gain for the impacted protected matter*, and that conservation gain must be new, or *additional to what is already required by a duty of care or to any environmental planning laws at any level of government*. The following sections confirm that the proposed **Offset area** meets this requirement having no existing environmental offsets, on-title protections or other proposed conservation protections. In addition, the **Offset area** has current permitted land uses under the Pyrenees Planning Scheme that are also recognised threats to **GSM habitat** as described below. Under these conditions, it was assessed that the risk of loss of **GSM habitat** from the **Offset area** was 10%.

2.4.1 Current permitted land uses

The property is zoned Farming Zone (FZ) within the Pyrenees Shire Planning Scheme, which controls the use of the land. The purpose of the FZ is to provide for the use of land for agriculture. Uses for which a permit is *not* required include:

- Agriculture
- Cattle feedlot
- Domestic animal husbandry
- Dwelling
- Grazing animal production
- Poultry farm
- Timber production at least 40 hectares in size.

Under the Farming Zone, there are no permit requirements for the following agricultural activities that can lead to the decline or loss of native plant species and/or encourage the proliferation of weeds, which are known threats to **GSM habitat**:

- Fertiliser application.
- Over-sowing with introduced pasture grasses or clover.
- Over-grazing or grazing with larger livestock that cause more damage to grasslands (especially horses).
- Biomass accumulation and loss of inter-tussock spaces.
- Selling the land to a new owner who may undertake the above activities.

Since the current native grass cover is less than 25% of the perennial vegetation cover, the land would not meet the definition of a patch of native vegetation (DELWP 2017). If a patch of native vegetation is not present, then there would be no planning permit requirement for removal of native vegetation (and associated environmental offsets) to facilitate further develop the land, for example, through de-rocking and cultivation.

2.4.2 Exemptions for minor native vegetation removal

Clause 52.17 of the Pyrenees Planning Scheme controls the removal of native vegetation via a planning permit and avoid, minimise and offset process. In addition to threats from existing uses above, clause 52.17-7 provides a table of exemptions where no planning permit is required to remove native vegetation for certain specified activities. These activities include the following that could lead to incremental loss of condition or extent of **GSM habitat**:

- Operation or maintenance of an existing fence.
- Removal of dead vegetation.



- Fire protection, including periodic fuel reduction burning or construction of firebreaks and firefighting access tracks.
- Grazing by domestic stock.
- Pruning of up to 1/3 of the foliage of individual plants.
- Treatment of pest animal burrows or weed infestations.
- Geothermal energy/Mineral/Stone exploration or extraction.
- Minor Utility installation.

These activities can be undertaken without a permit to remove native vegetation and therefore there is no requirement to provide environmental offsets under state legislation.

2.4.3 Existing offset arrangements

A title search has been completed and the **Offset area** is not affected by any conservation related encumbrances. The **Offset area** therefore has not been allocated for the provision of any other offsets, either under the **EPBC Act Environmental Offsets Policy** or for provision of offsets under any current or past Victorian policy.

2.5 Specific objectives

This section presents the **specific objectives** to demonstrate **GSM habitat Quality** improvement over the period of the **OMP**'s implementation, as required to fulfil Condition 7.d.iv. of EPBC Act approval 2017/8049. The specific objectives arise from the Offsets Assessment Guide and are used to determine the overall improvements required to be achieved at the end of 10 years. The specific objectives are broader scale objectives than the management commitments and management actions that are specified in Section 3.

Figure 4 below shows how the **specific objectives** relate to the **management commitments**, **management actions**, and management targets.





2.6 Specific objectives and key performance indicators

Table 8 below describes the **specific objectives** for the **Offset area** that result from the inputs into and the outputs from the Offsets Assessment Guide (a.k.a offsets calculator). Achieving the **specific objectives** will therefore ensure that an environmental offset that meets the requirements of the conditions of approval and the **EPBC Act Environmental Offsets Policy** will be provided. The **Offset area** as a whole will be assessed against **key performance indicators** that will determine if the **specific objectives** have been met (Table 8). The **key performance indicators** use technical terminology and so are broken down into **management targets** in for the Landholder to implement on the ground in Section 3.



Offset Assessment Guide	Specific objective	Key performance indicators (measureable through ecological monitoring)
Start area: 22.33 ha NTGVVP 47.13 ha GSM habitat	Offset area protection (security): Provide permanent protection for the conservation values of the Offset area with a conservation covenant.	• TfN agreement registered on relevant land titles
Risk of loss : 90%* confidence that the risk of loss decreases from 10%* to 1%* risk of loss Time over which loss is averted: 20 years**	Offset area protection (threat abatement): permanently exclude agricultural production except as directed by this OMP. Risk management: minimise the risk of the offset area failing to meet specific objectives. Procedures in place to manage and mitigate against incidents or emergencies.	 No loss of NTGVVP and GSM habitat or preventable weed introductions over 20 year time horizon No unauthorised access or unapproved works within offset area
Gain: NTGVVP: 85%* confidence Quality can be improved from 6* to 7* (out of 10) GSM (North Offset): 85%* confidence GSM habitat Quality can be improved from 7* to 8* (out of 10) GSM (South Offset): 85%* confidence GSM habitat Quality can be improved from 6* to 7* (out of 10) Time to ecological benefit: 10* years	Offset area improvement: Landholder commits to implementing the intensive 10- year program of management actions, routine inspections and facilitating annual ecological monitoring in accordance with the OMP. Risk management: minimise the risk of the offset area failing to meet specific objectives. Procedures in place to manage and mitigate against incidents or emergencies.	 Management actions adapted to seasonal conditions and/or new or emerging threats based on routine inspections and monitoring results Lack of Weeds score (out of 15): NTGWP: maintained at 9 or increases GSM: increases from 2 to 6 Understorey score (out of 25): NTGWP (North Offset): increased from 15 to 20 NTGWP (South Offset): maintained at 20 or increases GSM: maintained at 10 or increases Recruitment (bare ground) score (out of 10): NTGWP (North Offset): increases from 6 to 10 NTGWP (North Offset): increases from 0 to 10 GSM: increases from 0 to 6 Organic litter score (out of 5): NTGWP (North Offset): maintained at 4 or increases to 5 NTGWP (South Offset): increases from 3 to 5 GSM (North Offset): increases from 3 to 5 GSM (South Offset): increases from 3 to 5 MSM (South Offset): increases from 3 to 5 No active rabbit warrens or fox dens, minimal evidence of pest animal impacts Tussock cover always sufficient to provide GSM habitat New weeds eliminated, emerging weed problems controlled to <1% cover, new pest animals eliminated Ecological monitoring undertaken in accordance with OMP Emergency management undertaken in accordance with OMP

Table 8 Offset area management specific objectives and Key performance indicators



Offset Assessment Guide	Specific objective	Key performance indicators (measureable through ecological monitoring)
Time over which loss is averted^: 20 years**	Offset area maintenance: Landholder commits to implementing the management commitments to maintain the improvement achieved in the first 10 years.	 Habitat hectares score achieved at the end of Year 10 is maintained over next 10 years (to achieve 20 year time horizon) OMP adapted to changing circumstances or ineffective management actions

*input used in approved Offset Assessment Guide **Maximum value permitted to be used in Offset Assessment Guide ^No directly relevant input or output. 20 year time horizon assumed to be the most logical time period for maintenance to be applied

2.7 Measuring improvement in Quality

The following sections explain how improvements in **Quality** are to be measured given the limitations of the Habitat hectares and **Quality** scoring systems.

2.7.1 Vegetation condition

Quality improvement will be measured using the Habitat Hectares method at each of the permanent monitoring plots and as an average **Quality** for the whole area. The **GSM Quality** scoring method was used to obtain the **Quality** score of the **Offset area** in the Offsets Assessment Guide and should be replicated to determine the final **Quality** score.

Since the Habitat Hectares method uses categories (which are converted to numeric scores) there is a limited number of ways in which the increase in **Quality** can be attained within the Habitat Hectares scoring system:

- The Landscape score is not influenced by on-site **management actions** and so is not expected to change of the 10-year management period (Table 9).
- Recruitment is scored out of 10 and weighted according to whether herb diversity is high or low. This means that for the GSM-only areas, which have low herb diversity, a maximum recruitment score that can be achieved is 6 (out of 10). For the NTGVVP areas, the maximum recruitment score that can be achieved is 10 (out of 10), and is expected that this can be achieved with increased biomass management.
- Organic matter is scored out of 5 and is weighted by whether organic matter is non-native or of native plant origin. Organic matter scoring is therefore a result of biomass build up and weed cover. It is expected that this can be improved using **management actions** for biomass control and weed control but that the starting condition will limit whether the maximum score can be achieved.
- Lack of Weeds is scored out of 15 with possible improvements for NTGVVP being 9, 11 or 13 (out of 15) and 6 or 9 (out of 15) for GSM only areas. The maximum scores (11, 13 or 15 out of 15) requires there to be <5% weed cover, which is not a practical target for GSM only areas due to the high starting weed cover and is difficult to achieve even in the NTGVVP area because the highly modified landscape provides a constant source of wind-borne and animal-borne weed seeds. The minimum improvement target is therefore set at 6 (out of 15) for GSM only areas and maintenance of a 9 (out of 15) score for NTGVVP areas. The minimum target for GSM only areas requires average cover of weeds to be reduced from the current more than 50% cover with the target to be <50%, with less than 50% of the weeds being high threat. The sub-groups of weeds will have lower targets within the overall target e.g. all woody weeds to be <1%. The NTGVVP areas targets requires maintenance of weed cover at <25% overall and the current very low weed covers in the Kangaroo-grass dominated areas.
- The Understorey is scored out of 25 and is a function of species diversity but also growth stage. For the North **Offset area** where the Understorey score for NTGVVP is being artificially supressed by high



grazing pressure, this is expected to improve once grazing pressure is reduced and herbs can mature to their full height (i.e. sufficient herb diversity exists to make an improvement achieveable). For the North **Offset area** the target is therefore set at an improvement from 15 to 20 (out of 25) for NTGVVP. The target for the GSM-only portion is set at maintenance of 10 (out of 25) since the starting herb diversity is lower (due to being more easily accessed by sheep) and improved tussock structure is unlikely to provide sufficient increase in condition against the benchmark to provide an increased score in a 10 year timeframe. The re-introduction of fire has potential to stimulate soil-stored seed to germinate if done with optimal seasonal conditions for recruitment, which could also improve the Understorey score. For the South **Offset area**, it is expected that Understorey score will be maintained through the use of ecological burning to maintain the sward.

The Habitat Hectares scores that can be expected to be achieved at the end of the 10-Year management period are shown in Table 9 below.

Table 9Vegetation condition target improvement Habitat hectares scores (bold scores show
improvement, italicised scores are mainentance)

Plains Grassland (EVC 132-61)			North Offset area South Offset			Offset a	area	
Area (ha)			1.49	15.92	17.41	20.84	8.89	29.73
		NTGVVP	GSM- only	Total	NTGVVP	GSM- only	Total	
	Score	e out of:		Score:		Score:		
uo	Lack of Weeds	15	9	6		9	6	
diti	Understorey	25	20	10		20	10	
u u u	Recruitment	10	10	6		10	6	
e U	Organic Matter	5	4	4		5	5	
Sit	Site Score (standardised x1.36)		58.48	35.36	37.34*	59.84	36.72	52.93*
be	Patch Size	10	8			8		
sca lue	Neighbourhood	10	2			2		
nds Va	Distance to Core	5	1			4		
La	Landscape Score		11			14		
Total Habitat Score 100			69.48			73.84		
Quality	component		7/10		2/3	7/10		3/3

*Combined GSM habitat site score is weighted by area of each MNES



2.7.2 GSM habitat

Quality improvement will be measured using the **NTGVVP** results for site score described above and the results of targeted surveys for **GSM**.

The scoring methods used to obtain the **Quality** score of the **Offset area** in the Offsets Assessment Guide is shown in Appendix 4 and should be replicated to determine the final **Quality** score. As for **NTGVVP**, there is a limited number of options for recording an improvement in **GSM habitat Quality** under the 10 point system:

- Site context is not influenced by on-site **management actions** and so is not expected to change of the 10-year management period (Table 10 and Table 11).
- The expected improvement comes from the increase in vegetation condition of 1 point for both North and South **Offset areas**.
- The **management actions** in the North **Offset area** will produce increased cover of **GSM** food plants and improve the tussock structure, with suitable inter-tussock spaces. The **management actions** in the South **Offset area** will produce increased of inter-tussock spaces using biomass reduction and weed control. Note however, that **GSM** populations fluctuate naturally in response to seasonal conditions outside the Landholder's control and since GSM are already in high numbers it is unknown if an already large population will respond to the proposed management actions with further population increases.

Parameter	Score	Justification
Site context	3/3	(N/A management actions are not expected to influence the site context)
Site condition	2/3	It is expected that the cover of weeds will decrease and the ground-layer flora will be able to mature and reach a more natural growth form. Currently all herbs and tufted graminoids have been grazed to a short lawn with no tussock structure.
Species stocking rate	3/4	(It is expected that the GSM breeding population will remain stable or increase)
Quality score	8/10	It is expected that Quality will increase from 7/10 to 8/10 over the 10 years.

Table 10 Chepstowe GSM habitat Quality score improvement target – North Offset area

Table 11 Chepstowe GSM habitat Quality score improvement target – South Offset area

Parameter	Score	Justification
Site context	3/3	(N/A management actions are not expected to influence the site context)
Site condition	2/3	It is expected that the cover of weeds will decrease and the sward, which is currently over grown, will be managed to improve inter-tussock spaces.
Species stocking rate	1/4	(It is expected that the GSM breeding population will remain stable or increase)
Quality score	7/10	It is expected that Quality will increase from 6/10 to 7/10 over the 10 years.



2.8 Limitations and uncertainty

It is impossible to eliminate all uncertainty from natural systems, however, this **OMP** has been formulated using the best available information at the time. The information used includes the results of site inspections in 2018 and 2019, consultation with the Landholder, and the experience of the authors in grassland management and research. Relevant federal and state government policies, procedures and databases have also been consulted where appropriate. The **OMP** has been subject to external review and quality assurance by TfN and the Landholder as part of the process to register the TfN covenant.

Management action results

The **Offset area** already supports a large GSM population, which provides certainty that conservation values are already present within the **Offset area** on which **management actions** can improve. The **OMP** includes a reasonable expectation that weed control combined with strategic grazing will reduce weed cover and impede weed seed production, which in turn, will provide increased recruitment, growth and seed production opportunities for the native grasses and herbs still in place. There is therefore a reasonable expectation that the **management actions** will result in an increase in the abundance and cover of native flora species. Since the dominant native grasses present are also **GSM** food plants, this management strategy along with management of biomass accumulation is expected to improve **GSM habitat** condition.

Recruitment and growth of native species occurs in response to seasonal conditions so there is a possibility that the recruitment and growth of native species will be slower than expected or may be inhibited altogether in the case of prolonged drought conditions. Such a situation would influence the condition score of the **GSM habitat** but would be outside the control of the Landholder. Contingencies for these events are dealt with under the adaptive management section of this **OMP**.

The results of the **management actions** themselves are also influenced by external factors that cannot be controlled including: annual variation in weather conditions, human-induced climate change, and fluctuations in pest animals and weeds. Contingencies for these events are dealt with under the adaptive management section of this **OMP**. Especially with unprecedented events expected under human-induced climate change, allowance must be made for the influence of external factors with regard to the assessing the outcomes achieved where in all other respects the **OMP** has been adhered to satisfactorily.

Vegetation/NTGVVP condition

It is acknowledged that grassland condition varies with micro-topography (gilgais, rocky rises etc.) and it is not expected that grassland condition will be uniform across all monitoring plots but all plots should show improvement from the Year 1 surveys. If average **Quality** of the **Offset area** has improved by 1 point after 10 years, the **key performance indicators** will be considered to be met.

GSM population

Native flora and fauna are adapted to variable seasonal conditions and many display boom and bust cycles of reproduction. As such, it may not be possible to differentiate between a bust cycle and a decrease in **GSM** numbers due to **management actions** in any one particular year. The overall trend in **GSM** numbers should be referred to when assessing the success of the **Offset area** after 10 years.



3. Management commitments and actions

This section presents the specific **management commitments**, **management actions**, and timeframes for implementation, to be carried out to meet **specific objectives** to improve the **Quality** of the **NTGVVP** and **GSM habitat** within the **Offset area**, as required to fulfil Condition 7.d.v. of EPBC Act approval 2017/8049. The detailed schedule of **management commitments**, **management actions** and **management targets** is provided in Appendix 1.

The **OMP** aims to achieve gains in the **Quality** score of **GSM habitat** through on-ground actions undertaken by the Landholder and with a high degree of certainty of success. As a result, the **management actions** are designed to be straightforward, practicable and achievable within the existing land management context.

The specific **management actions** of the **OMP** have two distinct stages for improvement and then maintenance of **NTGVVP** and **GSM habitat Quality** as follows:

- An intensive, 10-year program of **management actions** to be implemented from the commencement of the **OMP**. The **management actions** are directed at achieving an improvement in the ecological condition of the **Offset area** equivalent to a 1 point increase in **Quality**.
- A set of in-perpetuity land **management commitments** that will ensure that the improvement achieved in the first 10 years of the **OMP** is maintained over time.

These stages are described in the sections that follow and are supported by schedules of actions at the end of this document.

The prescribed **management actions** are in accordance with the *DELWP Output Delivery Standards For The Delivery Of Environmental Activities* (DELWP 2015).

3.1 Management commitments

The **management commitments** are the over-arching land use commitments made by the Landholder with regard to the in-perpetuity management of the **Offset area**. The **management commitments** contribute to fulfilling the **specific objectives** for the **Offset area** and apply as long as the conservation covenant is registered on-title. The **management commitments** also direct what on-ground actions will be undertaken during the 10 Year intensive management and in-perpetuity management periods.

The following commitments have been reviewed and agreed to by the current Landholder. These commitments will be placed on title by the attachment of the **OMP** to the **Trust for Nature** covenant. Most commitments will apply immediately from the start of the **OMP** management period and continue inperpetuity. In addition to the commitments applicable immediately, the grassland condition achieved as a result of the 10 year period of management, will be required to be maintained, in perpetuity.

The in-perpetuity **management commitments** of the **OMP** are as follows:

1. Retain all native vegetation:

- 1.1 Permanently exclude all activities that would result in direct mechanical removal of native vegetation (excavation, geological exploration, ploughing of fire breaks, cultivation etc). Direct-driving of posts to mark out the **Offset area**, monitoring plots or install low-impact fencing is permitted to the minimum extent necessary.
- 1.2 Permanently exclude all activities that would knowingly introduce new weeds, weed seeds or other nonindigenous vegetation into the **Offset area**. Examples include: over-sowing with pasture seeds or other



pasture improvement; using hay, silage or other supplementary feed from outside **Offset area** that may contain viable weed seeds; planting of tree belts. It is acknowledged that not all weed invasions are within the control of the landholder.

- 1.3 Exclude all broad-acre herbicide application use for purposes not related to weed control for conservation as specified in this **OMP** (e.g. maintaining fence lines or other easements, creating fire breaks).
- 1.4 Exclude installation of additional farm infrastructure excepting low impact fencing needed to stock-proof the offset area or to delineate management zones (e.g. stockyards, higher impact fencing are not allowed).

2. Protect native herb diversity and native grassland tussock structure:

- 2.1 Permanently exclude all fertilizer application.
- 2.2 Permanently exclude set-stocking of sheep.
- 2.3 Sheep grazing is permitted in the North **Offset area** if it complies with the requirements detailed in this **OMP**.
- 2.4 Permanently exclude any other grazing by domestic livestock not described in this **OMP** (e.g. cattle, goats or horses).

3. Implement management actions as detailed in this OMP:

- 3.1 Secure **Offset area** for conservation via **Trust for Nature** conservation covenant registered on-title.
- 3.2 Years 1 to 10: implement works according to the **OMP** to achieve a 1 point gain in **Quality** for **NTGVVP** and **GSM habitat**. The annual works plan must address:
 - Fencing, signage & access
 - Adaptive management
 - Woody weeds
 - Herbaceous weeds
 - Pest animals
 - New or emerging threats
 - Grazing for biomass / weed control
 - Ecological burning
 - Inspections, monitoring and reporting
 - Emergency management
- 3.3 Years 11+: Maintain an annual works plan for the ongoing maintenance of the condition (Habitat Hectares score) of the **NTGVVP** and **GSM habitat** that was achieved at the end of Year 10. The annual works plan must incorporate methods to ensure that management actions continue to adapt to current conditions for weeds, pest animals, and biomass control as well as:
 - Maintain fencing and signage.
 - Continued protection of herb diversity and native tussock grass structure.
 - Woody weeds maintained at <1% cover with no adult plants
 - Cover of herbaceous weeds does not increase beyond levels achieved at Year 10
 - Pest animals do not increase beyond levels achieved at Year 10
 - Biomass is maintained to achieve >20 to 40% cover of bare ground
- 3.4 Revise OMP in response to either ineffective management actions, or improvements identified through onground evidence/external research and development, or in response to an incident or emergency.

The implementation of these commitments provides the reasonable expectation that the **Offset area** will meet the **specific objectives** of **GSM habitat Quality** improvement over the period of the **OMP**'s implementation.



3.2 Offset area management strategy

The key threats to the **Offset area** derive from the existing permitted uses associated with normal farming practices and the uncertainty created by a change in Landholder. The existing use rights are detailed in Section 2.1.4 and the associated threats are summarised as: inappropriate grazing regimes, pasture improvement, and fertiliser application.

Other threats to the **Offset area** derive from natural processes that must be managed with on-going works. In particular, expansion of the cover of existing high threat weeds, invasion of new high threat weeds, an explosion in pest animal numbers, and the excessive accumulation of dead plant material through the overgrowth of ground-layer plants (referred to generically throughout as 'biomass').

The broad objective of the **management actions** is to produce a decrease in the abundance of perennial weeds and maintain conditions that are suitable for the recruitment (seed production, germination and growth) of native plant species. While decreasing weed cover is an improvement in itself, it is anticipated that this will be accompanied by a commensurate increase in the abundance of native grasses and herbs, including native grasses that are known food plants for **GSM**. The management of any other parts of the paddock that are not within the **Offset area** are to be managed in a manner sympathetic to this broad objective.

South **Offset area**: Currently weeds and biomass are managed through regular ecological burns. The burns are typically undertaken in autumn in years where there is sufficient biomass and suitable weather conditions to allow a successful burn. The last burn was undertaken approximately 18 months ago (autumn 2018) in the southern most portion of the South **Offset area**, however, wet conditions in 2019 prevented a burn from being undertaken. Note that a wildfire burn the majority of the South **Offset area** but was not observed to be detrimental to grassland condition and all fences have since been repaired. It is proposed that the ecological burning regime be continued since this has resulted in maintenance of the herb diversity and native grass tussock cover. Ecological benefits through improved grassland condition will be achieved by introducing targeted weed control activities such as post-burn herbicide application, which does not currently occur. In addition, since the **Offset area** is relatively flat and rock cover is localised, the Landholder proposes to trial slashing some areas of higher weed cover as an additional weed and biomass control method. Trials of this method have started in November 2019 to minimised the seed set of Sweet Vernal-grass described in Section 2.

North **Offset area**: Currently weeds and biomass are managed through high intensity grazing by sheep for much of the year. It is proposed that sheep grazing continue under a modified regime designed to provide improved conservation of the ecological values of the **Offset area**. This modified regime is referred to as 'pulse grazing' in this **OMP**. The term 'pulse grazing' (also referred to as 'crash grazing') is used to describe grazing that occurs at high intensity for a short period of time, followed by a period of rest. The pulses can be repeated multiple times within a season to manipulate the growth patterns of particular types of grasses or herbs and therefore favour desirable species in preference to undesirable species (e.g. weeds). In addition to sheep grazing, an intensive weed and pest management program will be implemented for the first 10-years of the **OMP**. If the Landholder chooses, ecological burning can be gradually introduced should extra biomass control be needed, however follow up weed control will be essential.

The **management actions** each have a target to be achieved by the end of the 10-year management period. The **management actions** and their targets apply to the entire **Offset area**. However, it is acknowledged that topographic variation (e.g. gilgais and rock areas) over the extent of the **Offset area** will produce variation in condition of the **Offset area**. This variation will be captured in the placement of the permanent monitoring plots and each target will be measured as an average across the whole **Offset area**. The results of the individual **management actions** will together provide the improvement in **Quality** required under the **management commitments**.



3.3 Offset area protection (security)

Condition 6 of the approval conditions for EPBC Act referral 2017/8049 states that to provide for the conservation and enhancement of **NTGVVP** and **GSM habitat**, the approval holder (DJCS) must provide evidence that a conservation covenant for the **Offset area** has been registered on-title.

To fulfil this approval condition, at the commencement of this **OMP**, the **Offset area** will be secured inperpetuity via a conservation covenant registered on-title under Section 3A *Victorian Conservation Trust Act 1972*. The statutory body that regulates the *Victorian Conservation Trust Act 1972* is **Trust for Nature** and the covenant is known as a **Trust for Nature** covenant.

A **Trust for Nature** covenant has standard provisions, which bind the owner to managing the land for conservation purposes. In addition, this **OMP** will be registered on-title as an attachment to the covenant. As a result, the **OMP** will be binding on the current and any future owners of the **Offset area**. Details of the security arrangement are shown in Table 12 below.

Table 12 On-title conservation covenant arrangements

Details of security mechanism	Date or other details
Type of security:	Covenant under part Section 3A Victorian Conservation Trust Act 1972
Trust for Nature covenant registered on-title:	DD / MM / 20YY
Commencement date for on-title protection:	Upon the on-title registration of the covenant
Commencement date for OMP management actions to improve offset Quality:	Upon the on-title registration of the covenant
Expiry date for OMP management actions to improve offset Quality:	10 years after the on-title registration of the covenant
Expiry date for maintenance of offset Quality at end of 10 management period	Nil - see in-perpetuity commitments in Section 3.1
Review of OMP in response to event or changing conditions	As required

3.4 Offset area protection (threat abatement)

The following actions will be undertaken by the landholder or their contractor to establish the **Offset area** as a conservation area (Appendix 1). The actions are once-off tasks that are required to set up the **Offset area**. These tasks are considered separately from the yearly management works that will be required after the **Offset area** is established.

3.4.1 Boundary fencing

Chepstowe has existing permanent boundary fencing of a stock-proof standard and able to exclude neighbouring domestic livestock from the property. The South **Offset area** is located in a larger paddock that has been recently fenced with stock-proof fencing and the Landholder intends to manage the entire paddock in a manner sympathetic to the conservation values present. No further fencing is required for the South **Offset area**.

The North **Offset area** is currently occupying the entirety of a single paddock but the fencing is currently being reconfigured by the Landholder. The north, west and southern fences are currently built to a stock-proof standard but the eastern fencing is rundown and being removed. There is also a historic fenceline



north of the creek that defines the edge of the NTGVVP patch that is no longer stock-proof. It will be essential that the fencing that replaces the historic fence line is low impact and stock-proof and allows for sheep grazing to be controlled in accordance with this **OMP**. Where sheep can access the North **Offset area** from adjoining land, the adjoining land must also be grazed in accordance with this **OMP**. If instead, the existing land-use rights need to be fully exercised in the parts of the paddock not under an offset agreement, stock-proof fencing between the farmed areas and the **Offset area** will be required. Fencing should meet the minimum standard set by DELWP detailed in *Output Delivery Standards For The Delivery Of Environmental Activities* (DELWP 2015).

Where fencing is installed on the boundary of or within an **Offset area**, the following requirements for the installation of fencing must be followed to ensure minimal disturbance to the **Offset area**:

- Fencing will use plain wire or electric wire only. Barbed wire is not permitted as it is a hazard to wildlife.
- All fence posts (strainer posts and stays) are to be direct-driven into the ground. Excavation for concrete footings is not allowed within **Offset areas**.
- For the North **Offset area**, which is to be grazed with sheep, new gates are to be as wide as possible to avoid disturbance associated with the funnelling of sheep through a confined space.
- Where fencing is installed within an **Offset area** (e.g. to define management zones), strainer posts and stays will be the minimum number needed.

In the event of the **Offset area** being affected by a rapidly increased rabbit population that cannot be controlled to an adequate level (based on advice from TfN) then the **Offset area** fencing will need to be upgraded to a rabbit proof standard (DELWP 2015).

3.4.2 Temporary fencing to aid conservation management

To aid conservation management of the **Offset area**, additional temporary fences can be used within the **Offset area**. Temporary fencing is fencing that is not intended to be in place longer than the duration of the grazing season.

For the North **Offset area**, temporary livestock fencing will be established and maintained around the boundary of any burnt area within the **Offset area** for at least 6 months post-burn to prevent stock access and damage to regenerating vegetation from grazing.

Temporary livestock fencing can be established to delineate smaller cells for higher intensity grazing if this is required.

The temporary fencing must have negligible impacts to native vegetation associated with the placement and removal of that fencing.

Fencing will use plain wire or electric wire only. Barbed wire is not permitted as it is a hazard to wildlife.

3.4.3 Other farm infrastructure

South **Offset area**: no new farm infrastructure or easements is allowed within the **Offset area**. This includes facilities for livestock such as watering points or yards or easements for linear infrastructure such as pipelines.

North **Offset area**: no new farm infrastructure or easements have been allowed for within the **Offset area**. No permanent facilities for livestock are allowed such as yards or easements for linear infrastructure such as pipelines. If temporary infrastructure is required to manage sheep grazing such as temporary fencing around burnt areas or portable troughs, the Landholder is to discuss this with TfN to ensure that it will not adversely affect the **Offset area**.



3.4.4 Signage and access control

Direct-driven posts or other low-impact permanent marker, will be installed at the commencement of the **OMP** to clearly identify the boundary of the **Offset area**. This is required for auditing, monitoring and management purposes. Posts will be located in accordance with advice from a qualified ecologist to ensure impacts to native vegetation are avoided. Note that due to the irregular boundary of the **NTGVVP** patches, these are not required to be marked separately from the overall boundary of the **Offset area**.

The **Offset area** remains private property and access or disturbance to the **Offset area** by unauthorised persons is prohibited. The existing access gates and security arrangement is adequate while the management is being undertaken by the Landholder and his regular staff and contractors. Should the property be sold or new contractors be engaged, signs will need to be placed on the gates to the paddock in which the **Offset area** is located. The signs will alert farm workers to the protected status of the paddock and that works are strictly limited to the **management actions** in this **OMP**. At a minimum, the signs will state to the effect: "Conservation Area – Access not permitted unless strictly authorised by the manager".

No external signage identifying the property as an offset site is proposed in this **OMP** but could be considered by the Landholder at their discretion. Conservation-related signage has potential to inadvertently attract undesirable impacts.

Monitoring of access will be conducted on an ongoing basis with fencing repaired or upgraded as required.

3.5 Offset area improvement (Year 1 to Year 10)

In accordance with Condition 7.d.v. this section provides the specific **management actions**, and timeframes for implementation, to be carried out to meet **specific objectives** to improve the **Quality** of the **NTGVVP** and **GSM habitat** within the **Offset area**. The detailed schedule of **management commitments**, **management actions** and **management targets** is provided in Appendix 1.

3.6 Annual works plan

The annual works plan is the key process for implementing the principle of adaptive management used to minimise the risk of the **Offset area** being unsuccessful. Adaptive management is discussed in greater detail in section 3.6.4 and section 5. Prior to works towards the **management actions** being undertaken each year, the annual works plan (based on the schedule in Appendix 1) will be reviewed and updated in consultation with TfN. The updates will be based on the results of the **management actions** implemented the previous year and any new research or advice that may arise. To enable adaptive management, the review should identify which **management actions** in the previous year were successful in contributing to achieving the management target but also which actions were ineffective. The annual works plan will need to be updated based on what actions were effective and where relevant, to address any ineffective **management actions**.

If the **management actions** were ineffective, it will be necessary to determine the reason why they were ineffective. The most common reasons why a **management action** was ineffective include the following:

- Incorrect implementation (e.g. herbicides applied at the incorrect rate).
- Insufficient time has passed to determine effectiveness (The **management action** was not expected to work yet).
- There were seasonal conditions that rendered the **management action** ineffective (e.g. drought year).
- **Management action** produced an unexpected result (e.g. emergence of a new weed after ecological burning).



It may also be determined that the **management action** is generally not the most effective method for achieving the management target and would be better achieved using a different method. Where the **management action** is deemed to be generally not effective, the Landholder should discuss alternatives with **Trust for Nature**.

The annual works plan will also address any new or emerging issues, even if not anticipated in this **OMP** or not listed in the schedule in Appendix 1.

The Landholder should be consulted and sign-off on the annual works plan if it is prepared by their manager or other delegate.

3.7 Strategy for biomass / organic litter control

Biomass management is essential to maintain indigenous flora and fauna values throughout the **Offset area**. The term biomass describes the amount of living plant material in a grassland such as the **Offset area**. Once the biomass has died, it forms a layer of dried organic litter on the surface of the grassland. The amount of biomass in one year therefore determines the amount of organic litter build up that carries over to the next year. Management of biomass and litter are therefore interrelated.

In the absence of a process to reduce biomass or the resultant litter, the dry conditions experienced in Australia mean that the organic litter builds up over time and threatens the condition of the grassland. Factors that influence the amount of biomass and organic matter include: seasonal conditions, presence/absence of fire, amount of grazing by herbivores, and the plant species present, with weeds generally growing faster and producing more biomass than native plant species. Biomass management is therefore required regardless of whether weed control is also required, however, controlling highly productive weeds can also assist in biomass management.

In native grasslands, biomass management is required to ensure that grasses do not dominate all the space in the grassland so that inter-tussock spaces are maintained. Where there are insufficient inter-tussock spaces, native grasses will shade out native herbs and prevent them from photosynthesising, flowering and seeding seed. Sufficient inter-tussock spaces are also required by **Golden Sun Moth**, a species that favours open grasslands for breeding. Biomass management is also a method of weed control as discussed in section 3.6.5.

3.7.1 Grazing for biomass / organic matter control (North Offset area only)

For the North **Offset area**, grazing will be the primary management method to manage biomass and organic litter. Grazing will be done through the application of pulse grazing followed by a grazing exclusion period each year. The grazing exclusion period is required to allow native grasses and herbs to flower and set seed without grazing pressure from sheep. Grazing pressure from kangaroos cannot be controlled by the Landholder, however, it will need to be considered in drought conditions as the **Offset area** is likely to have higher grass cover than other parts of the landscape and so attract kangaroo grazing in dry periods. It is also acknowledged that there is a tension between optimal weed management using grazing and the grazing exclusion period, which may prevent grazing at the optimal time to manage some late growing weeds. This is discussed below with regard to control of Brown-top Bent *Agrostis capillaris*. The use of ecological burning for biomass control is discussed in the sections below.

To inform the grazing strategy employed each season, biomass and organic litter will be surveyed using routine inspections by the Landholder in consultation with TfN. Ecological monitoring will also assess the effectiveness of the biomass control techniques applied and the need for any adjustments to the **management actions**.



The **management target** for biomass/organic litter is to reinstate a more natural tussock structure, which is currently grazed to a short lawn. The management targets are as follows:

- Cover of native medium tufted graminoids increases to ideally 40% i.e. native grasses allowed to mature and flower at a height of greater than 10 centimetres.
- Inter-tussocks spaces maintained within the range of 20 to 40% bare ground.
- Organic litter at 5 to 15% cover. Where there is a sustained build up in biomass over any one year, resulting in a reduction of inter-tussock space to an average of less than 20%, biomass will need to be actively reduced.

3.7.2 Conversion to pulse grazing (North Offset area only)

Currently the **Offset area** is subject to sheep grazing throughout much of the year. The result is that all native flora species are flowering/maturing almost at ground level rather than at their natural height. To reduce the impact of grazing, sheep grazing will be converted to a pulse grazing system. Due to the relatively small size of the **Offset area**, the pulse grazing will be feasible without further division of the paddock into grazing cells. Biomass control will be consistent with the standards for management of ecological grazing provided by DELWP (2015).

To ensure the conservation values of the grassland are protected there will be strict restrictions on the grazing activities that are allowed within the **Offset area**. Grazing of domestic livestock will be restricted to sheep only. Grazing by any other domestic livestock is specifically excluded in the in-perpetuity **management commitments** in this **OMP**.

The timing of grazing will be strictly controlled to allow native species to grow and set seed over the spring to mid-summer period (DELWP 2015). Sheep will be excluded from the start of spring to the middle of summer annually, in perpetuity. While the start of the spring growing season is best judged on the ground on a yearly basis, Table 13 provides targets to be met for ongoing management of grazing within the **Offset area**, including dates for the grazing exclusion period. The only exceptions to requirements specified for pulse grazing is to allow for an ecological burn or if additional strategic grazing is needed to address a specified weed problem. For ecological burns, a fire management plan produced to inform when grazing will be removed to allow for a build-up in biomass to establish a burn. For strategic grazing, see the adaptive management discussion in the paragraph below.

Each pulse grazing event will occur over a short duration and allow for periods of grazing exclusion. The maximum length of continuous grazing is 3 weeks with a minimum 5 weeks rest between cycles. The rest period will need to be judged by the Landholder to ensure native grasses have recovered sufficiently prior to reintroducing sheep.

Grazing intensity needs to exceed the standard stocking rate to provide grazing pressure sufficient to ensure all plant species are grazed evenly in a short amount of time and to prevent selective browsing. The stocking rate will be dependent on the seasonal conditions and the amount of feed available and so cannot be stipulated in this **OMP**.

Depending on seasonal conditions, at least three pulse grazing cycles will occur within the grazing period, one of which will occur immediately prior to the exclusion period (weather permitting).

Grazing will not occur in very wet conditions were pugging will cause unacceptable levels of damage to soil and grassland structure or result in more than 30% bare ground within the **Offset area**. The **Offset area** will need to be monitored during wet periods to prevent excessive soil damage in seasonally wet areas. Following any high rainfall events, stock will be removed immediately. Grazing will not occur in very dry conditions where grazing will destroy the tussock structure of the grassland and result in more than 30% bare ground within the **Offset area**.



Weed hygiene will be important to minimise the risk of sheep introducing new weed problems into the **Offset area**. Sheep moved into the **Offset area** will be selected and timed to minimise the potential for weed seed transport via mud, attachment to their fleece or within their faeces. Ideally, sheep will be shorn before entering the **Offset area**, and will otherwise be kept in paddocks with low weed levels. Sheep will be contained in a low weed area and allowed to shed weed seeds for at least 24 hours before entering the **Offset area**. Stock movements into the **Offset area** will be excluded within two days of rainfall and new stock brought onto the property will be excluded from use in in the **Offset area** until shorn.

Requirement	Target
Grazing exclusion period (sheep grazing generally not permitted*)	15 th September to 31 st January annually* (4.5 months)
Pulse grazing period (sheep grazing generally permitted in accordance with this OMP)	1 February to 14 th Sept (7.5 months)
Number of rotations	3 or more (dependant on conditions)
Minimum rest from grazing between pulse grazing	5 weeks
Maximum continuous pulse grazing	3 weeks (2 weeks or less preferred)
Biomass management thresholds	Total vegetation cover of approx. 70% (maintain within range of 60 to 80%)
Target inter-tussock space	Approx. 30% of total bare ground cover (maintain within range of 20 to 40%)

Table 13 Requirements and limit of grazing activities within the Offset area

3.7.3 Adaptive management of grazing (North Offset area only)

A grazing regime is made up of three factors that are known to influence plant growth: season, duration and intensity of grazing. The correct implementation and fine-tuning of the pulse grazing regime will be essential to the success of the North **Offset area**. Season of grazing will be controlled by the grazing exclusion period with a protocol put in place to allow strategic grazing where needed during the exclusion period. Duration and intensity of the grazing will be controlled by the Landholder and will be adapted to meet season conditions on an annual basis but also throughout the grazing period. Duration refers to both the length of grazing and the length of rest. Intensity refers to the stocking rate within individual grazing cells. Grazing should be adapted to meet seasonal conditions, to learn from the experience of previous years or in response to further research or information on grazing in **NTGVVP**. The Landholder is required to keep records of stocking rate and duration to ensure that the results of grazing can be adapted over time.

3.7.4 Grazing protocol for exclusion period strategic grazing (North Offset area only)

Management of biomass from excessive growth of weeds and to prevent weeds setting seed, may require strategic grazing to occur within the grazing exclusion period. Grazing within the exclusion period can occur under a limited set of circumstances in consultation with TfN. Grazing within the exclusion period will be limited to strategic crash grazing within the areas of the **Offset area** affected by a specified problem. Such strategic crash grazing will need to meet the following requirements:

• A risk assessment is made (based on the current seasonal conditions) to compare the benefits of the proposed grazing with the risks of not grazing, and the risks associated with undertaking the grazing.



- The strategic crash graze is to be done for conservation purposes only. Reasonable reasons include unusual seasonal conditions resulting in unusual amounts of plant growth, specific weed management objectives.
- Under no circumstances can the crash graze be done for the primary purpose of benefiting agricultural production (e.g. commercial considerations or feed requirements).
- At no time should a change in grazing be undertaken where it poses a threat to the grassland (e.g. very wet conditions that could cause pugging).
- Prior to introducing the sheep, the Landholder is to document with photos and notes in writing as to the specific reason why the crash grazing is to be implemented. This should include information to show that a risk assessment at point 1 above has been done.
- This information is to be provided to TfN prior to introducing the sheep.
- If possible, the grazing strategy should be developed in consultation with TfN. It is acknowledged, however, that strategic grazing needs to be timed precisely so that TfN resourcing constraints may mean that a response is not received before the time when the grazing needs to occur. This should not preclude the **Landholder** from undertaking adaptive management if all other dot points above are complied with.

Further discussion of pulse grazing is provided in Section 3.6.6, especially with regard to targeting particular grassy weed species that may require grazing during the exclusion period.

* As per adaptive management, strategic grazing may be allowed during this period for specific conservation related purposes.

3.8 Use of fire for ecological management

The controlled application of fire is an efficient and cost-effective alternative technique for reducing biomass in grasslands and can be effective at reducing weed cover, especially for species that are difficult to control. Periodic burning that is followed by spot spraying can be an important strategy for difficult to control weed species such as perennial grassy weeds or widespread annuals. Importantly, burning (c.f. grazing or slashing) allows greater access and efficiency for weed control and increased natural regeneration of indigenous plant species. While burning may enhance germination of native species, it can also promote weed species to germinate, however, stimulating the soil stored weed seed bank and then applying follow-up weed control is seen as positive as this allows this seed bank to be exhausted over time.

However, burning also has risks involved that must be managed carefully to avoid creating further problems. The reduction in biomass, increased open space, increased soil nutrients that can follow an ecological burn means that weeds often germinate in high numbers shortly after a burn. Because weeds generally grow faster than native species, if weeds are not controlled immediately after a burn, then there is a risk that weed cover will increase as a result of the burn. The timing of any burning also needs to consider the habitat requirements of **GSM** and therefore burning is prohibited from the beginning of the **GSM** flight season (typically about November) until the end of January.

3.8.1 South Offset area – ecological burning for biomass control

For the South **Offset area**, ecological burning will be the primary management method to manage biomass and organic litter. The current Landholder and their contractor is experienced in undertaking ecological burns within the **Offset area** and therefore there is a high degree of certainty that this activity will contribute to maintaining biomass and organic matter levels. The general ecological burning requirements described in the section below apply to all burns undertaken.

The **management target** for biomass/organic litter will contribute to maintaining sward vigour and allowing adequate space for recruitment of native flora. Biomass will also improve the openness of the sward to



encourage a greater amount of **GSM** breeding activity and therefore increase the **GSM** population. The management targets are as follows:

- Inter-tussocks spaces maintained within the range of 20 to 40%.
- Organic litter at 5 to 15% cover. Where there is a sustained build up in biomass over any one year, resulting in a reduction of inter-tussock space to an average of less than 20%, biomass will need to be actively reduced.

3.8.2 North Offset area – ecological burning for biomass control

The North **Offset area** has not been subject to regular burns in recent decades and as a result, the management requirements of the **Offset area** with regard to burning can only be inferred. If ecological burning is to be introduced into the **Offset area**, it is to be done initially on a trial basis in a small area to ensure that the Landholder can develop a practical and feasible approach to managing any extra post-burn weed control since ecological burns may stimulate weed germination. The initial trial burn should be much smaller than would normally be undertaken. A burn of 10% the area of the offset (1.7 hectares), should allow the Landholder to ascertain what amount of weed germination could be expected from a larger burn and plan for follow-up weed control. The trial burn should be done with the same conditions as would be required for a larger burn with respect to season and intensity. The burn area should be temporarily fenced to prevent grazing and post-burn germination of weeds should be closely monitored and treated until native species have regenerated (at least 6 months). Photos should be taken regularly to track the progress of the post-burn recovery. The results of the trial should be evaluated by the Landholder in consultation with TfN and the advising ecologist. If the post-burn weed management requirements are deemed feasible by the Landholder and TfN and the ecologist are satisfied with the results, ecological burning can be progressively introduced into other areas of the **Offset area**.

The management targets for ecological burning of the North **Offset area** are the same as for grazing in section 3.7.1.

3.8.3 General ecological burning requirements

The following section provides guidelines for use of burning only for the purposed of ecological management of biomass and weed control only. Fuel hazard reduction burning is excluded from the **Offset area**. It should be noted that in some wet years burning may not be possible prior to seed set due to a combination conditions and restrictions.

A fire management plan is to be completed in consultation with TfN and/or the advising ecologist as part of the annual works plan. Any approved fire plan will be provided to TfN at least three weeks prior to any burning event identified within that plan.

Any ecological burns will be conducted during benign (low wind and mild temperature) weather conditions. Burning within the **Offset area** will be undertaken only with due consideration to relevant health and safety issues. Ecological burning should only occur outside the prescribed declared fire danger period for the region and therefore is unlikely to require a permit. However, the Country Fire Authority should be consulted if there is any doubt about the permit requirements to undertake planned burning. The Landholder is responsible for ensuring the requirements of this **OMP** are carried out only if compliant with all other government planning requirements and permits. Any planned burns will minimise the potential for fire to spread in an uncontrolled manner.

All parts of the **Offset area** are suitable for burning, however, the extent of the burn needs to determined based on what is feasible for follow up weed control (as determined by the trial burn). For weed control, selected areas of grassland may be burnt to tackle particular weed issues or to assist in the lowering of soil nitrogen and phosphorous, which would also assist in weed control works. For biomass control, selected



areas of grassland will be those where biomass is approaching the upper limit allowed under this **OMP** (70 to 80% cover).

No area is to be burnt more frequently than every two years. After each burn, the Landholder will prepare maps identifying the fire history of the **Offset area** to ensure the time since an area was last burnt can be documented. If wildfire should happen to occur in the **Offset area**, this will also need to be recorded in the fire history.

At no time should the entire **Offset area** be burnt in a single season. The application of a mosaic burning regime is the preferred burn pattern and therefore any individual burn should not burn all vegetation within the **Offset area**. Nevertheless, the burns must be planned to meet the requirement to maintain adequate fauna habitat within the **Offset area**. Planned burns therefore will be restricted to no more than 50% of the **Offset area** within any 12 month period. Patchy burns are a desirable outcome and an array of small burnt and unburnt patches covering up to a hectare is an appropriate scale on which to gauge the success of the burn.

The extent, intensity and timing of burns must take into account the presence of threatened species, in particular **GSM**. Fire may kill individuals of **GSM**s during the warmer months of the year when they are active above the soil surface. Timing of burns should only be undertaken outside the **GSM** flight season (generally November to January) unless fires are conducted at a small and limited scale. Late spring burns can be implemented if less than 20% of the **Offset area** is impacted.

Burnt areas will be protected from grazing for at least 6 months to allow species regeneration and recruitment to occur. Temporary fencing should be erected around burn areas if grazing is to be implemented in the surrounding areas.

3.9 Slashing for biomass and weed control

Slashing and mowing can provide an alternative to both grazing and ecological burning. The timing and effect of slashing is under direct control by the Landholder providing a low-risk management option in areas where rock cover is low enough for the slashing machinery to operate. Slashing and mowing can be timed to prevent seed set of weeds, manage standing biomass or manage biomass ahead of planned burns. The main risk with slashing comes from the potential of using machinery that is contaminated with weed seeds. However, this risk is minimised if the Landholder owns their own machinery that is only used on the one property as is the case with the current Landholder. The current Landholder has demonstrated that a high degree of control can be achieved with slashing by only slashing those areas where the weed is present and leaving areas dominated with native grasses standing. Thatch left on the ground after slashing will decompose providing a source of nutrients which may lead to favourable conditions for increased weed growth. This issue can be minimised by removing the thatch, maximising the height at which the grass is slashed or else only slashing ahead of planned burns. Slashing or mowing should therefore follow the following requirements:

- Only use uncontaminated machinery, especially ensuring no introduction of noxious grassy weeds.
- Minimise the amount of thatch that is left on the ground unless there is certainty about when an ecological burn will occur.
- Only slash to the height needed to control weed seed set it is not necessary to slash the whole plant for weed control and this will minimise the amount of thatch left on the ground.
- Trial slashing in a limited area and evaluate results prior to introducing to wider areas.
- Slash only those areas that are being targeted, avoiding areas that don't support the target weed species or other management problem.



3.10 Weed control

The management targets for weed control are shown in Table 14 and Table 15 below and further information is provided in the sections that follow.

The weed control strategy is a multi-pronged approach that takes advantage of the ecological conditions of the **Offset area**. The weed control strategy focuses on ensuring that the ecological conditions stay favourable to native plant species while limiting the growth and reproduction of weed species as well as directly treating weed infestations. This strategy provides the native species with opportunities to recolonise the areas that were previously occupied by weeds once the weeds have been killed. The weed control strategy is similar to that used for well-managed native pastures making the weed control strategy practical and feasible within the agricultural context of the **Offset area**.

The weed control strategy aims to achieve the following outcomes:

- Maximise recruitment opportunities for native plants species by providing decreased competition from weeds for space, light, nutrients and water.
- Minimise recruitment and reduce recruitment conditions that favour weeds by:
 - Maintaining sufficient (60% to 80%) ground cover. Insufficient ground cover, resulting in excess bare ground, from over-grazing, post-fire or drought provides increased opportunities for weed seeds to germinate and grow.
 - Minimising nutrient enrichment.
 - Directly killing weeds prior to seed set with herbicide or physical removal. Chemical free methods of weed control such as steam weeding or flame weeding can also be used.
 - Limiting the yearly growth of weeds to minimise the total space they occupy in the Offset area and to
 prevent excessive build-up of organic litter (i.e. dead grass) that can smother the growth of seedlings
 and other plants.
 - Limiting the yearly growth of weeds at the correct time to also prevent seed set.
 - Trialling the use of fire to encourage germination of soil stored weed seed and exhaust the soil weed seed bank.

Note that while this **OMP** lists management targets for particular weed species, the target species are likely to change over time. The abundance of weeds will change in response to seasonal conditions, in response to grazing or in response to controlled burns (e.g. post-burn flush of broad-leaf weeds) and new weeds may emerge as a result of wind or animal-mediated seed dispersal or germination of soil-stored seed. The **management actions** for weed control must be adapted to meet the changing conditions. Weed cover and weed species will need to be monitored by both the Landholder and in yearly ecological monitoring with management adapted in response to the monitoring results. The document DELWP *Output Delivery Standards For The Delivery Of Environmental Activities* (DELWP 2015) provides information about acceptable weed control activities for conservation activities (N.B. this document supersedes the previous references to BushBroker Standards). However, for any new or emerging weeds or weeds requiring new management methods, TfN will be consulted for site-specific advice and approve the control techniques.



Scientific Name	Common Name	Average cover 2019	Proposed control measures	Management Target for cover 2030			
Woody weeds							
Rosa rubiginosa, Crataegus monogyna, Ulex europeus	Sweet Briar, Hawthorn, Gorse	<1%	Cut and paint or other appropriate application of appropriate herbicide. Mechanical removal only if low impact.	Eliminate all established adult plants, regeneration/ seedlings <1%**			
Short-lived perennial grasses							
Anthoxanthum odoratum	Sweet Vernal- grass	GSM habitat: 40% NTGVVP: 5%	Targeted slashing to prevent seed set and reduce biomass. Ecological burning to reduce biomass. Spot spraying appropriate herbicide (or non-chemical methods if available) to prevent seeding.	GSM habitat: 10% NTGVVP: <5%			
Annual grasses							
<i>Vulpia</i> spp., <i>Briza</i> spp., <i>Bromus</i> spp., <i>Aira</i> spp., <i>Avena</i> spp.	Fescue, Quaking-grass, Brome, Air- grass, Oats	GSM habitat: 10% NTGVVP: 5%	Targeted slashing to prevent seed set and reduce biomass. Ecological burning to reduce biomass. Spot spraying appropriate herbicide (or non-chemical methods if available) to prevent seeding.	GSM habitat areas: <10% NTGVVP: <5%			
High herbaceous th	reat weeds						
Perennial tussock grasses: Phalaris aquatica, Dactylis glomerata	Toowoomba Canary-grass, Cocksfoot	2%	Targeted slashing to prevent seed set and reduce biomass. Ecological burning to reduce biomass. Spot spraying appropriate herbicide (or non-chemical methods if available) to prevent seeding.	<1%			
Broad-leaved weeds: primarily <i>Cirsium vulgare</i> and <i>Hypochaeris</i> <i>radicata</i>	Primarily Spear Thistle and Flatweed	1%	Spot Spraying appropriate herbicide (prevent flowering). Ecological burning to germinate seed.	<1%			
Perennial mat- forming grasses: <i>Agrostis capillaris</i>	Brown-top Bent	5%	Time-controlled pulse grazing by sheep to prevent seed set and reduce biomass (may require grazing within grazing exclusion period). Spot spraying appropriate herbicide (early spring).	<5%			
Total		GSM habitat: <59% NTGVVP: <19%		GSM habitat: <28% NTGVVP: <18%			

Table 14 Management targets for weed control – South Offset area

**It is expected that seedlings may re-establish from time to time due to the re-introduction of seeds by birds and other animals or resprouting of trunks after previous year's treatment. Inspections at Year 10 should not detect any established adult plants



Scientific Name	Common Name	Average cover 2019	Proposed control measures	Management Target for cover 2030			
Woody weeds							
Rosa rubiginosa, Crataegus monogyna, Ulex europeus	Sweet Briar, Hawthorn, Gorse (adult plants along creek have been sprayed and mostly occur outside Offset area)	GSM habitat: 1% NTGVVP: <1%	Appropriate application of appropriate herbicide. Mechanical removal of dead adults must use low impact methods.	Eliminate all established adult plants, regeneration/ seedlings <1%			
Annual grasses and pa	asture species						
Vulpia spp., Briza spp., Bromus spp., Aira spp., Avena spp., Lolium spp., Trifolium subterranean	Fescue, Quaking- grass, Brome, Air-grass, Oats, Rye- grass, Subterranean clover	GSM habitat: 40% NTGVVP: 10%	Pulse grazing by sheep to prevent seed set and reduce biomass. Spot spraying appropriate herbicide (or non-chemical methods if available) to prevent seeding. Targeted slashing to prevent seed set and reduce biomass. Ecological burning to reduce biomass.	GSM habitat: 20% NTGVVP: 5%			
High herbaceous thre	at weeds						
Perennial tussock grasses: <i>Phalaris</i> aquatica, Dactylis glomerata	Toowoomba Canary-grass, Cocksfoot	GSM habitat: 5% NTGVVP: <1%	Pulse grazing by sheep to prevent seed set and reduce biomass. Spot spraying appropriate herbicide (or non-chemical methods if available) to prevent seeding. Targeted slashing to prevent seed set and reduce biomass. Ecological burning to reduce biomass.	<1%			
Broad-leaved weeds: primarily <i>Cirsium</i> <i>vulgare, Silybum</i> <i>marianum,</i> <i>Hypochaeris radicata</i>	Primarily Spear Thistle, Variegated Thistle, Flatweed	GSM habitat: 5% NTGVVP: <1%	Spot spraying appropriate herbicide (or non-chemical methods if available) to prevent seeding. Ecological burning to germinate seed.	<1%			
Perennial mat- forming grasses: <i>Agrostis capillaris</i>	Brown-top Bent	GSM habitat: 10% NTGVVP: <1%	Pulse grazing by sheep to prevent seed set and reduce biomass (may require grazing within grazing exclusion period). Spot spraying appropriate herbicide (early spring). Potential trial of late crash grazing.	GSM habitat: <10% NTGVVP: <1%			
Total		GSM habitat: < 61% NTGVVP: <14%		GSM habitat: <33% NTGVVP: <9%			

Table 15 Management targets for weed control – North Offset area

**It is expected that seedlings may re-establish from time to time due to the re-introduction of seeds by birds and other animals or resprouting of trunks after previous year's treatment. Inspections at Year 10 should not detect any established adult plants



3.10.1 Woody weeds

Woody weeds were recorded within the **Offset area** but all species were recorded as isolated plants only. The total cover of woody weeds was less than 1% of the **Offset area**. Woody weeds are considered easier to control that herbaceous weeds due to their larger size, slower growth/recruitment, and their occurrence as individual plants. The elimination of all established adult woody weeds is therefore considered practical within the 10 year management period. Woody weeds are generally spread by animals, including birds, that have ingested the fruit, which makes complete elimination of all woody weeds impractical. However, after the adults have been eliminated, weed control will focus on detection and treatment of new seedlings or any resprouting stumps that may occur following weed control. Woody weeds that are detected either Incidentally during site management or as part of monitoring activities, should be recorded with GPS and controlled and eliminated as soon as possible and before fruiting and seed set. Using this approach, the cover of woody weeds is to be maintained at negligible levels in-perpetuity.

3.10.2 Annual weeds

Annual weeds were recorded throughout the **Offset area**. Annual grasses are present throughout the **Offset area** including Fescue *Vulpia* spp., Quaking Grass *Briza* spp., Soft Brome *Bromus hordeaceus*, Hair Grass *Aira* spp. and Wild Oat *Avena* spp. while annual broad-leaved weeds like Cape Weed *Arctotheca calendula* and Heron's-bill *Erodium* spp. are concentrated around high traffic areas such as the high points in the landscape. The pasture species Subterranean Clover and Rye-grass is present throughout the North Offset area as a result of the current agricultural usage.

Annual weeds are not considered a key threat to the conservation values of the **Offset area**. However, uncontrolled growth of annual weeds can reduce the vegetation condition and Habitat Hectares score by decreasing the Lack of Weeds score, Recruitment score and Organic Litter score. Given this is the case, management will be directed at maintaining the annual weed cover at the existing level and minimising growth and reproduction. Management using targeted grazing (North **Offset area**) or ecological burning (South **Offset area**) is expected to have an impact on the abundance of these species, however, seasonal conditions such as a wet winter followed by a late warm spring may produce growth rates in excess of what can be controlled with strategic grazing before the grazing exclusion period begins. The grazing provisions also allow for strategic grazing to be implemented during the grazing exclusion period under certain circumstances (section 3.7.4).

If grazing and ecological burning alone has not been able to constrain the spread of annual weeds, direct weed control methods should be applied as discussed below. If chemical weed control is proposed for annual weeds, its use should be evaluated against the risk of damage to non-target (native) plant species prior to application.

3.10.3 High threat herbaceous weeds (perennial tussock grasses, perennial broad-leaved weeds)

High threat herbaceous weeds are those that have potential to displace native species of the same type. For example, perennial grassy weeds like Toowoomba Canary-grass have potential to replace native perennial tussocks grasses like Kangaroo Grass *Themeda triandra*. The overall management objective is to ensure that all high threat herbaceous weeds are controlled to ensure that there is no increase in their cover where they currently occur, no further spread of these weeds into new areas of the **Offset area**, and where possible, to reduce their cover and abundance. The management targets for high threat weeds are set for weed species grouped according to growth form and status (Table 14 and Table 15).

As discussed above, grazing and ecological burning will be the principal control methods for these species. For unpalatable species or species where grazing is no sufficient to prevent their spread, herbicide or other methods will also be used as described below. Weed control will be a regular activity and undertaken generally in accordance with the schedule in Appendix 1.



3.10.4 Use of herbicide

Spot-spraying involves applying herbicide using a small nozzle so that only the target plant is treated. All spot spraying must be completed in a manner that minimises non-target damage by following all manufacturer's directions regarding rainfall and wind speed on the day of application. There will be no spot spraying in close proximity to threatened flora without protective measures in place (i.e. physical shielding). Spot spraying will be undertaken regularly, particularly in spring and early summer, with a focus on killing weed plants prior to seed set.

There are also a number of chemical-free weed control methods that could be trialled including steam weeding and flame weeding. The Landholder does not have experience with these methods so it is not a requirement that they be used. If, in consultation with TfN, a trial of chemical-free weed control is considered worthwhile, this can be done within the requirements for adaptive management within this **OMP** since a move away from chemical usage would be considered to be of general benefit to the local environment.

The **Offset area** contains aquatic habitat in the form of a creek and dams. All chemicals should be used in accordance with manufacturer's directions when working near these waterways. Given the long history of herbicide use in the surrounding cropping areas, there is no specific runoff risk is identified for the application of herbicides to the **Offset area** if used in accordance with the manufacturer's directions.

3.10.5 Options for control of Brown-top Bent

Brown-top Bent *Agrostis capillaris* has several biological characteristics that make it more difficult to control. Firstly it is a weed of low fertility soils so that it directly competes with other native grass species that are likewise adapted to low fertility soils. Secondly, its rhizomatous growth form means that it can survive undetected until it flowers as well as making it harder to target with spot spraying of herbicide and is less favoured by sheep. For the **Offset area**, control of Brown-top Bent will require a combination of herbicide application and strategic grazing and/or ecological burning.

The manufacturer's instructions for use of glyphosate (RoundUp) state that herbicide application alone is insufficient to kill the species and follow up management is required involving full disturbance with a tyned implement 10-21 days after spraying and then re-seeding. Since this treatment is not possible within a conservation context, it is unlikely that herbicide alone will be effective.

Agriculture Victoria advises that for winter grazing, a change from set-stocking to rotational grazing will help to control Brown-top Bent by giving an advantage to more upright species such as tussock grasses. The control of Brown-top Bent will require the fine-tuning of the duration and stocking rate of the proposed grazing system as well as the duration of each rest period. These adjustments fit within the requirements of the **OMP** to adapt management to seasonal growth conditions. More information can be found at the following link:

http://agriculture.vic.gov.au/agriculture/farm-management/pastures/developing-a-bent-grass-controlprogram

The species responds readily to summer rainfall and so growth may remain static in drought years but increase rapidly over summer in wet years. Agriculture Victoria advises that in a wet year, grazing may be required late in the year to control growth that can occur after summer rainfall. Grazing will be most effective if done in the early flowering stage but before seed set. <u>http://agriculture.vic.gov.au/agriculture/farm-management/pastures/what-is-bent-grass</u>

A late grazing strategy would involve grazing within the grazing exclusion period of this **OMP** and so would need to be done in consultation with **Trust for Nature**. In areas where Brown-top Bent cover is highest and if herbicide application has been ineffective, late crash grazing to control growth can be trialled. The trial is to be within the affected areas only and only after confirming that no threatened flora or fauna species would be


impacted negatively by the grazing. It is assumed that in years of high Brown-top Bent growth, the growth of native grasses will also be high and so will not suffer any long term effects from the grazing trial. The trial should be done in consultation with TfN who can monitor the effects of late grazing on native species as well as Brown-top Bent. If successful, the grazing can be repeated under the same restrictions in subsequent years.

3.10.6 New and emerging weed problems

A key **management action** will be to ensure procedures are in place that can detect any new weed species or emerging weed problems in time to take preventative action. The **management actions** are described in Appendix 1. The requirements comprise routine inspections by the Landholder (on-going), visits from **Trust for Nature** (on-going) and annual ecological monitoring (first 10 years of OMP). Any new or emerging weed problems are to be recorded with GPS or clearly marked in the field and treated as soon as possible. Records are to be kept of any new or emerging weeds identified, the treatment applied and follow up inspections of the treated weeds. Where possible, new and emerging high threat weeds (noxious weeds or known environmental weeds) will be eradicated from the **Offset area**. However, if the weed is already established by the time it is detected and cannot be eradicated in must be controlled to less than 1% cover.

The surrounding landscape is the most likely source of new weeds so that it is advisable to have weed monitoring and treatment schedules for the rest of the property (although this cannot be enforced via the **OMP** or TfN covenant). This is likely to be a cost effective way to reduce weed loads in the **Offset area**. Public land can also be a source of weeds (e.g. council managed road reserves) and it would be prudent for the Landholder to alert the relevant authority to any weed problems on public land adjoining the property such as the Hawthorns on Chepstowe-Pittong Road.

3.11 Pest animals

The *Catchment and Land Protection Act 1994* requires that Landholders must take all reasonable steps to prevent the spread of - and as far as possible eradicate - established pest animals on their land. In addition to this legal duty, the control of declared pest animals including rabbits and other pest herbivores is a requirement of this **OMP**.

Foxes, rabbits and hares must be monitored and controlled throughout the year. Within the North **Offset area**, activity by European Rabbits *Oryctolagus cuniculus* was evident during site visits.

Pest management should use an integrated approach such as is described in *Output Delivery Standards For The Delivery Of Environmental Activities* (DELWP 2015). For rabbits, an integrated approach involves fumigation, hand collapsing of burrows and baiting. Ripping of rabbit warrens within the **Offset area** is not permitted. If any warrens develop within the **Offset area**, they are to be treated by low impact measures such as fumigation or implosion. Remove any carcasses to prevent poisoning of native predators. In the event of an explosion in the rabbit population, rabbit-proof fencing of the **Offset area** will need to be considered as control options for these pests.

To aid pest management within the **Offset area**, the Landowner should aim to control rabbit activity on their land within 500 m of the **Offset area** including removing all active rabbit warrens, shrubby environmental weeds (e.g. African Box-thorn, Sweet Briar) and remove any unnecessary stockpiles or rocks or other materials (although this cannot be enforced via the **OMP** or TfN covenant).

Other problem pest animals may include mice, cats and foxes that may find shelter in crops, rock formations and rock walls within and adjacent to the **Offset area**. The Landholder will select from the range of control techniques available and apply the most effective in the local conditions. Control works targeting these pest animals are not expected to have any negative impact on any MNES.



3.12 Understorey diversity and recruitment

The NTGVVP of the **Offset area** already supports a relatively high number and diversity of native plant species. The **management actions** associated with plant diversity therefore aim to protect the existing plant diversity and encourage its growth and recruitment.

The main risks to understorey diversity in the **Offset area** once it is protect by the TfN covenant will be: overgrazing (either by sheep or other introduced herbivores), uncontrolled weed growth and the accumulation of biomass over a prolonged period (greater than a year). Since all three risks are addressed in the previous **management actions** no further mitigation measures are required to manage native plant diversity and recruitment.

There is currently no need to do any supplementary planting or revegetation within the **Offset area**. The Habitat Hectares assessment shows that the **Offset area** retains between 50 and 90% of the expected number of understorey lifeforms, and is generally not considered deficient in terms of the species diversity of the life-forms that are present. Missing or deficient elements are typically the large herbs or graminoids, which is often a function of the growth stage of the plants present.

If the Landholder wished to undertake works for the reintroduction of native species now considered locally extinct, a risk assessment of the activity will need to done in consultation with TfN. The risk assessment will need to include the likelihood of:

- Introducing new weeds or plant diseases, which can be brought in on potting mix from nurserygrown seedlings;
- Disturbance to the Offset area by digging holes to plant seedlings; and
- Introduction of weed seeds in seed mixes or machinery.

3.13 Offset area maintenance (Year 11-onwards)

At the end of Year 10, ecological monitoring will determine the condition of the **GSM habitat** using Habitat Hectares and the results of **GSM** surveys. The condition measured at the end of 10 years must be maintained in perpetuity to ensure that **NTGVVP** and **GSM** continue to be provided with a conservation benefit. The following ongoing **management action** will apply in-perpetuity and align with the **management commitments** listed in Section 3.1.

As the responsible authority for TfN covenant, it will be the responsibility of TfN to ensure the land under covenant continues to be managed in accordance with their requirements.

The Landholder agrees to undertake the following on-going **management actions** listed in the following table (Table 16).



Management action	On-going requirement
Access and signage	 Routine inspections to check the condition of fencing and signs. Maintaining the existing paddock fencing and signage including the arrangement of gates, unless otherwise authorised by TfN as appropriate.
Weeds	 Routine inspections to look for and detect any new and emerging weeds and eliminate to < 1% cover. Ensuring that overall weed cover does not increase beyond the levels attained at the end of the 10-year management period either.
Pest animals	 Routine inspections to look for and detect pest animals, particularly rabbits, hares, foxes and cats; Ensuring that size of the pest animal population does not increase beyond the levels attained at the end of the 10-year management period.
Biomass	 Manage biomass so that bare ground stays at its current level of 20 to 40% cover. Manage organic litter to meet the EVC benchmark cover of 10%.
Grazing exclusion	 High intensity, short duration (known as 'crash' or 'pulse') grazing of sheep only. Grazing excluded from 15th September to 31st January, under ideal conditions. Use of strategic crash grazing can be considered during the grazing exclusion period under the specific circumstances described in section 3.6.4. Ensuring the in-perpetuity exclusions in Section 3.1 continue to be apply.

Table 16 Summary of on-going management actions (Year 11 onwards)

3.14 Contractor requirements

Due to the sensitive nature of the working environment, contractors working with **Offset area** are required to be suitably qualified and experienced. All workers should be familiar with the restrictions association with working within a conservation area prior to starting works. This can be in the form of a site induction or supervision by the Landholder. Note that the contractor requirements apply to all of the establishment, improvement and on-going **management actions**.

3.14.1 Required qualifications

All management works are to be carried out by the Landholder (their delegate) or their contractor. All unsupervised contractors should be suitably qualified and experienced and familiar with the **Offset area**. For labourers being supervised by a suitably qualified contractor, the labourers should be carefully supervised until the Landholder or supervisor is satisfied that the contractor is suitably skilled at the required tasks.

All ecological monitoring of **NTGVVP** should be undertaken by a suitably qualified professional ecologist who has at least 3 years of experience in assessment of native grassland. All **GSM** surveys should be overseen by a suitably qualified ecologist who has experience in identifying **GSM** for field surveys.

DoEE defines suitably qualified person as follows:

• **Suitably qualified person** means a person who has professional qualifications, training, skills and/or experience related to the nominated subject matter and can give authoritative independent assessment, advice and analysis on performance relative to the subject matter using the relevant protocols, standards, methods and/or literature.



3.14.2 Required independence

The suitably qualified ecologist undertaking the monitoring must have sufficient independence to objectively assess the results of management actions and therefore cannot be employed by the same contractor engaged to implement the management actions. DoEE also has requirements for auditors to be independent. Please refer to the approval conditions for EPBC Act referral 2017/8049 for auditor requirements.

3.14.3 Site inductions

For contractors that are unfamiliar with the **Offset area**, the Landholder (or delegate) should provide site inductions to ensure that any contractors undertaking management works within the **Offset area** are aware of the allowed activities and work methods. Site inductions should include the following key information:

- The **Offset area** is a conservation area that is protected by federal legislation.
- There are fines associated with damage to the grasslands.
- A work order with specific tasks or a list of works permitted in the **Offset area**.
- A list of works prohibited in the **Offset area**.
- Weed hygiene protocols to avoid introducing new weeds on boots, vehicles, plant or equipment.
- All vegetation within the **Offset area** is protected (other than weeds). Protected vegetation includes native grasses and wildflowers, sedges and rushes, mosses and lichen.
- Surface rocks should not be disturbed as these provide habitat for native reptiles.
- Works should have a minimal impact on the grassland and efforts should be made to avoid leaving wheel ruts due to driving in wet conditions or otherwise disturbing the grassland.
- The emergency management and reporting procedures for **Incident**s. Note to contractors that possible or actual damage to the grasslands counts as an **Incident** along with weather-related, bushfire, accidents or medical emergencies.

3.14.4 Contracts

For engagement of new contractors, the Request for Tender or Request for Quote should include a requirement to comply with the relevant provisions in the **OMP**. The Landholder should request details of the contractor's experience with undertaking works in native grasslands. The services contract should include requirements for compliance with the relevant provisions on the **OMP** or include requirements to comply with all instructions regarding protection of native plants and animals on site.



4. Monitoring actions

This section presents the nature, timing and frequency of monitoring to determine the success of **management actions** against **key performance indicators**, as required to fulfil Condition 7.d.vii. of EPBC Act approval 2017/8049. The detailed schedule of **monitoring actions** is provided in Appendix 1.

Surveillance of the **Offset area** is an integral component of the regular **management actions**. Routine inspections and ecological monitoring are separate activities in the **OMP** but both are important for early identification of changes, allowing an appropriate and timely management response to matters which would otherwise undermine the objectives of the **OMP**. Routine inspections include observations by the Landholder during normal activities within the **Offset area** and broader property and which are important for maintaining a record over the entire year that is not possible during annual ecological monitoring events. Ecological monitoring is undertaken by qualified ecologists who will collect data from repeat surveys of permanent monitoring plots to assess the overall improvement in **Quality** over time.

4.1 Routine inspections undertaken by landholder

The progress of management works will be surveyed and recorded by the Landholder on a regular basis. Most of these records are normally kept in the course of land management activities but the requirement to keep these records has been formalised in this **OMP** for the **Offset area** specifically.

The Landholder will provide a progress report to TfN and DoEE on an annual basis. The report will utilize the compiled records of observations and management works as described below.

4.1.1 Records of management works

The Landholder must keep a diary of any **management actions**/works undertaken within the **Offset area**. The works will include weed control, pest animal control, fence maintenance and stocking rates and duration of grazing. These records of all **management actions** must be kept to provide evidence of the implementation of the **OMP**.

4.1.2 Records of routine inspections

The Landholder is to undertake regular site inspections in accordance with the schedule in Appendix 1 (at a minimum once every 3 months, with additional requirements to inspect grazing results during the grazing period, Appendix 1). During the site inspections the Landholder is to record general observations including on fence condition, weed levels and biomass levels and well as the location and management requirements of any problems observed during the inspections.

As part of these notes, the Landholder must record any observations that could influence or initiate a management response. It is helpful to allocate a timeframe to undertake the identified management response. E.g. "seedlings of a new woody weed seen in the middle of the **Offset area** today. Will spot spray these with glyphosate by the end of the week". The Landholder should also record any new or emerging weed problems or if any weed species have been eradicated. These details provide valuable information on the management of the **Offset area** and contribute to the records that detail the commitment of the Landholder to the **OMP**.

Some specific requirements are detailed in Table 17 below.



Management action	Routine inspection requirement
Fence condition	Surveys of the paddock boundary fence must be conducted quarterly, and when visiting the Offset area to do other monitoring or management actions . Any damage to the fence that may allow vehicles or stock to enter outside of the parameters outlined in this OMP must be repaired immediately.
Weed monitoring	Once a year in spring, the entire Offset area should be surveyed for woody weeds, by walking and / or driving throughout the area such that a visual inspection (including with binoculars) would detect the presence of any woody weeds. Complete coverage of the Offset area will likely require at least six hours of survey. All infestations or individual woody weeds will be mapped with a GPS, and the locations will be supplied to the weed management contractor/Landholder for treatment. Subsequent surveys will then revisit previously mapped infestations to evaluate the success of weed control, as well as inspecting the entire Offset area for new infestations. While conducting the woody weed surveys, notes will be taken regarding the cover of herbaceous weed species, (estimated to the nearest 5%). Species and areas suitable for targeted treatment (such as spot spraying), will be mapped and supplied to the weed management contractor/Landholder for treatment.
Pulse grazing inspections	To inform the annual works plan, the Offset area should be inspected to determine biomass and pulse grazing requirements for the coming season. During the grazing period, the Landholder will inspect the grazing cells to evaluate grazing effectiveness at reducing biomass and weed levels, and to determine grazing duration. Records are to be kept on grazing intensity (stocking rate) and duration during the grazing period each year.
Pest animal monitoring	Signs of pest animals (rabbits, hares and foxes) will be recorded when visiting the Offset area . In particular, the locations of any active rabbit warrens must be mapped using GPS, and the locations supplied to the pest animal management contractor/Landholder for treatment. Subsequent monitoring will then revisit previously mapped warrens to check for on-going use, as well as searching for new warrens throughout the Offset area .

Table 17 Routine inspection requirements each quarter

4.2 Routine visits and oversight provided by Trust for Nature

More general supervision/monitoring of the grassland will be undertaken by TfN to ensure the grasslands response to **management actions** produce the desired outcome outlined by this OMP.

On an annual basis, TfN will liaise with the Landholder regarding the development of an annual works plan in accordance with management actions in Appendix 1. TfN will visit the **Offset area** a minimum of four times over the 10 year management period (of years 1, 3, 7 and 10). This level of monitoring is the minimum that TfN can commit to as advised in their review of a previous draft of the OMP. TfN can commit to at least one site visit to be undertaken in spring with the other visits undertaken throughout the year, although spring is the best time to assess grassland condition. Further site visits can be requested by the Landholder as needed to address specific management problems or to discuss the progress of the **Offset area**. During Years 11 to 20, TfN will visit the **Offset area** a minimum of once every five years. Further site visits can be requested by the Landholder as needed by the Landholder as needed during Years 11 to 20.

On an annual basis, the Landholder provides an annual report to TfN, which is in the form of a template based on the schedule of management actions in Appendix 1. TfN reviews the annual report before releasing funding to the Landholder for works completed. This process ensures that the works are undertaken in accordance with the OMP each year of the 10 year management period or funds are withheld until the works are completed to a satisfactory standard. After the 10 year management period has been completed, TfN has



a statutory responsibility to ensure compliance with the TFN covenant. Since the OMP is attached to the covenant, TfN also provides oversight of the OMP.

4.3 Ecological monitoring undertaken by qualified ecologists

Suitably qualified ecologists as defined in section 3.9 must be engaged to undertake ecological monitoring on a regular basis according the schedule in Appendix 1. The monitoring will include assessments that require expert skills such as Habitat Hectares assessment that cannot be undertaken by the Landholder.

4.3.1 Control plots

To determine if **management actions** have been effective, it is necessary to have a baseline and a control against which to compare the treatment areas. Monitoring done without control plots can only record change over time but does not provide a way to link the **management actions** to the changes recorded. To address this problem, the Landholder will allow some small exclusion plots to be installed prior to any **management actions** being undertaken. An exclusion plot will be installed in consultation with a suitably qualified ecologist with at least one control plot in each NTGVVP area and each GSM only area. These will be 20 metres x 20 metres and fenced with chicken wire to prevent herbivore grazing as the existing plots show this has been sufficient to exclude most grazing. No weed control works will be undertaken in these plots. The plots can be removed at the end of the 10 years of management if required.

4.3.2 NTGVVP condition

Ecological monitoring of the condition of **NTGVVP** will be undertaken annually in spring, ideally at the peak flowering time for native grasses. The first monitoring event should occur in 2019 prior to introduction of conservation management. This will provide a baseline or "before" measure against which the results of future **management actions** can be compared.

The monitoring will consist of the following components:

- General site inspection and average Habitat hectare assessment. The walkover will take at least 4 hours and make notes on woody weed abundance, evidence of biomass management, herbaceous weed cover for target weed species and general condition (evidence of pests, new weeds etc). This assessment will document the general overall condition of the **Offset area** and the ability of management works to maintain the condition of **NTGVVP** and **GSM habitat**.
- Permanent monitoring points will be established throughout the **Offset area**, stratified by weed cover and topography. The plots will be a square 20 m by 20 m in size to allow for the detection of herb diversity during the monitoring. The plots will be clearly marked and their location accurately recorded using GPS. There will be at least 2 plots in each of the main stratifications of the **Offset area**:
 - 6 plots in North Offset area: stratified by GSM only habitat north, GSM only habitat south of Baillie's Creek, NTGVVP
 - 10 plots in South Offset area: stratified by GSM only habitat north, GSM only habitat south of existing offset, NTGVVP south of existing offset, NTGVVP north of existing offset dominated by Kangaroo-grass, NTGVVP north of existing offset not dominated by Kangaroo-grass
- The following data will be collected from each plot and the control plots. It is estimated an hour will be required to collect these data from each plot:
 - List of native and introduced species.
 - Total vegetation cover (%)
 - Total cover of native perennial vegetation (%)



- Total cover of native herbs (%)
- Total cover of perennial weeds (%)
- Total cover of annual weeds (%)
- Cover of bare ground (%)
- Cover of organic litter (%)
- Average height of vegetation (cm).
- Habitat Hectares score.
- A photo of each plot will also serve as permanent photo points. Using the NE corner of the plot for the photo point, a photo will be taken facing the four points of the compass (N, S, E & W).

Information will be collated as part of the annual reporting requirements (Section 4.4).

4.3.3 Golden Sun Moth monitoring

Monitoring during the flight season for **Golden Sun Moth** is necessary to determine the size of the flying male **GSM** population over time.

Baseline surveys of the **GSM** population were undertaken in the summer of 2018/19. It is recommended that **GSM** surveys be undertaken after one year of management has been achieved and then every second year thereafter for the duration of the 10 year management period. It is unlikely that **management actions** to encourage increased growth of **GSM** food plant species will have an immediate effect on **GSM** numbers, therefore, surveys every second year are considered sufficient to monitor the health of the **GSM** population. **GSM** surveys area therefore required in the following summers:

- 2020/21
- 2022/23
- 2024/25
- 2026/27
- 2028/29

Monitoring will record the number of individuals observed from set monitoring transects. A team of 4 people is likely to be needed to survey the entire **Offset area** in one day using 50 metre wide transects. The chosen method must be repeated exactly the same for each of the four visits done in a survey year (i.e. it is not acceptable to assess a quarter of the **Offset area** once in order to survey the whole **Offset area** in four visits).

Monitoring for **GSM** will be undertaken in accordance with the requirements of DEWHA (2009) with regard to survey season and weather conditions on the day of survey. As **GSM** are known to occur at this site no reference sites are required. The Landholder is likely best placed to watch for when the flight season has started but other **GSM** sites within the district can also be used. A monitoring event requires four visits to the **Offset area** on four days approximately one week apart. Surveys will take place when conditions are suitable for male flight (generally >20°C, bright, clear days, full sun, absence of rain and wind other than a light breeze) between 10:00 hrs and 15:00 hrs. Tracks will be recorded using a GPS receiving device and a waypoint taken for each location where **GSM** are observed. Notes on habitat condition including cover of food plants and inter-tussock spaces will also be recorded.

The results of these surveys will be compared to the original baseline surveys (2018 /19 flight season) and those of the previous monitoring event.

Any observations of **GSM** during monitoring for vegetation condition and during inspections by the Landholder or TfN will also be recorded.



4.3.4 Monitoring report

Once monitoring is complete, a monitoring report with the following information will be provided:

- Assessment of condition improvement of NTGVVP
- Results of **GSM** surveys (every second year).
- Advice on planned burning and weed/biomass control approach for the coming year.

The monitoring report is to be provided to the Landholder, DJCS and TfN. It will be the responsibility of DJCS to supply the ecological monitoring reports to DoEE as required under their annual compliance report (Approval condition 14).

4.3.5 Independent audits

Under Approval Condition 17, the approval holder (DJCS) must ensure that **independent audits** of compliance with the conditions are conducted as requested in writing by the Minister. In addition, as the approval holder, DJCS is responsible for ensuring the implementation and effectiveness of the **OMP**.

If required, audits will be conducted by an independent ecologist appointed by DJCS at the following stages:

- At the end of the first year of site management this is to ensure that initial **management actions** are conducted to the satisfaction of the approval holder and DoEE, including implementing the legal security mechanism, ensuring the property is securely fenced, and that other initial **management actions** have commenced.
- At the end of the fourth year of site management this will involve a review of four annual monitoring and management reports, as well as an independent assessment of the condition of **GSM habitat** within the **Offset area**.
- At the end of the eighth year of site management as per the four year audit.
- Following the completion of the 10 year management period to be a final audit of the implementation and effectiveness of the **OMP**.

Additional audits may be triggered as a result of a review of the OMP or following an environmental **Incident** resulting in significant change to site conditions, as identified in the risk assessment.

4.4 Reporting

Under Approval Condition 15, the approval holder (DJCS) must submit an annual compliance report to DoEE for the period of the approval. The detailed schedule of **reporting** is provided in Appendix 1.

As part of this reporting, the Landholder will prepare an Annual Report to address progress against the commitments set out in this **OMP**. Annual Reports will provide enough detail in the form of written comments and supporting evidence that an assessor can easily determine the completion of/progress against the **management commitments** and completion criteria for the **Offset area**. Reports will be submitted prior to the anniversary date of the execution of the **OMP** to allow time for compliance to be assessed.

The annual report will include:

- Details of management actions undertaken within the reporting period.
- Results of at least four routine inspections, including fence condition, weeds, pest animals, and biomass accumulation.
- Details of compliance or non-compliance with the schedule of **management actions** (Appendix 1).
- Details of compliance or non-compliance with management targets (Appendix 1).



- Details of any **incidents** or new and emerging management issues, with required corrective action.
- Any triggers exceeded and which corrective actions were implemented.
- Details of ecological monitoring results including photos from photo points and **GSM** survey results in relevant years.

The reporting schedule is detailed in Appendix 1.



5. Risk assessment and adaptive management

5.1 Risk assessment

Table 18 on the following pages uses the DoEE risk framework to assess the risk of the KPIs not being met. The risk of the KPIs not being met is assessed by comparing two scenarios: a situation with an approved OMP and a situation without an approved OMP. This is done by identifying a hazard based on each KPI. The risk assessment then provides a summary of how the management actions provide control measures for each of the hazards identified. This allows the risk of the offset failing to meet the KPI's to be reduced. The risk assessment also details the residual risk after the control measures in the OMP are put in place. A strategy for addressing the residual risk is provided in the last column.

The likelihood and consequence classification is summarised in Appendix 2.

5.2 Emergency management

There is residual risk posed by emergency events such as wildfire, floods or unexpected pest outbreak. These events present a risk of damage to the **Offset area**, because emergency activities may involve any of the following:

- Extreme change in conditions requiring rapid adaptation of **management actions** and/or **management targets** (e.g. rapid change from unburnt to burnt in the case of wildfire).
- Emergency works such as earthworks to plough or excavate firebreaks.
- New threats previously absent to the **Offset area** (e.g. new weeds brought in during emergency works).
- Previously controlled threats becoming more prevalent (e.g. rapid increase in existing weed cover).
- Unauthorised access, livestock grazing or trespass (i.e. as a result of fences being destroyed).

While the likelihood of an emergency management scenario occurring over the life of the OMP is rare, the consequences could be Major and resulting in a risk assessment of Medium. The risk assessment of Medium is based on the impacts that emergency management actions can have on the protected matters, especially ploughing of fire breaks.

5.3 Emergency Contacts and procedures

Should any emergency occur, the relevant contacts (listed below) must be notified as soon as possible.

- In the event of a life-threatening emergency, the relevant emergency services should be contacted immediately. Emergency services must be advised of the conservation protections to avoid inadvertent damage (e.g. ploughing fire breaks, use of chemical fire suppressants).
- DJCS is required to notify DoEE of any incident within 10 days so that the Landholder must notify DJCS and DoEE within this timeframe.
- A delegate of the Landholder (e.g. farm manager) must notify the Landholder within 12 hours and the Landholder must notify TfN within 24 hours.



5.4 Emergency contact details

- Bushfire or other life-threatening emergency: Phone **000**, ask for fire brigade
- Non-emergency criminal activity (illegal dumping, trespass): Phone Victoria Police 131 444
- Department of the Environment and Energy (DoEE): Phone 1800 803 772
- Trust for Nature: Offset advisor phone (03) 8631 5888
- Landholder: Neville Oddie

5.5 Review of OMP

This **OMP** includes an adaptive management framework so that a review of the **OMP** will only be necessary under the following circumstances:

- A major **incident** that makes a significant change to the character or condition of the **Offset area** requiring updates to management targets or KPIs (most likely wildfire, Table 15).
- The Landholder / TFN identifies a beneficial permanent management change such as might arise from new research or on-ground observations and requiring updates to permitted activities or management actions.

If a review required by the Landholder or after a major **incident**, this will be undertaken by the Landholder in consultation with TfN and DoEE.

If a review is required by DoEE as part of the conditions of approval, the review will be undertaken by DJCS.

Potential hazards as defined by Key Performance Indicators (KPIs)	Likeli- hood	Consequ- ence	Risk Level	Management action # (see Appendix 1)	Hazard Control Methods	Likeli- hood	Consequ- ence	Risk Level	Residual risks	Management strategy for residual risks
	١	Without OM	Р					With	OMP	
Failure to register TfN agreement on relevant land titles	Highly Likely	Major	Severe	1, 15	 Statutory approval condition for YJRP DoEE post-approvals team to regulate execution of approval conditions Bond agreement with TFN ensures funds held in trust until agreement in place 	Rare	High	Low	The risk assessment of low is based on the Offset area being secured using a TfN covenant. The funds for the Offset area are only release by TfN after the Credit Trading Agreement has been finalised. This provides a strong financial incentive for both the Landholder and approval holder to ensure the security mechanism is placed on title.	If the TfN covenant is not registered on title, TfN will hold the funds in trust until a TfN agreement is registered.
Failure to implement the OMP to the required standard. (NOTE: for the other risks in the table, when assessing the risk, it is assumed that the OMP has been implemented to the required standard.)	Likely	High	High	5, 6, 14, 15	 Checks and balances in place to ensure OMP is implemented to the required standard: TfN review of annual report from landholder each year. Release of annual funding from TfN only when satisfied works have been undertaken in accordance with the OMP Ecological monitoring undertaken yearly during 10 year period TfN to visit offset area a minimum of four times during 10 year period TfN to visit offset area every 5 years after Year 10 Independent audits undertaken as directed by DoEE The TfN covenant binds the current and future Landholder to both the standard restrictions in the TfN covenant and to the requirements described in this OMP 	Rare	High	Low	The risk assessment of low is based on the oversight provided by TfN. TfN reviews the annual report before releasing funding to the Landholder for works completed. This process ensures that the works are undertaken in accordance with the OMP each year of the 10 year management period.	In the event that the landholder fails to undertake the management actions in accordance with the OMP, TfN will withhold funds until the works are completed to a satisfactory standard.
Loss of NTGVVP or GSM habitat over 20 year time horizon	Likely	High	High	2, 3, 15	• OMP provides a schedule of ten detailed management commitments to change land management and protect native vegetation in OMP and TfN covenant	Rare	Moderate	Low	The risk assessment of low is based on the resourcing being provided to the offset area. That is, Biosis has observed that for grassland reserves throughout Melbourne and Victoria, loss of NTGVVP is usually attributable to insufficient funding to provide for the intensity of management required to address the labile nature of native grasslands. Where there is insufficient intensity of management, this has led to invasion of perennial grassy weeds such as Chilean Needle-grass, which dominate the tussock structure. Since the offset area has a dedicated manager (the Landholder), regular monitoring, and funding available to undertake the required works, it is expected that only exceptional climatic conditions or an emergency event would to lead to a loss of NTGVVP or GSM.	Emergency management provisions are provided in the OMP. Incident reporting procedures of the OMP will also apply - TfN and the consulting ecologist will be consulted for advice, DoEE will be informed and the OMP will be reviewed by the landholder.
Preventable weed introductions over 20 year time horizon	Likely	High	High	2, 3, 15	• OMP provides a schedule of ten detailed management commitments to change land management and protect native vegetation in OMP and TfN covenant	Unlikely	Moderate	Low	The risk assessment of low is based on the monitoring and oversight of the offset area such that any introduction of new weeds will be detected early and management actions undertaken to rectify the problem. N.B. This risk addresses preventable weed introductions only (such as weed seeds brought in on vehicles or machinery) so that the source of the introduction can be traced and prevented in future. Non-human mediated introduction of weeds by fauna or wind-blown seed are addressed in "new or emerging threats".	Preventable weed introductions over 20 year time horizon will be addressed using the adaptive management provisions in the OMP and in consultation with TfN. The management actions in Appendix 1 detail the process by which to address new or emerging threats.
Unauthorised access or works within offset area	Possible	Major	High	3, 4, 15	• OMP provides a schedule of management actions to control access and authorise works within offset area	Unlikely	Moderate	Low	The risk assessment of low is based on the Offset area being fully fenced and not accessible by the public or easily trespassed upon due to its distance from the road so that contravention of the covenant by malicious	Since unauthorised access would most likely be a result of trespass, this will be referred to police and will be addressed using the emergency

Table 18 Risk assessment of potential hazards as defined by Key Performance Indicators

© Biosis 2020 – Leaders in Ecology and Heritage Consulting



									damage to the Offset area is Low risk. Signage and site induction will ensure that any workers will be aware of the activities allowed in the offset area.	management provisions in the OMP. Where unauthorised access or works within offset area result in an incident, the incident reporting procedures in the OMP will be followed.
Management actions fail to adapt to seasonal conditions or monitoring/routine inspection results.	Likely	High	High	5, 15	• Landholder to prepare annual works plan in consultation with TfN and incorporating monitoring results and information from routine inspections.	Rare	High	Low	The risk assessment of low is based on the adaptive management provisions in the OMP being designed to allow the landholder to ensure there are no adverse impacts from management during unfavourable conditions such as drought. Should management actions fail to keep pace with changing conditions, the most likely cause will be extreme seasonal conditions or weather events.	Routine inspections will be used to track seasonal conditions and/or emerging threats. The annual works plan will address the management actions required for the coming season. TfN will be consulted where management actions do not appear to be effective and their advice sought on how to address any problems. For extreme events, the emergency management provisions will apply instead.
Failure to improve Lack of Weeds score or Lack of Weeds score declines.	Likely	High	High	7, 8, 11, 12, (13)	 Management actions provide multiple methods of weed control that can be implemented in response to changing conditions. OMP provides an adaptive management strategy to allow the landholder to respond to changing the weed levels. Management actions for weed control compatible with other management targets. Options for weed control in OMP are: Pulse grazing Herbicide application Non-chemical weed control methods Ecological burning (optional for North Offset) 	Unlikely	High	Medium	This risk assessment of medium is based on the difficulty of controlling weed invasions once a particular weed species is well established. The circumstances when this could occur include unpredictable extreme climatic or weather event or a post wildfire weed outbreak. In such cases, review of the OMP would be warranted to address the failure to improve the Lack of Weeds score.	In the event that the management actions even in accordance with the OMP fail to improve the Lack of Weeds score in any one year, TfN will be consulted for advice. In the event that the management actions even in accordance with the OMP fail to improve the Lack of Weeds score in consecutive years, and no reason for this can be identified, the OMP will be reviewed by the landholder.
Failure to eliminate new weeds, emerging weed problems not controlled to <1% cover, failure to eliminate new pest animals	Possible	High	Medium	6, 10, 15	 Management actions provide process to Identify and control or eliminate new or emerging threats complimented by oversight by TfN 	Rare	High	Low	This risk assessment of low is based on early detection of new or emerging threats leading to effective control or elimination of the threat.	The management actions in Appendix 1 detail the process by which to address new or emerging threats. Where new or emerging threats are not treated promptly and allowed to proliferate, this will be considered a failure to implement the OMP to the required standard and addressed by TfN as above.
Failure to maintain/increase Understorey score or score declines (NTGVVP)	Possible	Critical	Severe	2, 3, 4, 7, 8, 9,	 OMP provides a schedule of ten detailed management commitments to change land management and protect native vegetation all of which are designed to protect native herb diversity (NTGVVP) and improve cover of native grasses (GSM). 	Unlikely	High	Medium	NTGVVP: This risk assessment of medium is based on the difficulty of re-establishing herb diversity once it declines. The circumstances when this could occur include unpredictable extreme climatic or weather event or a post wildfire weed outbreak. In such cases, review of the OMP would be warranted to address the failure to improve the Understorey score.	The management actions in Appendix 1 provide a detailed strategy to manage NTGVVP condition. In the event that the management actions even in accordance with the OMP fail
Failure to maintain Understorey score or score declines (GSM)	Possible	High	Medium	10, 11 12, (13), 14, 15	 OMP provides detailed schedule of management actions all of which consider the need to protect native herb diversity. Oversight provided by TfN and ecological monitoring annually will record and track vegetation condition. 	Unlikely	Moderate	Low	GSM: This risk assessment of low is based on the relatively robust nature of native grasses (the principle component of GSM habitat compared to the sensitivity of native herbs). The circumstances when this could occur include unpredictable extreme climatic or weather event or a post wildfire weed outbreak. In such cases, review of the OMP would be warranted to address the failure to improve the Understorev score.	to maintain the Understorey score in any one year, TfN and the consulting ecologist will be consulted for advice, DoEE will be informed and the OMP will be reviewed by the landholder.
Failure to improve Recruitment score	Likely	Moderate	Medium	8, 11 (12, 13)	 OMP provides two options for biomass control, pulse grazing with exclusion period and optional ecological burning (North Offset) and permanent grazing exclusion and ecological burning (South Offset). Unlikely Moderate Low The risk assessment relatively easy to mar space for recruitmen 				The risk assessment of low is based on biomass being relatively easy to manage and rectify and therefore space for recruitment is also relatively easy to manage.	The management actions in Appendix 1 provide a detailed strategy to manage NTGVVP condition. In the event that the management actions even in accordance with the OMP fail to maintain Recruitment score in any

© Biosis 2020 – Leaders in Ecology and Heritage Consulting



					 OMP provides an adaptive management strategy to allow the landholder to respond to changing the biomass levels. Management actions for biomass control compatible with other management targets. 				
Failure to maintain/increase Organic litter score	Likely	Moderate	Medium	8, 11 (12, 13)	 OMP provides two options for biomass control, pulse grazing with exclusion period and optional ecological burning (North Offset) and permanent grazing exclusion and ecological burning (South Offset). OMP provides an adaptive management strategy to allow the landholder to respond to changing the biomass levels. Management actions for biomass control compatible with other management targets. 	Unlikely	Moderate	Low	The risk assessment of low is based on biomass bein relatively easy to manage and rectify and therefore space for organic matter is also relatively easy to manage.
Failure to eliminate active rabbit warrens or fox dens, evidence of pest animal impacts present	Possible	Moderate	Medium	9	 Offset area already has a low density of pest animals. OMP provides process for monitoring and treating pest animal populations. Oversight provided by TfN and ecological monitoring annually will record and track evidence of pest animal impacts. 	Unlikely	Moderate	Low	The risk assessment of low is based on pest animals and their impacts being relatively easy to detect and monitor and is undertaken as part of farm management in the rest of the property as well.
Failure to maintain Tussock cover sufficient to provide fauna habitat after ecological burns	Possible	Major	High	(12, 13)	OMP provides clear guidelines for ecological burning requirements. Burn plans will be developed as part of annual works plan in consultation with TfN. Ecological monitoring will track weed levels post-burn.	Rare	Major	Medium	This risk assessment of medium is based on the large scale on which a burn would have to occur for this target not to be met (i.e. more than 50% of the offset area to be burnt in any one year). The most likely cau of a large-scale burn would be escape of a controlled burn, which would be a rare occurrence.
Failure to undertake ecological monitoring in accordance with OMP	Highly Likely	Moderate	High	14	Ecological monitoring remains the responsibility of the approval holder. TfN to review annual report from landholder each year and release funding only when satisfied works have been undertaken in accordance with the OMP	Unlikely	Minor	Low	The risk assessment of low is based on the approval holder remaining responsible for ensuring the ecological monitoring is undertaken and the oversigh provided by TfN. DJCS has agreed to be responsible for engaging an ecologist to undertake monitoring each year during the 10 year management period.
Failure to undertake reporting in accordance with OMP	Highly Likely	Moderate	High	16	Ecological monitoring report remains the responsibility of the approval holder. TfN to review annual report from landholder each year and release funding only when satisfied works have been undertaken in accordance with the OMP	Unlikely	Minor	Low	The risk assessment of low is based on the approval holder remaining responsible for ensuring the ecological reporting is provided and the oversight provided by TfN.
Failure to undertake emergency management in accordance with OMP	Possible	Major	High	17	OMP provides emergency management procedure. Offset area will have signage to alert emergency services to conservation values within offset area.	Rare	Major	Medium	The risk assessment of medium is based on the large impacts that emergency management actions can ha on native vegetation, especially ploughing of fire breaks. However, the frequency of emergency events expected to be rare and the risk has been reduced compared to the current conditions of no OMP.



one year, TfN will be consulted for advice. In the event that the management actions even in accordance with the OMP fail to improve the Recruitment score in consecutive years, and no reason for this can be identified, the OMP will be reviewed by the landholder. The management actions in Appendix 1 provide a detailed strategy to manage NTGVVP condition. In the event that the management actions even in accordance with the OMP fail to maintain organic litter score in any ing one year, TfN will be consulted for advice. In the event that the management actions even in accordance with the OMP fail to improve the organic litter score in consecutive years, and no reason for this can be identified, the OMP will be reviewed by the landholder. The management actions in Appendix 1 provide a detailed strategy to manage pest animals. In the event that the management actions even in accordance with the OMP fail to maintain pest animal numbers in any one year, TfN will be consulted for advice. In the event that the management actions even in accordance with the OMP fail to manage pest numbers in consecutive years, and no reason for this can be identified, the OMP will be reviewed by the landholder. For an escaped burn, the emergency ge provisions and incident reporting of the OMP will apply. TfN and the et consulting ecologist will be consulted ause for advice, DoEE will be informed and ed the OMP will be reviewed by the landholder, In the event that the ecological monitoring is not undertaken in accordance with OMP, the cause of ght the failure will be investigated and e for rectified prior to the next monitoring season (annually for NTGVVP or alternate years for GSM surveys). In the event that reporting is not undertaken in accordance with OMP, the cause of the failure will be investigated and rectified prior to the next reporting season (annually for landholder annual report and NTGVVP or alternate years for GSM surveys). Failure to implement the emergency ge provisions of the OMP will likely result nave in an incident and the incident reporting provisions of the OMP will nts is apply. TfN and the consulting ecologist will be consulted for advice, DoEE will be informed and the OMP

Failure to maintain habitat hectares score achieved at the end of Year 10 from Year 11 to Year 20 (to achieve 20 year time horizon)	N/A	N/A	N/A	18	The TfN covenant binds the current (and future) Landholder to the standard restrictions in the TfN covenant and to the requirements described in this OMP TfN to visit offset area every 5 years after Year 10 Adaptive management procedure ensures management can response to changing conditions over time.	Possible	High	Medium	This risk assessment of medium is based on the difficulty of improving conditions once they start to decline when compared to simply maintaining conditions. Failure to maintain the habitat hectares score would likely be derived from one of two sourc unpredictable extreme event or insufficient inputs to maintain the NTGVVP condition, both of which have been addressed above.
Failure to review OMP when circumstances change or management actions become ineffective	N/A	N/A	N/A	19	OMP allows both the landholder and the approval holder to review the OMP and make changes as needed. TfN will provide advice on management to landholder in the event management actions become ineffective.	Unlikely	Moderate	Low	The risk assessment is low because failure to review OMP after a change of circumstances/due to ineffec management actions would be a failure to implement the OMP to the required standard, which is addresse above.

N/A = Not applicable, the KPI is only possible if the OMP is in place.



will be reviewed by the landholder if the offset area is affected. The annual works plan will address the management actions required for the coming season including routine monitoring. As part of development of the annual works plan, TfN will be consulted where management actions do not appear to be effective and their advice sought on how to address any ces: problems. TfN will visit the offset area to at least twice over the Year 11 to Year 20 period and require annual reports to be submitted for review to ensure compliance continues. For extreme events, the emergency management provisions will apply.

v the ctive ent sed

The OMP provides the details of how and when the OMP is to be reviewed and updated.



References

Biosis 2017. Youth Justice Redevelopment Project: Spiny Rice-flower survey and updated vegetation assessment. Report for Department of Justice and Community Safety. Authors: McCutcheon, C., Lee, M. & Goddard, M. Biosis Pty Ltd, Melbourne. Project no. 25272

Biosis 2018. Offset Site Report: 346 Carngham Streatham Road Chepstowe – Natural Temperate Grassland. Report prepared for Department of Justice and Regulation. Authors: Mueck, S. Biosis Pty Ltd, Melbourne. Project no. 25271.

Commonwealth of Australia 2014. *Guidelines for the preparation of an Offset Management Plan under the EPBC Act offsets policy*. Australian Government Department of Sustainability, Environment, Water, Population and Communities, Canberra.

DELWP (2015). DELWP *Output delivery standards For the delivery of environmental activities*. The Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning, State of Victoria, Melbourne. URL: https://www.water.vic.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0016/52414/DELWP-OutputDeliveryStandard-web1.pdf

Department of the Environment (DoE) 2013. *Approved Conservation Advice for Synemon plana* (Golden Sun Moth). Department of the Environment, Canberra.

Department of the Environment (DoE) 2015. *Threat abatement plan for predation by feral cats.* Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra, ACT.

Department of the Environment and Energy (DoEE) 2016. *Threat abatement plan for competition and land degradation by rabbits.* Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra, ACT.

DEPI 2013. *Permitted clearing of native vegetation - Biodiversity assessment guidelines*. Victorian Government Department of Environment and Primary Industries, Melbourne (September 2013).

DEPI 2014. Advisory list of rare or threatened plants in Victoria. Department of Sustainability and Environment, Melbourne.

DEWHA 2008. *Approved Conservation Advice for the Natural Temperate Grassland of the Victorian Volcanic Plain*. Department of the Environment, Water, Heritage and the Arts, Canberra.

DEWHA 2008b. Threat abatement plan for predation by the European red fox. Department of the Environment, Water, Heritage and the Arts, Canberra.

DEWHA 2009. Background paper to EPBC Act Policy Statement 3.12 – *Nationally threatened species and ecological communities. Significant impact guidelines for the critically endangered Golden Sun Moth* (Synemon plana). DEWHA, Canberra. Available on the Internet at:

http://www.environment.gov.au/resource/significant-impact-guidelines-critically-endangered-golden-sun-moth-synemon-plana.

DEWHA 2009b. *Significant impact guidelines for the critically endangered golden sun moth* (Synemon plana). Nationally threatened species and ecological communities EPBC Act policy statement 3.12, The Australian Government, Canberra.

DSE 2004. Native Vegetation: Sustaining a living landscape. Vegetation Quality Assessment Manual – Guidelines for applying the Habitat hectares scoring method. Version 1.3. Victorian Government Department of Sustainability & Environment, Melbourne.



DSE 2007. *Native Vegetation - Guide for assessment of referred planning permit applications.* Victorian Government, Department of Sustainability and Environment, East Melbourne

DSE 2009. BushBroker: Standards for management – Ecological grazing: Information Sheet No. 13. DSE, East Melbourne.

DSEWPaC 2011. *Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999 referral guidelines for the vulnerable striped legless lizard, Delma impar.* Department of Sustainability, Environment, Water, Population & Communities. Australian Government, Canberra.

DSEWPaC 2011. Nationally Threatened Ecological Communities of the Victorian Volcanic Plain: Natural Temperate Grassland & Grassy Eucalypt Woodland A guide to the identification, assessment and management of nationally threatened ecological communities. The Australian Government, Canberra.

DSEWPaC 2012. *Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999 Environmental Offsets Policy.* Department of Sustainability, Environment, Water, Population & Communities. Australian Government, Canberra.

Marshall, A. 2013. *Start with the grasslands: Design guidelines to support native grasslands in urban areas (Final Draft)*. Victorian National Parks Association, Melbourne.

Smith, W.J.S. & P. Robertson 1999. *National Recovery Plan for the Striped Legless Lizard (Delma impar) 1999-2003.* NSW National Parks and Wildlife Service & Wildlife Profiles Pty Ltd

Threatened Species Scientific Committee (TSSC) 2008. *Commonwealth Listing Advice on Natural Temperate Grassland of the Victorian Volcanic Plain*. Department of the Environment, Water, Heritage and the Arts.

Threatened Species Scientific Committee (TSSC) 2009. *Commonwealth Listing Advice on Golden Sun Moth*. Department of the Environment, Water, Heritage and the Arts.

Threatened Species Scientific Committee 2016. *Conservation Advice Delma impar striped legless lizard. Department of the Environment and Energy*, Canberra.

Williams, N.S.G., Marshall, A. and Morgan, J.W. (eds) 2015. *Land of sweeping plains: Managing and restoring the native grasslands of south-eastern Australia*. CSIRO publishing, Clayton South, Melbourne.



Appendices

Appendix 1 Schedule of management actions

Table A1 Schedule of management actions and management targets

Legend to table:



ana	Timing of activity	Roles and responsibility	Management results to be achieved	Yr: 0	1	2	3	4	
2	Register the Offset area on title			2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	
	Immediately upon OMP		TfN covenant registered on title in accordance with Section 3A	_					
	commencement. See OMP commencement in Section 1.	Landholder to register TfN covenant on title	Victorian Conservation Trust Act 1972 Covenant to cover 22.33 ha						
		Landholder to provide copies of title to DJCS within 2 weeks of registration being completed							
		DJCS to provide title to DoEE within 4 weeks of registration							
2	Implement management comm	itments to change land management and protec	t native vegetation in OMP and TfN covenant						
	Immediately upon OMP commencement. See OMP commencement in Section 1.	Landholder to ensure all excluded activities no longer permitted within Offset area	Permanently exclude all activities involving mechanical disturbance (excavation, geological exploration, ploughing of fire breaks, cultivation etc).						
			All posts to be direct driven						
			Permanently exclude all activities that would knowingly introduce new weeds/weed seeds, e.g. over-sowing or other pasture improvement using hay, silage or feed that could contain viable weed seeds planting of tree belts.						
			Exclude all broad-acre herbicide use except in accordance with OMP. No creating fence lines or firebreaks with spraying.						
			No farm infrastructure except in accordance with OMP (e.g. no yards, barbed wire fencing etc)						
			Approval is obtained from TfN for any new farm infrastructure not in accordance with OMP						
			All workers are aware of activities that are not permitted in offset area						
			No unauthorised access or unapproved works within offset area						
			Weed hygiene protocol developed for sheep, workers, vehicles, plant and equipment						
3	Implement permanent changes	to grazing							
	Immediately upon OMP commencement. See OMP commencement in Section 1.	Landholder to ensure all grazing is in accordance with OMP	Permanently exclude all fertilizer application.						
			Permanently exclude all cattle and horse grazing.						
			All sheep grazing to be in accordance with OMP, see section bellow						
			Grazing of any other domestic livestock not already listed will only be considered after consultation with Trust for Nature						
4	Prevent uncontrolled livestock	grazing and unauthorised access. Install fencing	for North Offset area if needed						
	Prior to commencement of Year 1 grazing period	Landholder to ensure all fencing and signage is installed and maintained in accordance with OMP	 Fencing installed on boundary or within Offset area must meet the following requirements : Direct-driven posts only, no concrete footings New gates are as wide as possible Plain or electric wire only Minimum number of straiges posts 						



5 6 7 8	9	10
2024 2025 2026 2027 202	28	2029

Jana	Timing of activity	Roles and responsibility	Management results to be achieved	Yr: 0	1	2	3 2022	4 2023	5 2024	6 2025	7 2026	8 2027	9 2028	10
~			Refer to DELWP (2015) for stock-proof fencing standards if new stock-proof fences are needed	2013	2020	2021	LULL	2023	LULI	2023	2020	2027	2020	2023
			Prior to change of Landholder, install signage on gates to restrict											
			access into paddock. E.g. "Conservation Area – Access not permitted unless strictly authorised by the manager".											
			Use low impact method to mark boundary off offset area where it is not marked by fencing											
			Undertake regular repairs to prevent uncontrolled sheep grazing or access											
			Fencing, gates and signage maintained to prevent accidental access by livestock or people											
5	Prepare and implement annual	works plan												
	Appually prior to	Landholder to prepare annual works plan in												
	commencement of each grazing period	consultation with TfN and incorporating monitoring results and information from routine inspections.	Review results from routine inspections and monitoring, determine management requirements for coming season in timely manner											
		Landholder to ensure overall progress/results are reviewed at least once per year.	Identify areas for improvement, incidents or changing conditions											
		Landholder to ensure works plan adapts to seasonal conditions and/or new or emerging threats	Prepare annual works plan based on review											
			Identify suitably qualified staff or suitably qualified contractors to undertake works. All work to be undertaken by/supervised by suitably qualified individuals											
			Provide site induction to new staff or contractors											
			Seek advice from TfN, CMA, ecologist or other contractor, if necessary											
6	Routine inspections and records	of works												
	Minimum of once per quarter (4 times per year)	Landholder to ensure routine inspections record are undertaken at regular intervals	Undertake routine inspections of Offset area at least once every three months											
			Identify any maintenance requirements for external paddock											
		Landholder to records are kept of all routine inspections	fencing, signage. Note if additional impacts from livestock movements become apparent around gates, fencelines or watering points.											
		Landholder to records are kept of all works undertaken in the offset area	Records are kept of any maintenance requirements and timeline for repair.											
			Records are kept of all routine inspections											
			Use GPS to record any weed infestations to target for treatment, new or unknown weeds/pests or weeds/pests that appear to be increasing											
			Record any nest sightings or evidence of nest activating											
			Use GPS to record the location of active rabbit warrens or fox dens											
7	Control woody weeds													
	July–Nov or as detailed in the annual works plan	Landholder to ensure annual works plan details target species, methods and timing of woody weed control	Search offset area and use GPS to record location of woody weeds (at least once per year). Record any areas to target for herbaceous weed control at the same time.											
		Landholder to ensure woody weeds are controlled using minimal impact methods and in accordance with OMP	Treat woody weeds using appropriate herbicide at correct time of year and to prevent fruiting and seeding. Refer to manufacturer's instructions or seek advice from TfN or weed contractor if peeded											
		Landholder to ensure woody weed mapping is undertaken at least once per year.	Treat woody weeds with methods that have minimal impact on native species											
		Landholder to ensure woody weed control starts in Year 1 and the management target is met by Year 2 and then maintained.	Avoid off target damage to native species											
			Eliminate all established adult plants by end of Year 2											
			 After Year 2, continue treat woody weed seedlings/resprouting stumps to achieve the management target of <1% cover of woody weed seedlings at end of Year 10 											
8	Control herbaceous weeds													



Ц.	Timing of activity	Roles and responsibility	Management results to be achieved	Yr: 0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
ž		Koles and responsibility	Multigement results to be achieved	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025	2026	2027	2028	2029
	July–Nov or as detailed in the annual works plan	Landholder to ensure annual works plan details target species, methods and timing of herbaceous weed control	Determine target weed species/groups for each season, determine treatment method (grazing/herbicide/combination/other)											
		Landholder to ensure herbaceous weeds are controlled using minimal impact methods and in accordance with OMP	Determine number of spot spraying/chemical free weed control events required and record in annual works plan											
		Landholder to ensure herbaceous weeds control starts in Year 1 and management target is met by the end of Year 10	For spot spraying, determine appropriate herbicide/rate and record in annual works plan											
			For grazing of North Offset area, determine seasonal requirements and record in annual works plan											
			Treat herbaceous weeds with appropriate method at appropriate season according to annual works plan.											
			Avoid off target damage to native species											
			Targets for all areas: • Woody weeds: <1%											
			 Perennial tussock grasses (E.g. Cocksfoot): <1% 											
			Noxious grassy weeds (e.g. Serrated Tussock): eliminated if found											
			 Broad-leaved high threat weeds (e.g. Thistles): <1% 											
			Targets for NTGVVP:											
			Annual weeds: 5%											
			Perennial mat-forming grasses (e.g. Brown-top bent):											
			<1% (North), <5% (South)											
			 Sweet Vernal-grass: <5% 											
			Targets for GSM only:											
			 Annual weeds: 20% (North), <10% (South) 											
			 Perennial mat-forming grasses (e.g. Brown-top bent): <10% (North), <5% (South) 											
			 Sweet Vernal-grass: 10% 											
9	Control pest animals (e.g. rabbit	s. hares. foxes)	u u u u u u u u u u u u u u u u u u u											
	Feb–Apr, Sep–Nov or in accordance with annual works plan	Landholder to ensure annual works plan details target species, methods and timing of pest animal control	Determine pest animal control requirements and record in annual works plan. A minimum requirement is quarterly spotlighting searches.											
		Landholder to ensure pest animals are controlled using minimal impact methods and in accordance with OMP	Treat pests with appropriate method at appropriate season, record results in accordance with annual works plan. A											
		Landholder to ensure pest animal control starts in Year 1 and management target is met by the	Treatment methods will be in accordance with OMP and will not cause damage to the grassland. E.g. no ripping of rabbit warrens.											
			Rabbit warrens fumigated within three weeks of detection.											
			Record any incidental sightings											
			 By end of Year 2, no active rabbit warrens within offset area, minimal surface harbour in the form of woody weeds 											
			• By end of year 10 there should be no fresh ground disturbance by pest animals (particularly rabbits) observed in the offset area or active rabbit warrens or fox dens.											
10	Identify and control or eliminate	e new or emerging threats												
	Routine monitoring, treatment	Landholder to ensure routine inspections	Routine inspections undertaken according to OMP and all new and											
	as needed	record any new or emerging threats.	emerging threats are identified early.											
		Landholder to ensure incidental sightings of any new or emerging threats are recorded.	Identify correct treatment and treat infestation appropriately											
		Landholder to ensure appropriate treatment methods is identified and implemented where new threat is identified	For unknown weeds/pests, consult appropriately qualified person to establish identity											
			If possible, identify source of new infestation, change procedures to prevent further infestations if within control of Landholder											



lana	Timing of activity	Roles and responsibility	Management results to be achieved	Yr: 0	2020	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
2			For unknown weeds/pests, consult appropriately qualified person	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025	2026	2027	2028	2029
			to establish identity											
			new or changing conditions											
			If not already established (not reproducing in the site) threat should											
			If already established, threat should be minimised to <1% cover											
			Target to be achieved from Year 1 onwards:											
			 New weeds eliminated, emerging weed problems controlled to <1% cover, new pest animals eliminated 											
11	Use pulse grazing for biomass/w	veed control	cover, new pest animals enminated											
	Exclude grazing from 15th	Landholder to ensure pulse sheep grazing is in	Annual works plan prepared prior to grazing period each year.											
	September to 31st January each year	accordance with OMP at all times: Total vegetation cover of approx. 70% (maintain within range of 60 to 80%)	Determine feed availability/target weed species and adapt grazing strategy to seasonal conditions, record strategy in annual works plan											
	Rotational pulse between 1													
	February to 14th September	Landholder to consult with TfN periodically to	Use pulse grazing during grazing period to graze target weeds											
	seasonal conditions within these dates)	discuss effectiveness of grazing strategy	before seed set											
	Maximum grazing duration: 3 weeks	Landholder to ensure stocking rate and grazing duration are recorded	Record to be kept of stocking rate and grazing duration and compared with results of grazing in annual review											
	Minimum met a stiele Europhe	Landholder to inspect results of grazing on	If needed, use strategic pulse grazing during exclusion period to											
	Minimum rest period: 5 weeks	period and twice during exclusion period)	control a specified weed problem in consultation with TfN											
			Adaptive management used to update procedures in response to new or changing conditions											
			Targets to be maintained from Year 1 onwards:											
			Inter-tussock space is maintained at 20 to 40%											
			Organic litter is maintained at 5 to 15%											
12	Ecological burning trial for Nort	h Offset area**	weed cover targets as above to be achieve at end of year 10		**	-								
	Con Octon March March March	Landholder to develop trial burn plan in	Determine an unitate le estive for esclusive bounds a trial in											
	sep-Oct or March - May (or as specified in the burn plan)	consultation with TfN and where necessary, CFA or ecological consultant	consultation with TfN / ecologist and record in annual works plan											
		Landholder to ensure all ecological burns are in accordance with the OMP	Undertake burning trial of up to 1.7 hectares, followed by 6 to 12 months grazing exclusion and follow up weed control											
		Landholder responsible for determining feasibility of larger burn in consultation with TfN	Data collected to determine that weed cover does not increase in burnt areas compared to unburnt areas											
		שמשבע טון ופגעונג טו נוומו	Review results of burning trial against management targets for											
			ecological burn below and discuss feasibility with Trust for Nature and ecologist											
			Feasibility is determined for follow up weed control and grazing											
			burning											
13	Ecological burning for South Off	set area^^				٨٨								
	Sep-Oct or March - May (or as	Landholder to develop burn plan in consultation	Determine appropriate location for ecological burning in											
	specified in the burn plan)	consultant	accordance with OMP. Record burn plan in annual works plan											
		Landholder to ensure all ecological burns are in accordance with the OMP	Undertake burn in accordance with burn plan, followed by 6 to 12 months grazing exclusion and follow up weed control											
		Landholder to ensure all ecological burns are in accordance with the OMP	Undertake burning outside of declared fire danger period, followed by 6 to 12 months grazing exclusion and follow up weed control											
			Record burn area with GPS, record approximate coverage of burn within total burn area											
			Ecological monitoring to include review of burnt areas even if											
			outside of control plots											
			Targets to be maintained from Year 1 onwards:											



ana	Timing of activity	Roles and responsibility	Management results to be achieved	Yr: 0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Σ			No part of offset area burnt more than once every 2 years	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025	2026	2027	2028	2029
			No more than 50% of offset area targeted for burning in any single											
			year / At least 50% of offset area remains unburnt at any one time											
			Burns are undertaken in accordance with OMP											
			 Weed cover does not increase in burnt areas compared to unburnt areas 											
			Targets to be maintained from Year 1 onwards:											
			Inter-tussock space is maintained at 20 to 40%											
			Organic litter is maintained at 5 to 15%											
14	Feelegisal menitoring		Weed cover targets as above to be achieve at end of Year 10											
14	NTGVVP: Oct-early Dec GSM: flight season Nov-early Jan	Landholder to facilitate access to offset area for ecologists undertaking monitoring	Ecologist to establish monitoring plots and undertake baseline surveys in Year 0											
		Landholder to ensure any permanent markers of monitoring plots are not accidentally removed	Ecologist to undertake annual NTGVVP surveys in mid-late spring, data collected consistently to determine improvement in NTGVVP and GSM habitat, identify problems early, identify opportunities for adaptive management											
		DJCS to engage and fund ecological monitoring in accordance with the schedule in the OMP	Ecologist to review results of planned burns and provide advice on burn planning (as needed). Data collected to determine weed cover does not increase in burnt areas compared to unburnt areas											
			Ecologist to undertake GSM surveys during flight season at end of Years 1,3,5,7,9. Data collected consistently to determine improvement in GSM breeding population		(summer 2020/21)		(summer 2022/23)		(summer 2024/25)		(summer 2026/27)		(summer 2028/29)	
15	Trust for Nature routine inspect	tions												
	Years 1, 3, 7 and 10 with at least one visit in spring	TfN will visit the Offset area a minimum of four times over the 10 year management period	Provide advice to landholder, ensure covenant is compliant											
16	Reporting Ecological monitoring report -													
	15th January Landholder annual report - anniversary of OMP	Ecologist to prepare report and supply to Landholder and DJCS prior to start of grazing period each year	Ecologist to prepare report on ecological monitoring and planned burn advice as detailed above.											
		Landholder to supply annual report to DJCS and TfN	Landholder to prepare annual report on based on records of works undertaken and routine inspections.											
	_	DJCS to supply all reports to DoEE in fulfilment of approval conditions	Report must demonstrate progress of offset area has been tracked regularly each year over the 10 year management period											
17	Emergency management	l andholder to report any incidents that could	Identify and respond to emergency events according to Chenstowe											
	Immediately as needed	threaten NTGVVP or GSM to TfN with 24 hours	emergency management plan											
		Landholder to report any incidents that could threaten NTGVVP or GSM to DJCS and DoEE within 5 days	Report any incidents that could threaten NTGVVP or GSM to TfN with 24 hours (03) 8631 5888											
			Report any incidents that could threaten NTGVVP or GSM to DJCS and DoEE within 5 days post.approvals@environment.gov.au											
18	Years 11+: Maintain an annual v	vorks plan as above for the ongoing maintenanc	e of the condition											Start in Year 11
	Year 11 onwards	Landholder to maintain condition achieved at the end of Year 10	Develop annual works plan to ensure management actions continue to adapt to current conditions for weeds, pest animals and biomass control.											
		Landholder to consult with TfN periodically to discuss effectiveness of on-going management	Maintain fencing and signage.											
			Continued protection of herb diversity and native tussock grass structure.											
			Cover of herbaceous weeds does not increase beyond levels											
			achieved at Year 10											
			Pest animals do not increase beyond levels achieved at Year 10											
			Biomass is maintained to achieve >20 to 40% inter-tussock space											

© Biosis 2020 – Leaders in Ecology and Heritage Consulting



na	Timin of optimity	Deles and user an skiller	Management results to be achieved	Yr: 0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Ma	liming of activity	Roles and responsibility	Management results to be achieved	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025	2026	2027	2028	2029
			Seek advice from TfN, CMA, ecologist or other contractor, if necessary											
19	Revise OMP in response to eithe and development, or in response	er ineffective management actions, or improven e to an incident or emergency.	nents identified through on-ground evidence/external research											
	As needed	Landholder to Identify any incidents or ineffective management actions and revise OMP where these can't be addressed within adaptive management provisions	Revise OMP to address changed circumstances (e.g. wildfire), ineffective management actions or new research											
		DJCS to respond to any plan review request from DoEE	Apply to DoEE post-approvals to update OMP											
			Ensure OMP remains affective over time											



Appendix 2 DoEE Risk matrix

A4.1 Risk Framework

		Consequence				
		Minor	Moderate	High	Major	Critical
	Highly Likely	Medium	High	High	Severe	Severe
	Likely	Low	Medium	High	High	Severe
	Possible	Low	Medium	Medium	High	Severe
hood	Unlikely	Low	Low	Medium	High	High
Likeli	Rare	Low	Low	Low	Medium	High

A4.2 Likelihood

Qualitative measure of likelihood (how likely is it that this event/circumstances will occur after **management actions** have been put in place/are being implemented

Highly Likely	Is expected to occur in most circumstances
Likely	Will probably occur during the life of the project
Possible	Might occur during the life of the project
Unlikely	Could occur but considered unlikely
Rare	May occur in exceptional circumstances

A4.3 Consequence

Qualitative measure of consequences (what will be the consequence / result if the issue does occur)			
Minor	Minor Incident of environmental damage that can be reversed		
Moderate	Isolated but substantial instances of environmental damage that could be reversed with intensive efforts		
High	Substantial instances of environmental damage that could be reversed with intensive effort		
Major	Major loss of environmental amenity and real danger of continuing		
Critical	Severe widespread loss of environmental amenity and irrecoverable environmental damage		





Appendix 3 Flora species recorded in 2018

Notes to tables:

EPBC Act:	DEPI 2014a:		
CR - Critically Endangered	e - endangered		
EN - Endangered	v - vulnerable		
VU - Vulnerable	r - rare		
PMST – Protected Matters Search Tool	k - poorly known		
FFG Act: L - listed as threatened under FFG Act P - protected under the FFG Act (public land only)	Noxious weed status:SP- State prohibited speciesRP- Regionally prohibited speciesRC- Regionally controlled speciesR- Restricted species#- Native species outside natural range		

A3.1 Flora species recorded from the Offset area

Note that this list is for information purposes only, it is not an exhaustive list of all species that currently occur within the **Offset area** or may occur in the future. Weed monitoring should include the possibility of new species entering the **Offset area** that are not listed in the table below.

Table A3.1 Flora species recorded from the study area

Status	Scientific Name	Common Name			
Indigenous species	Indigenous species				
	Acacia melanoxylon	Blackwood			
	Acacia paradoxa	Hedge Wattle			
	Acaena echinata	Sheep's Burr			
	Acaena novae-zelandiae	Bidgee-widgee			



Status	Scientific Name	Common Name
	Allocasuarina verticillata	Drooping Sheoak
	Anthosachne scabra s.s.	Common Wheat-grass
	Arthropodium minus	Small Vanilla-lily
	Arthropodium spp.	Vanilla Lily
	Asperula conferta	Common Woodruff
Р	Asplenium flabellifolium	Necklace Fern
	Austrostipa mollis	Supple Spear-grass
	Austrostipa spp.	Spear Grass
	Bolboschoenus spp.	Club Sedge
Р	Brunonia australis	Blue Pincushion
	Burchardia umbellata	Milkmaids
	Bursaria spinosa	Sweet Bursaria
Р	Calocephalus citreus	Lemon Beauty-heads
	Carex breviculmis	Common Grass-sedge
	Centella cordifolia	Centella
Р	Cheilanthes austrotenuifolia	Green Rock-fern
Р	Chrysocephalum semipapposum	Clustered Everlasting
Р	Chrysocephalum sp. 1	Plains Everlasting
	Convolvulus angustissimus subsp. angustissimus	Blushing Bindweed
	Cynoglossum suaveolens	Sweet Hound's-tongue
	Deyeuxia quadriseta	Reed Bent-grass
	Deyeuxia quadriseta	Slender Reed Bent-grass
	Dichondra repens	Kidney-weed
	Drosera aberrans	Scented Sundew
	Eleocharis acuta	Common Spike-sedge
	Eleocharis sphacelata	Tall Spike-sedge
	Epilobium billardierianum	Variable Willow-herb
	Eryngium ovinum	Blue Devil
	Eucalyptus camaldulensis	River Red-gum
	Eucalyptus ovata	Swamp Gum
Р	Euchiton japonicus s.s.	Creeping Cudweed
	Geranium retrorsum s.s.	Grassland Crane's-bill
	Gonocarpus tetragynus	Common Raspwort
	Goodenia pinnatifida	Cut-leaf Goodenia
Р	Helichrysum luteoalbum	Jersey Cudweed
	Hemarthria uncinata var. uncinata	Mat Grass
	Hydrocotyle laxiflora	Stinking Pennywort
	Hypericum gramineum spp. agg.	Small St John's Wort



Status	Scientific Name	Common Name
	Juncus spp.	Rush
	Juncus subsecundus	Finger Rush
	Lachnagrostis filiformis s.s.	Common Blown-grass
Р	Leptorhynchos squamatus	Scaly Buttons
	Lobelia pratioides	Poison Lobelia
	Lomandra filiformis	Wattle Mat-rush
	Lomandra nana	Dwarf Mat-rush
	Melicytus dentatus s.s.	Tree Violet
	Microlaena stipoides var. stipoides	Weeping Grass
	Montia australasica	White Purslane
	Oxalis perennans	Grassland Wood-sorrel
	Pelargonium spp.	Stork's Bill
	Phragmites australis	Common Reed
	Pimelea curviflora s.s.	Curved Rice-flower
	Pimelea humilis	Common Rice-flower
	Plantago gaudichaudii	Narrow Plantain
Р	Pleurosorus rutifolius s.s.	Blanket Fern
	Poa labillardierei	Common Tussock-grass
	Poa morrisii	Soft Tussock-grass
	Poa sieberiana	Grey Tussock-grass
	Rubus parvifolius	Small-leaf Bramble
	Rumex brownii	Slender Dock
	Rumex dumosus	Wiry Dock
	Rytidosperma spp.	Wallaby Grass
	Schoenus apogon	Common Bog-sedge
Р	Senecio glomeratus	Annual Fireweed
Р	Senecio quadridentatus	Cotton Fireweed
Р	Senecio spp.	Groundsel
Р	Solenogyne dominii	Smooth Solenogyne
Р	Thelymitra spp.	Sun Orchid
	Themeda triandra	Kangaroo Grass
	Tricoryne elatior	Yellow Rush-lily
	Triglochin procera	Water Ribbons
	Velleia paradoxa	Spur Velleia
	Veronica gracilis	Slender Speedwell
	Wahlenbergia communis s.s.	Tufted Bluebell
	Wahlenbergia luteola	Bronze Bluebell
	Wahlenbergia spp.	Bluebell



Status	Scientific Name	Common Name
Introduced species		
	Acetosella vulgaris	Sheep Sorrel
	Agrostis capillaris	Brown-top Bent
	Aira spp.	Hair Grass
	Anthoxanthum odoratum	Sweet Vernal-grass
	Arctotheca calendula	Cape Weed
	Briza minor	Lesser Quaking-grass
	Bromus hordeaceus subsp. hordeaceus	Soft Brome
	Centaurium erythraea	Common Centaury
RR	Cirsium vulgare	Spear Thistle
	Cotula coronopifolia	Water Buttons
RR	Crataegus monogyna	Hawthorn
	Cynosurus echinatus	Rough Dog's-tail
	Disa bracteata	South African Orchid
	Erodium botrys	Big Heron's-bill
	Erodium cicutarium	Common Heron's-bill
	Helminthotheca echioides	Ox-tongue
	Holcus lanatus	Yorkshire Fog
	Hypochaeris radicata	Flatweed
RC	Juncus acutus subsp. acutus	Spiny Rush
	Leontodon taraxacoides subsp. taraxacoides	Hairy Hawkbit
	Lolium rigidum	Wimmera Rye-grass
	Malus spp.	Apple
RC	Marrubium vulgare	Horehound
	Phalaris aquatica	Toowoomba Canary-grass
	Plantago coronopus	Buck's-horn Plantain
	Plantago lanceolata	Ribwort
	Quercus spp.	Oak
	Romulea rosea	Onion Grass
RC	Rosa rubiginosa	Sweet Briar
RR	Silybum marianum	Variegated Thistle
	Solanum nigrum s.s.	Black Nightshade
	Sonchus asper s.s.	Rough Sow-thistle
	Sonchus oleraceus	Common Sow-thistle
	Stellaria media	Chickweed
	Trifolium subterraneum	Subterranean Clover
RC	Ulex europaeus	Gorse

Appendix 4 Quality scoring methods

NTGVVP

Quality improvement will be measured using the Habitat Hectares method at each of the permanent monitoring plots and as an average **Quality** for the whole area. Habitat Hectares is easily converted to a score out of 10 as shown in the Table below. The NTGVVP **Quality** scoring method was used to obtain the **Quality** score of the **Offset area** in the Offsets Assessment Guide and should be replicated to determine the final **Quality** score. Where the score is a decimal, it is rounded to the nearest whole number for entry into the Offsets Assessment Guide. Scores with a decimal place value of less than 0.5 are rounded down, scores with a decimal place value of 0.5 or above are rounded up.

Parameter	COMPonents measured	Max. Habitat Hectares score	Equivalent Quality score
Site context	Number of species, cover and diversity of lifeforms Percentage of weed cover moderated by percentage of high threat weed cover Percentage of recruitment area scaled by herb diversity Percentage cover of organic litter scaled to litter type (native/non-native)	75/100	7.5/10
Site condition & stocking rate equivalent	Size of patch Neighbourhood measured as percentage of surrounding area Distance to large areas of native vegetation (>50 ha)	25/100	2.5/10
Total score		100/100	10/10

0
l



GSM habitat

Quality improvement will be measured using the NTGVVP results for site score described above and the results of targeted surveys for GSM.

The scoring methods used to obtain the Quality score of the Offset area in the Offsets Assessment Guide is shown in Table xx and should be replicated to determine the final Quality score.

TableA5.2 GSM habitat Quality scoring system as advised by DoEE (pers. comm. 2019)

Parameter	Scoring system
Site context (max. 3 points)	 0/3 = Habitat patch¹ size <0.25 ha.² 1/3 = Habitat patch size more than 0.25 ha and up to 10 ha.² 2/3 = Habitat patch size more than 10 ha, shaped appropriately³ to reduce edge effects.² 3/3 = Habitat patch size more than 10 ha, shaped appropriately to reduce edge effects, slightly sloped (3° or less) and north-facing, minimal shading.
Site condition (max. 3 points)	 0/3 = dominated by introduced vegetation that is not a known food source. 1/3 = dominated by poor condition native vegetation (VQA site condition score up to 30/75) including <20% cover known food source, or dominated by introduced veget grass) where the species stocking rate⁴ is less than 20 moths per hectare. 2/3 = dominated by moderate condition native vegetation (VQA site condition score 31-45/75) including between 20% and 40% cover known food source with limited int vegetation that is a known food source (i.e. Chilean needle grass) where the species stocking rate⁴ is greater than 20 moths per hectare. 3/3 = dominated by high conservation value native vegetation (VQA site condition score 46+/75) including >40% cover known food source and appropriate inter-tussock
Species stocking rate4,5 (max. 4 points)	 0/4 = species not present 1/4 = 0-5 males per hectare 2/4 = >5-20 males per hectare 3/4 = >20-50 males per hectare 4/4 = >50 males per hectare

Total (out of 10)

¹A patch is considered to be an area of **GSM habitat** separated from other areas of suitable habitat, or barriers to flight (e.g. buildings, solid fences). A habitat patch should not be defined by administrative boundaries such as farm fencing, title or lot boundaries if habitat is continuous on either side of the boundary. According to the guidelines, if the amount of GSM habitat adjoining the site of the action cannot be determined, the area of habitat will be considered to be the same as that identified within the site. ²Add 1 point (up to a maximum of 3) where a patch is an occupied linkage between 2 populations.

³Assessed on a case by case basis.

⁴Stocking rate (measured as males per hectare) calculated as: total number of males recorded across four surveys in one flight season divided by area of habitat surveyed (with survey area confirmed with GPS tracks). It is not expected that results can be extrapolated across unsurveyed areas unless justification is given (e.g. the surveyed area is a sub-sample of the total area). Stocking rate calculations to be rounded up if required.

⁵It is expected that impact and offset sites to be surveyed on four occasions during the flying season and the survey results to be summed (consistent with survey guidelines). Justification will need to be provided to the Department to support proceeding in the absence of suitable survey effort. For clarity, if lower survey effort than four complete surveys is accepted, the Department will consider:

• For impact sites: the highest recorded density is assumed to be the remaining score (e.g. if three surveys detect 5, 10, 15 males/ha, the assumed score for the last survey is 15 males/ha).

• For offset sites: the lowest record is assumed to be the remaining score (e.g. if three surveys detect 5, 10, 15 males/ha, the assumed score for the last survey is 5 males/ha).

For either type of site, if one survey records 5 males/ha, then assumed total of four surveys is 20 males/ha.



ation that is a known food source (i.e. Chilean needle

er-tussock space (<5%), or dominated by introduced

space.

Appendix 5 Glossary of terms

Benchmark*

A standard vegetation –quality reference point, dependent on vegetation type, which is applied in Habitat hectare assessments. Represents the average characteristics of a mature and apparently long undisturbed state of the same vegetation type.

Biodiversity*

The variety of all life forms, the different plants, animals and microorganisms, the genes they contain, and the ecosystems of which they form a part.

Bioregion*

Biogeographic areas that capture the patterns of ecological characteristics in the landscape or seascape, providing a natural framework for recognising and responding to biodiversity values. A landscape based approach to classifying the land surface using a range of environmental attributes such as climate, geomorphology, lithology and vegetation.

BushBroker

A program coordinated by DELWP to match parties that require native vegetation offsets with third party suppliers of native vegetation offsets.

Ecological vegetation class (EVC)*

A native vegetation type classified on the basis of a combination of its floristic, life form, environmental and ecological characteristics.

EPBC Act

Environmental Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999

Gain

Predicted improvement in the contribution to Victoria's biodiversity achieved from an offset, calculated by combining site gain with the strategic biodiversity score or habitat importance score of the site. Gain is measured with biodiversity equivalence scores or units.

Habitat hectares*

Combined measure of condition and extent of native vegetation. This measure is obtained by multiplying the site's condition score (measured between 0 and 1) with the area of the site (in hectares).

Habitat score*

The score assigned to a habitat zone that indicates the quality of the vegetation relative to the ecological vegetation class benchmark – sum of the site condition score and landscape context score, usually expressed as a percentage or on a scale of 0 to 1.

Habitat zone*

A discrete area of native vegetation consisting of a single vegetation type (EVC) within an assumed similar quality. This is the base spatial unit for conducting a Habitat hectare assessment. Separate Vegetation Quality Assessments (or Habitat hectare assessments) are conducted for each habitat zone within the designated assessment area.

Indigenous vegetation*

The type of native vegetation that would have normally been expected to occur on the site prior to European settlement.

Offset*

Protection and management (including revegetation) of native vegetation at a site to generate a gain in the contribution that native vegetation makes to Victoria's biodiversity. An offset is used to compensate for the loss to Victoria's biodiversity from the removal of native vegetation.

Offset Management Plan (OMP)

A document which sets out the requirements for establishment, protection and management of an offset site.

Site

An area of land that contains contiguous patches of native vegetation or scattered trees, within the same ownership.

Site gain

Predicted improvement in the condition, or the condition and extent, of native vegetation at a site (measured in Habitat hectares) generated by the landowner committing to active management and increased security.

Recruitment*

The production of new generations of plants, either by allowing natural ecological processes to occur (regeneration etc.), by facilitating such processes such as regeneration to occur, or by actively revegetating (replanting, reseeding). See Revegetation.

Remnant vegetation*

Native vegetation that is established or has regenerated on a largely natural landform. The species present are those normally expected in that vegetation community. Largely natural landforms may have been subject to some past surface disturbance such as some clearing or cultivation (or even the activities of the nineteenth century gold rushes) but do not include man-made structures such as dam walls and quarry floors.



Understorey*

Understorey is all vegetation other than mature canopy trees – includes immature trees, shrubs, grasses, herbs, mosses, lichens and soil crust. It does not include dead plant material that is not attached to a living plant. More information on understorey life forms is set out in the Vegetation Quality Assessment Manual (DSE 2004).

